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Making life better
by entertaining and
connecting people

We make life better by entertaining and connecting people
We are part of everyday life for millions of customers and
we work hard to meet their needs and earn their trust.

We beleve in better That means offening a better choice of
high-quality entertainment for the whole family and using
technology to put them in control, whenever and wherever they
want. Our home communications services make it simple, safe and
reliable for customers to connect to each other and to the world

We make our products affordable so millions can join in We are
committed to providing exceptional customer service And we are
always looking for ways to improve in everything that we do

Seeing the bigger picture 1s fundamental to how we do business
We are committed to behaving responsibly and doing the nght
thing for the communities where we hve and work

Qur people are critical to our success We aim to foster a culture
where they can do their best work, fulfil thetr potential and achieve
great things together

We want to build a business that 1s durable for the long term
Delwvering for our customers, our employees and the wider
communsty Is how we will create a more valuable business
for our shareholders and sustain success into the future

Believe in better.

British Sky Broadcastng Group ple
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Sky Is reaching a whole
new set of customers
with NOW TV

Turn to page 20

Sky rs creating opportunities for
one millien young people to bild
skills and expenence by 2020
Turnto page 27

Sky Broadband Shield
means customers can enjoy
surfing the internet safely
Turnto page 23

For more informaton about Sky g0 16 $ky com/corporata

Sky Sports set new audience
records this season
Tumto page 14

Qur new EPG 15 helping
customers to get even

more from thesr subscription
Turn to page 19

Owr Software Engineenng
Academy s tratning the
developers of the future
Turn to page 32

To find out mere about our approach to building a sustainable business and our progress inthe year goto
sky com/biggerpicture where you can alse download the Seeing the tigger picture Summary Report 2014
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Sky at a glance

Consumer business

We are Brnitain and ireland’s leading home
entertainment and communications company,
providing services to more than 40% of homes

Sky TV

Sky gives millions of farmilies a better
choice of TV to enjoy on therr terms
at hame or on the go watching
Ive or on demand

Content business

We own and operate Britain and lreland’s largest
portfolio of pay TV channels across entertainment,
sports, movies and 24-hour news

Sky Sports

Sky Sports seven channels broadcast
awide range of lve and exclusive sport,
news and analysis, from football
and golf to cricket and tennis

Our other businesses

We operate a number of businesses in adjacent
sectors that draw on our core strengths in content,
innovation and customers

Sky Mecha

Sky Media s our adverusing sales
house, offenng advertisers access to
1257V channels Sky Medias portfolio
15 watched by over 90% of the population
each weekon TV, online and enthe go

Financial performance

£76bn

Revenue

Contribution

We make a significant and growing economic
and soaial contribution to kife in Britain and
irefand, directly employing over 25,000 people

f£oebn

Sky's contribution to UKGDP

02 British Sky Broadcastung Group ple
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Sky Broadband

Sky Is Bntain and lreland s fastest-growing
home communications provider connecting
more than 5 millon customers with broadband
and telephony services

Strategic report - AL a glance

34.8m

Pad-for subscription products

xow Ty 11.5m

NOW TV 1s our over-the-top streaming Customers
service providing low-cost lew-commitment
acecess to the best of Sky's content

Sky Entertainment

Sky has four main entertainment channels
Sky 1 Sky Living, Sky Atlantic and Sky Arts
These showcase our own UK-commissionad
content, alongside the best of the US

Sky Movies Sky News

Sky Mowvtes is Europe s largest in-home
move service with over 800 film titles hames on multiple platforms across
from the major Hollywood studios 118 countries wath Its combination
and independent distributars of breaking news and analysis

Sky News reaches over 100 millien

Sky Business

Sky Susiness provides Sky's TV and
Wik services to a range of commercial
businesses, nduding offices retall outlets,
hotels, and licensed premises

Sky Bet Content Distribution

Sky Bet offers arange of onbine betung Sky wholesales its channels 1o
and gaming services under the Sky Bet, third-party pay TV platforms as well
Sky Poker Sky Vegas and Sky Bingo brands as selling a wide range of programming

internatichally through Sky Vision

£1.3bn 60.0p

Operating profit ERS

117000

Joral number of UK jobs
supported by Sky

£2.7bn 105,000

Totat annual tax contribution* Number of young pecphe who participated
tothe UK Exchequer n Sky Academy imtiatives last year

* From net VAT corporation taxes
and employee Income taxes

8ntsh Sky BroadcastingGrouppic 03
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Strategic report - Charemars statement,

A year of outstanding progress

2014 has been a year of outstanding progress for Sky
Executing well against a clear and consistent strategy,
the Company has delivered strong operattonal growth and
an excellent financial performance 1n a year of investment

Nick Ferguson, CBE
Chairman

Our results show there 15 very good momentum in Sky s business with
strong customer demand for our products and rapid growth in new
services such as On Demand and NOW TV This has been achieved
against a challenging backdrop where there has been continued
pressure on househeld budgets and it)s testament to the rebustness
of the strategy and the exemplary way in which management has
executed their plans

Thus year's results build an a preven track record of delivery Over the
past few years, we have transformed the size and scale of the business
more than doubling earmngs per share since 2009 This has enabled
the Company to return a total of £3 4 billion to shareholders over

that five-year period through a combination of share buybacks

and dividends

The Board 1s confident that Sky 1s well placed te take advantage of
the growth opportunities ahead The conditional acquisibion of 1000%
of Sky Italia and 57 4% of Sky Deutschland from 21st Century Fox
announced on 25 July will enakile Sky to build on the strength of

the business in Britain and lreland to create even greater value

far shareholders as a wider international business

As Sky has grown, so has its economic contribution to Britain and
Ireland Sky is the biggest commeraal supporter of the UK creative
Industries nvesting more than £2.6 billion this year in high-guahty
sports news and entertamment content As asuccessful company,
Sky contnbutes E6 bithon to UK GDP supports 117,000 Jobs and
generates a total of £2 7 bithon in tax revenues for the Exchequer

Sky also makes a considerable sooal contribution We took a big step
forward this year with the launch of Sky Academy a groundbreaking
set of Inbiatives 1o Inspire young people and give them the skills and
canfidence they need to participate mare fully in a changng werld
Our aimn s to create opportunities forup to one milion young people
to build skills and expenence by 2020

Over the past year, there have been anumber of changes to the
Board We were very pleased to welkcome Adine Grate an expenenced
finance and investment professional, to the Board tast July | would
Lke to thank Danny Rimer for hrs contnbution as Chairman of the
Remuneratuon Committee He stepped down from this role at the
AGMIn November and has been succeeded by Tracy Clarke 1would
parucularly like to thank Andy Higginson our Serior Independent
Director for his outstanding contrbution to the Companyin the last
ten years Andywili retire from the Board at the AGM in November

Finally 1n hght of the Company s strong performance the Board
proposes a 7% increase 1n the full-year dvidend to 32 0 pence
the tenth consecutive year of growth

On behalf of the Board | wouid Iike to thank shareholders for ther
continued support and to extend my thanks to all of my colleagues
across Sky for ther commitment and their invaluable contrnbution
to another excellent year for the business

04 BrushSky Broadcasting Group plc
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Our business model
How we create value

We create sustainable value by pursuing broad
growth opportunities and achieving competitive
advantage through our core strengths and the

way we do business

Our growth
opportunities

« Expanding in pay
TV and home
communications

» Openingup
emerging market
segments

« Exploiting
opportunities in
adjacent sectors

We have an attractive
market opportunity that Is
getting bigger and broatler

We are expanding In our
core business of pay TV
and home communications.

We are opening up new
emerging areas of the
market in the ‘pay ight and
transactional segments

We are exploiting
opporturities In adjacent
sectors such as targeted
advertising and betting
and gaming

Our
strengths

- Delivering great
content

« Market-leading
imnovation

+ Focusing on
customers

Sky's competitive
acvantage comes from
aunique combination of
strengths In three areas

We dehver the best and
broadest range of content
for the whole Famity

We harness new technology
to give customers the

best wewing experence
wherever and whenever
they want

We combine these with

a deep understanding of
customer needs and best-
In-class customer service

How we do
business

* Investing for
thelong term

» Driving efficiency

» Seeing the
bigger picture

= Investing in
peopie

Because we want to buld
a business that i1s durable
we nvest for the long term

We underpin everything
that we do with a rigorous
focus on operaung
efficency

We make a positve iImpact
on the commurities where
we live and work We call
this seesng the bigger
pictare

We invest in our people
recognising that ther
talent and comrmitment
are cntical to our success

A bigger, more
profitable
business
delivering
increased
returns to
shareholders
and making

a positive
impact '
on society
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Our strategy

Scrategic report - Chuef Execltvg's statament

As we mark our 25th anniversary, Sky Is performing strongly
and our potential for future growth Is as exciting as it has

ever been We had a very good year in 2014 with more people
choosing Sky and taking more of our products The business
IS delivering strong financial results and we enter the new year

with good momentum

Jeremy Darroch
Chwef Executive

We operate in an attractive and dynamic marketplace that 1s opening up
a bigger and broader opportunity one that we are uniquely positioned
to take advantage of In today's connectad world home entertanment
and communications are central to people s Iives and they are witling
to commut an increasing propoertion of their household spend on these
services In this ervaronment our strategy is to deliver market-leading
cantent, tnnovation &nd custamer service while gperatingasa
responsible business and making a positive iImpact on socigty

We believe this approach will allow us te continue to grow and

create value for shareholders

Our growth opportunities

Sky's willingness to embrace that change and innovate 1s opening
up exaitung New Oppor LUnities and gvng Us more ways to grow
We see an expanding oppertunity to serve the market broadly
through multiple channels and for the first ime to provide

Sky for Everyone based onmultiple platforms and services

This opportunity for growth hes in three areas

First and foremost we sea an opportunity te sell more products
to more customers by meeting the significant demand that exists
for our core TV and home communications products

Notwithstanding the excellent progress that we have made over the
last 25 years 13 millien households in Brtain and Irefand have yet to
pay for TV and over S million of our customers have yet to switch their
home communications service to Sky Our successful transition to

a mult-product strategy has enabled us to sell more products to
mare custorners and with an average of three paid-for products

per customer at the end of June 2014 there remains plenty more
growth to go for Our performance in the last year demonstrates

that consumers appetite to take more from Sky remains as strong

a3 evar and this gives us an important platform from which to build

Second we see signuficant additional potential for growth innew
segments of the market that we are only Just starting to address
NOW TV our over-the-top streaming service gives Us the chance to
unlock new pockets of demand in an emerging pay ight sector and
extend cur reach in Freeview homes - many of whom are looking for
an easy and flexible way to enjoy a better TV expenence Our NOW TV
Box affers a low-cost, low-commutment way for these households to
en,oy Sky s content with a choice of movies sport and entertainment
passes Inaddition we continue to roll out NOW TV to more connected
devices taking advantage of the grawth inwidea consumption aver
smartphones tablets and games consoles

Alongside this, we also have an opportunity to extend the Sky brand
inte the transactional market, by acceterating the move from physical
DVDs to digital Thus 15 a market worth an estimated £16 billlona
yearin the UK and white we have been growing our share of the
rental part of this market well with Sky Store, the launch this spning
of our Buy & Keep serice fets us tap into the much larger purchase
segment of the market We see strong potential for growth given
ourlong-standing relaticnships with the major Studios and the
strength of the Sky brand in home entertainment.

British Sky Broadcasung Groupple 07
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Strateghc report - Chuef Executive’s statement

Our strategy

(continued)

Sky Arts Portrait Artist of the Year presented by Joan Bakewell and Frank Skinner

Third, we are opening Up new growth opportunities in our portfolio of
businesses in adjacent sectors These are businesses where Sky often
has a small share today tn what are large and valuable addressable
markets This includes Sky Bet, our betting and gaming business which
has delivered sustained double-cigit growth in revenue and profit and
yet still only has 6% of a £3 biluion market We see another significant
opportunty in targeted advertising with the launch this year of Sky
AdSmart Combining the power scale and immedhacy of TV adverusing
with the segmentation and targetng of direct mail and regional
advertsing, Sky AdSmart opens up a E6 billion market that we have
been unable to reach unul naw

Taken together these represent a broad opportunity for growth
through multiple services and routes to market Each of these areas
15 additive and hughly complementary together they offer aroute
to bullding a bigger and more profitable business

Our strengths

Sky's success in exploiting the growth opportunity thaties ahead
rests on our uvque combmnation of strengths in three areas content
innavation and customers These are areas in which Sky has developed
significant capabilities which are hard to replicate

In content, we have made huge stndes In recent years to Increase

the range and quahty of the pregrammas we put on screen nght
across our channel portfolio We have develpped our suite of
entertainment channels, strengthened our relationships with the
major movie studios and signed new nghts deals n sport to expand
our offering. In particular this year we have increased our investment
in original Bntish programming with a focus on comedy and drama
This is because we know that our ability to offer the best and broadest
range of content for the whole household s a fundamental advantage
In an environment where customers have more choices than ever before

Sky's ability to Innovate across multiple technologies alfows us to build
on the strerigth of our content and take our business (nto new areas
Our focus in the last year has been accelerating the take-up and usage
of new connected TV services Connecting customers’ Sky+HD boxes
to broadband opens up a who'e range of new on demand services
which allow customers to choose how, when and where they watch
that content, Services like NOW TV and Sky Store delivered over the
internet enable us to extend our business Nto new areas reaching
customers that may not otherwse have taken Sky and opeming up new
revenue opportunities We have also grown our home commurications
business to become Britains second-biggest broadband provider

Qur strengths in content and innovation are only relevant because
they matter to customers And it is because we combine them wath
a deep understanding of customer needs that we are able to bring
together home entertainment and communcatons better than
anyona else

We have established direct, long-term relationships with 1.5 million
househalds acress Bntain and Ireland These relationships mean

we know what our customers want and enable us to stay focused

on provichng the serwvices that best meet their needs The strength
of our brand and the capahiity that we have developed means we
can bring products to market swiftly and at scale And everything we
do 15 supported by best-in-dass customer service As the connected
home becomes more established and consumers ara Faced with

an increasing array of choices service delivery has become a more
important differentiator than ever befare Sky's expertise 1s a source
of competitive advantage

The acquisition of Sky Italia and a 57 4% stake in Sky Deutschland

will give us a platform to take the strengths we have developed inthe
UK and Ireland and apply them across a broader field of opporturity
The enlarged business will have significantly expanded headroom for
growth, bringing together best-in-class capabilities and expenence
from all three businesses to serve customers better accelerate
mnovation and grow faster

How we do business

Underpinning our strengths in content inngvation and customers
1s our desire to bulld a business that is durable for the long term

To achieve sustainable suceess we know that how we do business
is as important as what we do This s at the heart of our Believe in
Better ethos acommitment to canstant renewal and improvement
neverything we de

Investment in cur peaple s fundamental to the creation of a durable
business At Sky,we support tratrung and development for all of our
people and stnve to create a culture where they can do thewr best
work and fulfil thetr potential

We also understand that we need to be willing to look beyond the
delivery of short-term results to conswder the smpact that we have on
the wider commurities in which we live and werk We call this seaing
the bigger prcture

As a successful company we make a significant and growing economic
and social contribution to Britain and freland supporting thousands
of jobs and investing biliens in the creative industnes and sport

We are commutted to behaving responsibly in all that we do and

our high ethical social and environmental standards underpin the
deassions that we take every day

But we also know that we have the opportunity to use our position

as aleading media and communtcations company to reach beyond our
business to make a positive impact on society This is why we launched
Sky Academny in November 2013 a unique set of ntiatives that uses
the power of TV creativity and sport to inspire young people and help
them reach ther potential Bringing together established programmes
with a series of nitiatrves where we re Just getting going. we feel very
excited about how Sky Academy will be able to make a difference to
young pecpleslves

08 British Sky Broadeasting Group plc
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Qur performance

The success of our strategys reflected in the strong performance of
the business over the past year Against a challenging economic and
competitive backdrop we added 23% more products than the pror
year and achieved the highest rate of custemar growth for three
years (excluding the acquired O2 customers and product base)

Strong demand across the board translated to a 7% increase in
revenue (excluding ESPN) Combined with a continued focus on
operating efficiency this meant we ended a year of investment

wath earmings per share flat year on year This is an excellent result

in a period where we absorbed a one-off step up In Premier League
costs and invested to accelerate take-up of new connected senaces
and 1t reflects the strength of the underlying business

In hght of this performance, the Board has proposed a dvidend
of 32 0 pence anincrease of 7% on the prior year and the tenth
consecutive year of growth

We continued to reap the benefits of our broadly-based approach

to growth as more paople chose to come to Sky and take more of our
products We added a total of 31 million new paid-for subseription
products over the 12 months to take our total base of subscription
products past 34 million At the same time, we added 342,000 new
customers to reach N5 m:llien reflecting & continuing appetite to
switch services from other providers to Sky At the end of the year
37% of our customers took all three of TV broadband and telephony
from Sky extending ourlead as Britain s favounte tnple-play prowder

Garne of Thrones became the bughest-rating show ever on Sky Atantc.

We saw a particularty good performance in TV adding twice as many
new customers as last year This growth was underpinned by the
quality and range of content we offer the whole farmily This s our
biggest year in entertanment yet as we target a spend of £600 milhon
by the end of 2014 on anginal Bntish programmes Highbghts from

the past 12 months included Anglo-French cnme drama The Tunnel

a co-production with Canal Plus and Penny Dreadful, a psychelogical
thrller produced by Oscar winner Sam Mendes

We also strengthened our relationship with some of the world s
leading content producers, igning major néw partnerships wath

ITV and HBQ and renewing a multi-year movies agreement with
Paramaunt therebyincreasing our range of exclusive content
Meanwhile Sky Sports enjoyed its highest share of viewing for seven
years with the best-ever Premier League seasonin terms of audiences
while at the same bme strengthening its offening for the future with
30 new sports nghts agreements

Strategic report - Chief Executive's statement

- £7.6bn
) - 34.8m

11.5m

Meanwhile, our investment to accelerate take-up and usage of our
connected TV senvice deltvered excellent results increasing the value
we offer to customers and opening Up naw sources of revenue

Qver the year the total number of connected SkytHD boxes mere
than doubled te 57 milhon eguivalent to 57,000 new households
being connected every week This means that more than S0% of TV
customers were connected at the end of June, making Sky Bntains
most popular connected TV platform

Thus explosive growth has transformed the viewing expenence

On Demand downloads grew threefold over the year as customers
responded to greater fiexibility and chaice Our expanded Box Sets
service proved particularly popular with viewing to top titles ke

24 and Game of Thrones up fourfatd in Q4

At the same time the number of households registered far Sky Ge our
mobile TV service grew19% to S 5 millon helping push viewing figures
to new highs We saw particularly strong growth in entertainment

with entertanment and moves accounting for two-thirds of all wievang
to 9ky Go at the end of the year

Through all this we continued to extend our lead in customer service
Intatives hke bringing our entire engineer workforce in-house and the
roll-out of our One Service operatingmodel where we join up different
elemants of the service expenence more effectively has helped deliver
record levels of customer satisfaction As a result, Sky again earned
the top ranking from Qfcom for quality of service by a providerof TV
breadband and home phone serncas

Underpinning everything we achieved operationally was our continued
wark to reach beyend our business andmake a positive impact on the
wider commurity We launched Sky Academy in November and were
delighted that over 105 000 young people took part mn a Sky Academy
inibative dunng the year

QOf course none of what we do would be possible wathout the dedicaticn
and hard work of our pegple They arewital to our success and | would
like to thank each and every one of them for their contnbution in the
last 12 months

with their continued support the outlock for the business 15 very
positive Our strategy s delivering and there 1s a broad and growing
market opportunity that Sky with our uniqgue combination of
strengths 15 best placed totake advantage of Our track record

of success in Britain and Ireland 15 the starting pomt as we expand
into Europe The opportunity 1s substantial and this 1s good news
for our paopte, good for customers and good for our sharehelders

British Sky Broadeasting Group plc
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Strategic report - Gur performance

Our performance

Operational key performance indicators

Tota! products

Retall customers

e ————
Pl ERN A L

02 W LT

Description

Total products s defined as the total of
att paid-for subscription products caken
by our customers and inchades TV HD
Multiscreen, Sky Go Extra Broad band

Analysis

Akey element of our strategy 1s Lo
encourage new customers to take
muttipla products whenjoqning and to
sell more products Lo exsting customers

Description

A customer 1s defined as a subscriber to
one of our TV padages or standatons
home communtcabions services

i15m
12m
106m

Anatysis

Animpertant part of our strategy s
to rentinue adding new customers
In 2014, we added a total of 342000
new customers 313% more than the

Telephony and Live Rental In2014 we added 31 miliion products prior year {exchding the acguired 02
23% more than the prior year (excluding custormer base) and the highest rate
the acquired O2 customer base) of grawth nthree years
Churn Content. Sky channel distnbution
201 I sn
10.9% ..108°
o IS 70 20:10.8% o L R e
Description Analysis Description Analysis

Churn represents the number of total
CUSLOMErs over a given period who
torrminated thew subscriptions net

of former customers wha renstated
their subscription (within 12 months of
terrinating ther onginal subscnption)
expréssed ag an annualised percentage
of total average customers

Churniis a good measure of customer
satisfaction, which s akey drver

of value for gur business Churn for
the year 2014 was stable at 109%

The number of households m the UK
and ireland that have access to Sky
pay channels included as part of ther
pay TV subscription service whether
that s diractly purchased from Sky
or frorm anather operatar te whom
Skywholesales i{s channels

Totalseach of Sky channels (s an
important measure because broad
distrbution drves révenue growth
oppor turuties for tha Group

The Group wxereased the total reach
of its pay channels by 4% 1n 2014

Innovatuon Connected Sky+HD box and Sky Go customers

Customers Customer service satisfaction (NPS)

2014 [N, 2¢

2004 o e 57m
—
2002 b 27m

2012 IE 10m

B Sky Go customers

Description

Aconnected Sky*HD box 15 ene that 1s
connected to the intermnet ard therefore
has access to Sky's fulkOn Demand
subsaripbion and transactional services
Sky Go households are those that have
registered to use the Sky Go serice

35m

31 Connected Sky+HD box

Analysts

Innovation across multple technologies
aenables the Group to expand iIntonew
areas. develop new revenue streams.
and exploit adjacent sectors In 2014

we connected a Further 3 mitlion Sky*HD
boxes and registared 1 mitlion more
homes for Sky Go

p1e FRNPRR AT . ] 13

R

2012

Description

Net Promoter Score (NPS) 15 &
standardised measure of customer
loyalty and satsfaction. A survey

s sent 1o the customer following a
contatt cantre mteraclion with Sky
NP5 ts calculated by subtracting
the percentage of Detractors from
the percentage of Promoters

Analysis

Maintamung a direct and long-term
relationship with customers s
fundamental to the success of our
business We believe customer service
delivery is animportant differentiater
Our NPS for serwce calls has dramatically
smproved aver the last three years

10 Bnush Sky Broadcasung Group plc
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Bigger Picture Sky Academy particpation

People Employee engagement

Stratepe report - Qur performance

- 105,000

Descnption

Sky Academny IS a groundbreakng set
af ntates that ue the nower of
TV creativity and sport toanspire
young people and give theer the
skilts and confidence to succeed

N a changing world

Analysis

Sky Acadermy tracks the number of
young people taking partin Sky Academy
Initiaties We have made a strong start
towards our target of reachingup te

one mulion young people by 2020

We have over 40 independently assured key performance indicators that
we use to measure our sustanability performance These canbe found at

skycomibiggerpicture

o 38%

Sky engagement

Descnption

To measure emnployee engagement
weundertake aninternal survey of

cur employees and benchrmark ther
angwers extemally A< part of a broad
array of topics surveyed amployees are
asked a senes of questions designed
to quantify engagement

Financial key performance indicators

Adjusted revenue’

Adjusted operating profit'

e 33%

Natronal benchmark

Analysis

Employee engagement 15 a good
ndicator of ow our employees feel
about the Company As well s reaching
a high per fosmance indicator for
employee engagement, we have
improved from 2012 and outperformed
anindependent external benchmark

of othar blue ctup comparwes

2014 N
2013 T LR

0 el

Description

Adjusted revenue includes revenue
from reta subsenption wholesate
subscription, advertsing and
nstallation hardware and service

Adjusted EPS'

£7617m
£7235m
E6791m

Analysis

Adjusted revenua s 8 key rmeasure
of how the Group 1s delivering on
s strategy togrow the business
In 2014 adjusted revenue grew by
5% with good growthin both retall
and comnercial operations
Exctucting ESPN adjustad revenue
grew by 7%

2o
PO o

w0 T G

Description

Adjusted operating profit Is a measure
of the profit generated by the business
from its revenues and excludes items
that may distort comparability from
yearto year

Total shareholder retum

E1260m
£1330m
£1.223m

Analysis

Adjusted operating profit is a key
measure of the undertying business
performance In 2014 adjusted operating
profit was down by 5% on the previous
vear a3 the Group absarbed annaease
inthe cost of Premier League Football
nghts the consoltdation ¢fthe acouired
02 corsumner broadband and fixed ine
business and our planned investment
Inconnected services

- 00.0p

Description

Adjusted bask: EPS 15 the profit after
tax for tha year exctudng adjusung
rtems and related tax effects dwvded
by the werghted average cumbes of
ordinary shares

203 60 0p
202 50 8p

Analysis

Adjusted basic EPS provides a
measure of shareholder return that
ts comparable over time The Group
generated the same earmings as
last year despite making severa’
westments for growth and
absorbing tha Premier League cost
ncreasan the curent financial year

1 Areconabation of statutory to adjusted measures is shown on page 139

5YrCAGR | - 14%,
—— B
1YrCAGR L 9%

B BSkyB A FTSENIDO

Description

Total shareholder return (TSR}
represents the change m value of a share
el for 8 12-month penad ta 30 June
assumung that drdends are cenvested
to purchase addibonal shares at the
close price applcable on the ex dvidend
date Thevalue of the share s based on
the average share price over the three
months pner 1o 30 June The chart
above diustrates the TSR performance
for the 12 months to 30 June 2014

and an average annuzal performance
compounded over five years to

30 Jure 2014

Analysts

TSRrepresents a comparable measure
of shareholder return over time

BSky® thares outperformed the

FTSE 100 mdex by 3 percentage ponts
in the year to 30 Juna 2014 and by

4 percentage points over five years

n
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The Tunnef our gnpping cnme
drama from the makers of
Broadchurch, became Sky Atlantics
Pighest-performing onginal series
when it ared In the autumn A

co-production with France s
CANAL+ and based on Darush

series The Bndge, the story followed
the uneasy relatronship between
detectves from the UK and France
as they nvestigate the discovery

of the bady of a prominent French
poliician in the Channel Tunnet

Cnucally acclaimed and a ratings
success, the seres was a great
exarmple of the way that we present
our content to work across all
platforms The senes peaked atone

million viewers on inear TV but
the same number again watched
1t On Demand and on Sky Go

The Turne/was just one example
of our Increased commitmeant
todrama Inall we screenad
more than 60 hours of our own
commussioned drama in the year
over 60% more than the previous
year There 1s much more ta corme
next year wath our largest

Strategic report - Content

commission to date Fortitude

due to air on Sky Atlantic in 2015
Starnng Mechaed Gambon Sophee
Gribal and Stanley Tucer Fortitude
shows our ambition in drama

We are excited about its petental
both for gur customers at home
and forwiewers around the

world as we sellit on to other
breadcasters via our internatronal
distnbution business Sky Vision

Briush Sky Broadcasting Grouppic 13
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Content

(continued)

The single biggest reason that
customers choose to take Sky s
for a better choice of TV In this,
our biggest year of content yet,
Sky’s on-screen offering 1s larger,
more diverse and of a higher
quality than ever before

We Invest more on screenthan anyone else tn Britan and Ireland

- more than £26 billion this year - with the aim of offering the best

and broadest range of programming for everyone in the family Abig
part of this strategy In recent years has been about bultding out our Sky
entertanment channels, bringing to them the same senseof ambition
that has been so fundamental to our success in sport, movies and news

We have made huge strides expanding our portfolio of entertainment
channels strengthening the capability of our team and sigrficantly
increasing our investment in onginal production By the end of catendar
year 2014 we will have spent E600 millen on home-grown Batsh
programming 7055 our channels an increase of more than 50% over
three years

As part of this drive to increase investment in onginal British commissions
we have put a particular focus on drama Since last July we have
screened more than 60 hours of new drama programming across our
four entertainment channels - Sky 1 Sky Atlantic Sky Living and Sky Arts

Unbelievable, Jeff

Sky Sports set new records for hive Premier League football in the
2013/14 season, with more fans enjoying our unnvalled coverage
than ever before at home oronthe go

As the most exaiting seasonin
recent years came to its thnling
conclusion Sky Sports was the one
place to watch the title race unfold
In the final weeks of the season
Sky Sports was the only
broadcaster to show games
featuring the top four sides -

Manchester Gty Liverpoo! Arsenal

live venue far all three matches on
the final day as Manchester City
cdinched the title

League audiences on Sky Sperts
were up 7% as we showed more

and Chelsea - and was the exclusive

Across the season average Prarmer

matches than ever before - 116 Iive
fixtures including 49 of the 50 most.
watched Premier League matehes

Sky Sports enhanced its coverage
by adding Liverpool legend Jamie
Carragher toits outstanding
line-up of experts and launching
new shows induding Saturday
Night Football.

And the exatement didn t stop
there The football season was
followed by ancther busy summer
on Sky Sports including England
cricket the US PGA Golf and the
Ryder Cup every Formula 1 weekend
and US Open tennis Theres hardly
time to take a braath before the
start of the new season

14  Bnbish Sky Breadcasting Group ple
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Let’s work
together

At Sky we re proud of the many
strong partnerships that we've
developed over the past 25

years Worlkang closely with other
content businesses, whather
broadcasters, rights holders or
content creators, has been
crucial to our success nght from
the very start, helping us to bring
our customers the very best
programmng from around the
world Channels hke Nateonal
Geographic, History and Discovery
broaden our offering and are
hugely valued by customers

This year we took cur relationship
with some of the world s leading
content creators to ancther level
In January we announced a broad
new partnershup with ITV grving
Sky customers unrivalled access
to [TV programming This has
included the launch of a brand
new pay channel ITV Encore
dedicated to drama and exclusive
inually to Sky

We also extended our partnership
with HBO Building on the success
of Sky Atlantrc Sky wall remain the
exclusive hotne of HBO In Britain
and Ireland until 2020 making

it the enly place to enjoy new
series of global hits such as

True Detective and Giris or
much-anticipated new shows like
Sthcon Valley and The Leftovers
Significantly the new agreement

will also see Sky and HBO
co-produce major new cinematic
drama senes

Our deal with HBO s Justone of a
growing numkber of co-production
partnerships that we are bulding
We know that 1If we want to deliver
the best content from around the
world we cantdo that alone That s
why we worked with Showtime on
our Victonan thriler Penny Creadful

Strategw report - Content

and with NBC Universal on Dracula,
starring Jonathan Rhys Meyers
And 1t's why we are partnenng

with FX Networks to develop
brand new post-watershed
comedly for audiences on both
sides of the Atlantic,

The customer response has been very positive We have had our best
year of TV growth in three years adding more than a quarter of a milion
new TV customers since July 2003 Atthe same time, Sky 1 Sky Atlantic
and Sky Living account. for three of the top four slots in customers
ranking of must-have pay TV channels and Sky Arts has develeped
areputation for having some of the best arts programmes on TV

Because curchannels have distinct and complementary identitres

we are able to offer a diverse range of programming to suit the whole
family Successful shows this year range from Karl Pilkington s factual
entertainment series The Moaning of Life, which attracted 2 5 million
viewers to Its opening episode on Sky 1 to the entically-acdamed
Victonan thriller Penny Dreodful Created by three-time Oscar® haminee
John Legan and co-produced with Showtime for Sky Atlantic, it notched
up 1.5 mullon viewers for its opening apisode

Our commstrment to bringing our customers new and distinctive content
extends to our acquired pregramming where we continue to offer many

of the biggest and most talked about US shows Sky Living’s The Blackirst,
starnng James Spader was one of the stand-out hits of the year launching
with an audience of 17 million viewers Meanwhile the fourth series of the
epic Game of Thrones hacame the highest-rating show ever on Sky Atlantic
with 2 2 million viewers for the first episodle alone

The success of Gane of Thrones Hlustrates how our investment to grow
take-up and usage of new connected TV services ts transforming the
wiewing experence with customers taking advantage of the flexibility
to watch their favounte programmes when and where they choose
Inthe run up to the launch cf senes 4 Senes 1-3 of Game of Thrones
became cur most downloaded box set ever

Briush Sky Broadcasting Groupplc 15
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(continued)

%ky Movies Is another area where the benefits of our connected

TV strategy have been transformational Two-thirds of Sky Mowvies
custamers had a connected box at the end of the year helping to
increase On Demand views on Sky Mowies by 60% on the prior year
Over the Chnstmas penod Sky Movies customers downloaded

twice as many films as the previous year This was helped in part

by a dedicated Christmas Movies On Bemand section complementing
the return of the Sky Mowes Christmas pop-up channel

We also took steps to strengthen the range and quality of titles
avaiable on Sky Movies with the renewal of our output deal with
Paramount which gives us exclusive nghts across all platforms to
blockbusters like Noah and Anchorman 2 This means that we have
secured new agreements with five of the six major Hollywood studios
n the last two years

Sky Sports had another great year enjoyingits highest audience share
In seven years We had an outstanding football season thanks to one
of the most exciting Premier Leagues in recent tmes and a great end

to the Football League This performance was boosted by sports
customers choosing Sky Go to watch matches on the move We recorded
the three biggest-ever Sky Go audiences in the year including a peak

of 379 000 wviewers far Manchester Gty agamst Chelseasn February

As the football season ended Sky Sperts customners could still lock
Forward to an incredible summer of live encket rugby and Formula One
with the Ryder Cup — the tenth ta be shown live on Sky — comingin
September Sports customers can also now enjoy a brand new channel
Sky Sports 5 which will screen up to 600 live European football matches

aver the 201415 season

Meanwhile we contnued to broaden the Sky Sports of fering sigrang
30 nights deals over the course of the last 12 months This indudes new
deals for IPL. cncket Super League Rugby Topld Rugby Gaelic Athlatic
Association and the Masters and PGA Tour goif all of which gives us
certainty over 30% of our sports costs through to 2016

And the Winner is...?

We all know that winning isn t everything and we use lots of measures at Sky to assess
our performance But, it's still great to know that the effort and investment we ve put
into creating world-class content has been recognised and celebrated by our peers

Three BAFTA TV Award wins International Emmy*
« A League of thewr Own + Moone Boy Best Comedy
EESt Comedy and Comedy Three Royal Television
ntertainment
Society Awards
« Dawid Attenborough s Natural + Game of Thrones Best
History Museum Alive 3D

International Programme:
Specialist Factuat

» Sky Sports coverage of last
year's Ashes Best Sport
and Live Event

+ Sky Sports coverage of
last year's Ashes

* Best SportsPresenter
Gary Newvlle

Sports Industry Awards
= SkySports Digital Media,
Digital Platform of the Year

Broadcast Awards

+ Sky Sports Ryder Cup covesage,
Best Sports Programme

+ ATouchof Cleth !t
Best Comedy Programme

* AYoung Docter s Notebosok, Best
Multichannel Programme

Bntish Broadcasting Press Awards
» The Tunnel Best Multichannet
Programme

Broadcast Digital Awards
» Bradiey Wiggins A Year in Yeflow
Mast Popular Factual

16  BntshSky Breadcasting Group ple




AnnualReport 2014

Strategic report - Content

The Chancellor George Osborme, 1s quizzed by readers of chukdren s newspaper First News in an interview for Sky Naws

Twenty-five years after gnang Britain its first taste of 24-hour rolling
news Sky News has lost none of Its appette for innovation The launch
of Sky News on Catch Up TV In May 1s just the [atest example of the

way that Sky News has embraced new technology to enable customers
to curate the news in the way that they want it. Sky News mobile
applications have been downloaded over 10 million ttmes while Sky News
for iPhone has been named in Apple s top ten free UK apps of all tme

Alt this has helped Sky News become the European news channel of
¢heoice according to the 2014 European Media and Marketing Survey

As we Incraase our vestment on screen its become increasingly
smportant that we monetise that content effectively One of the ways
we have done that s by increasing the distribution of aur content across
the marketplace

In October we took a significant step forward with the launch of the
Entertamment Manth Pass on our over-the-top streaming service
NOW TV This offers a simple, contract-free way to access ten of the
top subscnption TV channels including Sky 1 Sky Atlantic Disney and
Duscovery allowing customers to stream episodes of the latest senes
live and on demand on a pay-as-you go basis

We also extended our content distribution through a senes of new
wholesale agreements These included a major new five-year channel
distnbution deal with Virgin Mecha gvng Virgin customers an additional
selection of HD channels more content on the go and access to the Sky
Sports and Sky Movies apps In addition, we agreed a new distnbution
deal wsth TalkTalk which sigificantly extends the take-up of our basic
channels We alse added the NOW TV Sports Day Pass to TalkTalk s
YouView platform

Bnush Sky Broadcastng Groupple 17
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Guiding the way

If getting customears connected to
©On Demand was our first priornity
for the year helping them to eryoy
the full range of services on offer
was the next The launch of the
new home page on our Electronic
Programme Guide (EPG)in

the spring was a crucial step

to achleving that,

For the very first time we moved
away from linear viewing as the
default option in order to showcase
all our Cn Demand content

The new EPG gves Box Sets Catch
Up and Sky Store much greater
visitility encouraging custemers

to engage with the full breadth

of content now available to them

The new EPG also increases the
prommence of our new search
functionality which delrvers
ntegrated search results acrass
Inear and Cn Demand making

it much easier for customers to
find the programme that they
are looking for

It 5 early days but the initial
response from customers has been
very strong with On Demand
downfoads hugher and customer
satisfaction up

Strategic report = Innovation

And there s mere to come Qur next
software update, [ater this year will
enable us to dynamically change
the home page ta do thungs bke
prometing the taunch of a new
show or film For the first time

we'l also be able to make
recommendations on programmes
that customers might kke to watch
based on what they are chogsing
to record on thesr planner

British Sky Broadcasung Groupplke 19
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Innovation

(continued)

Sky’s ability to innovate across multiple
technologies allows us to provide
customers with the very best viewing
experience, wherever and whenever they
want [t s also enabling us to take our
business Into new areas, opening up new
revenues in emerging segments of the
market and exploiting adjacent sectors

Great TV,
NOW

This year NOW TV changed the game in ‘smart’ TVs with the [aunch
of the new NOW TV Box, Available for just £9°99 this compact and
easy-to-use box provides alow-cost, low-commutment way for
customers to start streaming programmung from the internet
direct to their TV And it’s a brilliantly simple way for Sky to attract
new customers in the 13 milllon homes yet to pay for TV

We have a proven track record of harnessing the latest technology and
driving new trends in TV viewing such as giving customers more control
with Sky+ or a step change in picture quatity with High Defirition This year,
we built on that track record by investing to accelerate the take-up and
usage of our new connected TV services Qur aimis to put Sky at the

heart of the connected househaold’ meeting customers growing desire

to consume content on their own terms

Akey focus hasbeen getting customers connected In thelast 12 months
we have connected 3 millon Sky+HD boxes to broadband equivalent to
57000 new households every week This explosive growth means that
mare than half of our 107 milhon Sky TV customers now have access

to the full range of On Demand services This 1s more than double the
number in the pnor year and makes Sky 8ntain and Ireland s most
popular connected TV platform

The NOW TV Boxcan be up channels such as Sky1 Sky Atlantic,

and runming inminutes Once
connected homes get instant
access to the full NOW TV
expenence which indudes Sky
Sperts and Sky Movies as weli
as a huge range of Catch Up TV
from popular online services like
B8CPlayer 40D and ITV Player
In October we extended the
range of contentavalable on
NOW TV with the launch of the
Entertainment Month Pass This
provides customers wath instant
access totenofthetoppayTv

Disney and Discovery making more
of the best TV avarlable to anyone
with a connected device

It s just one way that NOWTV

1s appealing to a new group of
customers - people who love the
quality of Sky content but want
amore flexible approach than
the full-sennce Sky subscription
NOW TV s also avallable on a broad
range of intemet-connected
devices that inchudes tablets

PCs and consoles, with PS4 being
added to the list this summer
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Everything we see tells us that customers tove the benefits that come with
the connected box Connected customers can access a much nicher range
of content, including Britains biggest Catch Up TV service and Box Sets of
hut senes like Game of Thrones Stellg, Prison Break, Mad Dogs and 24 With
On Demand usage up move than threefold in the last year the impact on
the viewing expenence has been transformational Evidence shows that
connected TV customers are watchingmere TV - an average of 20 minutes
more per day - as they respond to the greater choice of content available
and the greater flexibility over how they watch They are also more satisfied,
more likely to stay wath Sky and more likely to recommend Sky

More customers than ever before are also choosting our mobile TV serice
Sky Go to watch content both in and out of the home The number of
households registered for Sky Go rose by a fifth over the year te 5 5 milion
helped by the addition of 22 new channels and the launch of the service on
more devices including Android tablets We ended the year with more than
1 milion customers taking Sky Go Extra our paid-for service which offers the
ability to wateh on more devices and download content to watch offiine

As well as increasing the value that customers get fram ther Sky
subseription the new connected TV senvices are opening up new revenue
opporturities for the business With cur expanded Bov Sets offering
included withun our HD package we have seen more and more customers
upgrading to HD while revenues from mowie rentals wia Sky Store have
doubled in the year In the spring we also Jaurched our Buy & Keep service
enabling customers to buy a film from Sky Store and download it to keep
on their set-top box, as well as recewving a DVD in the post It's early days
but we are very excaited about the opportunity for Sky to enter the
purchase segment of the film market, estimated to be worth £1 6 bilion
ayear n the UK

For the first time we are using nnovation to pravide Sky for everyone

We are addressing the emerging pay light segment.n the marketplace

by rotling out our over-the-top streaming service NOW TV This s proving
an effective new way of growing our TV customers among the 13 mifion
homes that dent yet take a pay TV service Among new developments this
year the launch of the new NOW TV Box and our monthly Entertainment
Pass have attracted increasing numbers of customers to the service

Cf course our success in accelerating take up and usage of connected

TV services has been helped by our strength in home communications
Continued growthn this area meant we surpassed S milian broadband
customers n the year maintaning our lead as Bntains favaunte tniple-play
provider In all, we sold 1 3 milhon home communications praducts over the
12 months as customers’ appetite to switch from other providers to save
money with Sky remained strang We also successfully integrated the Q2
broadband customers we acquired in April 2013

We know customers hke our market-leading quality and value proposition
and we continue to find new ways to give them more value and improve
the quality of the communications product, This year for example we
introduced a WiFi booster for broadband customers to help them make
the most of their senvice throughout their home With more than 0%

of our customer base yet to take all three of TV telephony and broadband
from Sky there s plenty more growth to come

Targeting

Strategit report ~ Innovation

new revenue

Sky s ability to Innovate adds vahuie to our content and changes
the viewing experience for customers It's also enabling us to
open up new revenue opportunities by extending our business
into adjacent sectors Sky AdSmart, our new targeted advertising
service, is a great example of the way in which we are opening

up markets that we've beenunable to reach until now

Launched at the start of 2014
Sky AdSmart enables advertisers
to target their campaigns more
accurately by tallonng what's
shownin TV ad breaks according
to a household s profile and
location Indong so its
Increasing the size of our
advertising opportunity by
attracting new brands to
advertise on Sky Thisincludes
local businesses that may have
concluded TV adverusing wasnt
for therm and brands that have
prevously tned TV but left,

In just six months almost 600
advertising campargns have
been run across 180 advertisers,
of which 15% are new to TV and
68% are new to Sky This includes
brands ke Audh Dyson Lego
Prime Location and Chester Zoo

Our new strategic partnershup
with Johnstaon Press further
strengthens the Sky AdSmart
offenng by enabling local
companies to create and
deliver campargns that
combrne Johnstons

regional print titles with

TV advertising focused

on speafic local markets

Sky AdSmart is another

first for Sky - the first
broadcaster in Europe to
introduce targeted advertising
- and It s already been
recognised winning Best
Technology and Best Innovation
at the MedraTel Connected
Consumer Awards and
Achievernent in Adverusing at
the Connected TV World Summit.
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Customers

Sky Broadband Shield

As the UKs second largest broadband provider, we take

our responsibilities to our customers extremely seriously
We want them to enjoy the best of what the internet offers
while grang them the ability to enjoy it in a safe environment

The taunch in Novemnber 2013 of
Sky Broadband Shield was a big
step farward in achieving this

aim Free to alf Sky Broadband
customers Broadband Shield s a
brilhantly ssimple tool which enables
custorners to filter website content
across allinternet-connectad
devices inthe home gning parents
In particular greater controd over
how ther children use the web

Customers can filter websites
by age-bandings similar to
movie classifications or exclude
sites that contain pornography
or other categories of content
identified by customers as a
potential cause for concemn

AL the moment, Sky Broadband
customers are asked to make
an active chowe about the

filters when going onhing with
Sky for the first me or when
they upgrade their router

Later this year we wall ensure
that all remairming customers
will have made a choice about
whether or not to apply
whole-home filters Even those
homes without children ¢an
benefit as Sky Broadband
Shield also helps provide
protection aganst phishing
sites and maliwous websites
containing viruses

We think that using technology
tn this way makes a real
difference to our customers

a5 they ook to protett their
family However we also know
that technology doesnt
provide all the answers which
15 why we've joined forces with
the other leading ISPs to launch
acampargn called Internet
Matters designed to promote
awareness of internet safety
For further information ga to
Internetmatters org
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Customers

(continued)

Our direct, long-term relationships

with over 11 5 millon households across
Britain and Ireland are fundamental

to the success of our business
Customers value what we offer and
trust Sky to keep meeting their needs,
from the content we put on screen to
the products that we put in their hands.

As the connected home becomes more established and customers are
faced with ever-greater choice of products and providers we believe

that service delivery Is becoming an increasingly important differentiator
The strength of the Sky brand in home entertanment and commumnications
and the capability that we have developed in the past 25 years means

that we are able to bring new praducts to market quickly and at scale
supported by best-in-class customer service This is a great source of
competitive advantage

We understand the value of good customer service and have continued
to raise the barin this area Much of our focus this year has been on
simplifying the customner expernence Cur ‘One Service modet was
developed to jon up different elements of the service expenence

more effectively Ploted last year ‘One Service puts customers straight
through to an expert agent who can manage the case from start to

finish coordinating directly with our engineers on the ground This year
we have been steadily rolling out ‘One Service across our contact centres,
so that it now covers around 20% of all inbound calls

As part of our move towards One Service we braught a further 740
engingers into Skywn October This means that Sky people now complete
almost atl UK service visits and winstallations gmng us greater control over
the customer experience and helping us to drive centinued iImprovement

In October 2013, we expanded our service delivery capabiity by
bringing in house 740 engneers - the people who instalt and service
Sky customers’ In-home equpment The transfer of the engineers
and other key personnel from our cutsource partner AVC meant

we were able to create one integrated nabionwide team within Sky
of around 3 000 engineers This has had animmediate positive
impact on our customer service operation

customer arpund alj the content,
and senaices they can get from
thelr subscription For example,
using iPads engineers are now
able to demonstrate the benefits
of Sky Go - avaltable at no

Hawving one integrated team all
working from the same systems
and under the same terms helps
us to deliver a consistent tevel

of service to all customers every
day And it s notjust about fixing
faults Allour engineers spend six | extra cost to all Sky customers
days a year ensunng they are up This helps us ensure that our

to speed with the latest products | customers get the best value

and developments This means from thetr subscrption, iImproving
that they can take the tmewhen | satsfaction and increasing loyalty
they are in homes to show the

Getting closer to customers
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We are also investing more than £20 million a year in training to ensure
that our people have the nght toals and skills te do their jobs well

After their mittal traiming, all our call centre staff now spend an average
of one day a menth learning about new developments and building therr
expertise of Sky products sa that more of our customers get their jssues
resolved incnecall

The impact on the customer expenence has been sigrificant According to
our own internal performance measures customer satisfactron s at record
lavels Meanwhile we have retained our service leadership in the tnple-play
sector ranking number one i this year's Ofcom survey with the highest
satisfaction scores for customer service We have alsc won recognition
from consumer group USwitch winming four awards In all, ncluding Britain s

Strategic repoct - Customers

Of course equally important to the delivery of a good customer expenence
s making sure we are doing everything we can to prevent things going
wrong One of the ways we are achieving thes 15 by continuing to dnve
penetration of our most reliable SkytHD box which was in 83% of homes
at the and of June, versus 75% in the prior year Combined wath the growing
populanty of our oniine self help furction this has led to a significant
dedine in the number of calls we receive from customers and the number
of engineer visits we need to make Over the last four years, both have
fallen by mare than a third despite the continued growth of our customer
and product base

best triple-play provider

Help yourself

One of the big shifts in our business has been the growing number of

customers that want to help themselves when they have a problem
or query about their service We've responded to this by developing
and increasing the range of customer help services we offer online

Over the last year, we have
provided more information and
tools to help customers to resolve
many of the commoh problems
that arise By cutting out the
middle man, were empowenng
the customer But (1S also saving
us money, reducng the number

of calls to our contact centres
and ensunng that the ume that
our service teams spend with
customers s focused on helping
those with more serous 1Issues
We also provide spealfic guidance

for customers with disabihites
on how o get the most out
of our services through our
baspoke Accessibility website

Our onlineg help wisits have
doubled over two years to mare
thar ¥ 2 million wisits a week
This summer we are taking
ancther important step forward
with the launch of a dedicated
customer service smartphone
app making all of our help topics
even easier 1o aceess

Service
vyithout
limits

Oui home communications busmess is a great example of the way in
which we innovate and work hard to offer our customers great value
We have invested heawly in our network, which now serves more than
90% of UK homes And seven years after we launched customers’
appetite to switch from other providers to save money with Sky
remains strong we are number two i the broadband market and 37%
of our customers take the tnple play of TV phone and broadkand

from Sky

To make sure we give customers
great value we have arange

of products to sut all needs

and budgets Sky Broadband
Unhmited 1svdeal for surfing

and downloading music and
mavies Sky Fibre Unlimited with
download speeds of up to 38Mb
1s petfect for Families who have
lots of devices on the go at once
it means more enline games

the ability to stream mowvies as
well as non-stop music playlists
We also have Sky Broadband Lige
for peopte who just occasionally
want to browse the intemet and
check a fewemails

We know that to make the most
of the connacted home, you need
a great broadband service

So that s why our unlimited
services are genuwnely unlimited
with no usage limits and access

1o over 20000 Sky WiFI hotspots
around the country - great

news for our millons of Sky Go
customers We continue to
develop our kit to make sure
everything s easy touse and
customers can get the best
perfermance Sowe have designed
routers that customers can install
themselves andwireless boosters
that extend the WiF signal
further With more than S mifion
of our custamers yet to switch
their horme commtunications
service to Sy there s plenty
maore roem 1O grow
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Sky Academy

Awhole generation has been born since Sky launchedin 1989
They and their families are the bedrock of our business So,in our
25th anniversary year we decded to make a step change tothe
support that we give young people across Britaln and Ireland

This 1s arole that we are well
placed to play The nature of our
business spanming TV, sport

and technology 1s a good fit with
young people and we know the
Sky brand resonates strongly
with them As a majer employer
we understand that young
people need more than academic
qualfications to reach thearr
potential -1t s also about things
like team work self-confidence
and self-awareness We want

to play our partin gmng young
people the help and opportunities
they need to succeed Ina
changing world

This 1s where Sky Academy comes
in Bnnging together a range of
inttiatives - some well-established
others just getting gong - Sky
Academy aims to usa the power
of television creatmty and sport
to inspire young people and help
them build skills and confidence
Just as Sky Academy is about
encouraging the under-25s to

aim high we are alse ambitious
Inour targets We want to create
opportuntties for up to one milion
young people by 2020
Headquartered in our new Believe
in Better bullding, due to epen

i the autumn at the heart of

our West London campus, Sky
Academy is comprised of four
imitiatives Sky Sports Living for
Sport, Sky Academy Skills Studios
Sky Academy Scholarships and
Sky Academy Startng Qut

Sky Academy Skills Studios has
welcomed over 20000 students
aged B-18 to the purpose-buit
fadlity in West London in lass
than two years since launch

The S¥y Acadery Skills Stuchios
experience takes schools betund
the scenes at Sky gnvng them

the opportunity to use the latest
technology to create their own
news reports on subjects theyre
studying. We wall be launching our
second Skills Studios 1n Lmvngston
Seotland in 2015

Sky Academy Scholarships
provide financ:al assistance and
mentaring to support some of
the most exciting emerging tatent
insport telewsion and the arts
This year we have helped 17 young
artists and athletes and this
spring, we launched a brand new
scherne with the Natienal Film
and Television School to prowde
support to young people from
economically-cksadvantaged
backgrounds considenng a career
i television

Sky Academy Starting Out helps
prepare young peoaple for work

by offering a range of work
expenence apprenticeships and
graduate roles Reaching almost
600 young peoplen the last year,
we airn to double the number of
places across the bustness over
the next three years, helping te
create the next generation of
talent at Sky and giving more
young people a head startin their
careers As part of this were set
tolaunch a new one-day career
experience for 16-18 year olds

this autumn

Britrsh Sky Broadcastng Group pic
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Bigger Picture

(continued)

Seeing the igger picture 1s fundamental
to the way we do business at Sky

It means making a positive impact on
the communities where we live and work
and being willing to look beyond the
delivery of short-term results in order

to build a better business that is durable
for the long term This approach helps
us build long-term relationships and
earn the trust of our customers,
employees and partners Andit's an
area In which we made important
progress In the past year

Road to nowhere

Through Sky Rainforest Rescue our partnershup with WWwF,
we're working together to help protect one billion treesin
the Amazon rainforest in Brazil

Social and economic contnbution

As Sky grows so does the positive segal and economic contribution
we make to Britain and lreland According to this year s research

from the independent consultants, Oxford Economics, we contributed
an estimated £6 billion to UK GDP in 201314 and worked with

7000 supplers

With more than 25 000 employees, we are one of 8ntain s largest
campanies However our total impact is much wider than this Including
suppliers and partners 117000 jobs in Britain were dependent on
Skyin the last year In ali Sky generated €2 7 billion of tax revenues

i the year equivalent to £42 for every person in the UK

As well as being avalued part of everyday Iife for millons of customers
we are the biggest commercial supporter of the creative and sports
Industres in the UK Within our £2.6 bilhlon investment 1n content

we are on track 1o spend arecord £600 million on UK-produced content
across our channets (excluding sports rights) by the end of December
2014 This has seen us work with more than 150 independent production
companies In thelast 12 months providing a platform for their creativity
and helping them grow ther businesses

Our presencein 11 5 millon homes } added reason to giveitago -

across Bntan and Ireland gives
us & uMvgue opportunity to raise
awareness of the 1ssue of climate
change one of the world's biggest
challenges and something we feel
passionate about Self-confessed
environmental sceptic Freddie
Flintoff may not have been an
obwious first choice for a film
about the work that we are doing
In the Amazon rainforest But
when we gave him a ¢hance

to embark on the Journey of a
lifetime, he umped at the chance
Never one to turrn down a tough
physical test, Freddie had an

his daughter had been learning
about the rainforest at school
and was desperate to try to help

The resulting two-part Sky 1
documentary Flintoff's Road
To Nowhere, followed Freddie
and extreme cyclist and
environmentahst Rob Penn

as they cycled Brazil s Trans-
Armazoruan Highway exploring
one of the worid s maost
enigmatic regions at atime

of unprecedented change

It was Just one way that we
sought to raise awareness about
dimate change over the year
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Changing the game

Sky Sports Living for Sportis now
in its 1th year and Is ouriongest-
running tutiative Delwered n
partnership with Youth Sport
Trust, over 85,000 students from
primary and secondary schools
across Bntain and Ireland have
taken partin a Sky Sports Living
for Sport activity this year

At the heart of the programme s
our team of over 80 warld-dlass
athlete mentors headed up by our
ambassadors Olympie athletes
Jessica Ennis-Hill, Darren Campbell
and Katie Taylar as well as our Sky

Academy Ambassador Dawd
Beckham Our mentors gonto
schools and use sports skills

to help budd young people s
confidence and Iife skills, whatever
their athletic ability We also

host Sky Sports Livng for Sport.
Community Games events in logal
communities throughout the

UK for primary school children
Were proud of what we've achieved
with Sky Sports Living for Sport
but we wanted to go further
incorporating Sky Sports Living for
Sport and the ethos that underpins

It into our TV schedule Solast
autumn we launched Game
Chongers, a brand new TV show for
kids that introduces inspirational
role models and encourages
them to try out different sports
Reccrded Ive in front of astudia
audience of children the show
goes cut on Sky Sports1and
Sky 1 on Saturday mornings
presented by Dy Dougherty and
Sky Sports Living for Sport
Ambassador Darren Campbell
one of Bntamn s most successful
and well-known sprinters

Srategicreport - Brgger Pture

The showmarked the end of its
first season in Maywith alive
Game Changers Speciatto celebrate
the achievements of the young
people and teachers involved
i Sky Sports Living for Sport.
With awards presented by our
Ambassaders Dawd Beckham
and Jessica Entis-Hill it was a
fitting end to a successful first
season for Game Changers
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Strategic report - Bigger Picture

Bigger Picture

(continued)

In sport we continued to strengthen our relatienships at all levels
helping to improve performance participation and infrastructure
through the investment and promotion that we provide One area of
parucular facus in the past year has been women s sport In the last 12
months Sky Sports concluded new nghts deals to broadcast England
Netball and Women s Rugby and extended its relationship with the
Ladies Professional Golf Assooiation Reflecting its commitment to the
area Sky Sports launched a new weekly show in September dedicated to
women s sport as well as supporting The Sunday Times as the exclusive
partner for the 2013 Sportswomen of the Year Awards in December

A responsible business day to day

Of course we understand that what we do as abusinessis only part

of the answer We know that how we do business is just as impaortant
For Sky beheving in better also means doing the right thing and acting
responsibly in all that we do This approach 1s integral to the culture and
values we seek to promote among our people The millions of customers
across Bntain and Irefand that choose Sky for their home entertanment
and communications have high expectations of us and it sourjob to
maintairn thetr trust in the decisions we take every day

Powering down

We have set out ambitious targets to reduce ourimpact on the
envarenment, nduding a target to improve energy efficency
across all our buildings by an average of 20% by 2020 (compared
to the 2008/09 basehne) One way we are doing thisis to improve
the efficiency of cur data centres, the buildings we use tc house
the millions of pieces of data that help our business work

we've installed menitoring tools
to measure the performance of
our data centres and were making
the most of virtual servers and
cloud-based technology By the
end of 2014 we will have moved
almost all of our servers into

our newer more energy-effiaent
data centras

By 2017 we hope to have

closed our smaller data centres
completely reducng costs and
giving us greater control over
our IT systems This s a bigstep
towards buitding a more durable
busmness for the long term

One example of the way In which we do that 1s in our work to make
our products and services accessible tc everyone ncluding those
with disabihties We provide subtithng and audio descniption on

24 of our Sky-owned TV channels with over 80% of knear content
delivered wath subbitles and over 20% with audio descripuion

The new Electroric Programme Guide that we rolled out this

year was designed in consultation with the Royal National Institute
of Blind People And in May we strengthened the capabilities of aur
90-strong accessibility customer service team when we extended
the use of our Video Relay Service to enable hard of hearing customers
to call in and use sign language

We continue to make good progress against our ambitous 2020
environmental targets Qur greatest operational iImpactis in our

own energy use so we re aiming to halve our carbon intensity

(CO,e emissions relative ta revenue) by 2020 As at the end of 2013714
we've already achieved a 40% reduction against our 2008/09 baseline
Over the same tme period our absolute gross emissions have
decreased by i0% to 95,000 tonnes CO.e Where we have unavoidable
emissions we offset and continue to be carbon neutral More detail
around our greenhouse gas emissions can be found on page 79
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We are committed to bullding preductive fair and ethical relationshups
with aur supplrers and distributors - refationships on which so much
of the success of our business rebles We set out our expectations

11 our Responsible Souraing Policy, which s available on our website
Qver the past year we have assessed 100 per cent of our strategic
suppliers against our responsible sourang questionnaire

While we do not have a specific human nghts policy we have a strong
commitment to upholding the prinaples of human nghts across our
business Our cammitments to human nghts are induded within our
Environment Policy and our Responsible Souraing Policy These pnnaples
are also outhned in Sky's Ways of Worlung This ts the code of conduct
that everyone who works at Sky is expected to adhere to Further
information 15 avallable on ourwebsite at sky com/biggerpicture

Inspinng action

We know that we have the opportunity to use our position as aleading
meda and communications company to reach beyond aur business
and make a positive Impact on soaety

We made a step change In our approach this year wath the launch of

Sky Academy in November This 13 a urugue and groundbreaking set of
iniatives that use the power of TV creativity and spoft to Inspire young
people and give them the skills and confidence they need to succeed

Sport s at the heart of what we do and we believe in its power to change
lives Qur partnership wath British Cycling, now (nits sixth year has got.
more than one millkon people on their bikes since 2009 and the elite
suceess of Team Sky delivered a Brnush winner of the Tour de France

far the second consecutive year in 2013

Strategic report - Bigger Picture

Sky Rainforest Rescue 1s our partnership with WWF and the State
Government of Acre in Brazil, which aims to save a bilkon trees in the
Amazon rainforest Through the campaign were alsoinspiring our
customers in Bntain and Ireland to take action to address chmate change

With the partnership nowin its fifth year more than 1,500 families in
Brazd have registered to take part in avoluntary land certification scheme
to help give local people ways of making 2 iving from the forest without
cutting down trees As a resuit of knowing about Sky Rainforest Rescue
27% of people are now more aware of the tssue of deforestation The
partnershup has raised a total of over £4 milllon with Sky then matching
every contribution pound for pound

We are proud of our work to make a positive contribution to society and
we are committed to dotng more in the future

Carban intensity?
Target. 50% reductionin gross CQ,e emussions relative to revenue®

20304 A 124
w0203 TN 128
ECLUERN - 139
20t0m 7 162
00sh0 L T T ZR 19
2008/09 -7 SN o

201314 datas independently assured by Deloitte LLP and can be viewed
onling at sky com/tiggerpicture

Relative to 2008/09 baseline

Gross CO,e emiSSIoNs include emissions from prermuses and company owned
vehicles (Scope1and 2)

w N
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Stateglc repart - People

People

Future proofing

We know we're only as good as
the people that work for us and
nowheres this more true than
intechnology where our ability
to stay one step ahead depends
onattracting the best talent
with the most up-to-date skills

Qur requirement for software
developers has grown in the past
few years with the expansion

of our connected TV services
However 1t s also been clear

that we re not the only company
out there looking in what s

an increasingly competitive

Jobs market

So we took the decision to develop
more of cur talent i house

In 2011 we set up the Sky Software
Engineenng Academy This takes
24 graduates every July fresh out
of unversity and passionate about
technology and over the course

of seven months helps turn them
into fully-fledged developers

The newstartersbeginwtha
four-week boot camp to get them
all up to the same level We then
get them out on the job working
on live projects Lo apply what
they have learnt under the close
superviston of one of our experts

Over the next five months

they work in small teams on
avariety of differant tasks to
help get them ready for a career
N Sky At the end we sit down
with them to help them decide
where in the business they
might want to pursue a career

Two years in and the schemes
been a great success so last
September we deaded to accept
a further 12 young people nto
the pregramme

In addition we retruited 12 people
Into anewly-created Development
Operations Academy with the aim

of trarming up graduates to work
on our hardware and infrastructure
requirements

With almost 100 bnght young
graduates through its doors In
the first three years our Software
Engineernng Acaclemy (s one of
the many ways Sky1s bulding
skills For the future

—_——
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People

(continued)

Our people are criical to our success
We aim to foster a culture where
they can do their best work every
day, fulfil their potential and achieve
great things together

In a fast-moving industry, we know that success comes from a willingness
to embrace change We want to encourage our people to strive for

continual improvement In everything that they do That s at the heart of
our Believe in Better ethos and has been the basis of Sky's achievements
ovar the past 25 years We believe 1t 1s the best foundation for the future

Our am1s to create an environment where all of our peapte can fulfil ther
potential To help them progress we provide a wide range of oppertunities
for development, such as mentoring and new skills training. The Sky

Space to work

Development Studio for example 1s an online learning portal which
prowdes access to a huge choice of learming resources and courses
available to all Last year this delivered more than 75 Q00 hours of
e-learming across the business

Because we know that the quality of cur managers has a big influerice

on performance and engagement, we launched a new two-gay training
programme this year for newly-prometed managers ‘Sky Management
HD covers everything from interview techniques to objective setung
over the two-day programme More than 600 managers have completed
the programmen the first year contnbuting to a total of 100 000 training
days In the last 12 months across the company

However learning 1s not just about farmal training As a large and diverse
company, we are also able to offer our people the opportunity to broaden
their experience through exposure to different parts of the business

We actively encourage internal moves and job rotations at all levels of

the organisatien from project work and short-term placements te hew
full-tme roles This helps us to bulld a broader skills base and strengthens
collaboration across departments

For our people to flourish and do the best they can it’s important that
we provide themwith the best working environment. This summer we
opened a brand new building, known as The Hub, night at the heart of
our campus mWest London in the latest stage of the redevelopment

of the Osterley headquarters where we have been based since 1989

The Hub 1s Sky's first major flexible
workspace housing around 450
emplayees over three floors Next
on the listis the new headquarters
for Sky Academy and construction
has also begun an a further phase
of development In line with our

commitment to sustainability all
the newbuildings are designed to
have minimal environmental impact.
This project which started In

2010 with the construction

of Sky Studios representsa
transformation of the working

erviranment forthe thousands of
our people now based at Osterley
We aim to create a state-of-the art
media and technology campus to
support Sky's growth far into the
future and are canfident that the
new facthities wilthave a positive
impact on our people our business
and on our local community

It s not just i Osterley where were

constantly trying to make Sky a
great place towork This year we ve

provided access to gyms to keep
our people fit, and refurbished

all our cafes and restaurants

We know howimportant the
working environment i1s and

we re always changing and adapting
it to create the bestworkplace for
our people This year we've invested
nour sites across the UK and
Ireland from Livingston to Victora
and from Dublin to Newcastle
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A Sky for everyone

Because we want Sky to be a great place to work, we offer a comprehensive
reward package which includes generous holiday entitlement and maternity
leave allowance a penston and healthcare as well as free Sky+HD Sky
Broacdband and discounted Sky Talk

As well as developing and rewarding the people who already work at Sky
we want to encourage new talent toJoin us We continue to grow our
employee base adding more than 4 500 new jobs in the last three years
to take our total employee base 1o 25 400

The launch of Sky Academy in November 2013 has brought a step change
Inour cammitment to previde opportunities for young people within the
bus:ness Through Sky Academy Starting Qut we will more than double the
size of our work expenence and employment programmes cver the next
three years across a range of work expenence placement, apprenticeship
and graduate schemes

This means growng the size of our existing programmes but 1t also means
we Il launch a brand new programme offerning thousands of teenagers

the opportunity to spend a day at Sky for a hands-on expenence of the
workplace This will open Sky to even more young people and help them
prepare for the world of work To underiine our commitment, Sky Academy
will be headgquartered in a new building at the heart of our Osterley
campus This wall also serve as a space where Sky people will come together
for training, devefoprment and mentoring

Strategic report - Pecple

We know that we wil! be better placed for success as a business
if we have a balanced and diverse workforce that reflects our
customers and includes the most talented people, regardless

of gender or ethnitty That s why we are committed toimproving

diversity in our Industry

One way that we are seekingto
Improve is by increasing drversity
on screen induding on Sky News
for example where we have
in¢reased the representation of
women as expert commentators

Another way is the introduction
this year of five Sky Academy

TV Scholarships Avarlable to
successful applicants on courses.
run by the Natonal Film and TV
School (NFTS) the scholarships
will be offered to young pecple
from eccnomically-disadvantaged
backgrounds We witl fully Fund
three places at the NFTSon the
Broadcast Production course and
two on the Digitat Content and
Formats course, which we already
support through placements

and mentoring.

The am Is to encourage indmwiduals
who may not otherwise have
considered a career in the media
with a particular focus on
supporting students from

black Asiam and minonty ethnic
backgrounds and those wath
disabilities Added to existing
initiatives ke our partnesship
with MAMA Youth Project, where
Sky sponsors 12 young people
from rmunority and disadvantaged
backgrounds the NFTS
scholarships are another step
towards Increasing diversity in
the broadcasting industry

We believe that 4 diverse workForce creates a stronger business and
therefore we wark to create an environment that encourages diversity

and mnovation

We are committed to increasing famale and ethnic representation in
our employee base and in particular in leadership roles The ratio of male
to female colleagues based on the number of employees as at 30 June

2014 15 outlined below

Diversity gender

Male . Female
Board of Directors 13 87% 2 13%
Senior managers 105 74% 38 26%
Allemployees' 14,740 66% , 7508 34% ,

1 Sased on full-lme equivaient empioyers from continieng cperabions and exduding

paopla wha work for our jont ventures

2013114 data s independently assured by Geloitte LLP and can be viewed online at

shycom/biggerpicture
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Financial review

We have delivered an excellent year of operational and
financial growth Continued demand across the board
translated into strong revenue growth which, combined
with a continued focus on operating efficiency, meant
we absorbed our Investment in connected services and
matched last year’s record adjusted earnings per share

Andrew Gnffith
Chuef Finanaal Officer

Financial performance

We delvered a good finangal performance for the twelve months to
30 June 2014 Adjusted revenue growth was 5% (or 7% after excluding
the impact of ESPN) and this together wath continued discipline on
costs, allowed us to debver adjusted EBITDA of £1667 millon, down
only 1% despite our connected services investment and the step

up i Preamier League amortisatien Adjusted basic earnings per
share were 60 0 pence flat on the prior year s record level

Unless otherwise stated all figures and growth rates exclude adjusting
items A reconciliation of statutory to adjusted figures is detalled
on page 139

Revenue
2011 2013

For the year to 30 June Em % Em %
Retail subscription 6255 82 5951 82
Wholesale subscnption 407 6 396 6
Adverusing 472 & 440 6
Installation hardware & serwice 85 1 B7 1
Cther 398 5 361 5

7617 100 7,235 100

Revenue increased by 5% to E7617 milion (20713 E7235 million) with
continued strong growth in both our retail and commercial businesses
Revenue grew by 7% excluding the impact of the discontinued retailing
of the ESPN channel 1n both 2014 and 2013

Retail subscnption revenue after excduding £6 milton of ESPN revenue
(2013 £89 million) grew by 7% to £6 249 milkon (2013 £5 862 miltton)
reflecting strong product and customer growth and pnce nsesin the
year Our investmentsin connected services are paying back driven
by a strong performance from Sky Store which saw revenues more
than double onlast year

Cur commeraal businesses also performed well Advertising revenue
was up 7% to £472 million (2013 £440 million) through a combination
of market growth share gains through our consolidation of two small
sales housesinthis financial year and a first time contribution from
Sky AdSmart Whelesale subscription revenue increased by 3% to
E407 milhon (2013 £396 million) as renewed carnage agreéements
and price increases were partially offset by lower customer volumes
on third-party platforms

Cther revenue ncreased by 10% to £398 million (2013 £361 milior}
with continued strong performance from Sky Bet which saw mobile
users up 29% dnving revenues up 18% to £183 milion

Our statutory reported revenue grew 5%
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= £167bn
== 60.0p
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Costs
2014 2013

For the year to 30 June Em % £m %
Programmimg 2662 a2 2486 42
Direct networks 819 13 5 12
Marketing 1199 19 ime 19
Subscriber management and

supply chain 688 n 647 il
Transrrussion technology and

fixed networks 447 7 am 7
Administration 542 8 540 9

6,357 100 5805 100

Excluding the one-off step up in the new Premier League deal and the
discontinuation of ESPN carnage (2014 £223 millon 2013 £78 mullion)
programming costs of £2,439milllon (2013 £2,408 million) were up 1%

v the year as we made disciplined choices across our diverse content

partfolie Sports accounted for the macrity of the increase gven our

investment n a large number of renewed and new rights agreements

Movies costs Increased from a broader grant of nghts facilitating new
propositions hke NOW TV Sky Go Extra and Sky Store while payments
to third-party channel providers were lower than the pricr year as we

negotiated more favourable terms on several renewed agreernents

Direct network costs of £819 million were up 15% (2013 £715 milhory)
as we continued to grow our customer base and absorbed the
acquired 02 customer base onto our netwark

Marketng costs of £1199 million (2013 E1116 milion) were driven by
the increased growth of paid-for products compared to last year and
promotions behund our drive to connect our base of set-top boxes
Above the line marketing was alse higher as we maintained our share
of vorce in the market with targeted campaigns throughout the year

Subscnber management and supply chain costs wera up 6% at E6BB
million (2313 £647 million) as we continued to see strong growth in
products and customers invested in ourconnected services and
integrated the acquired O2 customers into the Sky base

Transmission technology and fixed network costs increased by
1% to E447 million (2013 £401 milhon) largely due to the first ime
consohdation of the cost base agsociated with the acquired 02
broadband business Administration costs of £542 milion were
broadly flat on [ast year (2013 £540 millior)

Strategic report - Finangal review

Profits and earnings

Adjusted EBITDA of £1667 mition (2013 £1692 million) and adjusted
operating profit of £1260 milkan (2013 £1 330 millon) Is an exceflent
result in a penod where the business absorbed a ane-off step up in
Premuer League costs and invested to accelerate take-up and usage
of new connected TV services

Depreciation and amortisation was up 12% at £407 mikon (2013 £362
million) due ta the integration of the acquired Q2 business a higher
base of deprecable assets with more unbundled exchanges netwerk
upgrades carned out across the year and a higher fixed asset base

as we begin to depreciate the development costs of products such

as NOW TV and Sky AdSmart

Profit before tax was £1186 milion (2013 £1264 mullion) which
included the Group s share of jount ventures and associates profits of
E35 milhon (2013 E37 rulbon) and a net interest charge of £109 rmilken
(2013 £103 millon) Taxation for the period was £243 million (2013
£295 million) at an adjusted effective tax rate of 21% (2013 23%)
mainly as a result of the reduction in the rate of UK corporation tax

Profit after tax for the yearwas £937 mifiron (2013 £969 milon)
generating adjusted basic earnings per share of 600 pence (2013

£0 0 pence) Over tha year the waighted average number of shares
excluding those held by the Employee Share Ownership Plan (ESOP)
for the settlement of ermnployee share awards was 1562 million (2013
1614 mihian) The closing number of shares, excluding the ESOP shares
at 30 June 2014 was 1 546 million (2013 1,573 milien)

Adjusting items

Statutory operatng profit of £1161 milion (2013 £1291 mithen)
includes a net exceptional cost of £99 million (2013 E39 mithion)
which reflects integration costs of the acquired G2 business and the
ongoing amortisation of acquired intangibles (£72 million) the costs
of a corporate efficiency programme undertaken through the year
(E40 roilion) offset in part by a net gain from the termination

of an escrow agreement with a wholesale customer (E13 milion)

Statutory profit after tax of E86S million (2013 £979 million) also
includes a net exceptional gain of £27 millon due to a tax credit and
the tax effect on all adjusting items (£32 million) partially offset by a
£5 milhon cost relating ke mark to market values of denvatuve financial
instruments

in the pror year statutery profit after tax inciuded a net exceptional
gain of £10 milkon consisting of a gan of £32 millon relating to a credit
note received from BT following an Ofcom determination that BT had
overcharged for Ethernet services again of £33 million following final
settiament of disputes with a former manufacturer of set-top boxes
and a gain of £9 milikorn on the disposal of our Investment in MUTY
Lirmited These gains were offset by costs of £56 millon for a one-off
upgrade af set-top boxes and a programme to offer wireless
connectors to selected Sky Movies customers, in addition te costs

of £33 million for a corporate efficency programme and costs of

E15 milionin relauon to the acquisition and integranon of O2s
consumer broadband and fixed-hine te'ephony senice Other adusting
Items in the prior year were a £23 mifbon gain relating to mark to
market vatues of derwvative financial instruments and a £17 milkon
credit relating to the tax exceptionals and the tax effect on all
adjusting tems

A reconciliation of statutory to adjusted numbers s shown on page 139
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Strategi report - Financial rewiew

Financial review

(continued)

Cash flow and financial position

Adjusted free cash Flow excluding campus redevelopment investment
costs of £E62 million {2013 £12 milkon) was 3% lower at £1 006 million
(2013 £1040 milion) reflecting lawer EBITDA and higher capital
expenditure offset by a positive working capital movement and

lower cash tax

Capital expenditure increased by £89 milion to £543 million

(2013 £454 million) due to the phasing of campus redevelopment
investment, the integration and migration of acquired G2 customers
and product development investment Excluding the campus
redevelopment underlying capital expenditure was £481 milien
(2013 £442miltion)

Nan-
Asarl Cash cash As at
July  move-  move- 30June
2013  ments ments 2014

Em £m £m Em
Current borromngs n - - n
Non-current borrowings 2909 - (251) 2658
Borrowings-related denvative
financial instruments (327) - 247 (80)
Gross debt 2593 - @) 2589
Cash and cash equivalents (815) (267) - (082
Short-term deposits (595) 300 - (295)
Net debt 1183 33 4) 1212

Net debt increased slightly to £1 212 million (2013 £1183millon}as a
result of the £750 millton cash returned to shareholders via dividends
and share buy-back in the year Gross debt was £2 589 milion with
£1,377 milhion of cash and cash equivalents and short-term deposits at
30 June 2014 The Group s iquidity and headroom remain comfortable

Balance Sheet

Dunng the year total assets increased by £104 million to £6,449 million
at 30 June 2014 Non-current assets increased by £100 million to

£3 876 million primarily due to anincrease of £139 million in intangble
assets and property plant and equipment as aresult of campus
redevelopment investment the integration and migratien of acquired
Q2 customers and product development investment an increase of
£11 milhion in available-for-sale nvestments mainty resulung from the
in¢rease in the value of our investmentin ITV plc, offset by £165 mullion
decrease in non-current denvative financial assets which offsets
against movements In hon-current borrowings Current assets
increased by £4 milion to £2 573 million at 30 June 2014

Total habilities increased by £44 million to £5 377 mulion at 30 June
2014 Current habilities increased by £202 million to E2 519 millian
primanty due to a £263 million increase in trade and other payables
offset by a £48 million decrease in current tax habiities Non-current
labilities decreased by £158 mdlhon to £2 858 millon principally due
to a £251 millon decrease in the Group s non-current borrowings
as a result of the strengthening of pounds sterling against the US
dollar and fair value movements in the value of bonds offset by a
£100 millon increase tn non-current denvative financial habiities

Distributions to Shareholders

We have onceagain tncreased our ordinary dividend The Directors
proposed final dndend of 20 O pence per share takes the total
dindend payable in respect of the financial year to 32 O pence per
share an increase of 7% on last year and double the leved of seven
years ago Shareholders have now benefited from a decade of
sustained dividend growth such that a holder of a single Sky share
over that penod would have recerved over 200 pence in diidends

The ex-cividend date will be 13 Novernber 2014 ang subject to
sharehotder approval at the 2014 Annual General Meeting, the
final dadend of 20 O pence will be paid on 5 December 2014 to
shareholders appearing on the register at the close of business
en 14 November 2014

At the Company's AGM on 22 Novernber 2013 we received shareholder
approval to retum up to £500 milhon of capital to shareholders via a
share buy-back On 25 July 2014, the Company suspended its share
buy-hack programme

Post balance sheet events

On 17 July 2014 the Group sold & shareholding of approximately
6 4% n [TV plc consisting of 259,820 065 ITV shares for an aggregate
consideration of approximately £481 million

The Cempany announced on 25 July 2014 that it has conditionally
entered inte share purchase agreements (the "Acquisition
Agreements”) with 21st Century Fox (and its relevant subsidianes)

to acquire 1ts 100% stake in Sky Itala Srl and its 57 4% stake in Sky
Deutschliand A G The Company further announced its intention to
make a voluntary cash offer (the "Offer™) to the minonty shareholders
of Sky Deutschland A G The Acguisiuen Agreements and the Offer
(together the “lransactions”) are conditional on amengst other things,
their approval by the Company’s independent shareholders and
regulatory clearances

The total consideration for the acquisiuon of Sky Italia ts £2 45 bilon
with approximately £2 07 billon to be paid in cash and the balance to
be satisfied through the transfer of the Group s 21% stake in National
Geographic Channel to 21st Century Fox ("21CF ") The acquisition of
21CF's shareholding in Sky Deutschland AG 15 for a consideration of
£2 9 billion In cash, valuing Sky Deutschland at €6 75 a share Subject
to the number of Sky Deutschland AG minority shareholders that
accept the Offer the total consideraton for the transaction will range
from £2°9 bihon to ES bilian

For further detais, see note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements
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Strategic report - Prinapal nisks and uncertantes

Principal risks and uncertainties

The Group nsk register is reported formally to the Audit Commuttea
twice a year and focused nsk reporting on selected themes occurs

on a guarterly basis Additional information on the Group s nternal
control and nsk management processes 1s set out in the Corporate
Governance Report and the Audit Committee Report (see page 54)

This section descrbes the current principal nsks and uncertainties
fauing the Group In addition to summansing the matenal rsks and
uncertainties the table below gives examples of how we mitigate
those nsks

The Group has a formal nsk management framework embedded within
the business te support the identification and effective management
of nsk across the Group

The divisions within the Group are each responsible for managing and
reporting nsk in accordance with the Group s nsk management pohcy
and standards that have been approved by the Audit Committee
The risks are then consohdated 1nto a Group nsk register which
provides an overview of the Group nsk profile

Descnption of nsk

Mitgation

Market and competition

The Group operates In a highly competitive ernaronment and faces
competition from a broad range of organisations Technological
developments also have the ability to create new forms of quickly
evolving competition

A fallure to develop the Group s product proposition in ine with
changing market dynamics ang expectations could erode the
Group s competitive position

Great content 1s central to Sky's product propositicn and increased
competition could impact the Group s ability to acquire content that
Its customers want on commercially attractive terms

Economic conditions have been challenging in recent years and the
future remains uncertain A significant economic dechne could iImpact
the Group s abidity to continue to attract and retain customers

The Group continues to make significant investments in innovation

The Group s product development strategic aimis to be at the
forefront of pregressive technology

Please see theinnovation section for further details of these
products

The Group regularly reviews Its pncing and packaging structures
to ensure that its product proposition 1s appropriately placed
witiun the market.

The Group works closely with its marketing partners te ensure that
the value of its offering is understood and commuricated effectively
toIts customers

The Group makes significant investment in the ongination of
UK content as well as in acguisition from across the world

The Group alsoworks to develop and maintan the brand value
associated with its individual channels

Regulatory breach and change

The Group s subject to regulation pnmarity under UK, Insh and European
Union legislation

The regimes which apply to the Group s business include but are not
imited to

« Broadcasting - the Group 15 subject to Ofcom s licensing regime under
the Broadcasting Acts 1990 and 1996 and the Communications Act
2003 These cbhigations Include the requizement te comply wath the
relevant codes and direcuons issued by Ofcom including for example
the Broadcasting Code the Code on the Scheduling of Television
Advertsing and the Cross Promotions Code

Gambling - Aldemey Gambhng Control Commission (AGCCT) regulation
and Gambling Act 2005 (UK},

Platform services - as a provider of EPG and CA services the Group

1s subject to regutation under the Communicatiens Act 2003 which
amongst other things requires it to provide EPG and CA services to
other broadcasters on far reasonable and non-discnminatory terms
and

Telecommunications - the Group Is subject to the General Conditians
of Entitlement adopted under the Communications Act 2003 which
impose detailed requirernents on providers of commurnicatrons
networks and services

The Group manages these nsks through active engagement in the
regulatory processes that affect the Group s business

The Group actely seeks to (dentify and mee? our regulatory
obhgations and to respond to emerging requrements This includes
for example

» Broadcasting - comphance contrels processes and contacts
are in place in Entertainment Movies, Sports and News senaices
Interaction with Ofcom 1s co-ordinated between the Comphance
Regulatory and Legal departments

« Gambhng - controls and processes are in place ta monitor our
compliance with and our adherence to our obligations under the
AGCC regulations and the Gambling Act 2005 We are subject to
regular independent audit by the AGCC against the Alderney
regulations and will be applying to the UK Gambling Commussion
for a UK Remote Gambling Licence 1n accordance with recent
amendments to the Gambling Act 2005

+ Platform sernces - processes are in place to monitor third-party
broadcaster access to the digital satelite platform and to ensure
that this 1s provided on fair reasonable and non-discriminatory
terms

- Telecommunications - compliance cantrols processes and
contacts are in place oversean by the Customer Comphance
Committee tomonitor compliance and performance against
the General Condiions of Entitiemant.
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Description of risk

Mingation

Regulatory breach and change contiriued

The Group Is alse subject to generally applicable legistation including,
but not kmited to competition (antitrust), consumer protection data
protection and taxation

The Group 15 currently and may be In the future subject to proceedings,
and/or investigation and enquines from regulatory authonties

The Group s ability to operate or compete effectively could be adversely
affected by the outcome of Investigations or by the introduction of new
laws, policies or regulations changes in the interpretation or application
of existing laws policies and regulations or faiture to obtain required
regulatory approvals or icences

Please see page 44 of the Regulatory Matters section for further detarls

The Group maintains appropriate oversight and reporting, supported
by tramning, to provide assurance that it 1s compliant with regulatory
requirements,

Customer service

The Group's business 1s based on a subscription model and its future
success relies on building long-term relationships wath its customers
A falure to meet Its customers expectations with regards to service
could negatively Impact the Groups brand and competitive position

The Group stnves consistently to exceed 1ts customaers
expectations to put its customers first, to understand what
they want and to be responsive to what they say

The Group makes significant investments wn order to deliver
continuous development and smprovement to 1ts customer
service capabilities including investment inits contact centies
across the UK and Ireland and implementing ongoing traiming
and develepment plans

The Group tracks its customer service performance benchmarks
Its customer serace experence and strives to be bestin class

Technology and business interruption

The products and senaces that the Group prowdes to its custamers
are rellant on complex technical infrastructure

A failure in the operauon of the Group s key systems or Infrastructure,
such as the breadeast platform customer management systems OTT
platforms or the telecommunizations networks on which the Group
refles could cause a falure of service to our customers and negatively
impact our brand

The Group makes significant investment in technology infrastructure
to ensure that it continues to support the growth of the business

The Group 1s commutted to achueve best-in-class business continuity
standards and makes sigrnificant investments i the resthence and
robustness of its business Infrastructure

The Group also organises regular scenano based group-wide
business continuity exerases to ensure ongoing readiness of
key staff systems and sites

Supply chain

The Group relies on a number of third parties and outsourced suppliees
operating across the globe to support its supply chain

Asignificant farlure withan the supply chain could adversely affect
the Groups ability to deliver produicis and service to its cusiomers

The Group continues ta invest Inits supply cham infrastructure
to support its business plan commitments

A robust supplier setection pracess 1S in place with appropriate
ongoing management and momtonng of key partners and suppliers

The Group performs regular audits of key suppliers and of their
installations and wherever possible has dual supply capabity
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Strategic report - Pinapal nsks and urcertainties

Principal risks and uncertainties

(continued)

Description of nsk

Mibigation

Finanaal

The effective management of ds financial exposures 1s central to
preserving the Groups profitability

The Group 15 expesed to financial market nsks and may be impacted
negatively by fluctuations in foreign exchange and interest rates
which create volatility in the Group s results to the extent that

they are not effectively hedged

The Group may also be affected adversely by iquidity and
counterparty risks

The Group s finance teams are embedded wathin the business to
provide support to management and to ensure accurate financial
reporting and tracking of our business performance Reporting
on finanaal performance 1s pronded on a monthly basis to senior
management and the Board

The Group continually invests (n the improverment of 1s systems
and processes inorder to ensure sound financral management
and reporting

The Group manages treasury risk by mirumusing nsk o capital
and providing appropriate protection against foreign exchange
and interest rate movements

Cash investmentis made in line with the Group s strict treasury
policy whuch s approved by the Audit Committee and sets imits
on deposits based on counterparty credit raungs No more than
10% of cash deposits are held with a single bank counterparty
with the exception of overmght deposits which are mvested

in a spread of AAAf rated hquidity funds

All non-sterling debt 1s swapped at inception to ensure appropriate
currency and interest rate pretaction s in place, and trading currency
risk ts hedged up te five years in advance

The Group manages 1ts tax nsk by ensurning that nsks are identfied
and understood at an early stage and that effective compliance and
reporting processes are inplace

The Group continues to maintain an open and proactive relationship
with the regulating tax authonities prnimarily HM Revenue & Customs
The Group aims to deal with taxation 1ssues wherever possible

as they arise in order to avoid unnecessary disputes

Secunty

The Group must protect its customer and corporate data and the
safety of its people and infrastructure as well as needing to have
tn place fraud prevention and detection measures

The Group s responsible to third-party intellectual property owners
for the security of the content that it distnbutes on vanous platforms
{Sky s own and third-party platforms)

A significant breach of security could impact the Group s abiiity
to operate and deliver against 1ts business objectives

The Group takes measures ranging from physical and logical access
controls te encryption or equivalent technelogies, to manage its
secunty rnsks

The Group continues to invest In new technological controls and

n improving broader business process and works closely with law
enforcement agencies and policy rmakers in order to protectits
assets and to comply with its contractual obligations to third parties

Projects

The Group Invests In and delivers significant capital expenditure
projects in order to continually dnve the business forward

The failure to deliver key projects effectively and efficiently could
result in significantly iIncreased project costs and impede our ability
to execute our strategic plans

A COmmOon project management methodology 15 used to enable the
Group ta manage moritor and controlits major capital expenditure
projects and strategic programmes Thrs includes standardised
reporting and monthly reviews by senior management as well as
cross-funcrional executive steenng groups for major projects

Third-party partners will where appropnate be engaged to prowde
support and expertise in our large strategic programmes complex
iniwatves and for emerging technologies
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Description of nsk

Mitigation

Inteflectual property protection

The Group in common with other service providers relies onintellectual
preperty and other proprietary nghts netluding i respect of
programming content, which may not be adequately protected under
current laws or which may be subject to unauthorised use

We maintain an ongoing programime to support appropriate
protectons of our intellectual property and ather nghts

This includes for example, the use of automated onhne manitonng
toals theimplementation of on-screen imprinting of content
together with an actyve programme to protect our trade marks

People

Pecpie at Sky are cntical to the Group s ability to meet the needs
of its customers and achieve its goals as a business

Failure to attract or retain suitable employees across the business
could imit the Group s abihty to deliver its business plan commitments

Making Sky a great place to work Is central to the Group s strategy
The Group champions diversity and develops talent through

a number of actvittes, iInduding the Graduate programme
Development Studio an apprenticeship scheme and aleadership
programme

The Group has well established channels and procedures to recruit
and retain its employees and to ensure that an adequate number
of suitable employees work within its customer serace teams

and across all its operations

Further detail on our people 1S set cuton pages 32to 35

The Company announced on 25 July 2014 that )t has conditonally entered into share purchase agreements (the “Acquisition Agreements”)
with 215t Century Fox (and its relevant subsrdiaries) to acquire its 100% stake in Sky Italia Scl and its 57 4% (on a fully-diluted basis) stake

in Sky Deutschland A G The Company Further announced Its intention to make a voluntary cash of fer (the “QOffer”) to the munonty shareholders
of Sky Deutschland AG The Acquisition Agreements and the Offer (together the “Transactions™) are conditional on amongst other things
approval by the Company s independent shareholders and regulatory clearances The nsks relating to the Transactions and ther impact if all
relevant conditions are satisfied and they proceed to completion will be set out In a ¢ircular which will be sent to the Company s sharehotders
together wath a natice of a general meetung of the Company centainung the resalutions seeking shareholder approval for the Transactions
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Strategic repart - Regulatory matters

Regulatory matters

Below I1s an overview of the ongoing
Investigations and reviews of
regulatory and competition matters
Involving the Group

European Commussion investigation

©On 13 January 2014 the European Commission opened a formal
antitrust investigation into cross-border prowvision of pay TV services
in the EU The Commission 1s exarmining certain provisions relating

to terntanal protection in licence agreements between major US

fien studios {Twentietih Century Fox, Warner Bros,, Sony Pictures,
NBCUmiversal and Paramount) and key Evropean pay TV broadcasters
(the Group Canaf Plus Sky ltalia Sky Deutschland and DTS operating
under the Canal Plus brandin Spain) The Commission has not reached
any conclusions at this stage and the Group is not yet able to assess
whether or the extent to which this review will have a matenal effect
on the Group

Wholesale must-offer obligations

On 31 March 2010 Ofcom published its deasion to impose wholesale
must-offer obligations on the Group (the “WMO Obligations™) for the
channels Sky Sports 1, Sky Sports 2, Sky Sports 1 HD and Sky Sports
2 HD (the "Affected Channels”) The WMO Obligations require the
Group amongst other things, to offer the Affected Channels on

a wholesale basis to third parties which satisfy various minimum
qualifying enitena Qnctuding financial techmcal and security critena)
The WMO Obligations speafy maximum prices that the Group

may charge for Sky Sperts 1 andjor Sky Sports 2 Under the WMO
Oblgauons the wholesale price is inked to the Group sretal price
The WMQ Obligations de net specify 8 maximum price for Sky Sports
1 HD and/or Sky Sports 2 HD Rather, the Group s required to offer
these channels on a farr, reasenable and non-distriminatory basis

In April 2010, the Group apphed to the Competition Appeal Tribunal
(the "CAT™} for a suspension of the implemeantation of the WMO
Obhgations On 29 April 2010 the Group s apphcation was resolved
by way of an agreed Order from the President of the CAT (the "Crder”)
The terms of the Order resulted in the suspension of certain aspecis
of Ofcom s dacigion pending the outcome of the Group s substantive
appeal In summary the effect of the Order s as follows

+ The Group s required to offer subject to certain pre-conditions
being met, the Affected Channels to each of BT Top Up TV and
Virgin Media (Vi) for distnbution via OTT and to VM for distribution
via cable Other parties may apply to the CAT to be added to the
list of persons to whom the Group s required to of fer its channels
(on 23 November 2010 REAL Digital EPG Services Limited was added to
the stin respect of DTH satelite distnbution but has not commenced
distribution of any Sky Sports channels)

In the event that BT Top Up TV or VM enterinto a distnbution
agreement for Sky Sports 1 and/or Sky Sports 2 under the WMO
Obligations the distnibutor 1S required to pay the Group the
equivalent of the maximum pnce the Group may charge for the
channel(s)under the WMO Obligations The difference between
that price and the rate card price set by the Group will be paid
INto escrow

On 8 August 2012, the CAT handed down its judgment.on the Greup s
appeal against Ofcom s deasion to impose the WMO Qbligations
(the "Pay TV Judgment™), publishing its full judgment on 26 October
2012 The CAT found that "Cfcom s core competition concern s
unfounded” (Ofcom had found that the Group deliberately wathheld
wholesale supply of its Premium Channels) and that accordingly

the Group s appeal must be allowed

0On 26 April 2013 BT was granted permissicn to appeal the Pay TV
Judgment to the Court of Appeal TheCourt of Appeal handed down
Judgment in BT's appeal and the Group s cross-appeal on whether
Ofcom had the power to impose the WMO Obligations on 17 February
2014 The Court of Appeal dismussed the Groups tross-appeal and
allowed BT's appeal The Court of Appeal found that Ofcom s decrsian
contained a further competition concern in relation to the Group s rate
card pnces and discounts to those prices and that the CAT should
have considered that concern It therefore remitted that issue to the
CAT for further consideration While the CAT s finding that Ofcoms
core competiton concern was unfounded remains undisturbed, the
WMO Obligauens {(as modified by the Order) continue in force pending
the CAT consideration of the further 1ssue remitted to it However

the Group has agreed with a major wholesale customer to terminate
the escrow agreement and release funds in escrow to the parties

The Group has apphed for permussion to the Supreme Court to

appeal the judgment of the Court of Appeal and a deasion on that
application 13 pending. The CAT has indicated that It is not minded

to hear the remitted 1ssue until the outceme of the Group s apphcation
to the Supreme Court1s known

Ofcom has separately announced that it will review the WMO
Obligation in ight of sector developments since Ofcom s deision
toimpose the WMO Obligation in 2010

BT also made an application on 11 Apnl 2014 to the CAT to vary the
Order such that the WMC Obligations would extend to distnbution
on BT's Internet Protocol Telewision { IPTV} platforms "Cardinal”
and "BT YouView” That application which Sky opposed was heard
on 23 July 2004

The Group is curently unable to determine whether and to what
extent, the appeals concerning the WM Obligattons and BT's
application to vary the Order would be successful and 1t1s not possible
for the Group to conclude on the finanaal impact of the outcome

at this stage However should the outcome of these processes be
adverse to the Group this may have asignificant effect on the financial
posttion or profitatility of the Group
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Ofcom Competition Act investigation

Following receipt of a complant from BT on 14 June 2013 Ofcom
opened an investigation into whather the Group has abused a
dominant position cantrary to Chapter |l of the Competition

Act 1998 and/or Article 102 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the EU
The campiaint alleges that the Group1s making wholesale supply

of Sky Sports 1 and 2 to BT for its Youview service conditional on BT
wholesaling BT Sperts channels to the Group for retail on the Groups
satelhite platform and that constitutes an abuse of dominance

Inits complaint BT alse made an application for intenm measures
against the Group, either te restrain the Group from insisting on the
wholesale supply of Sky Sports 1 and Sky Sports 2 to BT's YouView
platform being conditional on BT whelesaling 8T Sport channels

to the Group or te mandate Sky to provide wholesale access to

BT to Sky Sports 1 and Sky Sports 2 on equivalent terms to those
which the Group has already agreed for other platforms Qfcom
refused BT's application for intenm measures on 31 July 2013

Ofcom s mvestigation of BT's complaint 1s continuing

The Group s currently unable to determine the cutcome of Ofcoms
investigation or its financial impact, howe ser should the outcome
be adverse to the Group this may have a significant effect onthe
financia! positton or profitabiity of the Group

The strategic report was approved by the Board and signed
on ks behalf by the Chief Executive Officer
By order of the Board

Jeremy Darroch
Chuaf Executive Officer

25 July 2014

Suategsc repon - Rugulatory matters

Forward looking statements

Tris document contains certain forward looking statements with
respect to our financial condition resuts of operations and business,
and our strategy plans and objectives

These statements indude without Imitation those that express
forecast, expectations and projections such as forecasts
expectations and projections with respect to new products and
sernices the potential for growth of free-to-air and pay telewsion
fixed-line telephony broadband and bandwidth requirements,
advertising growth Direct-to-Home CDTH™) customer growth
Over-the-top ("OTT™) customer growth Multiscreen, On Demand
NOW TV, Sky Go Sky Go Extra Skyt SkytHD and cther services
churn, revenue profitability and margn growth cash flow generation
programming costs subscriber managements and supply chain
costs administration costs and other costs marketing expenditure
capital expenditure programmes and proposals for returning capital
to shareholders

Although the Company believes that the expectations reflected in
such forward looking statements are reasonable these statements
{and all other forward loocking statements contained in this document)
are not guarantees of future performance and are subject to nisks
uncertainties and other factors some of which are beyond our control,
are difficult to predict and could cause actual results 1o differ
matenally from those expressed or implied or forecast in the forward
looking statements These factors include but are not limited to
thaose risks that are hightighted 1n this documentin the section
entitled Pnrcipal nsks and uncertanties and information on the
significant nisks and uncertamties assocated wath our business

15 described theren

Nopart of these results constitutes or shall be taken to constitute
an initation or nducement ta wivest in the Company or any other
entity and must not be reled upon Inany way In connection wath any
investment decision Al forward looking statements in this document
are based on information khown to us on the date hereof Except as
required by law we undertake no obligation publidy to update or
rewise any forward lookmng statements whether as aresult of new
nfarmation future events or othermse
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Governance - Board of Drectors

Board of Directors

1 Nick Ferguson CBE(ES) ¢+ ®
Chairman

Mhick was apponted ta the Boardasa
Non-Executwve Diector n tune 2004 and
became Chairmanin April 2012 Nich has
provicusty served as Deputy Charman and
Senor Independent Non-Executive Dwector

Experience

Mick brings extenswve leadershp experience
from the private squity and INvestment
sactors Nick was co founder and
nstrumental in the development of Schroder
Ventures (the private equity group which
later became Permra) of which he sarved
as Chairman fram 1984 (o 2001 Ha later
servad as Chawman of SVG Capitalpie,

a public quoted privata equity group

from April 2005 toNovembar 2012 Nick

has along-standing .nterest Nthe ares

and philanthropy and served a3 Chavyman
of the Courtauld instituta of Art for tan
years befora retmng in Juty 2012,

External Appointments

MNick is Chasrman of Alta Advisers Lymited
an investment advisory firm, a position

ha has held since January 2007 Hes also
Chairman and Founder of the Kifinan
Group which offers mentonng by Charmen
and CEOs 1o Heads of Chanties Nichis a
Fellow of Winchas.er College

2. Jeremy Darroch (52)
Chief Executnve Officer

Jererty joned Skyas Chuef Financial
Gfficer and Executive Director in 2004
and was agponted tohis current role
" Dacembey 2007

Experience

Jeremy has extensive experience nthe
retailing and fast meving consumer goods
sectors Pnor tojoning Sky Jeremy was
Group Finance Directer of 05G In ernational
Pic (DSG), formerty Dizons Group pic. Prior to
DSG he spent 12 yeds at Procter & Gamble
n avanety of roles inthe UK and Europe

Jeremyisa former Non Exeautive Director
and Chawman of the Audit Commutteg of
Marks and Spencer Group pk (2006 2013).

External appointments

In February 2014 Jeremy was appented
Nosy-Executive Direczor of Burberry Group
pic and serves as amember of the Audit,
Rermuneration and Nominations commitiees

Jeremy 1s a Business Member of the Mational
Centre for Universities and Business

Key

W Audit Committea

A Bigger Prcture Committee

# Corporate Governance & Nominauons Committee
® Remuneration Committed

1 Committes Charman

3 Andrew Griffith (43)
Chief Financial Officer

Andrewjoned Sky n1999 and held a
rumber of senior finance roles prior te

Fus apportment as Chuef Financial OFficer
and Executrve Directenin Apnl 2008

In addibion to hus role as CFO Andrew has
exacutive responsibility for Sky's cammercial
businesses, nduding adverusing, data
services, WiFi and subscripbion sarvices
tocommercial customers

Expenence

Prior to jovng Sky Andrew was at
Rathschuld, the investment banking
organisation, where he provaded financiat
s strategc advice to corporate

clients in the 1achnology medra and
1&leCOMMUNICATIONS SECTOr Andrew s.a
qualfied dhartered accountant and has a
degree nlax from Nottingham Urvversity

External appomtments

In March 2014 Ancirew was appointed
Nom-Executive Dhrector of Just Eat ple
He serves as Sernor Independent
Nen-Executive Director Chawman

of the Audit Committes and member
of the Remuneration and Nominations
Committeds.

Andraw s amember of the 100 Group
of Finance Directors and Ad asory Board
of the Oxford University Centre for
Business Taxation

4 Chase Carey (50)
Non-Executive Director

Chase joined the Soard a5 & Nort Executive
Drrector in January 2013

Expenence

As Prasidert and Chief Operating Officer
of 2151 Century Fox, Chase has extensve
krewledge and experiance of the
intermational media and pay TV sectors
Chase 1 fermner President and Chuef
Executive Officer of DIRECTV wherahe
led the aperations and strategi drzction
of DIRECTV Prior to joireng DIRECTV he
was Co-Civef Operatng Officer of Nass
Corperation (subsequently renamed

215t Century Fox) and Charman and Gheef
Exacutive Officer of the Fox Television Group

External appolntments

Inaddition to hus role at 21st Century Fox,
Chase is a member of the Supervisory Board
of Sky Deutschland A G
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5 Tracy Clarke (AT A 8 ¢

Independent Non-Executhve Director
Tracy jomned the Board as a Non-Executive
Drector In Juna 2012,

Experience

Tracy brings a wide range of operational
experience and oversight for corporate
affawrs, brand and markating media
relaticns, human resources, legal and
compliaryee rmatters n her rode at Standard
Chareered Bank Tracyhas servedasa
Non-Executove Diractor of SC First Bank

in Korea (2005-2007) and Nor-Executive
Drractor of Eaga plc (2007 2011) whera
she chaired the Remuneration Committes

External Appointments

Tracy s a member of the @xacutive
managerment group and s Orector for
Lomplance, Prople and Communications at
Standard Chartered Bank. Tracy s a trustee
oFWORKINg for YOUth, & chanty workung
with business Lo create job opportunties
for young pecpie Tracy 5 a member of the
InsUitute of Finencial Services and a Fellow
of the Chartered Instituta of Parsonnel and
Development.

% DavidF DaVos (67)
Nan-Executive Directar

Davic jnned the Board as a Non Executive
Directorin Decernber 1994

Exparience

Dand bnngs awealth of exeaitive and
finance expenenca from tha media sector
Dawnd served as Chief Rnancial Qfficer of
Mews Corporation {subsequently renamed
215t Century Fou) for over 20 years and
during that time was apponted Servor
Exgcutnve Vice President untithe steppad
dawn from both roles in June 2013 David
15 a formar directer of Gemstar TV Guide
2001-2008) and DirecTV (2003-2008)

Extermnal Appontments
Dawvic 13 Servor Advisor to the Board of
215t Century Fox

7 Martin Gibert (59) B
Independent Non-Executive Director

Martinwas appanted to the Board asa
Non-E recutive Drector in November 2011

Experience

Marun has extensive imestment, finance
and executive fsadership expenence through
hus rola as co-founder and Chief Executve
Officer of Aberdaan Asset Management PLC
Martin has served as Cheerrnan of Firstgroup
ple, Chauear PLE and was Non Executive
Director of Dynmark Intemnational Laruted
amotile massagmg and data applications
services provider

Exrernal Appointments

It addition to bus role as Chuef Executive
Officer of Aberdeen Asset Management PLC,
Mari s a member of the Scottish
Government s Financial Services

Advisory Board

8 Adine Grate (S1)H e
independent Non-Executive Director

Adine was appointed to the Board as
aNon-Executve Drectorin July 2013

Experience

Adine bnings a waaith of executive, Fnance
and investment management and
communicaticns technology expenence,
having operated at the top Liers of Nords
based international business for the past
twodecades Farmerly Executive Vice
President and Managing Directar of irwestor
AB owner of a number of Nordsc based
international companies

External Appalntments

Charperson of NASDAG OMX Swetish
Listng Commuttee and Vice Charperson

of AP7 a Swedish pension and savings assat
management comparny Adine 1S & Director
of Three (Seandinavay, a maobie
tetecommunications and broadband
operator SOBIAB, an internationa! speciahty
healthcare company Sampa OY aleading
financial and insurance nGtittion and
Swedana AB &n arport operator Admnets
Charperscnof non profit organsations
Friends of a Design museum and the
Swedsh Dance Museum.

9 Andy Higginson (57)m ¢ t
Senior tndependent Non-Executive
Director

Ancly wits apponted to the Board as
Non-Executrsa Director i September
2004 and has been Senior Indgpendent
Director since Apri 2012

£xperience

Anity brings sigruticant commercsal, retai and
leadership expenence ta the Board Andy

15 & former Deagtor of Tesco pke having spent
15 years at the company first as Finance

andg Strategy Directer and latterly as

Chief Executive of thew Retaihng Services
business Hs early cargerwas with

Unilewgr Guinness Laura Asnley and

th Burton Group

External Appointments

Andy s Charman of Poundland Group plc
and N Brown plc and 15 a Non Executve
Dwector of Woohvorth A and the Rugby
FootballUnit Ha Is amember of the
100 Group of Finance Director s

10 Davelawis {(49) B 4 ¢
Independent Non-Executve Director

Dave was apponted to the Boerdas a
HNon-Executive Director in November 2012

Experience

Dave 15 an experienced executve with strong
operational @xpertise and has held a variety
of leacership rales at Lndever in furope
Seuth America and Asia induding President.
for the Americas and Charman of Urilever
UK and Iratand

Extemal Appointments

Dava 15 President, Persanal Care for Uniiever
ple, whera he also sits on the Unikver
Leaderstup Exequtive.

11 James Murdoch (41} A
Non-Executive Director

Jameswas appontedto the Boardas a
Non-Executive Diractor iy February 2003
He served as Chuafl Executve Officer and
Executive Director 2003-2007)and as
Chairman from 2007 wrul Apnf 2012

Experience

Jamas 15 Co-Chief Operating Officer

at 21st Century Fox and brings sgrficant
media seCtorknowladge anad expenence
Between 2000 and 2003 he was Chairman
and CEQ of Star Group Lirnited and held
Nen Ex#cutive Drectorroles at
GlaxoSmithKhine pic 2009-20123

and Satheby's 2010 2012).

External Appointments

As Co Chief Operatng Officer Jarres is
amember of tha 8oard of Directors and
Executive Committes at 21st Century Fox
He also Sérvis asamember of the Board

of News Corporationand 1s a Nen-Executive
Diractor of Yankes Global Enterpnses

12 Matthiau Pigasse (46) N
Independant Non-Executive Director

Matthieu was appointed to the Board as
Hon ExprCutive Diector m Novemper 2011

Experience

Matthieu s Deguty CEO of Lazard 10 France
and Vice Ohairman of Lazard in Europe He
has also served as owilian administrator of
tha French Ministry of Ezononwy and Finance

External Appointinents

In addition to fus zole at Lazard Matthueu
has anumbar of interests nmedia bnd
pubkstwg. notably Le Monde and the
Huffington Post (France). Mattheu 5 a
Boare mamber of Group Lucen Barndre SAS
anogerd.of of xury hotels and restaurants
Danchabowrg, arecychng end maintenance
services business and Retax News a French
news agency dediated 1o iersure news.

Governance - Board of DireCiors

13 Danny Rimer (43)
Independent Non-Executive Director

Danny was appointed to the Board &g
a Nor-Executive Director in Apnl 2008

Expenence

Danny brings significant international
wwvestment, finance expenence and
knowledge of intemet nfrastructure
safuware and services techology
communications and ¢-commence
bysinesses through lvs role as General
Partner of the venture capital firm Index
Ventures Management LLP (Indtex Ventilras).
Prior to jaireng Index Ventures, he was a
General Partner of The Barksdale Group.

External Appointments

Danwy serves on 3 number of boards
induding Etsy Inc, Fest Dibs, Inc Fipboard
Inc. FOMN Wirefess Lumited Nasty Gal inc.
RightScale Inc. and Viagogo.

14 Arthur Siskind (15) ¢
Non-Executive Director

Arthur was apponted to the Board as a
Non Executrve 0 rector in November 1957

Expenenca

Arthur brings over 30 vears expenence
ganed through executive and legal counse!
rodes at News Corporation (Subsequently
renamed 2Tst Century Fox) Arthurss a highly
experienced legal practitioner and member
of tha Bar of the State of New York since 1962

External Appointments

Serwor Advisor to the Charmnan since January
2005 and Director Ementus vince Ociober
2012 of N5t Century Fox,

15 Andy Sukawaty (59) ¢
Independent Non-Executive Director

Andy was appcointed tothe Boarctas
a Non-Exacutrée Dhrector in Juna 2013

Experience

Andy 15 Executive Charman of Inmarsat ple.
global mabile satelite communscations
providar and has previousty held a rumber
of serwor management POSILONS m the
telecommunications mdustry nchiding,
Chief Executive and President of Sprint PCS
and Chief Executive of NTL (UK) and roles at
US Waest and AT&T

Exterpal Appomtments

n adthtion 1o hrs 1obe 8L smarsat ple, Andy s
Mon-Executve Charman of the Supernsory
Board of Ziggo MV_ a Dutch national madia
and communications company

British Sky Broadcasting Group pic 47
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Governance - Corporate governance report

Corporate governance report

Chairman’s overview

On behalf of the Board it gives me great pleasure to introduce this
year's corparate governance report

As a Board we are the stewards of the Company It s our responsibiity
to ensure that the Company's strategy 1s aligned to the interests of
our Investors and takes account of the interests of all the Company's
stakeholders Asindividuals we believe that effective corporate
governance 1s based on hanesty integnty and transparency and

can anly be fully realsed within an enwironrment of open robust

and effective debate This s the Board culture we foster at Sky

and 1t 1s my personal responsibility as Chairman to ensure that

we continue to live this culture and promote it within our business

Following last year's external Board evaluation and in line with
corporate governance best practice dunng the year aninternal

Board evaluation was undertaken The feedback from the evaluation
confirmed that the Board and each of its Committees continue to
operate effectively and that each Director continues to make an
effective contribution and retains a strong comemitment to therr

role The resulting development themes that arose from the evaluation
are discussed on page 57

The Board has established arrangements to evaluate whether the
informatien in the annual report 1s fair balanced and understandable
Further detal of these arrangements can be found on page 55 Asa
result of this the Board considers the annual report and accounts
taken as a whole 15 farr balanced and understandable, and prowides
the information necessary for shareholders to assess the Company s
performance business model and strategy

Dunng the year we have continued our work in promaoting greater
and more effective engagement with our shareholders Andy
Higginson our Executive Directors and |, have met with institutional
investors and analysts Along with Tracy Clarke Chairman of

the Rermuneration Committee, we will continue to engage with
shareholders over the course of the coming financial year

Nick Ferguson
Chairman

Compliance with the UK corperate governance code
The UK Corporate Governance Code as revised 1n September 2012

(the *Code™) provides the standard for corporate governance in the UK
The Finanaal Conduct Authonty requires isted companies to disclose
whether they have complied with the provisions of the Code
throughout the financal year

The Board considers that the Company has fully complied with the
provisiens and applied the main prinaiples of the Code for the whole
of the year ended 30 June 2014 This section of the Annual Report
along with the Directors remuneration report on pages 53 to 76 the
Directors’ report and ather statutory disclosures on pages 77 to 80
provicie detads of how the Company has apphed the main pnnaples

Leadership

Role of the Board and its Members

The Board has collectve responsibility for the management direction
and performance of the Company and provides leadershipvathina
framework of prudent and effective controls which enables nskto be
appropriately assessed and managed The Board sets the strategic
direction ensunng that the necessary resources are in place for the
Company to meet Its objectives and deliver sustainable performance

The Board takes a long-term outlook and sees itself as responsible to
awde range of stakehalders whilst pursuing its objectives in a manner
consistent withits statutory duties for the benefit of the Company’s
members as awhole

The Directors of the Board are selected on the critena of proven skill
and ability in their particular field of endeavour and a diversity of
outlook and experience which directly benefits the operauon of the
Board as the custodian of the business A full biography of each Board
member is pronded on pages 46 and 47

Roles and responsibiities

The rotes of the Chairman and CEQ are separate and have been so
since the Company s shares were admitted to listing in 1954 The roles
and expectations of each Director are clearly defined and recorded
within therr letters of appointment or service contracts The roles
and responsibiities of the Board members are explained below

The Chairman

Nick Ferguson is responsible for leadership of the Board ensuring
its effectiveness on all aspects of its role and seting its agenda

The Chairman is respensible for creating an environment for open
robust and effective debate This includes ensunng. wa the Company
Secretary thatthe Directors receive accurate umely and clear
information

The Chief Executive Officer

Jeremy Darroch 1s responsible and accountable to the Board for

the management and operation of the Company, advanang long-term
shareholder value supported by the management team He1s also
irvelved in the management of the secal and environmental
responsibilities of the Company

Senior Independent Non-Executive Director (510)

The role of the SID currently carned out by Andy Higginson I1s
responsible for providing support and counterbalance to the role
of the Chairman and provdes an additionat peint of contact

for shareholders

Non-Executive Directors

Chase Carey Tracy Qark David Devoe Martin Gilbert, Adine Grate
Andy Higginson Dave Lews James Murdoch, Matthieu Pigasse
Panny Rimer Arthur Siskind and Andy Sukawaty collectively are
responsibla for constructively challenging the Executive Directors
and overseeing the delivery of the Company’s strategy within the
nsk and control framework
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Company Secretary

Chnis Taylor has been Company Secretary since November 2012 and s
responsible for the following 1n respect of effective Board operation

+

To ensure goedinformation flows wathin the Board and s
committees between senior management and Non-Executive
Directors,

To faaltate Director induction and assisting with professional
davelopment and

To advitse the Board through the Chairman of all corporate
governance obligations and developments inbest practice

All Prrectors have access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary who advises on corporate governance matters Board
procedures and other relevant rules and regulations In addition
Directors have the nght to seek independent professional aduice
at the Company’s expense

Environment supportive of challenge

The effective operation of the Board is dependent on the inherent
checks and balances within the vanous Board roles As highly qualified
and successful ndividuals in therr respectrve fields of endeavour all
Non-Executive Directors influence debate and contnbute to deasions
relatng to the strategy of the Company, its performance and its
impact on stakeholders The Non-Executive Directors are evaluated
and judged on the quality and content of their contributions to Board
debate and are expected to offer alternabive viewpoints and challenge
perceptions and decisions as appropriate

Board Agenda

In addition tots reserved and standing matters the Board alse
considered and received a number of updates and presentations,
giving Directors a further spportunity to explore and analyse
topics such as

» The Company s operations and five year financial plans

= The general market and economic outlcok

+ The compeuitive landscape opportunities and market trends

» Growth of existing business activities

« Existing and new praducts services and technological developments

To maintain an appropnate level of control over the day-to-day affars
of the Company the Board has identfied certain matters that only it
can approve and these matters are contaned within the Company’s
“Schedule of Matters Reserved to the Board™ which can be found at
skycom/corporate

Board delegation

The Board has delegated specific responsibilities to Board committees
notabty the Audit, Reenuneration Corporate Governance & Nommations
and the Bigger Picture commitlees Each committee s terms of
reference can be found on the Company’s corporate website

Governance - Corparate governance repart

The Audit Committee has responsibiity for oversight of corporate
reporuing nsk management and the Company's relaticnship with

1ts auditor Sigruficant nsks to the business are kept under review
and appropnate materal controis are sanctioned and employed

as appropnate The Company’s prinapal nsks and examples of how
we mitigate those nsks are detaited on pages 40 to 43 For further
detats, the Audit Committee Report can be found on pages 53 to 55

The Remuneration Comnnittee 15 responsible for setung the
Remunerauon pelicy for the Board and ensures that no Director1s
invehved In decisions affecting their gwn remuneration The Directors
Remuneration Report can be found on pages 59to 76

The Corporate Gevernance & Nominations Committee is responsible
for oversight of the structure, size composttion and succession
planning of the Board and its committees and overzll comphance
with corporate governance standards The Report of the Corporate
Govenance & Nominations Comemittee can be found an pages

56 and 57

The Bigger Picture Commyttee has responsibility for oversight of the soaal
ermvironmental and ethicahmpacts of the Company’s activities The report
of the Bigger Picture Commuttee can be found on pages S7to 58

The minutes of committee meetings are made available to all Board
Directors on a umely basis At each Board meeting the chairman

of each committee provides the Board with a brief update of the
work currently being carned out by the committee they chair Other
sub-committees and steenng groups provide additional resourca
and support to the Board Committees or ara formed for speafic
tasks Acormmittee of senior management generally meetsona
weekly basis to allow prompt discussion of relevant business issues
It 15 chared by the CEO and comprises the CFO and other senior
executives from within the Group

Briush Sky Broadcasting Group plc
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Corporate governance report

{continued)

Board and Committee attendance

Attendance at Board and Committee meetings during the year is set out in the table below The table shows the number of meetings each Director

was eligible to attend

Corporate
Governance &
Notes Board Audit Remuneration Nominations  Bigger Picture
Number of meetings held inyear 7 5 S 3 2
Executive Directors
Jeremy Darroch CEQ w7
Andrew Gnffith, CFO 7
Non-Executive Directors
Chase Carey 1 677
Tracy Clarke 717 5/5 22
David DeVaoe 77
Nick Ferguson 77 5/5 33
Martin Gribert 2 617 5/6 45
Adine Grate 3 717 S5
Andy Higginson 4 Yl 5/6 213
Dave Lewis W7 6/6 313 2/2
James Murdoch 77 212
Matthieu Pigasse 5 &7 416
Danny Rimer 6 6f7 2 11
Arthur Sigkind 7 33
Andy Sukawaty 7 5/5
Notes

1 Chase Carey was unable to attend a Board meeting due to conflicting business arangements

2 Martin Gitbert was unabie to attend Board and Committee meetings due to prior Aberdeen Asset Managerment engagements

3 Adine Grate was appointed to the Audit committee on 26 July 2013 and was not eligible te attend the meeting on the priod day

4 Andy Higgmsen was unable to attend Committee meatings due to confiicting Rugby Football Union board mestings

5 Matthieu Pigassae was unable to attend Board and Committee meetings and the Annual Gereral Meeting due to overseas travel on Lazard business and personalreasons

6 Danny Runer was unable to attend a Board meeting due to prior Index Ventures engagements Danny stepped down as Chairman and member of the Remuneration Committee
an as member of the Corporate Governance & Nominations Committea following the Company's AGM on 22 November 2073

Effectiveness
Board composition and independence

The Board currently comprises 15 Directors made up of two Executive
Directors and 13 Non-Executive Directors At least half of the Board
of Directors are determined to be independent by the Board

in accordance with provision B1 2 of the Code On appointment

the Chairman met the independence criteria set out in provision
B11ofthe Code Biographies of each of the Directors are set qut

on pages 46 to 47

Chase Carey David DeVoe, James Murdach and Arthur Sisking represent
the Company’s largest shareholder, 215t Century Fox and as such are
not considered to be iIndependent within the meaning of the Code
Each of these Directors has extensive meda and pay TV experiénce
and makes significant contnbution to Board discusston

The Independent Non-Executive Directors bring a wide range of
experience and expertise ta the Group s affairs and carry significant
welght 1n the Board's decisions The Independent Non-Executive
Directors are encouraged to challenge management and help
develop propesals an stratagy Time s regularly put aside at

Board meetings to discuss the strategic direction of the Company

Pnor to appoistment, and on an annual basis, each Board member
receives and completes a questionnaire to determine factors that
may affect independence according to best practice statements
contamed within the Code The responses to the questionnaire
assist the Board n ascertaning whether a Director 1s independent
in character and judgement, and whether there are relaticnships

or circumstances which are hkely to affect, or could appear to affect,
the Director s judgement.

Board Cemposition

. B Charman
W Executive Diractors
B independent Non-Executive Directors

M COther Non-Executive Directors
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Appointments to the Board diversity and successlion planning

The Corporate Governarice & Norminations Committee keeps the
Board s balance of skills, knowledge, expenence and the jength of
service of indivduals under constant review In respect of succession
ptanmng and supplementing the skill set of the Board there s an
established pracedure fer the appointment of Directors in brief, the
Committeedentifies the set of skills and experience required and
with the assistance of external search agenaies selects indwiduals

to take Board positons onreview of their indiwdual menits regardless
of gender race, religon age or disability Furtherinformation on the
work of the Committee during the year can be found on pages 56 to 57

The Board has published a statement of its intention to Increase
female representation on the Board which can be found on the
Company’s corporate website As required by company legislation,
a table on page 78 illustrates gender diversity amongst the Board

Diversityratio uf Durectors appomnted inlast 2 years

¥ 1.

Female

Length of tme served on the Board (excuding Executive Directors)
PUS ala'a aals alal aata alaly stn'a
= - e R £l CIES -

O-Syears54% 5+ years 46%

Industry/background expenence’

Industry related 9
International 1 I XN SR RS R N
Financefinvestment 7 TN N DU A
Technalogy/innovauen 4 RN
Regulatory 5 NN S
Executive 7 R NRER M TR RN My R

1 Directors may fall mto one of more categories

Directors reappointment

In respect of Code provision B 71 all Executive and Non-Executive
Oirectors will retire and offer themselves for reappointment at the
Companys 2014 AGM with the exception of Andy Higginson who
wili be retining from the Board

External directorships

Any external appointments for the Executive Directors are considered
by the Corporate Governance & Nominations Commitiee Executive
Directors are not aflowed to take on the chasmanship of a FTSE100
company but are affowed to take up one external non-executive

FYSE 100 appointment and retain any payments in respect of such
appointments

Governance - Corporate governance repart

Jeremy Darroch was appotnted as anindependent non-executive
director of Burberry Group ple on 5 February 2014 and 15 a member
of the audit nominayons and remuneration committees

Andrew Gnfiith was appointed as anindependent non-executive
director of fust Eat plc on12 March 2014 Andrew serves as senigr
mdependent director, chairman of the audit committee andis a
member of the remuneration snd neminations committees Details
of pay in respect of these appointments can be foundin the Directors
Remuneration Report on page 66

Time commitment

All Non-Executive Directors are adwised of the kkely e commitments
required on induction and are expected to devote sufficient time

for the effective discharge of thesr functions The Company provides
Non-Executive Directors with appropnate support and facilities

for consideration of the Company s strategy and performance, and

a dhalogue wath the Chairman 1s strongly encouraged so that any
1ssues regarding conflicting commitments and time pressures can

be addressed appropnrately

tnduction and training

Allnew Drrectors recelve aninduction taored to their individual
requirements Thenduction process Involves meeting with all of the
Company s Executive Directors and Senior Executives This facilitates
therr understanding of the Group and the key drvers of the business s
performance Duning theyear Directors have receved presentations
from a number of areas of the business includimg Customer Group,
SkyMedia Sky Sports and Strategic Planning Group The Chairman
meets with the Directors throughout the year to review and agree
ther individual traming and developmental needs

Duning the year the Company Secretary in consultation with the
Charman and CEC facilitated Adine Grate s iInduction prograrmme
The elements of the programme are cetailed below

Septamber Nowvember February Aprl
2003 2013 2014 2014
Meetings Customer Product Accompanied
with Séner contact demonstrations J| &Sky engineer
Executies centravisit on customer
Sky News and visits
Sky Studic

wsIits

Inadditton to this various presentations from prior Board meetings
were made avalable to Adine i order toumprove her understanding of
the Company and the competitive and regulatory landscape in which it
cperates Inview of her position as amember of the Audit Committee
Adine met with the external auditors as part of her induction

Board evaluation

Inline with corporate governance best practice and following the
external Board evaluation carried out by Alice Perkins of JCA Group
last year an internal Board evaluation was undertaken dunng the year

The process was facilitated by Andy Higginson our Senlor Independent
Director #nd Chairman of the Corporate Governance & Nominations
Committee Further cetall of the evaluation process can be found in the
Corporate Governance & Normunatons Committee report on page 57

ant:si Sky Broadcasung Group plc
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Corporate governance report

(continued)

Information provided to the Directors

The Company Secretary is responsible for ensunng good information
flows within the Board and its committees and between senicr
management and Non-Executive Directors For each Board and
Commuttee meeting Directors are prowded wath a tallored Board pack
at least cne week prior to the meeting Toimprove the delvery and
secunty of Board papers the Company has adopted an electronic

system allowing the Board to easily access information urespective of

geographic location Directors regularly receive additional information
from the Company between Board meetings including a dally press

summary and a monthly Group performance update Where a Director
was unable to attend a meeting, they were provided with all the papers

and informat:on relating ta that meeting and were able to discuss
issues ansing directly with the Charman and CEQ
Conflicts of interest.

Under UK company law all Directors must seek authonsation before
taking up any position with ancther company that conflicts or may

possibly conflict with the Company’s interests The Company s Articles

of Association contain provisions to allow the Drectors to aulhorise
situations of patential conflicts of interest so that a Director 1s not
In breach of his duty under company law

Al existing extemnal appointments for each Director have been
authorised by the Board and each authorisation 1s setoutina
Conflicts Register Directors are required £o notify the Board of
potential conflicts so that they can be considered and if appropnate,
authonsed by the Board In addition, the Corporate Governance

& Nomenations Committee conducts an annual review of Directors
conflicts and reports (ts findings to the Board The Corporate
Governance & Nominations Committee reviewed the Board s conflicts
during the financial year and conduded that conflicts had been
appropriately authorsed and that the process for authonsation

1s operating effectively The Corporate Governance & Nominations

Committee and the Board will continue to memtor and review potential

conflicts of interest on a regular basis

Directors’ and Qfficers tnsurance and indemnity

The Company recognises that all Directors are equally and collectively
accountable under the law for the proper stewardship of the
Company's affairs The Company maintains a Directers and Officers’
hability msurance policy Additionally the Company s Articles of
Association allow the Company to indemnify the Directors and deeds
of indemmity have been issued to all Directors of the Company

Relations with shareholders
Shareholder communications

Presentations and webcasts on the development of the business

are avallable to all sharehalders on the Cempany's corporate

website The Company also uses ernall alerts and actively promotes
downloading of all reports enhancing speed and equality of
shareholder communicaucn The Company has taken full advantage
of the prowisions within the Companies Act 2006 allowing the website
to be used as the primary means of communication with shareholders
where they have not requested hard copy decumentation The
shareheolder information section on page 141 contans further detads
an electronic shareholder commurications together wath more general
information of Interest to sharehclders whichis also induded on the
Company s corporate website

Shareholder engagement

The Company Is committed to maintaining and improving dialogue with
shareholders in order to ensure that the objectives of both the Group
and the shareholders are understood A programme of meetings with
Insttutionat shareholders, fund managers and analysis takes place
each year and the Chairman CEO, CFO and Andy Higginson have
attended meetings with investors asappropriate The Company also
makes presentations to analysts and investors around the time of
the half-year and full-year results annsuncement conferance calls
are held wrth analysts and investors following the announcement

of the first quarter and third quarter resuits, and presentations are
made durng theyear to many existing or potential shareholders at
investor conferences The Company hasts an annual mesting for its
major shareholders to discuss remuneration policy and this year

as a result of new remuneration regulations, the Compary invited

1ts major shareholders to comment on the proposed changes toits
remuneration policy

The Annual General Meeting

The Board views the AGM as an opportunity to communicate with
private investors and sets aside time at the meeting for shareholders
to ask questions At the AGM the Chairman provides a brief summary
of the Cempany s activities for the previous year All resalutions at
the 2013 AGM were voted by way of a poll Ths follows best practice
and allows the Company to count ali votes rather than just those of
shareholders attending the meetsing As recommended by the Code
all resolutions were voted separately and the final voting results
which included all votes cast for agamst and those withheld togather
with all proxies lodged prior to the meeting, were released to the
tondon Stock Exchange as soon as practicable after the meeting

The announcement was also made available on the Company’s
corporate website As in previous years the proxy form and the
announcement of the vouing results made it dear that a “vote withheld®
's not a vote inJaw and wilt not be counted in the caledlation of the
proportion of the votes for or against the resolution
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Report of the Audit Committee

Chairman’s overview

We have had a busy year as
we continued to focus on
the financial performance
of the Company, internal
audrt, external audit, nsk
management, comphance
and financial governance

We were pleased to welcome Adine Grate as a member of the
Commuttee In July 2013 Adine has extensive finanaal and investment
management expenence and we value her contnbution at Committee
meetings We have continued to receve a number of presentations
from the management of different business areas, which this year
included Sky Bet, Product Design and Developrment and the Sales and
Marketing Groups to improve our understanding of their operations
the risks they face and how those nsks are managed

we reviewed the integration approach of the G2 consumer broadband
and fixad-line telephony business both at the start and following

its completion, and recenved a range of presentations relating

to data governance health and safety fraud and cyber secunty

We also recerved regular reports from the internai audit function

and external auditer

We have considered the processes underpinning the production

and approval of this year's annual report to enable the Board to
confirm that the annual report taken as a whale s fair balanced

and understandable and provides the information necessary for
shareholders to assess the Company’s performance business model
and strategy and a description of how we approached this can

be found below

There were six meetings dunng the year and after each Committee
meeating t gave an oral update to the Board on the key 1ssues discussed
during our meetings The Committee also has pnvate meetings with
the Company’s external auditors throughaout the year

You can find additional information of how we have cafried out

our rofe and responsibilities within the remainder of this report.
The Committees terms of reference are avallable on the Companys
corporate website

Martin Gilbert
Committee Chairman

Commuttee composition

Martin Gilbert (Chairman)

Adine Grate (appointed on 26 July 2013)
Andy Higginson

Dave Lews

Matthieu Pigasse

The Committee members have ¢onsiderable financial and business
experience and the Board considers that the membership as 2a whole
has suffictent recent and retevant financial expenence to discharge
its responsibilities In addition the Board has determined that each
member of the Committee has sufficient accounting or related
financial management expertise in ine with the Code

Governance - Corporate governance report

Attendance at Committee Meetings

Dand Devoe and Arthur Sisland have a standing wwvitation to attend
meetings However therr attendance at these meeungsis as observers
only and i & non-votthg capaaty The CFO other business and finance
executives and representatives from the external auditor Deloitte LLP
and the internal aucht department attend meetings at the request

of the Committee The Company Seuetary acts as Secretary 1o

the Committee

Audit Committee Agenda
Foqus for the Cammyttee this year has centred on the following items

+ Review and recommendation to the Board of the quarterly intenm
and full-year financial statements

The review and recommendation to the Board of the diadend policy
and proposed payments

.

Liquidity and going concern review

Review and recormendation of the budget to the Board

Annual reporting - due dligence procedures and corporate
governance updates

The external auditors assessment of the effectiveness of the
external audit process terms of engagement and scope of audit

Auditer mdependence and the policy on the provision of non-audit
services by the external auditor

+

Audit plans and findings of external and internal audits

-

Quarterly reports from the treasury function on the funding.
liquichty going concern and operational capabilies of the Group
and compliance with treasury polioes

.

Quarterly updates from internal audit on the status of Serior
Accounting Officer (SAQ) certification work to ensure SAQ
comphance

-

Post-acquisition review of the 02 consumer broadband and
fixed-line tefephone business

Quarterly reports of all related party transactions dunng the year
tn excess of £100 000 in value

Review and oversight of the Group nsk register risk methodolegy
and risk management systems and processes

Monitoring and reviewing the effectiveness of the Group s internal
audit function and controls

Taxation security fraud whistleblowing cyber secunty health
and safety data protection andnternal audit updates

British S<y Broadcasting Group pic
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Governance - Corporate govarnance report

Corporate governance report

(continued)

Significant accounting 1ssues

when considenng the annual financial statements the Committee
reviewed the sigrificant areas of judgement and the Group s critical
accounting policies as set out on pages 90 and 96 with particular
focus on the following

Retail subscniption revenue

The majority of the Group s revenues derive from retail subscription
packages induding hardware, supphed te customers The Group
applies judgement in determining the accounting alfocation of
payments receved from customers to different elements of the
bundled package takingnto consideration the iming and relative
value attrnibuted to each element During the year the Committee
received a performance report from the CFO at each comimitiee
meeting that included a review of revenues recognised in the penod

In addition the Commuttee receved presentations on the Group s
sales and marketing operations and on new revenue streams
including NOW TV The Committee considered management 5
policy and presentations and considered the views of the external
auditor and s satisfied that the policies have been applied
consistently and appropnately

Genaral enfertainment programming Inventory

The Committee reviews the policy for the recogniion of content costs
and seeks assurances from management and takes into account the
wviews of the external auditor that the policy 1s appropriate and has
been applied consistently The method for recognising general
entertainment programming expense frequires estimation and
judgement. In the year the Committee recenved a presentation from
management that reviewed the accounting methodology for the
different range of programme genres by comparnng viewng profiles
and Industry benchmarks to ensure that the expense recognised 1s
consistent with the associated relative value recerved from broadcast
The Commuttee 1s satisfied that the policies have been applied
consistently are appropriate and are abgned to industry practice

Capitaksation af intangible and tangible non-current assets

The Committee considered the Group 5 policies and sought assurances
from management that the Group s project accounting controls are
operating as intended and that spend capitalised as Property Plant
and Equipment and Intangible assets meets the relevant accounting
requirements During the year the Committee also received
presentations on the Group s principal project functions induding
product design and development and technology The Committee
also considered the report from the external auditor The Commuttee
1s satisfied that the Group has followed accounting standards
regarding the capitalisation of project expenditure

Internal control and risk management

The Board is respansible for establishung and maintaining the Group's
systems of internal control and nisk management and for reviewing
their effectiveness These systems are designed to manage and
where possible elminate the nsk of fallure to achieve business
objectves and to provide reasonable but not absolute assurance
against matenal misstatement or loss There s an ongoing process
for identifying, evaluating and managing the significant nsks faced
by the Group in accordance with the revised guidance oninternal
control Issued by the Financial Reparting Counal in October 2005
During the penod under review no significant faiings or weaknesses
were dentified

The Committee on behalf of the Board, considers the effectiveness
of the operation of the Group s systems of internal control and risk
management dunng the year, and this review has been carnied out for
the year ended 30 June 2014 and up to the date on wh:ch the financial
statements were approved This review relates to the Company and
its subsidiaries and does not extend to joint ventures The Committee
meets on at least a quarterly basis with the Group s Director Audit
Risk Management and Compliance and the externa! auditers

There s a comprehensive budgeting and forecasting process and the
annual budget which is regularty reviewed and updated rs approved
by the Board Performance Is monitared against budget through
weekly and monthly reparting cycles Dunng the financial year under
review monthly reports on performance were provided to the Board
and the Group reports ta shareholders each quarter

In respect of Greup financial reportng the Group Finance team s
responsible for prepanng the Group financial statements and there
are well establshed controls over the financral reporting pracess
These are also documented in ine with the requirements of the Senior
Accounting Officer (SAC) legislation and the controls are reviewed and
signed off to confirm their continuous operation by the contral owners
twice a year and are independently tested by the internal audit team
The results of the SAD testing are reported to the Committee on a
quarterly basis

Changes ininternal cantrols

No change in the Group s nternal control over financial reporting
has occurred during the year ended 30 June 2014 that has matenally
affected or isreasonably likely to matenatly affect the Groups
internal control over financial reporting

Risk registers

Thera are risk registers which identify the risks faced by the Group
and these are consohdated into a Group Risk Register The nsk register
framawork 15 based on methodology to identify the risk based on
impact and likelhood The nisk 15 assessed quantified and measured
whith enables discussions on risk appetite The registers detad the
controls that manage the nsks and, where necessary, the action plans
to mitigate the risk exposure

The business develops the action plans and the internai audit team
monitors thermplementation The Committee farmafly reviews the
Group Risk Register twice a year and there 1s arolling programme
where seruor executives from the business present their nsk
managernent plans

The internal audit team provides objective assurance as to the
effectiveness of the Groups systems of internal control and sk
management tothe Groups operaung management

The Group s prncipal nisks and uncertainties are detailed on pages
40 to 43
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Fair, balanced and understandable assessment

To enable the Board to confirm that the Annual Report taken as a
whole is farr balanced and understandable a process was approved
by the Comrmittee which iInvolved establishing a steenng committee
consisting of stakehalders from Corperate Affairs, Investor Relations
Group Finance, the Bigger Picture Company Secretanat and Legal
which had oversight of the production of the Annual Report.
Comprehensive due diigence procedures and guidance were
developed to assist with the review process and requirements of
the Code The Disclosure Committee maintained oversight of the
review process and submitted cerufication to the Committee prior to
approval that the necessary compliance requirements had been met

Disclosure controls and procedures

The Company maintains disdosure controls procedures and systems
that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed
as part of the Company’s UK isting abligattons 1s accumulated and
communicated to management, including the CEQ and CFO as
appropriate to allow timely decisiens regarding required disclosures

Auditor independence

For the year ended 30 fune 2014 the Commuttee has reviewed audit
independence and scope of non-audit servces and independence
safeguards with Delartte LLP ("Deloitte™), the Group s external auditor
As part of the review the Audit Committee has received and reviewed
confirmation 1n wnting that.in Deloitte s professional jJudgerent,
Deloitte s independent within the meaning of all UK regulatery

and professional requirements and the objectivity of the audit
engagement partner and audit staff is not impaired

The Commuttee was satisfied throughout the year that the objectivity
and independence of Deloitte was not n any way mpaired by either
the nature of the non-audit related services undertaken duning the
year the level of non-audit fees charged or any other facts or
arceumstances Audit and non-audit services prowded duning the year
were approved by the Committee An analysis of auditor remuneration
1s disclosed in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements

Audit and non-audit services

The Group has a policy on the provision by the external auditor of audit
and non-audit services which categorises such services between

Those services which the auditor 1s not permitted to provide

Those services which are acceptable for the auditor to provide and
the provision of which has been pre-approved by the Committee
and

Those services for which the specific approval of the Committee
15 required before the auditor 1S permitted to provide the serice

The policy defines the types of services Falling under each category
and sets cut the cntena which need to be met and the internal
approval mechanisms required to be completed pnior to any
engagement An analysss of all services prowvided by the external
auditor 1s reviewed by the Committee on a quartery basis

Govermande - {orporate govermance report

During the year the followming examples were deemed to be
pre-approved in accordance with the policy

+ Comfort pracedures in relation to debt programme update

+ Assurance of certamn KPis for the Bigger Picture Review

Effectiveness of external auditor process

Dunng the year the effectiveness of the audit process was assessed
by the Committee Group Finance team and other key internal
stakeholders in the form of a questionnaire The areas under

review were

+ Qualty resources and scope of planning of the audit

Objectivity iIndependence and transparency of the audtt

Identification of key accounting jJudgements, significant audit
and accounting ISsues

Level of technical knowledge and professicnal scepticism

Understanding Sky as a business, its values and culture and
challenges it faces

Quality of reporting and communications to the Aud:t Committee

The responses to the assessment were discussed which confirmed
that Deloitte are performing as expected Deloitte continue to
demonstrate strengths in the majonty of these areas

There are no significant findings from the assessment and Deloitte
continue to carry out an effective and robust external audit

Audit partnerrotation

The external auditor is required to rotate the audit partner responsible
for the engagement every five years The current lead partner started
his term of office in retation to the 201011 financial year As the aucht
partner enters the fifth year of engagement wath the Company

It has been agreed thata new audit partner be Invited to Committee
meetings to ensure a smooth and orderly transition In terms of erderly
succession and to safeguard challenge and objectmvity, the current
audit partner will rotate after the 2014115 audit

Tenure of external auditor

The regulatory regime relating to mandatory audit tendering has
significantly changed in the UK and Europe The Committee s closely
monitoring these developments and taking inte account that
Deloitte has been the external auditor of the Company since June
2002 1t expects to conduct an audit tender before June 2020 The
Committee s satisfied with the qualty of challenge scepticism

and execution by the current auditors and takes into account the
Committee s annual assessment of the quality of the external audit
process the Companys strategc plans and the implementation of
the EU audit directive in the UK
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Governance - Corporate governance report

Corporate governance report

(continued)

Corporate Governance & Nominations Committee
Chairman s overview

We have had an active
year, continuing to grow
and dversify our Board
and Committees

We were pleased to recommend Tracy Clarke as Chair of the
Remuneration Committee in place of Danny Rimer who stepped
down as both Chairman and a member of the Remuneration
Committee following the Company s 2013 AGM We further
recommended Adine Grate to the Board of Directors and

as amember of the Audit Cormmittee

This year an internal Board evaluation process was undertaken
followang on from last year's external evaluation The results of
the evaluation were encouraging and confirmed that the Board
and 1its Committees continue to operate effectively with each
of the Directors making valued and effective contnbutions

The Board as a whole welcames the opportunity to adapt to
innovatons and change within the fietd and continues to actuvely
progress initiatives such as addressing gender balance on the Board
sourcing the night skills to complement our talented management
team and creating robust succession plans to safeguard the
Company’s future performance

There were three meeungs held during the year and after each
Committee meeting [ reported to the Board on the key issues
discussed during our meetings You can find further information
of how we have carned out our role and responsibiities within
the remainder of this report. The Commuttee s terms of reference
are available on the Company's corporate website

Andy Higginson
Committee Chairman

Committea composition

Andy Higginson {Chairman)
Nick Ferguson

Dave Lewts

Arthur Siskind

Attendance at Committee Meetings

The CEQ and General Counsel attend the meetings from time to time
and the Company Secretary acts as Secretary to the Commuttee

Corporate Governance & Nominations Committee Agenda
Focus for the Committee this year has centred on the following ems
+ Board and Committee composition

+ Internal Board evaluation

Review of Non-Executive Director independence

Remview of Directors conflicts of interest

Succession planning

Changes to the Listing Rules for companies with controlling
shareholders

Activities during the year

Recruitment processes.

During the year the Cormmmittee has contunued to review the
composition of the Board and its committees Theress a formal
recruitrment process to dentify candidates who meet the
Board s criteria

In the case of Adine Grate the most recent appointment to Lhe
Board the Committee engaged with Ridgeway Partners an external
recruitment consultancy to help identify possible candidates and run
the recruntment process Ridgeway Partners has no other connection
with the Company The timing and recruitment process of Adine s
appointment was started in the prior year and was completed n this
financal year The recruitment process includes

Briefing of external recrutment consultancy to ensure greater
understanding of the Company s requirements

Review of a shortlist of potential candidates

Revtew of candidate’s background expenence and skill set,
and potential areas for strengthening the Board

Candidate interviews with members of the Committee and the CEQ

Committesa composiion

During the year the Committee reviewed the compasition of alt
Committees and it was agreed that Adine Grate be appointed to the
Audit Commuttee on 26 July 2013 and Danny Rimer would step down
as Chairman and membeer of the Remuneration Committee and as

a member of the Corporate Governance & Nominations Committee
following the Company’s AGM in November 2013 Tracy Clarke was
identified as a sutable successor and she succeeded Danny Rimer
as Charman of the Remuneration Committee after the Companys
AGM On 24 July 2014 Marun Gilbert stepped down as a member

of the Remuneration Committee and Adine Grate was appainted

in his place with effect from 25 July 2014
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Board evaluation
Dunng the year time was scheduled with each of the Directors
to discuss the following

+ the effectiveness of the Board as a whole

« the mix of skills and experience on the Board

+ the effectiveness of Board processes and procedures
= development of the Company’s strategy, and

+ the performance of Board committees

The Chairman of the Cormmittee reported the findings of the evaluation
ta the Committee and the Board and noted a number of strengths

The quality and structure of the Directors induction programme
was comprehenswve

The qualty of information presented to the Board was of atugh
standard

The most recently appointed members of the Beard had embedded
well and had strengthened the diversity of the Board

Board strategy sessions insight and pnioritisation of projects had
enrfiched Board discussion

Overall 1t was concluded that the Board and 1ts Committees continues
to operate effactvely

Independence

Durng the year all Non-Executwe Directors were asked to complete
questionnaires to enable the Committee to determine their
ndependence The Committee reviewed the questionnares and
recommended to the Board that there be no changes to the
ndependent status of the current Independent Non-Executive
Directors The Non-Executive Directors who are considered by the
Board to be independent are clearly identified on pages 46 to 47

As noted on page 50 James Murdoch, Chase Carey David DeVoe and
Arthur Siskuind are not considered to be independent within the meaning
of the Code however, following the evaluauon the Committee considers
and agrees that each of these directors continue to make a significant
contnbution to Board and Committee discussions

The Committee s review took into consideration the fact that

Andy Higginson has served on the Board for more than nine years
Prowvision B11 cf the Code states that serving more than nine years
coutd be relevant to the determination of a Non-Executive Director s
independence The Committee concluded that Andy Higginson
conunues to demonstrate the essential characteristics of
independence expected by the Board and that there areno
relationships or crcumstances that are likely to affect or could
appear to affect hus judgement In July 2013 the Board agreed that
he should remain on the Board far an additional year in order to
maintain a degree of certainty and smooth handover of Board and
Commuttee expenence and knowledge and help to integrate the
recently appointed Independent Non-Executive Directors Andy
Higginsan will step down at this year s AGM

Directors conflicts

The Committea rewewed the Board s confixts dunng the finanaal

year and concluded that Directors conflicts had been appropnately
authonsed and that the process for authorisation was operating
effectively The Committee and the Board will continue to monitor
and review potenual conflicts of interest and take action to mitigate
them as necessary

Gavernance - Corporate gavernance report

Bigger Picture Commuttee
Chairmans overview

During the year, the Committee
has continued to provide
strategic leadership in relation
to Sky's Bigger Picture
Initiatives

There were two meetings dunng the year and after each Committee
meeting | reported to the Board on the key 1ssues discussed dunng
the meeting

| am pleased to report that the Committee has seen significant
progress across all areas of the programme from the launch of
Sky Academy in November 2013, to reducing environment impasts
and working with suppliers to strengthen our approach to
responsible sourang

In 2013 once again we wereidentified as one of the leading companies
1 the Publishing Media sectar of the Dow Jones Sustanability index

Progress against all of our Bigger Picture commitments and Initiatives
ts detailled on pages 27 to 31 and at skycom/biggerpicture

The Committee believes that the focus and scale of the work being
done continues to make a significant contribution to Sky s ability
to build a better business for the long term

tames Murdoch
Committee Charrman

Coernposition of the Committee

James Murdoch (Charman)
Tracy Clarke
Dave Lewis

Attendance at Committee Meetings

The CEQ CFQ senior executives fepresentatives from Corporate
Affairs and the Bigger Prcture team attend meetings at the request
of the Chairman The Deputy Company Secretary acts as Secretary
to the Committee The Committeesterms of reference are available
on the Company's corporate website

Bigger Picture Committee Agenda

Focus for the year has centred on the following items

Areview of consumer tracker results

Responsible cyching and impact of our partnership with British Cycling

Sky Rainforest Rescue

.

Sky Arts Ignition
Sky Academy

Environmental perfarmance
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Corporate governance report

(continued)

Actities dunng the year

The Committee oversaw a number of key developments in retation

o Sky’s Bigger Picture mwtiatives notably the launch of Sky Academy
with a target to help up to one millicn young pecple fulfil their
potential by 2020 The development of Sky Academy as the hub

for Sky's commitment to enable young pecple has supported the
recommendation of the Commuttee for greater focus on a dear set
of imtratives with a common geal The Committee noted the early
progress of all strands of Sky Academy intiatives including reaching
over 20 000 young peaple since its launch through Sky Academy
Skills Studios and expanding into Scotland extending our Sky Academy
Scholarships offering with the launch of TV scholarships reaching
more than 95 000 young people through Sky Sports Livng for Sports
Imitiatives expanding into reland and making a strong start against
our commitment to doubling the number of career opportunities
available for young people within Sky

The Committee alsa reviewed progress aganst Sky s environment
targets and accompanying commitments The Committee noted
that there has been a further reduction in carbon intensity by 2%
aver the last year and they discussed the potential carbon savings
of the campus redevelopment plans and progress inimplementing
these plans See page 79 for more information on our emssions

Qver the year the Committee reviewed the positive progress
made in raising consumer awareness and favourabihty through
the Bigger Picture iniiatives The independent quarterly mass
consumer survey shows further growth in awareness of Bigger
Prcture initiatives, increasing to almost 70% of customers and
almost half of prospective customers

The Committee expressed its support for the commencement of the
next phase of the cycling partnership with British Cyciing after a great
year of strong pro-cyching and grassroots performance and staff and
stakeholder involvement The Commuttee encouraged the business

to take a stronger positonin promoting safe cychng through Sky s
partnership with British Cyching particularly around the use of helmets
in marketing campaigns and focus on mutual respect between cydists
and motonsts

The Committee oversaw the success of the Sky Rainforest Rescue
partnership with WWF in reaching the overall campaign fundraising
target of £8 millon a year early The partnership continues to drive
efforts for the project arean Acre Brazil and actwues to raise
awaraness mn the UK of rainforest deforestatton in the Amazon

The Committee reviewed the achievements of the Sky Arts ignition
Memory Palace project with the V&A, aleng wath the launch of a
groundbreaking digital project and on-arr programming in lreland
n partnership with Rough Magic and Opera Touring Company

The Committee continues to note the pesitive economic sooal and
envirgnmental contribution of Sky 1n the UK and Ireland through
1ts approach to seeing the bigger picture For more infarmation

go to sky com/fuggerpicture
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Directors’ remuneration report
Annual statement from the Chairman

Dear Shareholder,

On behalf of the Board 1am pleased te present our report on
Directors remuneration for the year ended 30 June 2014 which
shareholders will be asked o approve at the 2014 AGM The report
takes account of the new regulations how we have implemented
our policy over the past 12 months and our proposed approach

to executive remuneration for the next three years Having been
appointed to the role of Committee Chair in November | was keen
to gauge theviews of our larger institutional shareholders on Sky's
approach Lo executive remuneration Therefore, over the summer

I wrote to our major shareholders outiining the changes we

were proposing to make to our remuneration policy and met

with the instituttonal voting bodies This process of engagement
was very constructive

Cur approach to remuneration has served Sky and its shareholders
extremely well for many years Our sustained focus on paying for
perfermance wath a hugh ratic of vanable pay to fixed pay and the
consistency in which we have applied our policy has delivered
outstanding business results Our remuneration philesophy continues
to motivate and retan our Executive Directors providing stability to
the Company in an Increasingly competitive and changing landscape

It also aligns the interests of the Executive Directors closely to those
of our shareholders

Executive pay at Sky remains firmly tied to the achievement of
stretching performance goals which are inked to business strategy
The measures we use are based on specific areas that drive growth
and returns to shareholders We believe that the concept of a
threshold, target and maxmum formula to underpin annual bonus
deaisions weuld compromise our drive for growth so we set one clear
and ambiticus stretch target for each bonus measure every year

Awards under the Long Term Incentive Plan are determined annually
The normal award for both Executive Directors has remained the same
for anumber of years This year the Committes decided to increase the
level of award granted to the CFO in recogmtion of hes broader role and
increasing contnbution Awards vest every other year which 1s atypical
and this year there was no vesting of share awards relating to the
current performance peniod This means that if the business performs
well next year total remuneration will spike when share awards are

due to vest. it will then go down again the following year when there

15 NO vasting

The Commuttee reviews the design and effect of this plan regularly and
continues to support the current approach as it prowides consistency
and a good balance between long and short-term thinking Grants are
made as a fixed number of shares rather than as a multiple of salary
This de-links the award from automatcally increasing with salary and
ts key in dnving growth and achieving strong ahgnment with returns

to shareholders

Strong performance agamst key metncs has underpinned our bonus
decisions again this year Against a challenging backdrop we have
added 23% mare products and 33% more customers excluding the
acquired O2 consumer and product base Qur tnvestment to accelerate
take up and usage of new connected TV services s delivenng well, mith
three milhion Sky HD boxes connected over the year As aconsequence
adjusted revenue excluding ESPN is up 7% to £76 bilion and adjusted
basic eamings per share s flat at 600 pence despite the investment
In connected TV services and one-off step up in Premier League costs
The Committee therefore awarded the CEQ and CFO a maxmum
bonus at 200% and 150% of salary respectively Notwithstanding the
outstanding performance of both Executive Drectors the Committee
made modest base salaryincreases of 25% to the CEO and 296%

to the CFO which recogrises therr contnbution without compromising
the philosophy of retaining a relatively low level of fixed pay versus

Qur comparator group

The ratio of fixed pay to vanable payis 12% 88% for the CEO and
13% 87% for the CFO compared to the average of 23% 77% for cur
comparator group

The continued support of our shareholders 1s wital In response

to feedback we have received over thelast 12 months and inthe
context of the new reporung regulations we have made a number
of changes to our remuneration polcy These changes seek

ta further grotect and align shareholder interests and are set
out in our remuneration policy on pages 60 to 66 and include

* Theintroduction of a cap on annual awards under the Long Term
Incentive Plan

+ A minimum shareholding requirement for the Executive Directors
« A formal policy on malus

+ More explanation and disclosure on performance outcomes

+ More information on our recruitment policy

We will continue to refine and develop the structure of our report
to provide clanty on our remuneration approach and welcome
further feedback from our shareholders onits content

Tracy Clarke
Remuneration Committee Char

For further information on remuneratron go to

Qur Remuneration Policy
Annual Remuneratton Implementation Repert

Page 60
Page 67
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Directors’ remuneration report
Our Remuneration Policy

This section describes the Directors’ Remuneration Policy which shareholders will be asked to approve at the 2014 AGM The Committes intends
that thus policy will take effect from that date and will be effective until the 2017 AGM

Remuneration Principles
There are five key principles which underpin the remuneration policy for our Executive Directors

Our approach to executive pay 15 aligned to the interests of our shareholders

We reward our people fairly and competitively to attract, motivate and retain the skills we need to deliver significant growth

The lavel of base pay Is decided 0 the same way as for all employees based onindividual performance and expenence the size and scope
of the role and taking account of total remuneration

The majonty of executive pay s Ued to the achievemaent of stretching performance goals inked to the strategie priorities for the business
Executive Directors will be well rewarded only If they meet or exceed the maximum performance standards set and achieve stretching levels
of performance

* We take care to ensure that remuneration does not inadvertently encourage inappropriate nsk taking

Our principles set the foundation for our remuneration policy and ensure that decisions made by the Committee are consistent and appropnate
in the context of business priorsties shareholder interests and employee pay

Summary of the Executive Directors’ Remuneration Policy
The table below shows how our remuneration policy inks to our business strategy and its terms of operation Any contractual commitments

entered into or awards made before the policy comes into effect or a person became a director wifl be honoured

Purpose and link to strategy

Oparation

Maximum opportumty

Performance bk

Attracts and retains
Executive Directors
taking account of
personal contribution
and size of role

Baze salary

Reviewed annually typicalty
with effect from 1 July

Salary 1s set relatively low versus
the peer group of companies

of sifndar market capitalisation
to the Company

The Commuttee looks at
pay practices 1n selected
international medta companies

Decistons on salary also take
nto account the performance
and expenence of the individual
changes in the size and scope of
the role, and the level of salary
awards across the business

Any increase will bein linewth
those provided to employaes
within the Company

Higher increases may be made
as a result of achangeinrole
or responsibility or cther
performance-based
arcumstance

Thrs s in hine with our pelicy
for all employees

Indivdual and business
performance Is taken
INto account when
reviewing salarnes

Pension Prowides opportunity for
longer-term saving and/or

retirement provision

Executive Directors may recewe
employer contrnibutions nto the
BSkyB Pension Scheme, a cash
supplement in ey of pension
or a combination thereof

All payments are made as a
percentage of base salary

Employer contnbutions to the
pension scheme or an equivalent
cash supplement are around 16%
of base salary

NiA
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Purpose and Iink tostrategy  Operation Maximum opportunity Performance hink
Other Provides Executive Executive Directors are entitled Benefits provided to Executive NiA
benefits Directors with a range of to a range of benefits including, Directors are broadly n ine with
core and fringe benefits as  but not imited to pnvate medical  those offered to all employees
part of a competitive total  Insurance, Ife assurance fthealth  Where exceptions are made
remuneration package Income protection paid holiday, the Committee ensures that
sick pay Sky subscniption package  benefits offered arein ine
company car allowance and use with market practice for simitar
of a company car generally for roles in sumilar organisations
business trave! purposes
The Committee may make minor
changes to benefits orinclude
other benefits that are deemed
appropriate from time to time
Relocation allowances and
benefits may be provided
where needed to assist with
the relocation orintemational
transfer of an Executive Director
and their dependents
Annual Dnves and rewards the Performance measures and The maximum bonus Performance Is assessed
bonus delvery of stretching weightings are reviewed at, opportunity 1s 200% of aganst a combination of
annual performance goals  the start of each year to take base salary and 1s payable operational and finanaal
aligned wath the accaunt of current business for the achievemnent of objectives which are
Company s overalt plans Stretching performance stretch chpectives determined at the start
business strategy targets are set annually The manimum payment 1s zero of the year
Performance against targets The waighting of the
15 monitored quarterly arEd The Committee believes the rneasurgis1 s getermmed
determuined annually based concept of threshold, targetdana at the start of each year
on assessment of performance ;’2?);:::Thc:omvséos:tls::eo:;;a?m burt each measure will have
versus each target and ambrtious stretch target a maximum weighting of 40%
Paymentis madeonly once annual  for each performance measure Further details are
results hava been audited every year The achievernent disclosed In the notes
In exceptional eifeLmstances the of stretch goals will result in to the polcy table and
a payout at rmaximum or the Annual Remuneration
Committee will use Its judgement
to adjust bonus butcomes up near-maximum The Committee  Implementation Report
or down to ensure ahgnment exeraises its judgement on on page 68
the leve! of bonus payable for
of pay wath performance and
wath shareholder (nterests outcomes short of maxmum
within the policy maximum
Co- Encourages personal Executive Directors may invest The maximum annual award The performance measure to
investment  unwvestment and up to half of therr earned annual 15 150% of base salary determine the vesting of the
Plan (CIP) shareholder ahgnment beonus in the Company’s shares shares 15 chosen each year

rewards long-term focus
and performance
achievermnent

These investment shares are
matched on a gross basis and
vest based on perforrmance over
a three-year penod Shares are
matched by up to 15 shares for
every 1 share invested inline
with performance

Once vested participants
may exerose the awards
during a five-year period

Partiapation in the plan
is voluntary

No matching awards are capabla
of vesting if performance is
below threshotd a1for i match
may vest when the minimum

of the range is met and all the
shares vest (or 15 shares for
every share Invested) when the
maximum of the range 1s met

and 15 typically a financial
reasure such as EPS growth

Further details on the
performance cntena for
threshold and maximum
vesung are disclosed in
the Annual Remuneration
Impiementatton Report
on pages 58 to 70
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Directors’ remuneration report
Our Remuneration Policy

(continued)

Purposa and hnk to strategy Operation

Maximum opportunity

Performance link

Long Term Rewards longer-term

Incentive value creation and aligns
Plan (LTIP) Executive Directors
interests with those
of shareholders

Awards are made annually, under
the terms of the scheme rutes
based on number of shares

This de-links the award from
increasing automatically

with salary adjustments

Vesting of awards s based on
stretching performance over a
three-year period Awards are
made in Year 1 and in Year 2 with
vesting of both awards at the
end of Year 3 This means that
vesting of awards occurs every
other year with zera vesting

in between

Once vestad, participants may
exerose the awards dunng
a five-year period

Ininstances of gross misconduct

all unvested LTIP awards lapse
mmed ately

This year the Company has
introduced a pokcy on malus
The Commitiee may useits
discretion after having taken
independent adwvice to withhold
or vary downwards any unvested
awards typically in the event of

+ the materal restatement
of the Company’s audited
resuits or

= actuons attnbutable to
partrcnpanfs resultlng n
materal reputational damage
to the business

The Committes will determine
how to apply this sancticn
on a case-by-case basis

The Commuttee reviews the
number of shares to be granted
annually A typical award for the
CEQ 15 600 000 shares in any
12-month penod

Thus year the Company has
introduced a maximum award
level of 900 000 shares in any
12-month penod Such awards
will cnly be made In exceptional
cIrcumstances

100% of the shares vest when
the performance cnitena are
met.n Full IF the minirmum of
the range I1s met each year
for all measures 26% of the
shares vest.

Performance measures are
typically amix of operational
measures and refative TSR

Operatonal measures used
inthe past have included EPS
operating cash flow and
revenue growth

The weighting of the measures
may vary butis tymcally 70%
operational measures and
30% refative TSR

Araund 650 employees are eligible for awards under the Long Term Incentive Plan A smatler number of employees {around 130} are also invited to

particpate in the Co-Investment Plan All employees are eligible to receive a comprehensive benefits package and the majonty are eligible to receive
elther a monthly or quarterly cash incentive or an annual bonus
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Shareholder ahgnment

The Committee considers shareholders’ views as they are receved
during the year at the AGM through shareholder meetings and
through correspondence This year we wrote to our major shareholders
outhning our approach to executive remuneration and the changes

we propose to make

We will continue to engage with our majgor shareholders and welcome
feedback at any time Should we propose to make any major changes
to the remuneration structure we will seek the views of our major
shareholders in advance

The context for setting executive remuneration policy

The pnnciples underlying our executive remuneration policy are
afigned to those that underpin reward for our employees as a whole
which aim to attract motvate and retan people by offering a
market-competitive total remuneration package The Commuttee
takes into consideration the pay and conditions of all employees
when determining the remuneration for the Executive Directors

It does not consult with employees in this process

Our performance measures and how they operate

Executive pay remains firmly tied to the achievement of stretching
performance goals inked to business strategy The measures we
use are based on specfic areas that dnve growth and retumns to
shareholders We believe the concept of a threshold target and
maximum formula would compromise our drive for growth so we
set.one clear and ambitious stretch target for each perforrmance
measure every year

Annual bonus

The performarwe measures for the annual bonus are determined by
the committee based on the business pnonities for the year They are
typically a mex of operational and financial performance measures

The measures are usually a combsnation of operating profit operating
cash flow and a measure of product growth They are all key indicators
of the undertying performance of the business Each year stretch
objectrves are set in the light of the Company’s annual business plan
and the operating environment

Co-Investment Plan and Long Term Incentive Plan

Performance measures far the L71P and CIP are reviewed annually

1o ensure aignment with the Company’'s strategy and sharehalders
interests The CIP measure 15 typically compound EPS growthin excess
of RPI over the performance penod, which ensures close alignment
with aur shareholders interests Performance required for threshold
and maxamum vesting are described in the Annual Remuneration
Implementation Report on page 68

The LTIP measures are typically a mix of operational measures and
relative TSR performance wath a 70/30 split The operational measures
are usually EPS growth operating cash flow and revenue growth

As the conversion of profit to cash flow is a key indicator of the
underlying performance of the business it 15 used as a measure

in both the annua! bonus and the LTIP

Governance - Daectons rermuanaralon report

Qur LTIP vesting cycle s atypical and has served the business and
shareholders well since it was introduced in 2005 Vesting occurs

only every other year and as a conseguence the amount of
remureration delvered to Executive Directors will spike every

other year This approach encourages focus on the longer term

The performance ranges for each measure are reviewed annually in the
light of the Company’s three year plan brokers forecasts and historical
performance Performance at the top end of the range 1s stretching.

Pay scenario analysis

The charts below provide an estimate of the awards that could be
received by our Executive Directors under the remuneration policy
for 2014 showng

Minimum base salary as at 1July 2014 plus pension and benefits
as per the table on page 71 (fixed pay)

Maximum fixed pay plus maximum awards for annual bonus
{200% of base salary for the CEO and 150% for the CFQ)
Co-Investment Plan (maximum deferral of 50% of the annual
bonus into nvestment shares and full vesting of 1 5x matching
shares) and Long Term Incentive Plan (600 000 shares for the
CEQ and 350 000 shares for the CFO)

The Committee sets one clear and ambitious streteh target for
each parformance measure If stretch targets are met then 1G0%
of maximum for the bonus s pard and the shares awarded under
the LTIP armd CIP wall vestin full Thereis ne additional payment for
achievement over the stretch goals

Awards under the LTIP are madte annually but vesting occurs anly avery
two years Theimpact of this vesting ¢ycle on actual realised pay 1s shown
in the five year single Aigure remuneration table for the CEQ on page 72

Jeremy Darroch, CEQ

- Long Veron NG e Dian
W Co imastment Pan
. Anrecl Bomrs

w Fired Py

Naarmum Ellm

masenr TR T 7S TN -5
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Andrew Griffith, CFQ
- oy lerm Incentia Man
W Co-hrversiinent Pan
- Al Borvr
wisrenrn (AN €0 7m s Fond Py

414 1+} 0 30 40 50 -]

Em

Scenarios are modelled assuming ashare price of £8 818 which
15 the average share price over the penod 1 Apnl to 30 June 2014
with no allowance for share price apprecation
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Our Remuneration Policy
{continued)

Other share schemes

Management Long-Term Incentive Plan (MLTIP}

The Company also operates a MLTIP for selected employees excduding
the Executive Directors and sentor executives who participate in the
LTIP Awards under this scheme are made at the discretion of the CEQ
within the parameters agreed by the Committee The MLIIP mirrers
the LTIPin design in order to ensure ahgnment between participants
in either pian

Executive Share Opuon Schemes {Executive Schermes)

The Cempany has in ptace Approved and Unapproved Executive Share
Option Schemes No options have been granted since 2004 and we
do not ervisage making any future awards as part of these schemes

Sharesave Scheme

The Sharesave Scheme s open to UK and Insh employees and
encourages them to make along-term investmentn the Company’s
shares in atax efficient way The current legislation prowdes far
employees to save up to £500 per month Currently the imit for Sky
employees s £250 per month although the Company may decide to
adjust this amount in future Cplions are normally exercsable after
either three or five years from the date of grant The price at which
options are offered 1s not less than 80% of the middte-market price
on the dealing day immediately preceding the date of nvitation

or the average of the three days preceding the date of Invitation

It 1s the policy of the Company to inmte employees to participate

in the scheme following the announcement of the year end

results Currently approximately 9000 employees participate
inthese schemes

Shareholding guidalines and share ownership

The Committee recogmises the importance of aligning Executive
Directors and shareholders interests through executives buitding up
a significant shareholding in the Company This year, new shareholding
requirements have been introduced at 3x base salary for the CEC and

2x base salary for the CFO Executive Directors are required to buld up
their shareholding to the required levels within five years There are no

sharehotding guidehnes for Independent Non-Executive Directors but

they are able to participate in a monthly share purchase plan See page

73 for further details on Directors’ interests

HMow the Remuneration Committee exercises discretion

The Committee retains discretion relating o annual bonus LTIP and
CIP (n ine with their rules and according to the remuneraton policy

These include but are not imited to
» Twmng of a grant of an award/payment

« Size of an award/bonus payment up to the maximums indicated
in the policy table

« Determination of vesung and the application of malus for the LTIP
= Dealing with a change of control

- Determination of treatment of leavers based on the rules of the
plan and the leaver policy

- Annual review of performance measures and weighting and targets
of the plan from year to year

Any use of discretion within the policy framework will be explained
1 the Annual Rermuneration iImplementation Report There may

be exceptional arcumstances under which the Commitiee may
use discretion or judgement in the interests of the business and
shareholders These exceptional crcumstances may be the subject
of discussion with the Company s major sharehclders

Remuneration on recruitment or appointment to the Board

It 15 expected that the remuneration package for a new Executive
Drrector will be agreed in ine with the approved remuneration policy
at the time of appointment The Committee would seek approval from
its mayor shareholders if it felt it necessary to pay more to attract the
best candidate The Jast time an executive appointment was made
the Committee approved a total remuneration package lower than
the previous Incurmbent.

‘Typically base salary on appointment will take inte accountindividual
expenience thesize and scope of the role total remuneration and
relevant market pay levels Where the Intial base salary is set below
competitive levels for example to account for someona who may be
newly promoted to the Board the Committee will realign salary in the
years following appointment assuming the required level of personal
performance s met The Comimuttee wil disclose its intention to de
this at the time of appointment

Cther elements of remuneration will be set in ine with our policy
unless specific arcumstances dictate otherwise For example

it may be necessary to use different performance measures intially
for the annual bonus taking into account the time of joiring I

the finanaal year and responsityhities of the indwdual

The Committee may offer one-off cash and/or share-based elements
in additicn to the standard remuneration package These will only be
offered where it considers these to be imperative to attracung the
best external candidate in order to compensate for elements of pay
such as forfeited bonus entitements and/or unvested long term
incentive awards from an existing employer Any buy-out of unvested
share awards would aim to match as far as possible the vesting terms
and the expected value of the awards being bought out. This prowision
may also Include payment for any benefits in kind pensions and other
allowances previcusly provided to the indiidual

The Committee may also provide appropnate levels of relocation
assistance and payments to external or internal appointees who are
required to refocate either within or to the UK on taking up the role

Where an internal candidate 1s promoted to the Board any
outstanding vanable pay award or benefits prowded in refation

to the previous rale may be paid or delivered according to the rules

of the plan and may be adjusted to take into account the new role

The Commuttee may also make an LTIP award an appoinument outside
the annual cycle, under existing shareholder approved plans The value
of such an award will not exceed our normal policy maxmum

The remuneration arrangements for any newly-appointed Executive
Director wrl bedisclosed in line with our regulatory obligations

&4 Briish ScyBroadcasting Group pic




Annual Report 2014

Key terms of new and existing service contracts

The Committee s policy for the Executive Directors service contracts
15 provided below

Notice penod  Up to one year s notice for either party and a one year
non-campete provision The Company may require the
indnadual to continue to fulfil current duties or may
assign garden leave

Payment in One year s salary plus an amount equal to the benefits

heu of notice  and a pro-rata bonus for the pencd up to the
termination date Mo bonus is payable for the duration
of the notice penod unless that peried 1s worked

Jeremy Darroch s imitial sernice cantract on appointment as CFO
commenced on 16 August 2004 The contract was revised on

7 December 2007 when he became CEQ Andrew Griffith s service
contract was revised on 7 April 2008 when he was appointed CFO
Copies of the Executive Directors service contracts are available for
nspection dunng normal business hours at the Company’s registered
office on any business day and will be available at the place where the
AGM 15 held from 15 minutes prior To and during the meeting

Non-Executive Directors have letters of appointment in place for mitial
terms of three years sulyect to annual reappointment at the AGM
These letters provide that no compensation 1s payzable on termination
other than accrued fees and expenses The dates of these letters of
appointment are detailled below

Date of Letter of Appaintment

Mick Ferguson 15 June 2004
Chase Carey 30 January 2(n3
Tracy Clarke 1 June 2012
David DeVoe 15 December 2004
Martin Gilbert 29 November 2011
Adine Grate 17 July 2013

Andy Higginson 1September 2004
Dave Lews i6 November 2012
James Murdoch 7 December 2007
Matthieu Pigasse 29 Novemnber 201
Danny Rimer 7 Apnl 2008
Arthur Siskind 19 November 1991
Andy Sukawaty 1 June 2013

Governance - Directors' remuneration report

Payments on termination and loss of office

The Company's termunation policy 1s shaped by the key prninaples that
« contractual terms will be adhered to and

» the circumstances of the termenation wil! be taken into account

Executive Directors service contracts continue untif the agreed
retirement date or other date as the Company may agree and are
terminable on no more than one year's notice

The Company may terrminate an Executive Director s service contract
by way of payment in lieu of notice by continuing employment for the
duration of the notice penad and/or by assigning a perod of garden
leave The current Executive Directors service contracts also contain
a non-compete provision of one year from the date of termmation

of the agreement
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Our Remuneration Policy
(continued)

Termination for cause’ and ‘without cause treatmentof salary bonus and benefits

In the event of termination for cause salary and benefits woutd be payable only up to the date of termination No bonus would be payable In the
event of termination ‘without cause the Executive Director would receive one year s salary an amount equal to the value of the benefits he would
have been eligible to receive for one year and a pro-rated bonus for the period fram the start of the financial year up to the date of termination
No bonus would be payable for the year s notice period

Treatment of share plans on termination
Executive Directers entitlements to remuneration under the shareholder-approved share plans upon termination are summansed in the table below

Plan Reasons such as death, redundancy ratirement (Il health, Injury and  Other teaver reasons sush as resignation®
disability employing company ceasing to be part of the Group or any
other reason at the discretion of the Committee*

LTIP LTIP awards will not narmally be exercisable until the normal All unvested shares will usually lapse on the date of leaving
vesting date, subject to the performance conditions being met However, the Committee has the discretion under the plan rules
Award vesting will be prorated according to the portion of to determine whether a proportion of the shares may vest having
the performance penod served unless the Committee taken into account any exceptional circumstances

determines otherwise

Awards may be exercised earlyin certain aircumstances for
example 1n the event of death or a takeover or change i control

ap Any investment shares held on behalf of the particpant may Investment shares may be sold Any matching award will be
e sold Any matching awards held under the CIF will vest forfeited However the Commitiee has the discretion to determine
on the same terms as outhned above in relation to the LTIP whether aproportion of the matching award may vest having

taken into account any EXCEP{IOI’]E| arcumstances

Sharesave Opuons may become exercisable within 6 months alternatively  Options willlapse and the partiopant may only withdraw savings
the participant may choose to withdraw savings accrued under the savings contract

T
* The share planrules do not refer ta for cause or without cause Terrnination for cause would normally be dealt with under ‘Other leaver reasons’ Termination ‘without cause
woukd be dealt with as any other reason at the discretion of the Committee

It 15 the Company s policy to use its judgement when approving payments to departing Executive Directors within tha provision of the planrules
The Committee will take into account factors such as the crcumstances and timing of the ext, the performance of the Executve Director while
n office and the interests of sharehclders

External appointments

External appointments for Executive Directors are considered by the Company‘s Corporate Governance & Nonminations Committee to ensure they
would not cause a conflict of interest and are then approved by the Chairman on behalf of the Board It 15 the Compary s policy that remuneration
earned from such appointments may be retaned by the individual

Jeremy Darroch became a Non-Executive Director of Burberry Group plcin February 2014 and serves as a member of their audit, remuneration
and nominations committees As at 30 June 2014 leremy had eamed £32.666

Andrew Griffith became a Non-Executive Director of Just Eat plcin March 2014 and serves as sentor Independent director chairman of the audit
committee and as a member of the remuneration and neminations committaes As at 30 June 2014 Andrew had earned 13167
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Directors’ remuneration report
Annual Remuneration Implementation Report

Remuneration of the Chairman and Non-Executive Directors

The table below summarises the key components of remuneration for our Charman and Non-Executive Directors

Element and purpase

Operation

Fees Reflect iIndmdual responsibilities and
membership of Board Committees Attract
Non=Executive Directors wath the skills and
experience required to oversee the
implementation of strategy

Fees for the Chairman and the Non-Executive Directors are reviewed
annually having regard to independent advice and surveys

The Corporate Governance & Nominations Committee determines the

fees paid to the Charman taking into account the complexity of the role
and the tme and commitment required The Board of Directors determines
the fees for the Non-Executive Directors

Additional fees for membership of of chairmanship of a committee
or for other responsixities are payable in addition to the basic fees
Fee levels for 2014 are disclosed inthe table on page 75

Non-Executive Directors can elect to receive a portion of therr feesin the
Company s shares which are purchased on a monthly basis Directors who
are deemed to be affilated with 215t Century Fox are not permitted to take
part In this facility Non-Executie Directors’ nterests are disclosed in the
tableon page 73

Benefits Additional benefits may be provided for business purposes e g prowision
of a car to trave! to/from meetings
Non-Executive Directors are not eligible tojoin Sky s pension plan
Non-Executive Directors are eligible to recewve a Sky subscription package
Bonus and Share Non-Executive Directors are not eligible to participate in any bonus or share
Pans scheme offered by the Company
Notice and Each Non-Executive Director’s appointment s for an initial three year term
termination In accordance wath the UX Corporate Governance Code, all Directors submit
provisions themselves for annual reapposntment

Non-Executive Directors each have a letter of appeintment these
appointments may be terminated without notice Any fees payable would
be settled at the date of termination No conunuing paymenit of fees are
due if a Nen-Executive Director 1s not re-elected by shareholders at the
Annual General Meeting
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Annual Remuneration Implementation Report

(continued)

This section sets out how our remuneration polity was implemented
duning the year ended 30 June 2014 and how 1t will be implemented
for the coming year It also sets out the ink between Company
performance and Executive Directors remuneration the context

in which our policy operates details on our Executive Directors
shareholdings and the general governance of Directors remuneration

Vanable pay outcomes for the year ended
30 June 2014

As shown on pages 36 to 38 the business has delivered another year
of strong growth Aswell as delivening a strong financial performance
the core businesses are growing well and new areas of business are
accelerating Aganst this background we set out below payments
made for the annual borus QP and LTIP For the performance year
ended 30 June 2014

Annual bonus for 2014 performance

The annual benus dnves the achwevement of annual finanaal and
operational business goals The plan for 2014 for Executive Directors
and senior executives was based on three equally-weighted measures
which were identified by the Commuttee as being key Indicatars

of performance driving growth for our business and retumns to

our shareholders

= Net Preduct Growth
« Adjusted Operating Profit
« Adjusted Operating Cash Flow

We believe the concept of threshold target and maxumum would
compromise the drive for growth so one clear stretch target 1s set
for each performance measure each year

This year we have provided more explanation on performance
outcomes The table in the next celumn sets out the Committees
assessment of performance versus the three measures for the last
performance pentod The Committee sets straetching targets which
must be delivered to achieve the business plan and for the Executive
Drirectors to receive the maximum bonus There are no payments
abave maximum for performance above these stretch targets

The Committee will use its judgement to assess the level of bonusif
a stretch target 1s not met, taking into account personal performance,
the performance of the other measures the underlying performance
of the business and other factors which the Committee considersto
be matenal to the results achieved

Operational performance has been strong, with outperfarmance
aganst each of our targets Despite difficult economic market
econditons paid-for product growth has tncreased by 23% excluding
the acquired O2 consumer and product base Operatung profitis
also ahead of target at £1 260 million during a year of investment
Operating cash flow has seen another strong performance at
E1284 rullion

Based on the excellent absolute and relative performance against
the key bonus measures and the strong personal performance

of both Executive Directors the Committes has decided to award
bonus payouts of 200% of base salary for the CEQ and 150% for
the CFQ respectively

Remuneration Comrmittees assessment of performance outcomes
versus targets set

Performance Levelof
Measure Weighting Performance achievement
Paid-For Preducts Growth 33% +3™m NS
Operating Profit 33% £1,260m IS
Operaung Cash Flow 33% £1284m VY
Overall Performance 4
Performance Key

Achievernent against stretch goals (upto)
Below stretch goals x

The Committee jJudges that disclosure of speafictargetsts
commeraally sensitive because we operate in a highly competitive
market both in acquining customers and bidding for key nghts with
avery small number of players We therefore believe that early
drseiosure of our targets would of fer an unfair competitive
advantage andwould be to the detriment of our shareholders

We will make retrospective disclosure when the targets are deemed
to be no longer commercially sensitive We anticpate this to be two
years after the end of the perfermance penod

Vesting of shares under the Co-Investment PMan 2011-2014

Under the terms of the CIP offered on 30 August 2011 for the
performance periad 1 July 2011 to 30 June 2014 Executive Directors
voluntarily deferred 50% of their earned 2011 bonus into investment
shares which were then matched by the company up to 15 times
the grass equivalent of therr mvestment

The table below shows the performance conditions for vestng of
the matching shares

EPS growth performance Match awarded
(annual average growth {number of matchuing shares
over three-year term) awarded perinvestment share*)
Less than RPI +3% 00
RP +3% 10
RPI +4% W7
RPt +5% 133
RPI| +6% 15
More than RPI +6% 15

Straught line interpolation between points
* 1@ on equivalent gross basis

The average adjusted basic EPS growth rate of 13% per year over
the three-year period exceeds the threshold for maximum vesting
The Committee has agreed that the matching shares under the
2011 Q1P will vestin Fulf on 30 August 2014

Executive Long Term Incentive Plan 2012-2015

The next vesting of awards made under the terms of the LTIP

will occur on 26 tuly 2015 for the three-year performance periad
1July 2012 to 30 June 2015 This will include vesting of awards made
n 2012 and 2013 Awards made in 2010 and 201 vested in July 2013
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Long Term Incentive Plan and Co-nvestment Plan Awards made in the Year {(audited)
The table below sets out the LTIP and QP awards made to Executive Directors during the year ended 30 June 2014

Minimum % Maximum %
No ofshares Face Value on of sharesthat  of shares that
awarded Grant Date Dateof Grant  Performance Peniod  Vesting Date canvest can vast

Long Term Incentve Plan

Jeremy Darroch 600000 260713 E4932000' O10712-300615 260715 o% 100%
Andrew Grffith 320000 260713 E2630400" O1072-300675 2607115 o% 100%
Co-Investment Plan

Jeremy Darrech 162794 280813 £1369098° 010713-300616 280816 0% 100%
Andrew Griffith 74,249 280813 £624 434 0i0713-300616 280816 0% 100%

71 Market price at date of LTIP award was E8 220 on 26 Juhy 20713

2 Market price at date of CIP matching award was £8 410 on 28 August 2013

Performance conditions for the Long Term incentive Plan

Awards made in July 2013 were “Year 2" nil-cost option awards That is, they refer back to the three year performance period beginrung on 1 July 2012
and ending on 30 June 2015 and are subject to the following performance conditions

1 Operational targets - 70% of the award

There are three equally weighted operational performance measures each of which 15 a key indicator of Sky's continued success

+ EPSgrowth akey measure of shareholder retums

+ Operatingcash flow measures our ability to generate and manage cash

+ Revenue growth core to our growth strategy

The Committee believes that early disclosure of our targets would give an advantage to our competitors and would be to the detrment of our
shareholders, We wall make retrospective disclosure when the targets are deemed to be no longer commercially sensitive We antiapate this
to be two years after the end of the performance period

Points are awarded for performance on the three cperational measures as follows
« For EPS two points are awarded for growth of RP1+3% per year with the maximurn ten points awarded far RPI +5% per year or more

« For operating cash flow and revenue growth one pointis awarded for 75% achievement of target onasliding scale up to ten points
for 105% or more

One point equates to 10% of the award vesting with maximum vesting for 21 points or more vesting on a straight-ine basis between these points
Theres no addittonal award for ackievement above 21 points

If the mirimum range ts met each year for allmeasures 26% of the shares vest

Annual performance measures are shown in further detail in the table below

Average EPS Growth Operating Cash Flow Revenue Growth
Performance achieved Perfarmance achieved
Performance achieved Points awasded (% of target) Poinks awarded (% of target) Points awarded
RP1+5% pa 10 105% cr more 10 105% or more 10
RM + 45%pa 8 100% a 100% B
RP +4% pa [ 95% 6 95% [
RPI+35%pa 4 90% 4 20% 4
RPI+3%pa 2 85% 2 B5% 2
Less thanRPI +3% pa o 75% 1 5% 1
Less than 75% 0 Less than 75% 4]

The top end of the EPS growth range was set for avards in 2012 and 2013 at RPI +5% p a This s equivalent to growthin earmings of 26% over three
years if RPl1s 3% a year This Jevel of growth in earntngs was set at alevel which exceaded consensus research analysts estimates
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(continued)
2 Relative TSR performance - 30% of the award Review of past performance
The Company’s TSR performance 1s measured relative to the TSR of TSR performance

the constituents of the FTSE 100 If the Company s TSR performance

s below median the TSR element of the award lapses in full 30 June 2014 measured as the value of a £100 holding in ordinary
For median perfarmance one-third of the shares subject to shares at the start of the penod The performance is shown relative
the TSR canditton may vest, with all the shares vesting for upper to the FTSE 100 and FTSE Media 350 indices, which represent the

quartile performance Vestingis on a straight-hne basis, between broad market indices within which the Company’s shares are traded
these points as shown below

The graph below shows the Company’s TSR for the five years to

TSR s a measure of the returns that a company has provided for
TSR Vesting Schedule its shareholders reflecting share price movements and assuming
reinvestment of diadends Data s averaged over three months

Payout at the end of each financial year
% of grant)
- £300
— e £265
E £250 — FTSE 350 Michn s
E200
w0
g E190
3 em=g
i E100
L R ©
Becw S0 55 B2 B8 70 S 80 -}
2 £50
Fmat TSR rark (') >
EC
TSR calculations are conducted independently by Towers Watson 2009 10 oM 2m 2003 2004

adwsors to the Committee

Performance conditions for the Co-lnvestment Plan
1P awards made in 2013 are subject to the performance conditions
set out In the table below

EPS growth performance Match awarded
(annual average growth (number of matching shares
over three-year term) awarded per investment share*)
Less than RPI +3% Qo
RPI +3% 10
RPI +4% 125
RP1 +5% 15
More than RPI +5% 15

Straight ine Interpolation between points
“1e on equmalent gross basis
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Payments made to Executive Directors
The table sets aut total remuneration recerved by the Executive Drectars for the finanaal year ended 30 June 2014 and the prior year ended 30 June 2013

The vesting pattern of awards under the LTIP s biennal shares vest every other year over a three year performance period This means that every
other year no payment i1s due as there 1s no vesting of awards The following year assurming performandce conditions are met, there will be a payment
which covers the equivalent of two years vesting

The 2013 single figure for total remuneration indudes vestung of a one-off additional LTIP award made in 2011 at the time of the News Corporation bid
as disclosed In the 2011 Report on Directors Remineration 2013 was also a vesting year for ourLTIP

Single Figure for Executive Directors’ Total Remuneration (audited)

Loeag Yerm
Salary' Taxable Banefits” Punston* Borus* Incuntive Plan® Co-trvestrurt Plan® Total
E w03 2014 201 204 2013 204 2013 a4 2013 201 2013 2004 2013 2014
.Il)eretl'lr.gh 935000 960700 7122 17807 158564 149431 1823250 1921400 12525000 nfa 1568046 1831754 17026582 4881252
Ar|
en?;'et\ro‘v 573500 602175 16104 15115 70319 83481 821575 903263 64M250 nia 553954 844703 8556702 2449736
L)

1 Executive Darectors salanes wergincreased on 1 July 2013 by 2.75% for the CEO and 5 0% for the CFO reflectng ther excelient performance The increase for employees who
wera similarly categorised as outstanding performers ranged up to10% The average increase for employeas at that time was 2 5% rising to 3 5% for thase earming less than
E50 000 per yrar with arange of 0% to 10% for perfermance prometicns and marke® adiustments

Taxable benefits nclude company car or car allowance and healthcare

Pension comprises a cash allowance in hau of company contributions for Jeremy Darroch Andrew Grffith became a deferred member of the penston scheme on 1 December 2013
and received €16 667 in company comtributions and £66 814 as a cash allowance

4 Bonus shows the full amount earned shortly after year end inwhich the performance measures applhied inchuding amount s deferred through the CIP The payout for the 2013
bonus was 195% of base salary for the CEO and 145% for the CFQ The frgures for 2014 are 200% for the CEO and 150% for the CFO  The Executive Directors deferred 50% of ther
bonus into shares through the (P n 2013 and 1t 1s articipated they wilt do so for 2014

Long Term incentrve Plan shows the market vatue of the awards vested immediately fallowing the end of the relevant performance pencd The figure for 201215 for LTIP shares
vested on 29 July 2013 with a share powe of €8 35 and ndudas the vesting of the one-off nddisonal award of 300 00Q shares for the CEQ and 135 000 for the CFO made 1n 2014
at the time of the News Corporation bid No LTIP shares vasted for the performance pencd ended 30 Juna 2014

Co investrment Plan shows the market value of the matching shares that vested on 31 August 2013 with a share price of £8 525 and the esumated value of matching shares
that are due to vest on 30 August 2014 using the average share price over the period 14pnl to 30 June 2014 of £8 B1B

w A

v

o
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(continued)

CEQ's remuneration

The table below prowvides a summary of the total remuneration for the
CEO over the past five years including bonus payout, LTIPand QP vesting
levels The table heghhights the urique structure of our remuneration
policy ih which vesting of LTIP shares occurs every two years rather than
the customary 12 menth cycle As our LTIP awards are made as a fixed
number the realised value 1s purely reflective of any share pnce growth
over this penod keeping it aligned to shareholders’ interests

It should be noted that total remuneration for 2013 includes vesting
of the one-off additional LTIP award of 300 Q00 shares made in 201
at the time of the News Corporation bid The average annual total
remuneration paid to the CEQ over this five year penod, excluding
this one-off award is £7,553 114

Annual LMy ap

Bonus vesting vesting

payout rates rates

Single against against against

figure  maximum  maximum  maximum
oftotal opporturuty epportunity opportunity
% % %

Year remuneration

2014 488,252 100 nfa 160
2013 17026 982* 975 100 100
2012 45500377 100 nfa C0
2on 1133554 100 83 nfa
2010 2678,744 100 nfa nfa

1 Includes valuation of CIP matching shares due to vest on 30 August 2014
using the average share price over the penod 1 Apnl te 30 June 2014 of EB 618

2 includes vesung of the one-of f additional LTIP award of 300 000 shares

mada in 2011 at the time of the News Corporation bid

Includes first year of vesting of CIP introduced in 2010

w

Percentage change in CEQ s remuneration

The table below shows the percentage change in CEQ remuneration
from 1 July 2013 te 20 June 2014 compared to the average change for
all employees

CEO % change All employees % change

Base Salary 275% 375% employees earning less than
£50 000, 2 5% above ESC 000

Taxable Benefits 58% 0%
Arinual Bonts -5 3% 130%

Relative importance of pay spend

The table below shows total employee costs and dividend payments
to shareholders for 2013 and 2014

2013 2014
(Em) {Em)
Total employee costs 989 1044
Dividend payments 441 AB5

Implementation of Remuneration Policy for the
coming year to 30 June 2015

The Committee has determined that the remuneration policy wilt
be mplemented as set out below for the year ending 30 June 2015

Base salary

The average salary increase for our employees effective 1 July 2014
was 3 5% for those earning less than £30 000 and 25% for all other
employees with ncreases up to 10% for outstanding perfarmance
promotions and market adjustments Notwithstanding the
outstanding performance of the CEQ and CFO the Committee has
deaded to make modest base saiary adjustments of 2 5% for the
CEQ and the 296% for the CFO effective 1.July 2014 to recognise
thew contribution without compromising the long held intent to
maintain a well-leveraged package with a relatively low level of

fixed pay versus our pay comparator group

Taxable benefits and pension

No changes

Annual Bonus and Co-Investment Plan

No changes Wa expect that both of the Executive Directors will
parucipate in the QP for this year The performance conditions
for the vesting of shares are as per the detalls set out on page 70

Long Term Incentive Plan award

The normal annual awards for the Executive Dwectors haveremaned
unchanged for some years at 600,000 for the CEO and 320 000 for
the CFO The Committee agreed that Jeremy Darroch would be granted
an award of 6Q0000 shares and Andrew Gnffith would be granted an
award of 350 000 shares on 25 July 2014 The adjustment for Andrew
Gnffith reflects the consclidation of his broader role and his increasing
contnbution to the business This 1s the Year 1 award of the 2014-207
Plan These awards will normalty vest on 25 July 2017 subject to the
performance measures being achieved

The performance conditions for this award remain the same as for
those made in 2012 and 2013 and operate using the same methodology
as set out on pages 6% and 70

EPS growth target (s as per page 63 and the TSR vesting schedule
15 as per page 70
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Directors Share Interests

As at the end of the financial year the CEQ had beneficial ownership of 411 695 shares equivalent to 3 B2 x base salary and the CFO had beneficial
ownership of 17903 shares equivalent to 175 x base satary, using the year end closing share price of £8 93 The CEO currently exceeds the new
shareholding guidelines It is expected that the CFO will meet the new guidalines during the next financial year

Interests in Bntish Sky Broadcasting Group pic shares (audited)

Shares
acquired
Asat 30 dunngthe Asat30
Notes June2013 year June 2014
Executive Directors
Jeremy Darroch 1 35457 57120 411665
Andrew Gnffith 12 14452 26052 H7903
Non-Executive Directaors
Nick Ferguson 22128 79n 30039
Chase Caray 3 - - -
Tracy Clarke 895 842 1737
Dawvid DeVoe 3 -
Dave Lawns 708 2049 2,754
Martn Gitbert 2.281 1392 3673
Adine Grate 4 - 9194 9194
Andy Higginson 5 6571 949 7520
James Murdoch 3 - - -
Matthieu Pigasse 2477 1287 3764
Danny Rimer 2122 4580 25702
Arthur Siskind 3 - - -
Andy Sukawaty 95 1069 164

Interests in shares include shares purchased under the Ca-Investment FMan on 28 August 2013 ata price of £8 3998

Andrew Griffith dispesed of 22 601 orcdinary shares at & prica of £8 495 on 2 September 2013 Thesé were acquired in 2010 as investmant shares under the CIP and were released
on 31 August 2013 when the matching award vested

The Directors assonated with 21st Century Fox are not permitted to particpate in the monthly share purchase plan

Adine Grate purchased 9194 shares at £8 615 on 18 Septambar 2013

Andy Higgmnson participates n the Dnadend Reinvestment Plan

N

moa W

All interests at the date shown are benefical and there have been no changes between 1 Juty and 25 July 2014
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{continued)

Outstanding share awards Jeremy Darroch (audited)

Share pnce Market Date from

AL 30 June Vested  Exercised Lapsed At3QJune  atdateof price on which
Date of award Notes 2013 durningyear dunngyear dunngyear 2014 award exercrse exercisable Expiry date
LTIp
290710 12 600000 600000 600000 - - E£70 EB35 25073 290718
29071 12 90000C 900000 900000 - - E7120 £EB8 35 250713 290718
260712 60QC0O0 - - - 600000 £7065 nja 26075 260720
CIP Matching 3
270808 204 425 - - - 204425 E5405 nfa 27082 270817
310810 183935 183935 - - 183935 £7075 nfa 310813 310818
3oo8en 207729 - - - 207729 £6 460 nfa 300814 300819
280812 184,149 - - - 18449 £7640 nfa 280815 280820
Sharesave
250909 3697 - - - 3501 £433 n/a Q0218 010815
Cutstanding share awards Andrew Griffith (audited)

Share price Market  Date from

At 30 June Vested  Exercsed Lapsed At30June atdateof price on which
Date of award Notes 2013 duringyear duringyear duringyear 204 award exarcise exercisable Expirydate
LTtP
290710 123 320000 320000 320000 - - E7N10 £835 23073 290718
290 123 455000 455000 455000 - - £7120 £835 290713 290718
26 6712 320000 - - - 320000 E7065 nfa 260715 260720
CIP Matching a5
310810 69672 69672 69672 - - E7075 £849 310813 310818
30081 95793 - - - 95793 £6 460 n/a 300814 300819
280812 84713 - - - 8473 £7640 nfa 280B15 280820
Executive Options
Meso3 & 44184 - 44184 - - £662 £835 Q0907 010913
060804 ] 19819 - 19819 - - ESO3 £E835 060808 0650814
Sharesave
160941 V771 - - - 1771 £508 n/a 010215 010815

1 The shares were exercised and subsequently sold on 29 July 2013 the aggregate value recervad by the Executive Directors on exercise of their 2010 and 2011 LTIP award's before

tex was E18 996 250 (2013 £4 095 528)

[+ LU ST N

Fellowing the vesting of awards participants continuing ta ba empieyed by the Company have five years toexercise thesr award
Performarxke corkhitions ralating Lo LTIP awards made 1n 2010 and 2011 were disclosed in the 2013 Annual Report.
Drndends are payable on shares purehased through the CIP Duning the year the Executive Directors recewed E134 560 (2013 £101550)
Performance conditions relating ta CIP matching awazds can be found on page 68
The Company has not made any Executive Share Option awards since 2004

74  British Sky Broadcastng Group pic




Annwal Report 204

Governance - Darectors remuner atwon report,

Single Figure for the Charrman and the Non-Executive Directors

The following table sets out the single figure for total remuneration for the Chairman and Non-Executive Directors for the finanoial year ended

30 June 2014 and the pnor year ended 30 June 2013

2014 Total 2013 Total

Fees' Feas

Nick Ferguson 462,375 450000
Chase Carey 60000 24162
Tracy Clarke? 95160 78,000
David DeVoe 60,000 38000
bDave Lews 90000 45312
Martun Gribert 105000 94 666
Adine Grate! 66987 nfa
Andy Higginson 145000 151333
James Murdoach 55,000 93000
Matthieu Pigasse 70000 68,000
Danny Rimer 77769 103833
Arthur Siskind 70000 68000
Andy Sukawaty 70000 5666

1 Basic feas were wreased by 2 75% wath effect from 1 Juty 2003

2 Tracy Clarke replaced Danny Rimer as Charman of the Remuneration Commuttee on 21 Novernber 2013 Danny Rimer stepped down as (harman and member of the

Remunaeration Committee and as a member of the Corporate Governarke & Nominations Committes on 22 November 2013
3 Adine Grate was appcinted Nan-Executive Director on 17 Juty 2013 and jomed the Audit Comrmittee on 26 July 2013

Fees for the Chairman and base Non-Executive Director fees were increased by 2 5% effective 1 July 2014, as detailed in the table below

1Juty 1duly

2014 2013

£ £

Chairman (@l nclusive fee) 473934 462,375

Deputy Chairman’ 30000 30000

Board member 1500 60,000
Additional responsibilities

Sentor Independent Director 40000 40000

Chairman of Committee 25000 25000

Member of Committee 10000 10000

1 Tharole of Deputy Chawrman s not required to be filled at this present tune

Payments to past Directors and loss of office
There were no payments made to past directors and no payments made for loss of office dunng the financial year

Shareholder voting outcomes

The Company 1s committed to engaging with shareholders and every year holds a meeting to talk about remuneration with major shareholders and
institutional investor groups This enables the Company to take shareholders views fully into account when making decisions about remuneration

At the AGM held on 22 November 2013 774% of shareholders voted in favour of the Directors report onremuneration

Resolution Votes For % Far Votes Against % Against Total Votes Cast

Votes Withheld

Approval of the remuneration report 1020 278744 774% 297928 375 226% 1318 207119

7495148

The Committee has sought the views of major shareholders since then and has made a number of important changes to the Company s pahicy in

response to this as set out in the Chairman s staterment on page 59

Membership of the Committee

During the year ended 30 June 2014 the Committee chared by Tracy Oarke met five imes MNick Ferguson Martin Gilbert, and Andy Sukawaty are
members of the Committee Danny Rimer stepped down as Chairman and member of the Committee on 22 November 2013 Martn Gilbert stepped
down as a member of the Committee on 24 fuly 2014 and Adine Grate was appointed in his place with effect from 25 July 2014 Attendance during

the year 15 shown on page 50
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Role of the Committee

The role of the Committee 1S to oversee the remuneration policy so that the Company 1s able to recruit, retain and mouvate its Executrves and
reward their indivdual contrbutions in a fair and responsible manner The Committee reviews the design and structure of employee incentives
and 1s responsible for approving the key terms of employment for the Executive Directors or any senior executive who reports directly to the CEQ
The full terms of reference for the Committee are available on the Company s corporate website

Committee activities during the year
The table below shows a summary of the key areas discussed by the Committee dunng the finanaal year

July2013 November 2013 February 2014 Apnl 2014 June 2074
Performance outcomes for  Performance update - Performance update - Performance update - Policy review on 2014
bonus LTIP and AP bonus LTIP and CIP benus LTIP and CIF bonus, LTIP and CIP Directors Remuneration
Target setting for 201314 Update on 213 reporting 2014 Directors’ Newreporting and Report
Reviewdraft Directors season femﬁ:‘:zﬁz\ Report implications for Sky l::p;ozﬂ;ot Shareholder
Remuneration Report Shareholder feedback and equl ESE

proxy voting gudance Benchmarking for

Executive Directors

2014 Directors
Remuneration Report
requirernents

Adwisors to the Committee

Towers Watson acted as independent adwsors to the Committee throughout the year The Committee s satisfied that the adwice it receves on
Executive Diractors remuneratton 1s iIndependent and abjective Terms of reference are monitored throughout the appointment Towers Watsan
subsernbes to the Remuneration Consultants Group's Code of Conduct in relation to execlitive remuneration The Code danfies the scope and
conduct of the role of remuneration consultants when adwsing UK isted companies The fees paict to Towers Watson for their services inrelation
to directors pay totalled £193 612

The CEQ and the Director for People provide information and advice and attend meetngs as required The Commuiitee is also supported by the
Company Secretary Finance and Human Resources functions Nondmvduals are involved in the degision ia relation te their own remuneration
The Remuneration Report was approved by the Board of Directors on 25 July 2014 and signed on its behalf by

Tracy Clarke
Chairman of Remuneration Committee
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Directors’ report and statutory disclosures

In accordance wath the Companies Act 2006 the Corporate governance
report on pages 48 to 58 and information contained in the Strategic
report forms part of this Directors report and are incerperated

by reference

The Directors present thetr report together with the audited
consolidated and parent company financal statements for the
year ended 30 June 2014

Dividends

The Durectors recommend a final dnidend for the year ended 30 June
2014 of 20 0 pence per ardinary share which, together with the
intenm dividend of 12 O pence paid to shareholders on 22 April 2014
will make a total dvidend For the vear of 32.0 pence (2013 300 pence)
Subject to approval at the 2014 AGM the final dividend will be paid

on 5 December 2014 to shareholders appearing on the register at

the close of business on 14 November 2014

Share capital

The Company s issued ordinary share capital at 30 June 2014
compnsed one class of orchinary shares All of the1ssued ordinary
shares are fully patd and rank equally in all respects Further details
of the Company’s share capital 1s disclosed In note 23 to the
consclidated financial statements

Interests invoung nghts

Information provided to the Company pursuant to the UK Listing
Authority's Disclosure and Transparency Rules {DTRs) 1s published
on a Regulatory Infarmation Service and on the Company’s website
As at 30 June 2014 the Company had been notified under DTRS

of the following significant holdings of voung rights inits shares

Amount  Percent of
Identity of person or group owned dass
215t Century Fox UK Nomnees Limited’ 611676643 3914
BlackRock Inc? 88 682 765 5Q6

1 Dwract holding which 1s subject to restrictions on its voting nghts
(please sea Voting nghts below)
2 iIndwecthokdng.

There have been no changes to the above significant holdings between
1July and 25 July 2014

At 25 July 2014 3914% of the Company's shares are held by 21st
Century Fox UK Nominees Limited a company incorporated under
the laws of England and Wales which 1s an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of 21st Century Fox The Murdoch Family Trust beneficially
owns less than 1% of 21st Century Fox Class A Common Stock and

3B 4% of 1its Ctass B Common Stock As aresult of Rupert Murdochs
ability to appoint certain members of the Board of Drectors of the
corporate trustee of the Murdoch Family Trust Rupert Murdech may
be deemed to be a beneficial owner of the shares benefiaally owned
by the Murdoch Family Trust. Rupert Murdoch however, disclaims any
beneficial ownership of those shares Also Rupert Murdoch reports
beneficial ownership of an additional 1% of 21st Century Fox Class B
Common Stock Rupert Murdoch s reported beneficial ownership of
215t Century Fox also indudes 8,729 432 shares of Class ACommon
Stock held by the GCM Trust that 1s administered by ndependent
trustees for the berefit of Rupert Murdoch s minor children however,
Rupert Murdoch disclaims beneficial ownership of such shares Thus
Rupert Murdoch may be deemed to beneficrally own in the aggregate
less than 1% of 2Ist Century Fox Class A Common Stock and 39 74%

of its Class B Common Stock, although, as stated above Rupert
Murdoch disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares of 21st Century
Fox beneficially owned by the Murdach Famtly Trust and the GCM Trust

The Employee Share Ownership Plan ("ESOP™) was established to
satisfy awards made to participants of the Company s employee

share plans The trustees of the ESQP have waived the nght to
dwidends payable In respect of the shares held by it, except to the
extent of 0 0001% of the divdend payable on each share At 30 June
2014 the ESOP had an interest in 17308 999 of the Company’s ordinary
shares The Trustees who are independent of the Company have full
discreton on how they vote the ordinary shares held by the ESOP

Voung nghts

The Company’s Articles of Assocration provide that subject to any
nghts or restnctions attached to any shares gn a show of hands every
member present in person or by proxy shall have ene vote andona
poll every member shall have one vote for every share of which hes

a holder On apoll votes may be given either personally or by proxy or
(in the case of a corporate member) by a duly authonsed representative

A sharehalder entitled to attend and vote at a general meeting

may appoint one or more proxies ta attend and vote instead of him

If a member appoints more than one proxy he must specify the
number of shares which each proxy 15 entitied to exercise nghts over

A proxy need not be a shareholder of the Company Holders of the
Company s ordinary shares do not have cumulative voting rights
Avoting agreement dated 21 September 2005 was entered into
between the Company BSkyB Holdco Inc 21st Century Fox and 21st
Century Fox UK Norarees Limited which became unconditional on

4 November 2005 and caps 21st Century Fox UK Nominees Limited s
voting nghts at any general meeting at 3719% The provisions of the
voting agreement cease to apply on the first to eccur of a number of
aireurnstances which include the date on which a general offer 1s made
by an independent person {(as defined in the voting agreement) for the
ordinary share capital of the Cormpary

Restnctions on transfer of secunties

There are no specific restrictions on the transfer of secunties in

the Company which 1s governed by the Articles of Assoaation and
prevailing legistation, nor is the Company aware of any agreements
between holders of secuntes that may result in restnctions on the
transfar of securities or that may result In restrictions on voting nghts

Variation of nghts

Subject to the Companies Act 2006 nghts attached to any dass
of shares may be vaned with the consent in wnting of the halders
of three-quarters in nominal value of the issued shares of the dass
or with the sanction of a special resolution passed at a separate
general meeting of the shareholders

Directors’ powers in relation to the Company issuing and buying
back its own shares

At the Company’s AGM on 22 November 2013 the Company was
granted the authority to return £500 milion of capital to shareholders
via a share buy-back programme This authority will apply until the
conclusion of this year's AGM and is subject to an agreement between
the Company and 21st Century Fox (and others) dated 25 July 2013
whereby followang any market purchases of shares by the Company
21st Century Fox would sell to the Company sufficient shares to
maintain its percentage shareholding at the same level prior to those
market purchases
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Directors’ report and statutory disclosures

(continued)

At the Company s AGM on 1 November 2012, the Company was granted
the authonty to return E500 million of capital to shareholders via

a share buy-back programme This authonty was subject to an
agreement between the Company and 2ist Century Fox (and others)
dated 28 July 2012 on substantially the same terms as the 2011 Share
Buy-Back Agreement

At the Company s AGM on 22 November 2011 the Company was
granted the authonty to retumn £750 million of capital to shareholders
via a share buy-back programme This authority was subject toan
agreement between the Company and 215t Century Fox (and others)
dated 28 July 2011 whereby following any market purchases of shares
by the Company 218t Century Fox would sell to the Company sufficent
shares to maintain its percentage shareholding at the same level as
applied prior to those market purchases (the "201 Share Buy-back
Agreement™) The price payable to 21st Century Fox would be the price
payable by the Company in respect of the relevant market purchases

Articles of asscaation

The Company s Arbicles of Assocation may only be ameanded by special
resolution at a general meeting of shareholders.

Board of Directors and theirinterests

The Directors who served during the year were Nick Ferguson
Jeremy Darroch Andrew Gniffith Chase Carey Tracy Clarke Cawd
DeVoe Matthieu Pigasse Martin Gilbert Adine Grate Andy Higginson
Dave Lews James Murdoch Danny Rimer Arthur Siskind and Andy
Sukawaty The biographical details of the Directors of the Company
are given on pages 45 and 47

The Directors interests in the ordinary shares and options of the
Company are disclosed within the Directors remuneration report
onpages 73to 75

Appotntment and retirement of Directors

The Directors may from time to time appoint one or more Directors
Any such Director shafl hold office only until the next AGM and shall
then be eligible for reappomiment by the Company s shareholders
At the Company’s 2014 AGM all current Executive and Non-Executive
Directors will retire and offer themselves for reappointmentin
compliance with the Code wath the exception of Andy Higginson
who will retire from the Board at the 2014 AGM

Alternate Directors

A Director may appeoint any other Director or any other person to act as
his Alternate An Alternate Director shall be entitled to receve notice

of and attend meetings of the Directors and committees of Directors

of which his appaointer is a member and not able to attend The Alternate
Director shall be entitled to vote at such meetngs and generally perform
all the functions of his appointer as a Director in his absence

On the resignation ef the appointer for any reason the Alternate
Curector shall cease to be an Alternate Director The appointer may
also remove his Alternate Director by notice to the Company Secretary
signed by the appolnter revoking the appointment

An Alternate Director shall not be entitied to faes for his service
as an Alternate Directer

Chase Carey Dawid DeVoe Arthur Siskind and James Murdoch have
appointed each of the others to act as their Alternate Director

Equal opportunities

The Company is an equal opportunites employer and believes that
everyone shoud have full and fair consideration for all vacanaes
promagons traning and development Should an employee become
disabled dunng therr employment at Sky where possible the Company
will actively retrain and adjust the environment to allow them to
maxmise the employee s potential Over the course of the year the
Company has partnered with various not-for-profit orgarusations with
the aim of prowiding more opportunities for people with disabilties
Further information can be found on page 35 and at sky com/workforsky

Diversity

The Comparny treats all people equally fairty with respect and without
prejudice Decisions abaut people s employment with the Company
are based on ability performance and qualfications This principle
alsa applies when the Company makes decisions about development,
promotion payand benefits

The Company delivers some of the most diverse content and services
avallable to a wde range of consumers and 1t values the same diversity
within the business and promates a culture of opportunity for all
regardless of background The Company does not tolerate unfar
treatment or discnmination at work based on ethnicity gender age
rehgion, disability or sexual onentation

As at 30 June 2014 the table below demonstrates diversity
throughout the Group

Male Female
Board of Directors' 13 87% 2 13%
Senior managers' 105 74% 36 26%
Executive direct reports to the CEQ' 7 70% 3 30%
All employees? 14740 66% 7508 34%

1 Az defined in the Companies Act 2006 (Strategic Report and Directors Report)
Regulatiors 2013

2 Based on fullume equivalent employees fram continuing operations and
excluding people who work for our joint ventures

201314 data s indepandently assured by Deloitte LLP and can be viewed online at

skycom/biggerpicturd

Employee involvement

Further detail on employee engagement together wath the infermation
on diversity and talent development can be found on pages 32t 35

Greenhouse gas emissions

Disclosures concerning greenhouse gas emissions became mandatory
under the Companies Act 2006 n the current financral year

Since 2008/09 we've reduced our emissions relative to revenue
(tCO,e/Em) by 40% This means we are on track to meet our target of
halng our emlssions relative to revenue (UErm) by 2020 Our absolute
carbon emissions have decreased by over 10% since 2008/09as a
result of our continued long-term investments in Improving the
efficiency of our buldings fleet and travel despite growing significantly
asabusiness

This year across all of the sites that we have a degree of Influence over
we have decreased our emissions for electricity and gas For example
across our Scottish sites the new Building Management System {(BMS)
commissioned in July 2013 has allowed for hetter control and
monitoring and fed to reduced gas and electnical usage Overall
electneity use in Scotland has decreased by almost a third The twe
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biomass bollers installed this year have further decreased the gas
usage at these sites by about 70% Not just this but as the buldings
are working maore efficiently the need for the heat from the biomass
has subsequently reduced

We measure our CO,e emyssions in line with the greenhouse gas
protocol Qur total gross CO,e emissions includes all direct Greenhouse
Gas emissions Our net emissions take into account the renewable
energy procured from a renewable energy tanff with Scotush and
Southern Energy Group Scottish and Southemn retain on our behalf,
the Levy Exemption Certificates and Renewable Energy Guarantee of
Origin (REGOS) In addition we offset our total grass emissions through
the purchase of Voluntary Carbon Standard offsets Histoncal data s
recaleulated each year inine with the latest gudelines to Defra/DECCs
Greenhouse Gas Conversion Factors for Company Reporting and
restated accordingly Our CO,e emusstons datais independently
assured by Deloitte LLP

More information about ocur eavironmental targess and performance
can be found at skycom/higgerpicture

A table detaiing the emissions during the year s below

Total CO,e erissions (tCO, e)'

Baseline

2008/0% 201213 201314
Scope 12 20074 20860 20808
Fuel combusuon {natural
gas diesel and vehicles) 18453 20580 20350
Operation of facilities
(refrigerants) 1821 280 458
Scope 2? 85250 72028 74140
Purchased electrniaity net 15 347 4191 960
Purchased electnicity gross 85250 72008 74138
Purchased steam - 21 2
Total (Scope 1and 2) net
CO.e emissions (tCO ) 35621 25051 21768
Total (Scope 1and 2) gross
CO,e emissions {tCO.e) 105,524 02,889 94948

Carbon intensity (LCO,e/Em revenue)

Baselne
(2008/09) 2012n3 201314 Target
Carbon (ntensity 206 128 124
(tCQe)/Em
Reduction in gross -38 -40 -50
CO,e emissions
relative to revenue (%)
Notes.
1 2013M4 datas ndependently assured by Deloitte LLP and can be viewed onbne at
sky comibiggerpicture

2 Durect gragnhouse gas emissions
3 Indirect Greenhouse Gas emssions from consumption of purchased electnicity
heat or steam.

Governance - Drectors repaort and statutory discosures

Sigmificant agreements

The following significant agreements which were in force at 30 June 2014
take effect alter or termunate on a change of control of the Company

Premier League

In 2012 Briish Sky Broadcastng Limited (a Group subsidiary) entered
into an agreement (the “PL Licence™ with The Football Assocation
Premier League Limited (the "PL™) pursuant to which the Group was
awarded five of seven avallable packages of live audio-visual rights
for Premier League football (the seven packages are together the
"Live Packages") together consisting of 116 Iive matches per season
The PLwill not award Live Packages containing in the aggregate more
than 116 live matches per season to a single licensee (either onits
own or as part of a consortium or through one or more of its related
parties) (the *Single Buyer Rule™) Pursuant to the PL Licence the Pt
can suspend and/or terminate all of the nghts which are included in,
or exerasable as part of, Live Packages containing i the aggregate up
to 38 ive matches per seascn in the event that a change of control of
the Company cccurs at any time prior te the expiry of the PL Licence
which if it had occurred prior to the award of the Live Packages to
the Group would have resulted (n a breach of the Single Buyer Rule

Revoling Credit Facility

The Greup has a £743 milllon syndicated revolving credit facihity ("RCF*)
with amatunty date of 31 October 2018 In the event of a change of
control of the Company as a result of which both S&P and Moody's
downgrade the Company s credit rating below investment grade within
90 days thelenders canrequire any amounts outstanding under the
RCF to be repaid (other thanin the event that 2ist Century Fox or any
subsidiary or holding company thereof (or a subsidiary of such holding
company} acqusres such control)

21st Century Fox voting agreement

On 21 September 2005 the Company BSky8 Holdco Inc, 21st Century
Fox UK Nominees Limited and 215t Century Fox enteredinto a votng
agresment, pursuant to which 21st Century Fox UK Nominees Limited s
voung rights at any general meeting are capped at 3719% (the “Votng
Agreement”) The provisions of the Votng Agreement cease to apply
inter alia on a change of control of the Company

EMTN bond i1ssue

On 3 Aprii 2007 the Group established a ewrc medium term note
programme {the "EMTN Programme T} which prowdes the Groug with

a standardised docurmentation platform to allow for senior debt
Issuance in the Eurobond markets On 7 February 2014 the programme
was updated and expanded to become a global medium term note
programme (the “GMTN Programme”) The maximum potential
i1ssuance under the GMTN Programme s £2 5 billon On 14 May 2007
under the EMTN Programme the Company issued Eurcbeonds
consisting of E300 milkon guaranteed notes paying 6 000% interest
and maturning on 14 May 2027 (the "Notes™) Pursuant to the final terms
attaching to the Notes, the Comparny will be required to make an offer
to redeem or purchase its Notes at its prncipal amount plus interest
up to the date of redemption or repurchase If theres a change of
control of the Company (1) which If the Notes carry an investment
grade credit rating, resuits in a downgrade to a nen-investment grade
rating or a withdrawal of that rating or (1) where, if the Notes canry a
non-investment grace ratng, results in a downgrade by one or more
notches or awithdrawal of that nen-investment grade rating, or {n)
where If the Notes do not carry a credit rating, the Company does net
seck such arating or Is unable to achieve such a rating provided that
1n each case the decision to downgrade withdraw ar not to award a
credit rating ccours within a certain pened of time after the change
of control and the relevant rating agency ctes that such deasion(s)
resulted from the change of cantrot
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Directors’ report and statutory disclosures

(continued)

February 2008 November 2008 and November 2012 bond 1ssues

In February 2008 the Group entered into an indenture in respect of
V55750 mulion 6 100% senlor unsecured notes due 2018 In November
2008 the Group entered into an indenture in respect of USE600
rmillion 9 500% senior unsecured notes due 2018 In November 2012,
the Group updated the November 2008 indenture in respect of a
further issuance of US$800 milhon 3 125% senior unsecured notes
due November 2022 Pursuant to the final terms attaching to the
securities the Company will be required to make an offer to redeem
or purchase 1ts securities at a price equal to 101% of their principal
amount plus accrued and unpaid interest up to the date of
redemption or repurchase if there s a change of control of the
Campany (1) which if the secunities carry an investment grade credit
rating, results in a downgrade to a non-nvestment grade rating or
awithdrawal! of that ratng or (n} which If the secunties carry a
non-investment grade ratng, results In a downgrade by one or more
notches or awithdrawal of that nan-nvestment grade rating, or (u)
where if the secunties do not carry a credit rating, the Company does
not seek such a rating or 1s unable to achieve such arating provided
that In each case the deasron to downgrade withdraw or not 1o award
a credit rating occurs within a certawn penod of tme after the change
of control and the relevant rating agency cites that such decsion(s)
resulted from the change of control

UK broadcasting icences

The Group 1s party to a number of Ofcom broadcasting hcences

for the broadcast of the Sky Channels The Broadcasting Act1990

(as amended by the Broadcasting Act 1996 and the Communications
Act) lays down a number of restnctions on those parties permmitted

to hold Ofcom broadcasting icences Among those restncted from
hetding Ofcom broadcasting licences or from controling alicensed
company are (a) kecal authonties (b) political bodies {(¢) rehgious
bodies (d) any company contrelled by any of the previous categonies or
by their officers or associates (&) advertising agencies or any company
controlled by such an agency or in which It holds more than a 5%
interest Licensees have an ongaing obligation to comply with these
ownership restrictions Failure by a icensee to do so {(either by the
licensee becoming a "disqualified person” or any change affecting the
nature charactenstcs or control of the licensee which would have
precluded the onginal grant of the licence) may constitute a breach of
the licence and if not rectified could result in revocation of the licence

Ofcom also has a duty under the Broadcasting Acts to be satisfied
that any persen holding a broadcasting licence 1s fit and proper to
hold those hcences and may revoke those licances If i ceases to be
so satisfied

Financial instruments

Detalls of the Group's use of financial Instruments together with
information on our financial sk management objectives and polictes
and our exposure to financial nsks can be foundin note 22 to the
consolidated financal statements

Political contributions

Palitical contributions of the Group in the UK dunng 2014 amounted
to nul (2013 nil)

Branches

The Group through various subsidianes has establshed branches
In a number of different junsdictions in which the business operates

Going concern

The Group s business actities, together with the factors ikely to
affectits future development, performance and position are set out
in the Strategic report on pages 2 to 45 The financial pesition of
the Group its cash flows and iguidity position are described in the
finanoial review on pages 36 to 38 In addition notes 20 to 22 to the
consolidated finanoial statements include details of the Groups
treasury activities, long-term funding arrangements financial
instruments and hedging activities and exposure to financal risk

As set out above the Group has sufficent financial resources which
together with internally generated cash flows, will continue to provide
sufficient sources of iquidity to Fund its current operations Including
Its contractual and commeraal commitments as set cut on pages 123
ta 124 1ts approved capital expenditure and any proposed dividends
and the Group s weli placed to manage its business risks successfully,
despite the current econamic autlock

After making enquines the Directors have formed the judgement,
at the time of approving the consohdated financial statements that
there is a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate
resources to contihue In operational existence for the foreseeable
future For thisreason the Directors continue to adopt the going
concern basis in preparing the tonsolidated financial statements

Discdlosure of information to auditors

In accordance wmith the provisions of section 418 of the Comparites Act
2006, each of the persons who are Directors of the Company at the
date of approval of this report confirms that

+ so far as the Drector s aware thereis no relevant audit infarmation
(as defined in the Companies Act 2006) of which the Company's
auditor s unaware and

the Director has taken all the steps that hefshe ought to have taken
as a Director to make himself/herself aware of any relevant audit
information {as defined) and to establsh that the Company’s
auditor 1s aware of that infermation

Auditors

Deloitte LLP the auditors of the Company have expressed their
willingness to conbinue in office A resolution to reappoint them

as the Company's auditors and to authanse the Directors to determine
ther remuneration will be propased at the forthcoming AGM

Annual General Meeting

The venue and trming of the Company’s 2014 AGMis detailed in the
notice canvening the AGM which will be avallable for dowrload from
the Company's corporate website at sky com/jcarporate

By order of the Board C-":"i:;\? "\/

Chns Taylor
Company Secretary

25 July 2014
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Statement of Directors

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report
and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law
and regulations

Company law requires the Directars to prepare financial statemeants
for each finangal year Under that law the Directors are required

to prepare the Group financial statements in accordance with
international Finanaal Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by
the European Uruon and Article 4 of the 1AS Regulat:on and have also
chosen to prepare the parent Company financial statements under
IFRSs as adopted by the EU Under Company law the Directors must
not approve the accounts unless they are satisfied that they give

a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Compary and of

the profit or loss of the Company for that perod In prepanng these
finanoal statements International Accounting Standard 1 requires
that Directors

-

properly select and apply accounting policies

present infermation induding accounting policies inamanner
that prowides relevant, reliable comparable and understandabte
mformatien

provide additional disclosures when complance with the speafic
requirements in IFRSs are insufficent to enable users to understand
the impact of particular transactions other events and conditions
on the entity’s financial position and financial performance and

make an assessment of the Company's ability to continue
as agoing congern

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting
records that are sufficient to show and explarn the Company s
transactions and disclosewsth reasonable accuracy at any time

the financ:al position of the Company and enable them to ensure

that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006
They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company
and hence for taking reascnable steps for the prevention and
detection of fraud and other rregularities

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integnty of
the corporate and finanaal information included on the Company s
website Legislationin the United Kingdom goverrung the preparation
and disserunation of financal statements may differ from legislation
in other jutisdictions

Rnancial statements - Statement of Dxrectors’ rasponsibiities

responsibilities

Directors responsibility statement
The Directors confirm that to the best of ther knowledge

¥ The financial statements, prepared In accordance with IFRSs
give a true and fair view of the assets labiliues, financal position
and profit of loss of the Company and the undertakings included
1n the consolidation taken as a whole

2 The strategic reportincudes a fair review of the development
and performance of the business and the position of the Company
and the undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whole
together with a description of the pnnaipal risks and uncertainties
that they face and

3 The Annual Repert and financtal statements taken as a whole
are fair balanced and understandable and provide the information
necessary for shareholders to assess the Company’s performance
business model and strategy

8y order of the Board

Jeremy Darroch Andrew Griffith

Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer
25 July 2014
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Financlal statements - independent Auditor's report

Independent Auditor’s report

Independent auditor's report to the members
of British Sky Broadcasting Group plc

Opirion on the financial statements of Bntish Sky Broadcasting
Group plc

In our opinion the consolidated and Parent Company finanaal
statements of Bntish Sky Broadcastung Group plc

+ gve atrueand fair view of the state of the Group s and Parent
Company’s affairs as at 30 June 2014 and of their profit for the
year then ended

have been properly prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the
European Union, and

have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the
Companies Act 2006 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation as regards
the consolidated financial statements

The consehdated financial statements comprise the consolidated
and company income statements the consolidated and company
statements of comprehensive Income the consolidated and company
batance sheets the consoldated and company cash flow statements
the consoldated and company statements of changes in equity

and the related notes 1 to 31 The financial reporung framewark

that has been applied in therr preparation is applicable law and

IFRSs as adopted by the European Union

Qur assessment of risks significant to our audit

Separate opinion in relation ta IFRSs as issued by the IASB

As explained in note 1 to the consclidated finanaal statements

tn addition to complying with its legal obligation to apply IFRSs as
adopted by the European Union the Group has also applied IFRSs
asissued by the International Accounting Standards Boand (LASB)

In our opirion the consolidated financial statements complywith
IFRSs asissued by the IASB

Guing Concern

As required by the Listing Rules we have reviewed the Directors.
statement on page 80 that the Group 1s a going concem
We confirm that

« we have not identified matenial uncertainties related to events
or conditions that may cast sigrficant doubt on the Group's
ability to continue as a going concem and

we have concluded the Director s use of the going concern basis
of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements to
be appropnate

However because not all future events or conditions can be predicted
this statement s not a guarantee as to the Group's ability to continue
as a going concern

There has been no significant change in the Group s operations nor in our assessment of matenality therefore the assessed risks of matenal
misstatement descnbed below which are those that had the greatest effect on the audit strategy the allocation of resources in the audit,
and directing the efforts of the engagement team are the same nsks as in the prior year

Risk

How the scope of our audit responded to the risk

Revenue recognition

The allocation of retail subscription revenue to each element of a bundled

transaction requires judgement as descnibed in the Groups cnuical
accounting policies and the use of jJudgement on page 95

The risk Is that inappropnate allocations could lead to non-compliance

with accounting standards and inappropriate acceleration or deferral
of revenue principally far new customers

We evaluated management s revenue recognition policy and
assessment in respect of accounting for bundled transactions
against relevant accounting standards and guidance and tested
the iImptementation of the policy

Qur procedures nduded understanding and tesung the operating
effectiveness of controls in respect of the Group s bilhng, viewing and
customer relationship management systems and the reconaliatron
processes between these systems and with the general ledger
accounting system We also performed substantive analytical
procedures over retall subscription revenue streams

A2 Bntsh Sky Broadcasting Group ple
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Risk

How the scope of our audrt responded to the risk

General entertainment programiming

Determining the timing and amount of the recognition of general
entertamment programming expense requires judgement as set out in the
Group s eritical accounting policies and the use of judgement on page 6

The nsk identified 1s that the policy selected and applied by management
to expense general entertainment programming does not recognise the
cost of iInventoryn ine with the expected value from each broadcast

We examined the amortisaton method for generat entertainment
programminginventory taking into account the diffenng genres
of programmes wviewing profiles and industry benchmarks

Qur procedures included

* Benchmarking management s policy against Industry practice

Testing the design and implementation of controls over the
additton and amortisation of general entertanment programming

Companng amortisation profdes against viewing trends from
independent source data

Performing sensitivity analyses to understand the impact
of selecting alternative amortisation profiles

Considering the iImpact the impact of entertainment programming
onbrand value customer acquisition and churn and

Evaluating the results of our analysis on both a programme genre
and channel bas:s

Capital expenditure

The assessment and uming of whether assets meet the capitalisation
crtena set out in I1AS 16 Property Plant and Equipment and IAS 38
Intangible Assets requires judgement as well as the selection of
appropriate useful economic lives as set out in the Groups cntical
accounting policies and the use of judgement on page 95 In addition
determirung whether there 1s any indication of impairment of the
carrying value of assets also reguires jJudgement

As capital expenditure represents a maternal cost for the group there
1s ansk that expenditure onintangible and tangible non-current assets
1s iInappropriately capitalised against relevant accounting guidance

and that assets are not recoverable at their carrying value

We tested operaung effectveness of controis in respect of the
capitahsation of assets and examined carrying values for impairment

We tested allmatenal and a sample of other capital expenditure
projects and exammed management s assessment as to whether the
project spend met the recognition cntena set forth in IAS 16 Property
Plant and Equipment and JAS 38 Intangible Assets Our procedures
included understanding the business case for each project challenging
any core assumptions or esurmates verfying capital project
authonsation, traong project costs to thard-party evidence and
assessing the useful economic iife attnbuted to the asset

In addition, we censidered whether any indicators of Impairment were
present by understanding the business raticnale for each project and
performing independent reviews for indicators of imparrment, as well
as testing management s controls to identfy tmparrment of assets

We reported to the Audit Committee that our audit work on these nsks was concluded satisfactonly and their own consideration of these risks

15 set out on page 54

Our audit procedures relating to these matters were designed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole within the context
of our assessment of matenaity as descnibed below and not to express an cpinion on indiidual audit nsks indvidual items or disclosures in the
financial statements Qur opinion on the financial statements is not modified with respect to any of the key risks described above and we do not

express an opinon on these iIndwvidual matters
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Financial statements ~ independent ALditors report.

Independent Auditor’s report

(continued)

Qur assessment of matenality

We define matenality as the magnitude of musstatement that makes

it probable that the economic decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable

person relying on the financial statements, would be changed or
influenced We use matenality in both planning the scope of our
audit work and In evaluating the results of our work

We determined matenality for the Group to be £50 milion (2013

£50 milkon) which ts approximately 4% (2013 4%) of adjusted pre-tax
profit, 5% (2013 5%) of equity and 5% (2013 4%) of statutory profit
before taxation

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to

the Committee all audit differences in excess of £2 5 milion (2013
£2 5 million), as well as differences below that threshold that in our
view warranted reporting on qualitative grounds We also report
ta the Audit Committee any significant disclosure matters that we
identify when assessing the overall presentation of the financial
statements We confirmed to the Audit Committee that we had

no significant disclosure matters to report

An overview of the scope of our audit

Our audit scope focused on the Group s UK and Ireland operations
which were subject to a full scope audit for the year ended 30 June
2014 Qur audht scope encompasses all pnnapal business units

of the Group and substantially all of the Group s assets, revenue
and gperating profit All audit work was performed by the group
audit team

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opirion

- theinformaticn given in the Strategic report and the Directars
Report for the finanoal year for which the financial statements
are prepared i1s consistent with the financial statements, and

the part of the Directors Remuneration Report to be audited
has been properly prepared in accordance with the Compantes
Act 2006

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

Adequacy of explanations received and accounting records
Undler the Companies Act 2006 we are required Lo report to you If,
1N QUr OpENIoN

» we have not recerved all the information and explanations we
require for cur audit. or

adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Parent
Company or returns adequate for our audhit have not been receved
from branches hot visited by us or

the Parent Company financial statements are not in agreement
with the accounting records and returns

We have nothing to repart in respect of these matters

Directors’ remuneration

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are alsa required to report if, in our
opinion, certain diselosures of Directors remuneration have not been
made or the part of the Directars Remuneration Report to be audited
15 not In agreement with the accounting records and returns We have
nothing to report ansing from these matters

Corporate Governance Statement

Under the Listing Rules we are also required to review the part of
the Carporate Gavernance Statement relating to the Company's
compliance with nine prowvisions of the UK Corporate Governance
Code We havenothing to report ansing from our review

Our duty to read other Information in the Annual Report
Under the international Standards on Auditing (UK and lreland)
we are required to report to you if in our opinion infarmation in
the Annual Report1s

matenally inconsistent with the informationin the audited
financial statements or

apparently materally incorrect based on, or maternally inconsistent
with, cur knowledge of the Group acquired in the course of
performing our audit, or

= otherwse misleading

In particular we are required to consider whether we have identfied
any Inconsistenaes between our knowledge acquired dunng the audit
and the Directors statement that they consider the annual repert

1s far balanced and understandable and whether the annual report
appropriately discloses those matters that we communicated to

the Audit Committee which we consider should have been disclosed
We confirm that we have natidenufied any such inconsistencies or
misleading statements
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Respective responsibilities of Directors and Auditor

Responsibility of Directors for the finandal statements

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors responsibilities
set out on page B1 the Directors are respensible for the adeguacy of
the accounting records, the preparation of the financial statements
from those records and for being satrsfied that the financial
statements give a true and fair view

Auditor's responsibility

Qur responsibility 1s to audit and express an opimen on the finanaal
statements In accordance with applicable law and International
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) Those standards require

us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board s Ethical Standards
for Auditors We confirm that, in our professional jJudgement,

we are independent within the meaning of those standards and

our objectivity 1S not compromised We also comply with International
Standard on Quality Control 1 (UK and Ireland) Qur audit methodology
and tools aim to ensure that our quality contral procedures are
effective understood and applied Our quality contrals and
systems induce our dedicated professional standards review

team strategically focused second partner reviews and
independent partner reviews

This report 1s made solely to the Company's members as a body

In accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006
OQur audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the
Company s members those matters we are required to state tothem
In an auditor's report and for no other purpose To the fullest extent
permitted by law we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone
other than the Company and the Company’s members as a body

for our audit work for this report or for the opinions we have formed

Scope of the audit of the financal statements

An audit invalves obtaining evidence about the amounts and
disclosures In the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable
assurance that the finanaal statements are free from matenal
misstatement whether caused by fraud or error This Includes an
assessment of whether the accounting policies are appropnate to
the Group s areumstances and have been consistently apphed and
adequately disciosed the reasonableness of significant accounting
estimates made by the directors and the overall presentation of
the financial statements In addition we read all the financial and
non-finanaial information in the Annual Report to identify materntal
Inconsistenaies with the audited finangal statements and todentify
any informatron that 1s apparently matenally incorrect based on

or matenally inconsistent with the knowledge acqured by us in the
course of performing the audit If we become aware of any apparent
material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the
imphcations for our report.

Will:am Touche
{Senier Statutory Auditor) for and on behalf of
Deloitte LLP Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditor

Londen —— —
United Kingdom w
25 July 2004 E ;

Financial statements - independent Audiiors report.
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Finanoal statements - Consobdated financial statements

Consolidated financial statements

Consohdated income statement
for the year ended 30 June 2014

2014 2013
Notes £m £m
Revenue 2 7632 7235
Operating expense 3 (647 (5944)
Operating profit 1161 129
Share of results of joint ventures and associates 13 35 46
Investmentincome 4 26 28
Finance costs 4 Q40) (108)
Profit before tax 5 1082 1257
Taxation 7 (217} (278)
Profit for the year attributable to equity shareholders of the parent company B&S 978
Earnings per share from profit for the year (iIn pence)
Basic 8 554p 607p
Culuted 8 54 9p 59 7p
The accompanying notes are an integral part of this consolidated income statement
All results relate to continuing cperations
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 30 June 2014
2014 2013
£m £m
Profit for the year attnbutable to eguity shareholders of the parent company 265 979
Other comprehensive Income
Amounts recognised directly in equity that may subsequently be recycled to the income statement
Gain on revaluation of available-for-sale iInvestments 104 186
Loss on cash flow hedges (1763 27)
Tax on cash flow hedges 39 7
(33) 166
Amounts reclassified and reported in the income statement.
Gain (loss) on cash flow hedges 137 (48)
Tax on cash flow hedges (31) il
106 [€)))
Other comprehensive income for the year (net of tax) 73 125
‘Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to equity shareho!ders of the parent company 938 1108

All results relate to continuing operations

86  BntishSky Broadeastng Group pic




Annual Report 204
Financial statements - Consolilated financial staternends

Consolidated balance sheet

as at 30 June 2004
2014 2013
Notes £m £m
Non-current assets
Goodwll 10 1019 o999
Intangeble assets 1 810 Fal:]
Property plant and equiprment 12 1088 1041
Investments in jont ventures and associates 12 173 164
Avallable-for-sale investments 14 £33 422
Deferred tax assets 15 3 38
Programme distribution nghts 16 20 17
Trade and other recenvables 17 7 17
Denvative financial assets 21 195 360
3876 3776
Current assets
Inventones 16 546 548
Trade and other receivables 17 635 591
Short-term deposits 21 295 595
Cash and cash equivalents 2 1082 815
Derivative finanoial assets 21 15 20
2573 2569
Total assets 6449 6,345
Currenthabiities
Borrowings 20 n 1
Trade and other payables 18 2286 2023
Current tax labiites 128 176
Provisions 19 48 94
Derivative financial habilities 2 a8 13
2519 2,317
Non-current habilities
Borrowangs 20 2658 2509
Trade and other payables 18 56 63
Prowsions 19 14 14
Bervauve financial kabihiues 21 129 29
Deferred tax habiktes 15 1 1
2858 306
Total liabilities 5377 5333
Share capital 23 781 797
Share premium 24 1437 1437
Reserves 24 (146) 0223
Total equity attributable to equity shareholders of the paremt company 24 1,072 1012
Total habilities and shareholders equity 6,449 6,345

The accompanying notes are anintegral part of this consolidated balance sheet
These consohdated finanaal statements of British Sky Broadcasting Group plc, registered number 02247735 have been approved and authonsed
for issue by the Board of Directors on 25 July 2014 and were signed on its behalf by

Jeremy Darroch Andrew Griffith
hief Executive Officer Chief Fingncial
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Finanaal statements - Consokd fenandal st ts

Consolidated financial statements

(continued)

Consolidated cash flow statement
for the year ended 30 June 2014

2014 2013

Notes £m Em
Cash flows from operating actvties
Cash generated from operations 25 1768 1877
Interest receved and dmvidends from avallable-for-sale investments 27 29
Taxation paid (240) {300
Net cash from operating activities 1,556 1606
Cash flows from investing actiaties
Dindends receved from joint ventures and associates 32 43
Net funding to Joint ventures and assccates 6) [CH]
Proceeds on disposal of an iInvestment - 4
Purchase of property plant and equpment (247) (203)
Purchase of Intangible assets {302) (251)
Purchase of subsidianes (net of cash and cash eguivalents purchased) 20} (197)
Purchase of available-for-sale investments @ )]
Decreasen short-term deposits 300 ns
Net cash used in investing actnities (244) (502)
Cash flows from financing activities
Net proceeds from borrowings - 498
Repayment of obligations under finance leases 4) W
Proceeds from disposal of shares in Employee Share Ownership Plan ("ESCP") U 15
Purchase of own shares for ESOP (164) (69)
Purchase of own shares for cancellation (266) ©27)
Interest paid 037 {128)
Dividends paid to shareholders (485) (441
Net cash used in finanang activities (1045) 753)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 267 35t
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year B8i15 464
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 1082 815

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this consohdated cash flow statement.

"
-l
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 30 June 2014

Anancial statements - Consolidtated financml statements

Total

Avallable- share-

Share Share ESOP Hedgtng for-sale Other Retained holders

capltal premium reserve reserve reserve reserves eamings equlty

Em £m Em Em Em £m Em £m

At1July 2012 837 1,437 ) 68 165 399 (1.850) 044

Prafit for the year - - - - - - 979 979

Revaluation of avatlable-for-sale investments - - - - 186 - - 186
Recognition and transfer of cash flow hedges - - - (75) - - - (75)

Tax on items taken chrecty to equity - - - 18 - - - 18

Total comprehensive income For the year - - - (57) 186 - 979 1108

Share-based payment - - (35) - - - 6l 25

Tax on items taken directly to equity - - - - - - 1 8

Share buy-back prograrnme (See note 24)

- Purchase of own shares for cancellation e - - - - 40 &17) &17)
- Financal hability for close penod purchases - - - - - - (16) (18)
Dradends - - - - - - [441) (441)

At 30 June 2013 757 1437 (147 1 351 439 {1876) 1012

Profit for the year - - - - - - B&S 865

Revaluation of avalable-for-sale investments - - - - 104 - - 104
Recognition and transfer of cash flow hedges - - - (3% - - - (39

Tax onitems taken directly to equity - - - 8 - - - 8

Total comprehensive income for the year - - - [€l)] 104 - 865 938
Share-based payment - - 2 - - - (95) (93)

Tax on items taken directly to equity - - - - - - 9 9

Share buy-back programme (see nate 24)

- Purchase of own shares for cancellation 06) - - - - 16 (250} (250}
- Financial hability for close period purchases - - - - - - (55) (59}
Omdends - - - - - - (485) (485)

At 30 June 2014 78 1437 (45 (20) 455 455 {1,891) 1,072

For a description of the nature and purpose of each equity reserve see note 24

The accompanying notes are anintegral part of this consolidated statement of changes in equity
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Finanaial statements - Notes to the consokdated finanoal statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

1 Accounting policies

Bntish Sky Broadcasting Group ple (the "Campany”) s a public limited
company incorporated in the Umited Kingdom ("UK”) and registered in
England and Wales The consohdated financial statements include the
Company and 1ts subsidianes (together the "Group”) and 1ts interests
tn assocates and jointly-contrelled entities

@) Statement of compliance

The conschdated financal statements have been preparedin
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
("IFRS™) as adopted by the Eurapean Union ("EU ) the Companies
Act 2006 and Article 4 of the International Accounting Standard
(’IAS™) Regulaticns in addition the Group aisc comphed with IFRS
asissued by the International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB*)

b) Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis {as set out in the Directors Report) and on an histoncal
cost basis except for the remeasurement to fair value of certain
financial assets and habilites as descrbed in the accounting policies
below The Group has adopted the new accounting pronouncements
which became effective this year none of which had any significant
impact on the Group s results or finangial position This ncludes the
adoption of IFRS 10 "Consohdated Financial Statements” IFRS 11

“Jont Arrangements” IFRS 12, "Disclosure of interests in Other Entities”
amendments to 1AS 2B “Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures®
and IFRS 13 "Fair Value Measurement” where adoption on t July 2013

1s considered to be early adoption for the purposes of complying with
IFRS as endorsed by the European Union

The Group maintains a 52 or 53 week fiscal year ending on the Sunday
nearest to 30 June in each year in fiscal year 2014, this date was 29
June 2014 this being a 52 week year (fiscal year 2013 30 June 2013

52 week year} For convenience purposes the Group continues to date
1ts consolidated financial statements as at 30 June andto refer to the
accounting penod as a “year” for reporting purposes The Group has
classified assets and lrabilities as current when they are expected

to be realised In, or intended for sale or consumption In, the normal
operating cycle of the Group

c) Basis of consohdation

i Subsichanes

Subsidianes are entiies controlled by the Company Control is
achieved where the Company has existing nghts that give it the
current ability to direct the activities that affect the Company’s
returns and exposure or rights to vanable returns from the entity
Subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements
of the Company from the date control of the subsidiary commences
until the date that control ceases intra-group halances and

any unrealised gains and losses orincome and expenses ansing
from Intragroup transactions are eiminated in preparing the
consohdated financial statements

n Associates and joint ventures

Associates are entitses where the Group has signficant influence
but not control or jont control over the relevant actvitees of the
entity Joint ventures are joint arrangements whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have nghts to the net
assets of the arrangement

These consolidated financial statements inchude the Group s share of
the total recognised gains and losses of assooates and joint ventures
using the equity method from the date that significant influence or
joint control commences to the date that it ceases based on present
ownership interests and excluding the possible exercise of potentsal
voting rights (ess any imparment losses (see accounting policy 1)
When the Groups Interest In an assocate or Jont venture has been
reduced to nil because the Group s share of losses exceeds |ts Interest
I the associate or joint venture the Group only provides for additional
losses to the extent that it has incurred legal or constructive obligations
to fund such losses or where the Group has made payments on behalf
of the associate or joint venture Where the disposal of an nvestment
In an associate or joint venture 1s considered to be highly probable the
Investment ceases to be equity accounted and instead 1s dassified
as held for saleand stated at the lower of carrying amount and fair
value less costs to sell

d) Goodwall

Business combinations that have occurred since 1 July 2004 the
date of transition ta [FRS {the *Transiion Date”) are accolnted for by
applying the acquisition method of accounting Following this method
goodwill ts initially recognised on conselidation representing the
difference between the far value cost of the business combination
and the fair value of the identifiable assets labilities and conungent
assets and habilties assumed

In respect of bus.ness combinations that occurred prior to the Transition
Date goodwll has been included at the amounts recognised under
the Group s UK Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (*UK GAAP™)
accounting polices on the Transition Date Cn disposal of a subsidiary
asscoate or joint venture the attnbutable amount of goodwillis
included in the determination of profit or loss on disposal except for
goodwll written of f to reserves under UK GAAP prior to the Transition
Date which 15 not reinstated and 1s net included in determining

any subseguent gain or loss on disposal

Goodwill is stated at cost less anyimparrment lesses and 1s tested

at least annually for imparment based on the recoverable amounts
of the cash generating unit to which the goodwill has been allocated
Any Impairment identified 1s recogrised immediately in the iIncome
statement ands not subsequently reversed The carrying amount of
goodwill in respect of assoaates and joint ventures 1s inciuded in the
carrying amount of the investment in the assocate or joint venture
Goodwill1s tested for imparment in ine with accountung pokicy | below

&) Intangible assets and property plant and equipment ("PPE™)

1 Intangible assets

Research expenditure Is recognised in operating expense in the
income statement as the expenditure s incurred Development
expenditure (relating to the application of research knowledge te
plan or design new ar substantially improved products for sate or

use within the business) 1s recogrused as an ntangible asset from

the point at which the Group has the intention and ability to generate
probable future economic benefits from the development expenditure
that the development 1s technicatly feastble and that the subsequent
expenditure can be measured rellably Any other development
expenditure 15 recognised in operating expense as incurred

Otherintangble assets which are acquired by the Group separately
or through a business combination are initially stated at cost or faw
value respectively less accumulated amertisation and impairment
losses other than those that are classified as held for sale which are
stated at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell
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Amortisation of an intangible asset begins when the asset 15 avalable
for use and s chargad to the income statement through operating
expense on a straight-line basis over the intangible asset s estimated
usefulife principally being a pencd between 1 and 25 years unless
the asset ife is jJudged te beindefinite During the year the Group
revised the estimated useful ife of certain Intangible assets The
revisions were accounted for prospectively as a change in accounting
estimate and as aresult the amortisation charge in the current year
has decreased by £24 milhon if the useful life\s indefinike or the
asset 15 not yet avatlable for use no amortisation 1s charged and

an impairment test 1s carned out at least annually Other intangbte
assets are tested for impairment in ine with accounting pohicy 1 below

I Property, plant and equipment

Owned PPE 1s stated at cost, net of accumutated depreciation and
any impairment losses (see accounting policy 1), other than those
items that are classified as held for sale which are stated at the lower
of carrying ameunt and fair value less costs to sell When an item of
PPE compnises major components having different useful economic
ives the components are accounted for as separate itams of PPE

Assets held under finance leases which confer nghts and obligations
similar to those attached to owned assets, are treated as PPE
(see accounbing polcy n)

The cost of PPE less estunated residual value 1s depreciated in
operating expense on a strarght-ine basis over its estimated useful
Iife Land and assets that are not yet available for use are not
depreciated Pnnapal useful econormc lives used for this purpose are

» Freehold buldings 25 to 40 years

+ Equipment, furniture and fixtures  3tc 20years

+ Assets under finance leasesand  Lesser of lease term and the
leasehold improvements useful economic ife of the asset

Barromng costs directly attnbutable to the acguisiion construction
or production of qualifying assets which are assets that necessanly
take a substanual period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale are added to the cost of those assets untif such time as the
assets are substantially ready for ther intended use or sale

To the extent that the finanang for a qualifying asset 1s part of
the Group s general borrowings thenterest cost 1o be capitaksed
15 calcutated based upon the weighted average cost of borrowing
to the Group (excuding the interest on any borrowings specific

to any qualifying assets} Ths 1s then applied to the expenditures
on the asset,

All other borrowing costs are recogrised in profit of loss in the
period to which they refate

f) Derivative financial instrurnents and hedging activiues

The Group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge its
exposure to fluctuations inmterest and foreign exchange rates

Derivatives are held at fair value from the date on which a denvative
contract is entered into Farr value s defined as the price that would
be recerved to sell an asset or paid to transfer akability in an orderty
transaction between market parucipants at the measurement
date under IFRS 13 “Fair Value Measurement” The Group calculates
a separate credit valuation adustment ("CvA™) er debit valuation
adjustment ("DVA) for each denvative based upon the net pasition
for each counterparty relatronshup The Group calculates the CVA
wherethas anet asset position using a quoted credit default swap

Financia statements - Notes to the Consolidated financial statements

curve for the counterparty and calculates the DVA where it has a

net lability position using an industry proxy cradit default swap
curve for the Group The far vatue of dervative finangal instruments
15 calculated by discounting future cash flows with reference to the
benchmark Libor curve adjusted by the relevant credit default swap
curve Certam derrvatives held by the Group whuch relate te highly
probable forecast transactions ("hedged items™} which meet
quahfying critena under IAS 39 “Finandal Instruments Recogrition
and Measurement” ("1AS 39") are designated as cash flow hedges

or farr value hedges and are subyect to cash flow hedge accounting
or far value hedge accounting respectively Certain ather denvatives
held by the Group do not meet the qualifying cnitena for recognition
for accounting purposes as hedges despite this being their economic
function Changes in the farr values of these dervatves are recognised
immediatety in the Income statement The Group does not hold or
1ssue denvatives for speculative purposes

| Denvatives that qualify for cash flow hedge accounting

Changes in the far values of derivatives that are designated as cash
flow hedges (“cash flow hedging instruments™) are trutially recogrused
in the hedging reserve In arcumstances in which the denvative used
13 & currency option only changes in the intnnsic value of the option
are designated under the cash flowhedging relationship, wath all other
maovements being recorded immedately in the income statement.
Amounts accumuiated in the hedging reserve are subsequently
recogmsed in the Income staternent in the penods in which the
related hedged tems are recognised in the income staterment

At inception the effectiveness of the Group s cash flow hedges s
assessed through a companson of the principal terms of the hedgng
instrumnent and the underhang hedged item The engoing effectiveness
of the Group's cash flow hedges s assessed using the dollar-offset.
approach with the expected cash flows of hedging instrurments being
compared to the expected cash flows of the hedged items This
assessment (s ysed to demonstrate that each hedge relationship 1s
expected to be highty effective oninception has been highly effective
In the period and (s expected to continue to be highly effective in
future penads The measurement of hedge ineffectiveness for the
Greups hedging instrumentsis calculated using the hypothetical
denvative method with the fair values of the hedging instruments
being compared to those of the hypothetical dervative that would
result In the designated cash Flow hedge achieving perfect hedge
effectiveness The excess of the cumulative change in the fair value of
theactual hedging instrument compared to that of the hypothetical
denvative 15 deemed to be hedge ineffectiveniess which s recogised
in the iIncome statement.

The Group uses a range of 80% to 125% for hedge effectiveness

1 accordance with IAS 39 and any relattonship which has effactiveness
outside this range 1s deemed to be ineffective and hedge accounting
15 suspended

When a cash flow hedging instrument expires is terminated oris
exercised orif ahedge nolonger meets the quatfying critena for
hedge accounting any cumulative gan or loss existing In the hedging
reserve at that tirmne remamns in the hedging reserve and is recognised
when the forecast transaction s ultimately recognised in the income
statement provided that the underlying transaction s stil expected
to occur When a Forecast transaction s no longer expected to occur
the cumutative gain or loss that was reported in the hedging reserve
1s immediately recognised in the income statement and all future
changes in the fair value of the cash flow hedging instruments
areimmediately recognised in the income statement.
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Financial statements - Notes to the consokdated financal statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

(continued)

1 Accounting policies (continued)

1i Perlvatives that qualify for Fair value hedge accounting

The Group has designated certain denvatives as farr value hedges

as defined under 1AS 39 Any changes in the fair value of the denvatives
are recogmsed immediately In the ncome statement The carrying
values of the underlying hedged items are adjusted for the change In
the fair value of the hedged risks with the gains or lossesrecognised
immediately in the income statement, offsetting the fair value
movement on the denvative

Prospective effectiveness is assessed quarterly through a comparison
of the pnncipal terms of the hedging Instrument and the underlying
hedged item including the likelihood of default by the denvatve
caunterparty The retrospaective effectiveness of the Group s farr
value hedges is calculated quarterly using the cumulative dollar-offset
approach, with movements in the fair value of the hedgeditem being
compared to movements in the fair value of the hedginginstrument

The Group uses a range of 80% to 125% for hedge effectiveness and
any relationship which has effectiveness outside this range 1s deemed
to be ineffective and hedge accounting 1s suspended

i Embedded denvatives

Dervatives embedded in other financial iInstruments or other host
contracts are treated as separate dernvatives when their nsks and
¢haractenstics are not dosely related to those of the host contracts
and the host contracts are not carned at far value with unreahised
gains or losses reported In the iIncome statement Embedded
denvatives are carried on the balance sheet at farr value from the
inception of the host contract Changes in fair value are recognised
within the income statement duning the pernod in which they anse

g)Inventories

i Acquired and commissioned television programme inventones

for broadcast

Programme Inventories for broadcast are stated at the lower of cost
and net reahsable value "NRv™) induding where applicable estimated
subscriber escalation payments and net of the accumulated expense
charged to the Incorne statement to date

Such programming rights are included as nventornies when the legally
enforceablelcence penodcommences and allof the following conditions
have been met (a) the cost of each programme ts known or reasonably
determinable (b) the programme matenal has been accepted by the
Group in accordance with the conditions of the rights and () the
programme s avalable for its first showing Pror to being induded

In inventones, the programming rights are classified as television
programme nghts not yet available for transmission and not recorded
as inventores on the Group s balance sheet and are instead disclosed
as contractual commitments (see note 26) Payments made upon
receipt of commissioned and acquired programming butin advance
of the legal nght to broadcast the programmes are treated

as prepayments

The cost of televsion programme Inventores is recognised
in the operating expense line of the Income statement, pnmanly
as descnibed below

+ Sports - 100%of the cost 1s recognised in the income statement
on the first broadcast ar, where the nghts are for multiple seasons
or competitions such nghts are prnopally recognised on
a straight-line basis across the seasons or competitions

* News - 100%of the cost s recogrused in the iIncome statement
on first broadcast

« Movies - The cost 1s recogrised In the income statermnent
on astraight-ine basis over the penod of broadcast nghts

- General entertainment - The cost 1s recognised in the income
statement based on the expected value of each planned broadcast,

Where programme broadcast rights are surplus to the Groups
requirements, and ne gain s anticipated through a dispasal of

the rights or where the programmuing wili nct be broadcast for

any other reason a write-down to the income statement 1S made
Any reversals of inventory wrte-downs are recogrised as reductions
n operating expense

i Programme distnbution rights

Programme distribution rights are valued at the lower of cost
and NRY net of the accumulated expense charged to the income
statement to date

The cost of the pregramme distribution nghts is recogrised In
the operating expense line of the Income statement on an ulumate
revenue forecast basis

w Set-top boxes routers and related equipment

Set-top baxes routers and related equipment are valued at the
lower of cost and NRV the latter of which reflects the value that
the business expects to realise from the set-top boxes and related
equipment in the hands of the customer and are recognised through
the operating expense line of the Income statement Any subsidy
15 expensed on enablement, which 1s the process of activating

the viewing card duning installation so as to enable a viewer to
view encrypted broadeast services and effectively represents

the completion of the installation process for new customers

The amount recognised in theincome statement ts determined on
aweighted average cost basis in accordance with I1AS 2 “Inventory™

w Raw matenals, consumables and goods held for resale

Raw materals consumabiles and goods held for resale are valued

at the lower of cost and NRV The cost of raw matenals consumables
and goods held for resale i1s recognised through the operating expense
line of the ncome statement on a first-n-first-out basis

h) Financial assets and habihies

Financial assets and liabilities are initially recognised at fair value

plus any directly attnbutable transaction costs At each balance
sheet date, the Group assesses whether theres any objective
evidence that any financial asset 1s imparred Financial assets and
labiliies are recogmsed on the Groups balance sheet when the Group
becomes a partyte the contractual provisions of the financial asset
or hability Finanoal assets are derecognised from the balance sheet
when the Group s contractual nghts to the cash flows expire or the
Group transfers substantally all the nisks and rewards of the fimancial
asset Financial habibties are derecognised from the Groups balance
sheet when the obligation specified in the contractis discharged
cancelled or expires
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1 Avarlable-for-sale investments

Equity Investments intended to be held for an indefinite period
are classified as avallable-for-sale investments They are carned
at fair value where this can be reliably measured with movements
in fair value recognised directly In the available-for-sale reserve
Where the fair value cannot be reliably measured the investment
15 carned at cost

Any impairment losses In equity Investments classified as available-
for-sale investments are recogrised in the income statement and are
not reversible through the income statement and are deterrmined with
reference to the dosing market share price at the balance sheet date
Any subsequent increase in the fair value of the avalable-for-sale
nvestment above the impaired value will be recogrised within the
avallable-for-sale reserve

Avaltable-for-sale investments are included within non-current assets
unless the carrying value 1s expected to be recovered prinapally
through sale rather than continung use in which case they are
included withen current assets On disposal the difference betwaen
the carrying amount and the sum of the constderation recerved and
any cumulative gain or loss that had previously been recognised
directly In reserves i1s recognised in the income statement

it Trade and other recervables

Trade and other recevables are nen dervative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments and, where no stated interest rate

1s applicable are measured at the onginal invoice amount if the effect
of discounting 15 immaternial Where discounting is matenal trade and
other recevables are measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method An allowance account s maintained to reduce the
carrying value of trade and other recewables forimpairment losses
identified From objective evidence, with movements in the allowance
account either from increased impaimment kosses or reversals of
impairment losses being recogrused in the income statement.

ul Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand bank accounts
deposits recevable on demand and deposits with maturity dates
of three months or less from the date of inception Bank overdrafts
that are repayable on demand and which form an integral part of
the Group 3 cash management are also included as a component
of cash and cash equivalents where offset conditions are met

v Short-term deposits

This includes short-term deposits which have maturity dates of
more than three months from inception These deposits are mitially
recogrused at far value and then carned at amortised cost through
the income statement less any allowance for imparrment losses

v Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are non-derivative financial habilities and
are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method
Trade and other payables with no stated interest rate are measured
at the onginal Invoice amount (f the effect of discounting is Immatenal

w1 Borrowings

Borrowings are recorded as the proceeds recenved net of direct 1ssue
costs Finance charges including any prermium payable on settlement
or redemption and direct Issue costs are accounted for on an aceruals
basis in the ncome statement using the effective interest method
and are added to the carrying amount of the underlying instrument
towhich they relate to the extent that they are not settled in the
period in which they arise

Fnandal statements - Notes 1o tha consolidatad financal staternents

i} Impairment

At each balance sheet date in accordance with 1AS 36 *Imparrment.

of Assets” the Group reviews the carrying amounts of all its assets
excluding inventones (see accounting polcy g) non-current assets
classified as held for sale financial assets (see accounting policy h)
and deferred taxation (see accounting policy o) to deterrmine whether
there)s any indication that any of those assets have suffered an
tmpairment loss

Animpairment 1s recegnised (n the income statement whenever the
carrying amount of an asset or its cash generating unit exceeds its
recoverable amount Animpairment of 2n investment in a joint venture
or assocate Is recognised within the share of profit from joint ventures
and assoaiates The recoverable amount 1s the greater of net selling
price defined as the fair value less costs to sell and value In use

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to therr present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and
nsks specific to the asset Where t1s not possible to estunate the
recoverable amount of an ndrdual asset the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash gererating unit to which the asset
belongs Imparment losses recognised n respect of cash generating
units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to those units and then toreduce the carrying amount of
other assets in the unit on a pra-rata basss

Anmpairment joss for anindividual asset or cash generating urmit wall
be reversed «f there has been a change in estimates used to determine
the recoverable amount since the last mparment loss was recognised
andis only reversed to the extent that the asset s carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined net of depreciation or amortisation if no impairment

loss had been recogrised Impairment of goodwillis not reversed

) Provnsions

Provisions are recogmsed when the Group has a probable present
legal or constructive obhgation to make a transfer of ecopomic
benefits as aresult of past events where a reliable estimate 1s
availlable The amountsrecognised represent the Groups best
estimate of the transfer of benefits that will be required to settle
theobligatian as of the balance sheet date Prowisions are discounted
if the effect of the time value of money 1s matenal using a pre-tax
market rate adjusted for risks specific te the liability

k} ESOP reserve

Where the Company or its subsidianes purchase the Company's own
equity shares the cost of those shares including any attributable
transaction costs 18 presented within the ESOP reserve as a deduction
in shareholders equity in the conschidated financial statements
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Finandiai statements - Notes to the consoldated financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

(continued)

1 Accounting policies {continued)
B Revenue recogmition

Revenue which excludes vatue added tax and transactions between
Group companies represents the gross inflow of economic benefit
from Sky s operating activitles The Group's main saurces of revenue
arerecognised as follows

«» Retail subscription revenue induding subscriptions fer TV and
over-the-top services Sky Broadband and Sky Talk services
15 recogmsed as the goods or services are prowded net of
any discount given Pay-per-view and transactional revenue
is recogrised when the event or movie 1sviewed

= Wholesale revenue 1s recognised as the services are prowded to
cable and other retallers and 1s based on the number of subscnbers.
taking the Sky channels as reported to the Group by the cable
and other retailers and the spplicable rate card or contract

= Advertising sales revenue 1s recognised when the advertising
is broadcast Revenue generated from arrtime sales where Sky
acts as an agent on behalf of third parties, 1s recognised on a
net commission bass

Installaton hardware and service revenue Is recognised in the
income statement when the geods and services are acuvated

» Other revenue principally includes income from Sky Bet technical
platform services third party set-top box sales public access WiF
services and programme distribution fees With the exception of Sky
Bet revenue other revenue s recogrused net of any discount given
when the relevant goods or service are prowdad Sky Bet revenue s
recognised in accordance with IAS 39 and represents smcome in the
pernod for betting and gaming activities defined as amounts staked
by customers less winnings pad out

Revenue 1s measiured at the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable When the Group sells a set-top box, installation or
service and a subscrption in one bundled transaction, the total
consicderation from the arrangement s allocated to each efement
based on ther relative far values The fair value of each ndividual
element 1s determined using vendor specific or third party evidence
The amount of revenue the Group recognises for delivered elements
15 hrmited to the cash received

m) Employee benefits

Wages salanes socal secunty cantributions bonuses payable and
non-monetary benefits for current employees are recognisedin
the income statement as the employees services are rendered

The Group prowvides pensions to ehgible employees through defined
contnbution schemes The amount charged to the tncome statement
N the year represents the cost of contributions payable by the Group
to the schemes in exchange for employee services rendered In that
year The assets of the schemes are held independently of the Group

Termination benefits are recognised as a llabuity at the earlier of when
the Group can na longer wathdraw the offer of the termination benefit
and when the Group recogrises any related restructunng costs such
termination baing before the normal retirernent date or as the result
of an offer to encourage voluntary redundancy

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to certamn
employees which must be measured at far value and recognised as
an expense in the income statement with a corresponding increase
in equity The farr values of these payments are measured at the
dates of grant using opuon-pricing models taking intc account the
terms and conditions upon which the awards are granted The fair

value 1s recognised over the penod dunng which employees bacome
unconditionally entitied 1o the awards, subject tc the Groups estimate
of the number of awards which wili be farfeited either due to
employees leaving the Group prior 1o vesting or due to non-market
based performance conditions not being met Where an award has
market-based performance canditions, the farr value of the award 1s
adjusted for the probability of achieving these via the option pricing
mode! The total amount recognised in the iIncome statement as an
expense Is adjusted to reflect the actual number of awards that vest
except where forfeiture s due to the falure to meet market-based
performance measures In the event of a cancellation, whether by

the Group or by a particpating employee the compensation expense
that would have been recogrised over the remainder of the vesting
pernodis recognised immedately in profit orioss

n) Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the nsks and rewards inadental to
ewnership of the asset te the lessee Allotherleases are classified
as operating leases

When the Group 1s a lessor sub-lease income from operating leases
Is recognised on a strarght-line basis over the term of the lease

When the Group s a lessee, assets held under finance leases are
recogrised as assets of the Group at their farr value on the date
of acquisition or If lower at the present value of the minimum lease
payments The corresponding hability to the lessor s included in
the balance sheet as a finance lease obligation

Lease payments are apportoned between finance charges and
reductions of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate
cf interest on theremaining balance of the hiability

The lease expense ansing from operating leases s charged to the
Income statement on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease
Benefits received and receivable as incentives to enter into operating
leases are recorded on a straight-line basis over the lease term

o) Taxation including deferred taxation

The Group s lrabiiity for current tax s based on taxable profit for
the year and is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date

Deferred tax assets and liabihties are recognised using the balance
sheet habiity method prowiding for temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and habtlities in the balance sheet
and the corresponding tax bases used In the computation of taxable
profit Temporary differences arising from goodwill and the inmtial
recognition of assets or liabiities that affect neither accounting profit
nor taxable profit are not provided for Deferred tax iabiities are
recognised for taxable temporary differences ansing on investments
In subsidianes and assooates and interests in joint ventures, except
where the Group s able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and itis probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse In the foreseeable future The amount of deferred tax provided
1s based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the
carrnng amount of assets and liabilities using tax rates that have
beenenacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date

94 Bntish Sky Broadcasting Group plc




Annual Report 204

The carrying ameunt of deferred tax assetsis reviewed at each
balance sheet date and adjusted to reflect an amount thats probable
to be realised based on the weight of all avalable evidence Deferred
tax s calculated at the rates that are expested to apply inthe penod
when the habibity 1s settled or the asset s realised Deferred tax assets
and hatulities are not discounted Deferred tax s charged or credited
in the iIncome statement, except whereit relates to items charged

or credited directly to equity,in which case the deferred tax s alse
included wathin equity Deferred tax assets and habilities are offset
when there 15 a legally enforceable nght to set off current tax assets
against current tax labilites and when they relate to ncome taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Groupintends to

sattle its current tax assets and habilities on a net basis

p) istributions to equity shareholders

Dmvidends are recognised in the retained earnings reserve i the year
inwhich they are declared

The cost of repurchasing the Group s own equity shares for
cancellavon {"share buy-backs™) i1s recorded In retained earnings
In addition, the nominal cost of shares repurchased Is deducted
from share capital and a matching credit1s recorded in the capital
redemption reserve

q) Earrungs per share

Basic earnings or loss per share represents the profit or loss for

the year dinded by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
inissie dunng the year excluding the weighted average number

of ardinary shares purchased by the Group and held in the Groups
ESOP dunng the year to satisfy employee share awards

Diluted earnings orloss per share represents the profit or loss for

the year dwded by the wenghted average number of ordinary shares
inssue dureng the year excluding the weighted average number of
ordinary shares purchased by the Group and held in the Group s ESOP
dunng the year to satisfy employee share awards plus the weighted
average number of dilutive shares resulting from share options where
the inclusion of these would not be antidilutive

r) Foreign currency translation

The Group s presentational currency 1s pounds sterling. Trading
actwties denominated in foreign currencies are recorded In pounds
sterling at the applicable monthly exchange rates Monetary assets
liabiities and commitmeants denominated in foreign currencies at the
balance sheet date are reported at the rates of exchange at that date
Non-menetary assets and lakilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated to pounds sterling at the exchange rate prevailing at the
date of the initial transaction Gains and losses from the retranslation
of assets and hatilities are included netin profit for the year except

for exchange differences ansing on non-monetary assets and habilities
where the changesn fair value are recogrused directly in equity

The assets and habilities of the Group s foreign operations are
translated at exchange rates prevaling on the balance sheet date
Income and expense items are translated at the applicable monthly
average exchange rates Any exchange differences ansing are dassified
as equity and transferred to other reserves

Financial statements - Notes to the consohdated Rnanasl statements

5) Reportable segments

IFRS 8 "Operating Segments” requires the segment information
presented in the financial statements to be that which s used
nternally by the chief operaung decision maker to evaluate the
perfarmance of the business and deade how to allocate resources
The Group has identified the Board of Directors as its chief operating
decision maker and as the intemnal reporting reviewed by the Board
focuses on the operations of the Group as a whole and does not
identfy Indivdual operating segments the Group has only one
reportable segment

t) Accounting Standards interpretations and amendments to
existing standards that are not yet effective

The Group has not yet adopted certain new standards amendments
and interpretations to exsting standards which have been published
but are only effective for our accountng penods beginming on or
after) July 2014 or later penods These new pronouncements are
isted below

Amendments to 1AS 36 "Impairment of Assets”
{effective 1 January 2014)

Amendments to IAS 32 "Financial Instruments Presentation
— Offsetuing Finanaial Assets and Financial Liabities”
(effective 1 January 2014)

.

Amendments to |AS 39 "Financial Instruments Recognition
and Measurement - Novation of Denvatives and Continuation
of Hedge Accounting” (effective 1 January 2014)

-

Annual Improvements 2010-2012 cycle (effective 1 July 2014y
Annual Improvements 2011-2013 cycle (effective 1 July 2014)*

Amendments to IFRS 11 "Accounting for Acquisitons of
Interests in Joint Operations” (effective 1 January 2016}

Amendments to 1AS 16 and 1AS 38 *Oanfication of
Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation®
(effective 1 January 2016)*

IFRS 15 "Revenue from Contracts with Customers™
(effective 1 tanuary 2017)

IFRS 9 "Financial instruments™ (effectve 1 January 2018)°
* not yet endorsed far use in the EU

The Directors are currently evaluating the impact of the adoption of
these standards amendments andinterpretations in future penods

u) Crucal accounting policies and the use of judgement

Certain accounting policies are considered to be cntical to the Graup
An accounting policy i1s considered to be cntucal If in the Directors
jucgement, its selection or applrcation matenally affects the Group s
financial position or resuits Below s a summary of the Group s cnitical
accounting policies and details of the key areas of judgement that
are exercised in therr application
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Financlal statements - Notes 1o the consolidated finanoal statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

(continued)

1 Accounting policies (continued)

1 Revenue (see note 2)

Selecting the appropriate tming for and amount of revenue to be
recognised requires judgement This may involve estmating the fair
value of consideration befare 1t is received When the Group sells a
set-tep box Installation or service and a subscription in one bundled
transaction the total consideration from the arrangement 1s allocated
to each element based on its relative fair value The fair value of each
indrvidual element 1s determined using vendor speafic or third party
evidence The amount of revenue the Group recognises for delivered
elementsis imited to the cash received

n Taxation, including deferred taxation {(see notes 7 and 15)

The Group s tax charge Is the sum of the total current and deferred
tax charges The calculation of the Group’s totat tax charge necessanly
involves a degree of estimation and judgement i respect of certain
items whose tax treatment cannot be finally determined until
resolution has been reached with the relevant tax authonty or

as approprate, through a formal legal process

Prowvisions for tax contingencies require management to make
Jadgements and estimates In relation to tax audit Issues and exposures
Amounts provided are based on management s interpretation of
country-specific tax faw and the likelhcod of settlement Tax benefits
are not recognised unless it 1s probable that the tax positions willbe
sustained Once considered to be probable management reviews each
matenial tax benehit to assess whether a provision should be taken
against full recogrition of the benefit on the basis of the Ikely resolution
of the issue through negotiabon and/or liugation

The amounts recognised ih the consohidated finanoal statements

in respect of each matter are dentved from the Group s best estimation
and judgement as described above However the inherent uncertainty
regarding the outcome of these items means the eventual resolution
could differ from the provision and in such event the Group would

be required to make an adjustment in a subsequent perod which
could have a material impact on the Group’s profit and loss andfor
cash position

The key area of judgement in respect of deferred tax accountingis
the assessment of the expected iming and manner of realisation
or settlement of the carrying amounts of assets and habtites held
at the balance sheet date in particular assessmentis reguired

of whether it 1s probable that there will be suitable future taxable
profizs against which any deferred tax assets can be utilised

it Acquisitton accounting and geodwill (see note 10)

Judgement 1s required in deterrmiming the fair value of identifiable
assets habilties and contingent assets and llabilities assumed ina
business combinaton and the fair value of the consideration payable
Calculating the farr values involves the use of significant estimates and
assumptions Including expectations about future cash flows discount
ratas and the lives of assets following purchase

Judgement Is also required in identifying the cash generating units

to which the goodwillis associated for the purposes of goodwill
impairment testing 1dentification of cash generating units iInvolves
an assessment of whether assets or groups of assets generate cash
flows that are largely independent of other assets or groups of assets
Goodwill 1s then allocated to each ident:fied cash generauing unit
that 1s expected to benefit from the synergies of the business
combinations from which goodwall has ansen

iv Intangible assets and property plant and equipment

(see notes 11 and 12)

The assessment of the useful economic lives of these assets
requires judgement. Depreciation and amortisation s charged to
the income statement based on the useful economic life selected
This assessment requires estimation of the period over which the
Group will benefit from the assets

Determining whether the carrying amount of these assets has any
indication of impairment also requires judgement if an indication
of imparrment s identified further jJudgement s required to assess
whether the camying amount can be supported by the net present
value of future cash flows forecast ta be derived from the asset.
This forecast involves cash flow projections and selecting the
appropriate discount rate

Assessing whether assets meet the reguired eniteria for imtial
capitalisation requres judgement Thisrequires adeterminaticn

of whether the assets will result in future benefits to the Group

tn particular internally generated intangible assets must be assessed
during the develapment phase to identify whether the Group has

the ability and intention to complete the development successfully

v Programminginventory for broadcast (see note 16)

The key area of accounting for programming inventory for broadcast
that requires judgement Is the assessment of the appropnate

profile over which to amortise general entertainment programming
This assessment requires the Group to form an expectation of the
number of umes a programme will be broadcast and the relative value
associated with each broadcast In order to perform this assessment
the Group considers the followang factars

+ The penod over which the programme I1s expected to be shown
on the Groups channels This 1s usually based on a combination
of the actual penod speafied in the contract for the programme
tights and the Iniual expectation of when repeat broadcasts
wilt be scheduled

The alternative programming available to the Group for scheduling
within this penod This consideration provides the most appropriate
Informatien in order to estimate how freguently individual
programmes will be shown during the penod in which the Group
holds their bradcast nghts

The potential benefits associated with scheduling programmung
Certain high-profile or high-quality programming titles have
addiional value to the Group as they attract new TV customers
and encourage retention of existing TV customers As such, these
programmes are able to retain more value throughous ther
broadcast runs than would be indicated when considenng the
expected viemng numbers alone

Expectations as te the number of viewers a programmae is hkely
to achieve for each individual broadcast over the contractual
broadcast penod The number of viewers per broadcast directly
influences adverbising revenue for channels although this
consideratson s partly influenced by the Group s assessment

of the potentiat impact of the publicly available nformation onits
competitors scheduling intentions against planned broadcasts
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Finandal statements - Notes Lo the consolidatad financal statements

2 Revenue
2014 2013
£m £m
Retai subscnption 6255 5951
Whotesale subscription 422 396
Adverusing 472 240
Installation hardware and service 85 ar
Other 3398 361
7,632 7235

Revenue anses from goods and senvices provided to the UK, with the exception of £478 milhon (2013 £461 million) which anses from services prowided
to othercountnes Included wathin wholesale subsenption revenuie for the year ended 30 June 2014 15 £15 milllon credit receved followng the termunation

of an escrow agreement with a current wholesale operator

3 Operating expense

2014 2013

Em £m

Programming 2662 2487
Direct netwerks 850 686
Marketing 1215 L1F
Subscnber management and supply chamn 694 673
Transmission techaclogy and fixed networks 460 405
Admiristration 530 576
6,471 5944

Inchuded within perating expenses for the year enclad 30 June 2014 e

Costs of £72 mulion relating to the acquisition and integration of the 02 consumer broadband and fixed-line telephony business Including amortisation of £27 medlion inrelation

to assoaated intangble assets The costs have been recogrused as follows.

- E3tmilica withindect netwarks

- E24 mullion within administration

- £13 milhon withun transmisston, technology and Fixed networks.

- E3 milionwathin subscriber management and supply chain

«  £1millon within markeung.

Costs of E40 milien relating to acorporate restructunng and efficiency programme in the current year including an imparment of E2 milkon m ralation 1o associated intangible
and tangible assets These costs have been recognrsed as follows

- £22mllion withun administratian

-~ £15 milion withun marketing

- £3millonwith n subscriber management and supply chain,

Costs of £2 mition a5 aresult of the termination of an escow agreement wath a current wholesale operator This cost has beer recognised withun admsristratice,

Inchuded within operating expenses for the year ended 30 June 2013 are

« Cradit of £32 miflionreiating to acredit note receved following an Ofcom deterrination This credit has basn recogrused within direct netwacks.

Credit of E33 milllonrelating to the final settiement of disputes with a former manufacturer of set top boxes, net of associated costs and incuding an Imparment of £6 multion
nrelation toassooated intangible assets This credit has been recognised within subscriber management and supply chan,

Cotts of £31 milion relating to the cne-of fupgrade of set top boxes The costs have been recogrused within subscriber management and supply chau,

Costs of E25 mulion relaurg ts a programme to of fer wireless connectors to selacted Sky Mowies customers The costs have been recagrused within subscnber management
and supply chain

Costs of E15million refating to the acquisition and integration of the 02 consumer broadband and fixed-Iina telephory business including amartisation of £4 mitlion n relation
to assocated ntangible assets The costs have beenrecogrused as follows

«  EZ7millen within admineswration

- £3 milion withen direct networks

- E3 mdhon within transmission, technology and fixed networks

- £2milhenwithin subscrber management and supply chain

Costs of £33 milkon relating to a corparate efficency programmae inthe prior year including ar imparment of E6 milion inrelatian to asspaated intangible and tangible assets
The costy have beerirecegnised as follows.

- £29 midhon withtn adminstration

-~ Elmdion withinpragramming

- Elmillion withinmarketing

- Elmillon within subsariber management and supply chain

— €1 millien within transmussion, technotogy and fixed networks
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Financtal statements - Notes ta tha consohdated financal statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

(continued)

4 Investment income and finance costs

20014 2013
£m Em
Investmentincome
Interest on cash cash equivalents and short-term deposits 4 9
Dimidends received from available-for-sale nvestments 22 19
26 28
2014 2013
£m Em
Finance costs
- Interest payable and simitar charges
£743 million Revohing Cradit Faclity ("RCF) @ )
Guaranteed Notes {see note 20) {126) 22)
Finance lease interest {7 7
(135) (131
- Other finance income (expense)
Remeasurement of borrowings and borrowngs-related denvative financial instruments (not qualifying for hedge accountng) @) 22
Remeasurement of other dervative financial instruments {not qualifying for hedge accounting) 4 m
Loss ansing on denvatives in a designated fair value hedge accounting relationship [£1)] (34)
Gain ansing on adjustment fer hedged (temin a designated fair value hedge accounting relationship 32 36
(5} 23
(140) (108)
Borrowing costs included in the cost of qualifying assets duning the year arose on the general barrowing pool and are calculated by
applying a capitaksation rate of 4 9% (2013 5 2%) to expenditure on such assets The amount capitalised in the current year amounted
to £4 mullton (2013 £2 mullion)
5 Profit before taxation
Profit before taxation 1s stated after charging
2014 2013
£m £m
Cost of Inventories recognised as an expense 2208 1992
Depreciation and imparrment of property plant and equipment 208 176
Amorusation and impairment of intangible assets 228 202
Rentals on operating leases and similar arrangements 49 5t
Consolidated non-current assets outside the UK were £3 million (2013 £8 million)
Foreign exchange
Foreign exchange losses recognised in the income statement dunng the year amounted to E2milion (2013 losses of £1 millon)
Audit fees
An analysis of auditor's remuneration Is as follows
2014 2003
£m £m
Total audit fees 16 13
Total non-audit fees 14 11
Total auditer remuneration 30 24

Feas payable to the Company s auditor for the audit of the Company s annual accounts were £13 millton (2013 £1.2 million) and fees payable
to the Company’s auditor for the audit of the Company's subsidianes pursuant to legislation were £0 3 milion {2013 £01 mullon)

Amounts paid to the auditor for non-audit fees include audit related services of £0.2 million (2013 £0 3 milkton) taxation services of £0 5 million
(2013 £03 mullion) other assurance services of £071 million (2013 £0 2 mithion) other adwisory sepaces of nl (2013 nil) and transaction services
of £06 millan (20i3 £0 2million)
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6 Employee benefits and key management compensation

a) Group employee benefits

Financial statements - Notes to the consolidated financial statements

2014 2013

Em £m

Wages and salanes 844 781
Socal secunty costs o] o
Costs of employee share option schemes® 60 B8O
Contributions to the Group s pension schemest 39 27
1.044 989

() EBDmilhon chargerelates to equity-settled share-based payments (2013 £80 milbon charge).

() The Group operates defined contribution pension schemes The pension charge for tha year repres«nts the cost of contributions payable by the Group to the schemes
dunng the year The amount payable to the schemes by the Group at 30 Juna 2014 was E5 millon (2013 £2 million).

The average monthly number of full-time equivalent persons (Including temporary employees) emplayed by the Group dunng the year was as follows

2014 2013

Number Number

Channels and services 3477 2701
Customer service sales and marketing 13035 N9543
Transmission and technalogy 3.257 365
Management and administration 1072 ma
20841 19 413

There are approximately 497 (2013 523) temporary staff nicluded within the average number of full-time equivalent persons employed by the Group

b} Key management compensation (see note 28d)

2014 2013

£m £m

Short-term employee benefits 3 6
Share-based payments 7 10
i3 16

Post-employment benefits were less than £1 million (2013 less than £1 milion) The amounts disdosed for key management compensation are included

within the disclosures in note 6(a)
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FAnandal statements - Notas to the consolidated financal statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

(continued)

7 Taxation

a) Taxation recogmised in the income statement

204 2003
£m £m
Current tax expense
Current year 232 332
Adjustment in respect of prior years 3N (44)
Tota! cusrrent tax charge 201 288
Deferred tax expense
Onginauon and reversal of temporary differences 5 (20}
Adjustment in raspect of prior years 1 i)
Total deferred tax charge (credit) 16 (10)
Taxation 217 278
Taxation relates to a £215 milllon UK corporation tax charge (2013 £275 milkon) and E2 million overseas corporation tax charge (2013 £3 midliom)
b) Taxation recognised directly in equity
2004 2013
Em Em
Current tax credit relating to share-based payments ) 03]
Deferred tax credit relating to share-based payments - 6)
Deferred tax credit relating to cash flow hedges (8} sy
7y (26)
<) Reconcihation of effective tax rate
The tax expense for the year 1s lower (2013 lower) than the expense that would have been charged using the blended rate of corperation tax
1n the UK (22.5%) applied to profit before tax The applicable enacted or substantively enacted effective rate of UK corporation tax far the year
was 22.5% (2013 23 75%) The differences are explained below
2014 2013
Em £m
Profit before tax 1082 1,257
Profit before tax muluplied by blended rate of corporation tax in the UK of 22 5% (2013 23 75%) 243 299
Effects of
Net effect of non-taxable/non-deductible items (8) 13
Deferred tax write-off following tax rate change 2 -
Adjustments in respect of prior years 20 (34)
Taxation 217 278
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8 Earnings per share
The weighted average number of shares for the year was

2014 2013
Millonsof  Milhons of
shares shares
Qrdinary shares 1581 1633
ESOP trust ordinary shares {19 {19y
Baslic shares 1562 1,634
Dilutive ordinary shares from share options 4 26
Diuted shares 1576 1,640
There are no share options (2013 none) which could potentially diflute earmings per share in the future but which have been excluded from
the calculation of diluted earnings per share as they are anti-chlutive in the year
Basic and diluted earrings per share are calculated by dividing the profit for the yearinto the weighted average number of shares for the year
In grder to provide a measure of underlying performance management have chosen to present an adjusted profit for the year which excludes
itemns that may distort comparability Such items anse from events or transactrons that fall wthin the ordinary activities of the Group but which
management belleves should be separately identified to help explain underlying performance
2004 2013
Em £m
Reconaliation from profit for the year to adjusted profit for the year
Profit for the year 865 979
Costs refating to the acquisition and integration of the 02 consumer broadband and fixed-hne telepheny business
(see note 3) 72 5
Costs relating to corporate restructuring and efficiency programmes (see note 3) 40 33
Net credit receved followng termination of an escrow agreement with a current wholesale operator (see notes 2 and 3) {13) -
Credit receved following an Ofcom determination (see note 3) - 32)
Costs relating to programme to offer wireless connectors to selected Sky Movies customers {see nota 3) - 25
Net credit receved following final settlement of disputes with a former manufacturer of set-top boxes and costs
relating to one-off upgrade of set-top boxes (see note 3) - 2
Remeasurement of all dervatwve financral instruments not quahfying for hedge accounting and hedge
ineffectiveness (see note 4) 5 (23)
Profit on disposal of joint venture (see note 13) - [&))
Tax adjusting items and the tax effect of above items (32) 7
Adjusted profit for the year 937 969
2014 2013
pence pence
Earnings per share from profit for the year
Basic 85 4p 607p
Diluted 54 9p 597p
Adjusted earmings per share from adjusted profit for the year
Basic 600p 500p
Ciluted 595p 591p
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

(continued)

9 Divdends
204 2013
£m Em
Divdends declared and paid duning the year
2012 Final dividend paid 16 20p per erdinary share - 265
2013 Interim dwidend paid 11 00p per ordinary share - 176
2013 Final dividend paid 19 00p per ordinary share 298 -
2014 Intenm dividend patd 12 00p per ordinary share 187 -
485 441

The 2014 final dividend proposed 15 20 O pence per ordinary share being £309 nmilien The dividend was not declared at the balance sheet date
and 15 therefore not recogrised as a hability as at 30 June 2014

Dividends are paid batween Group companies out of profits avarlable for distnbuton subject to,inter alia the prowvisians of the companies
articles of association and the Companies Act 2006 The ESCP has waived its rights to dividends

10 Goodwilt
Em
Carrying value
Bt July 2012 956
Purchase of 02 consumer broadband and fixed-Iine telephony business 49
Qther [())
AL30 Mne 2013 999
Other 20
At 30 June 2014 1019
Goodwill has pnncapally ansen from the Graup s purchases of the Sports Intemet Group ("SIG7) British Interactive Broadcasting ("BIB™) Easynet s
UK broadband network assets and residential activities 365 Media Amstrad Living TV The Cloud and the 02 consumer broadband and fixed-line
telephony business
Goodwill allocated by cash generating unit, 1s analysed as follows
2014 2013
£m £m
Broadcast' 870 850
Betting and gaming™ 143 149
1019 999

Impairment reviews were performed on these goodwill balances at 30 June 2014 which did not ndicate mparment
The Broadcast unit iIncludes intangbles with indefinite lives of E25 million {2013 £25 million)

Recoverabie amounts for the cash genarating units were calculated on the basis of value in useor fair value less costs to sell as appropnate
using cash flows calculated for the next five years as forecast by management A iong-term growth rate of 3% was applied in order to extrapolate
cash flow projections beyond this period (2013 3%) The cash Flows of the Broadcast unit were discounted using a pre-tax discount rate of 8%
{2012 B%)and the cash flows of the Batting and gaming unit were discounted using a pre-tax discount rate of 10% (2013 10%)

In determining the applicable discount rate rmanagement applied judgement in respect of several factors which included nter afia assessing
the nsk attached to future cash flows and making reference to the capital asset pricing madel (the "CAPM™) Management gave consideration
to the selection of appropriate tnputs to the CAPM which inctuded the nsk free rate the equity nsk premium and a measure of systematic risk
Management also considers capital structure and an appropnate cost of debt in arnving at thediscount rate

1) Broadcast

The Broadcast unit includes goodwill ansing from the purchase of Bi1B Easynet s UK broadband network assets and residential actmties 365 Medias
content activities Amstrad, Living TV The Joud and the Q2 consumer broadband and fixed-line telephany business The key assumptions on which
forecast five-year cash flows of the Broadeast unit werg based include the number of gross custemear additions the rate of churn, the average revenue
per user levels of programming spend acquisition costs per custormer and anticpated changes in the product mix and marketing mix of the broadcast
activities The values assigned to each of these assumptions were determined based on the extrapolation of historical trends within the Group and
external infermation on expected futdre trends in the UK and Ireland entertainment and communications industry

u) Betting and gaming

The Betting and gaming unit includes goodwill ansing from the purchase of SIG and 365 Mediasbetting activities The key assumptions on
which forecast five-year cash flows were based include the number of weekly unique users thenumber of bets placed per user per week
the average stake per user per week and the average spend per active user per week The values assigned to each of these assumptions
were determined based on an extrapolation of historical trends within the unit and external information on expected future trends in
betting and garming
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1 Intangible assets

Internally
generated Acquired
Software Custorrer intangible intangible
Intemally  development contracts assets assets
generated {extarnal) and related Other not yet not yat
ntangible  and software customer intangble avalable availlable
assets icences  relationships assets for use foruse Total
£m £m Em £m £m £m Em
Cost
At T Jduly 2012 252 427 &0 224 54 103 1120
Additions from business combinations - - 137 2 - - 139
Additions 102 45 - 66 25 20 258
Disposals {15) ) - - ) (&) {30)
Transfers 47 59 - - (47) 59) -
At 30 June 2013 386 525 197 292 30 57 1487
Additsons from bustness combinations - - & 2 - - 8
Additions 87 36 - 64 B4 41 2
Disposals (18) 4y - (3 - - (35)
Transfers 43 W - ] (43) (2) -
At 30 June 2014 495 558 203 356 b 86 1,772
Amartisation
At 1 Juby 2012 122 308 9 158 - - 597
Amortisation 72 55 7 57 - - 191
Disposals (15} (5] - - (2) @ (30)
Impairments 2 - - - 2 7 n
At 30 June 2013 181 35y 16 215 - - 769
Amortisation 78 S3 25 n - - 226
Disposals {18) 04 - [E)) - - (35)
Impairments - 1 - 1 - - 2
At 30 June 2014 239 397 42 284 - - 962
Carrysng amounts
AT July 2012 130 ng 51 66 54 103 523
At 30 June 2013 205 168 181 77 30 57 8
At 30 June 2014 259 161 161 2 71 86 810

The Group s internally generated intangible assets relate pnnoipally to software development associated with our custormner management systems
and set-top boxes The Group s other intangible assets manly Include copynght licences connection fees and patents and brands acqutred in business
combinations

The estimated future amartisation charge anintangible assets with firute lives for each of the next five years 15 set out below [t1s hkely that future
amor tisation will vary from the figures below as the est:mate does not indude the impact of any future iInvestments disposals or capital expenditure

2015 2006 7 2018 2019
Em Em Em Em fm
Estimated amortisation charge 230 183 151 105 55

For intangible assets acquired in business combinations in the year the average amortisation peniod 1s 8 years (2013 & years)

Other intangible assets include certan assets with indefinite useful ives The carrying value of these assets 15 E25millon (2013 £25 rmulhion)
An imparment review of the assets s performed annually as part, of the Group s review of the Broadcast (G (note 10}
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

(continued)
12 Property, plant and equipment

Equipment, Assets
Freshold Furniture not yet
land and Leasehold and available
buildings®™ improvements fixtures foruse Total
£m Em £m Em Em
Cost
At1July 2012 333 59 1210 27 1629
Additions from business combinations - - 25 - 5
Additions 1 1 194 48 244
Disposals - (D 64) - &)
Transfers - - 22 (22) ~
At 20 June 2013 334 58 1387 53 1832
Additions 4 - 3 ng 254
Disposals - M 74 - (75}
Transfers 3 - 34 (65) -
At 30 June 2014 369 57 1478 107 201
Deprecation
At1July 2012 40 27 614 - 681
Depreciation & 8 160 - 174
Disposals - (€3] 64 - {66)
impairments - 1 1 - 2
At 30 June 2013 46 34 m - 791
Foreign exchange movements - - U] - Q]
Depreciation 8 7 193 - 208
Disposals a (74) - (75
AL 30 June 2014 54 40 829 - 923
Carrying amounts
AL1 July 2012 293 32 596 27 948
At 30 June 2013 288 24 676 53 104
At 30 June 2014 315 17 649 107 1.088

() The amaunts shown include assets held under finance leases with a net book valiue of E14 million {2013 E3milion) The cost of these assats was £23million 2043 £20 mithory)
and the accumulatet] depreciation was E9 mdkon{2013 £7 millien) Depresiation charged during the year onsuch assets was £2 milken (2013 £1million}
(1) Depreciation was not charged on £88 million of land (2013 £88 miliop).
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13 Investments in joint ventures and associates

Alist of the Group s sigrficant nvestments in joint ventures and assocates induding the name country of incarparation and propartion
of ownership interest s given in note 30 to the consolidated financal statements

The movementin joint ventuses and assoaates during the year was as follows

2014 2013
Em £m
Share of net assets
At1Juty 164 156
Movement In net assets
- Funding, net of repayments & 4
- Dividends receved® (G2 CE
- Share of profitst® 35 46
- Disposal of joint venture’ - {
-Exchange differences on translation of foreign joint ventures and associates - 2
At 30 June 173 164
() During the prior year the Group disposed of its interest in MUTY Limited included nshare of profits for the year is a profit on disposal of £9 mition.
Consideration recenved on the sale of E10 milion 1 n¢luded withm dwvidends recerved
The Group s share of any capital commitments and contungent labiities of associates and joint ventures ts shown in note 26
a) Investments in associates
Representing a 100% share of two matenal asscciates NGC Network International ELC and NGC Network Labin Amenca LLC 10 aggregate
2004 2013
Em Em
Non-current assets 83 67
Current assets 236 241
Current habilives % (BE)
Shareholders’ equity 246 222
Group s share of shareholders equity 52 a7
Consolidation and other adjustments BO 82
Investment in associates 132 128
Revenue 323 325
Profit from continuing operations 106 107
b) Investments in joint ventures
Representing the Greup s share of each joint venture
2014 2003
£m £m
Non-current assets 26 19
Current assets 66 n
Currentiabilities (74) (32)
Nan-current habiliues [¢)] {a0)
Shareholders equity 17 1B
Revenue 93 90
Expense 7h (70)
Taxation 3 5)
Share of profit from jeint ventures 13 15

The aggregate carrying amount of the investments in jornt ventures and associates that are not indnidually matenal for the Group
1s £41 mudkon as at 30 June 2014 (2013 £35 milhon)
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
(continued)

14 Avatlable-for-sale iInvestments

204 2013

Em Em

Investment in ITV at cost 946 946
Impairment of ITV Investment (BO7) (BO7)
Realsed gain on ITV investment ns 15
Part disposal of ITV investment (196) (\96)

Unrealised gain on [TV investment 486 35

ITV investment 514 409

Other investments 19 13

533 422

On 17 Novernber 2006 the Group acquired 696 million shares in ITV at a price of 135 pence per share representing 179% of the 1ssued capital of MV
for a total consideration of £346 millkon including fees and taxes The Group s investment in 1TV s carried at fair value

The farr value 1s determined with reference toits equity share pnce at the balance sheet date In accordance with IFRS the Group has recognised
impairment losses in the years ended 30 June 2008 and 30 June 2009 the first of which was recorded at 31 December 2007 due to the significant
and profonged decline in the equity share price The latest Impairment loss was determined with reference to [TV s closing equity share price

of 20 0 pence at 27 March 2009 bringing the cumulative mpairment loss to £807 million [n ine with IFRS all subseguent increases in the fair

value of the ITV investment above this impaired value have been recorded in the available-for-sale reserve

On B February 2010 the Group placed a shareholding of 10 4% in ITV In accordance with the final undertakings given by the Group to the Secretary

of State for Business Innovation and Skills relating to the Group's Investment In ITV The placing by the Group of 404 362,095 ITV shares at 48 5 pence
per share resuited In aggregate consideration of £196 millon A profit of £115 milion was realised on disposal being the excess of the consideration
above the impaired value of the shares The disposal was exempt from tax under the provisions of the Substantial Shareholding Exermption ("SSET)
and as such the SSE prowsions prevented any capital loss ansing for tax purposes

At 30 June 2014 the Group held 723% of the shares in ITY Cn 17 July 2014 the Group sold a shareholding of approximately 6 4% in ITV consisting
of 259 B20 065 ITV shares For further details refer te note 20 The disposal of these shares in ITV wall not be eligible for SSE but the gain on disposal
of the shares will be covered by capital losses

15 Deferred tax

i) Recognised deferred tax assets (habilities)

Share-based Financal
Accelerated Short-term payments instruments
tax temporary temporary temporary
depregation Taxlosses  differences differences differences Tetal
£m £m £m £m £m £m
At1July 2012 12 1 6 26 (30) 5
{Charge) credit to iIncome {2) m - i8 (5 10
Credit to equity - - - 6 i8 24
Acquisition of subsidiaries 2 - - - - Q2
Effect of change intaxrate
- Income 1 - [D)] (¢)] 1 -
At 30 June 2013 [4))] ~ 5 49 {16} 37
Credit (charge) to income 4 - U] 18) 1 (14)
Credit to equity - - - 1 9 10
Acquisition of substdianes 1 - - - - 1
Effect of change in tax rate
=-income - - - [€)] 1 (2)
- Equity - - - W ) @
At 30 June 2014 4 - 4 28 (6} 30

Deferred tax assets have been recognised at 30 June 2014 and 30 June 2013 on the basis that from managements current, forecast of the Group s
entities it1s probable that there will be suitable taxable profits against which these assets canbe utilised Tax losses are treated as unrecognised
deferred tax assets If it 15 not considered probable that sutable future taxable profits will anse During theyear any tax losses suffered by UK
entities have been relieved against taxable profits in other UK entities in the Group

Deferred tax assets and labilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply inthe perniodsin which they reverse The rate enacted
or substantively enacted for the relevant penods of reversal I1s 20% as at 30 June 2014 (2013 23%)

The rate 1s due to come into effect on t April 2015
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Certain deferred tax assets and babiliies have been offset The following s the analysis of the deferred tax balances (after offset) for financial
reporiing purposes.

2014 2013

Em Em

Ceferred tax assets 52 70
Deferred tax habilities (22) 33

30 37

1) Unrecognised deferred tax assets

04 2013

Em £m

Tax losses ansing from trading 245 n

Tax losses ansing from capital disposals and previsions against investments 283 323

528 594

Deferred tax assets have not been recogrised Inrespect of the items above because It 1s not probable that future taxable profits will be avaltable
against which the Group can utihse the losses

At 30 June 2014, a deferred tax asset of £9 rllion (2013 £15 million) principally ansing from UK trading losses in the Group has not been recogrised
These losses can only be of fset aganst taxable profits generated in the entires concerned There 1s currently insufficent evidence to support the
recognition of a deferred tax asset relating to these losses The UK trading losses can be camed forward indefinitely

At 30 June 2014 a deferred tax asset of £236 milhon (2013 £256 millon) has not been recognised in respect of overseas trading losses on the
basts that it is not prebable that these temporary differences will be utilised These losses include £233 milion (2013 £250 milkon) with respect
to the Group s German holding company s former investment in KirchPayTV and £3 milhon (2013 £6 million) with respect to other subsidianes

At 30 June 2014 a deferred tax asset of £274 millon (2013 £312 million) has not been recognised in respect, of capitallosses related to the Groups
former investment in KirchPayTV on the basis that utiisation of these temporary differemces s not probabie At 30 June 2014 the Group also has
capital losses with a tax value estimated to be £9 midlion (2013 £11 million) including impairment of a football club and other iInvestments which
have not been recogrused as a deferred tax assel on the basis thatit is not probable that they will be utilised The capital losses can be camed
forward indefinitely

16 Inventories

2014 2013

Em Em

Television programme nghts 488 470
Set-top boxes and related equipment 50 70
Other inventones a 8
Current inventory 546 548
Non-current programme distribution rights 20 17
Total inventory 566 565

At 30 Jume 2014 81% (2013 89%) of the television programme nghts and 100% (2013 100%) of set-top boxes and related equipment and other
Inventories 15 expected to be recognised 1n the iIncome statement within 12 months

Brush Sky Broadcasting Group plc 107

uodal difalens

FWBLIIAN0Y

SIBWIDIELS [eDUeUlY

UONBLIOJUI IBPIOYRILYS




Annual Report 2014

#inancal statements -~ Notes to the consobdated financal statements
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(continued)

17 Trade and other recevables

2014 2013
£Em £m
Gross trade receivables 235 153
Less provision for impairment of receivables (95) {89
Net trade receivables 140 74
Amounts recervable from joint ventures and associates 7 8
Amounts receivable from other related parties S 7
Prepayments 279 309
Accrued income 17¢ 162
VAT 2 1
Qther 23 30
Current trade and other receivables 635 591
Prepayments 4 &
Other recevables 3 1
Non-current trade and other receivables 7 17
Total trade and other receivables 642 508
Included wathin current trade and other recevables s nil (2013 rul) whichis due in more than one year
The ageing of the Group s net trade recervables which are past due but not impaired is as follows
2014 203
£m Em
Up to 30 days past due date 107 52
30 to 60 days past due date 4 5
60 to 120 days past due date 2 2
13 59
The Directors constder that the carrying amount of trade and other receivables approximates thesr fair values The Group 1s exposed to
credit risk on its trade and other receivables however the Group does not have any significant concentrations of credit nisk, with exposure
spread over a large number of counterparties and customers Trade receivables principally comprise amounts outstanding from subscnibers
advertisers and ather customers
Prowvisions for doubtful debts
2014 2013
Em £m
Balance at beginning of year a9 89
Amounts utiised 27 (36)
Provided dunng the year 33 36
Balance at end of year o5 89
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2004 2013
£m Em
Trade payables® BOZ2 n2
Amounts owed to oint ventures and assotiates 1 9
Amounts owed to other related parties 124 102
VAT 169 143
Accruals 747 &85
Deferred income 318 295
Other ns 77
Current trade and other payables 2,285 2,023
Trade payables 23 18
Amounts owed to other related parties 19 -
Deferred ncome 5 9
Other 18 ElS)
Non-current trade and other payables 56 63
Total trade and other payables 2342 2086
@ Wctuded withun trade payablas are £213 milkon (2003 E225 mihion) of US dollar-danominated payables
The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other payables approxmates their fair values Trade payables prnapally
comprise amounts gutstanding for programiming purchases and ongoing costs
19 Provisions
Provided
At Reclassified  (released) Utiised At Provided Utthsed
Tuly dunng dunng dunng 1July dunng during At
2012 the year the year the year 2013 the year the year 30 June
Em Em £m £m £m Em £m 2014
Current labilities
Restructunng prowviston™ ] - 13 (3) 16 14 8) 2
Acquired and acquisition-related prowisions® 15 m 04) - - - - -
Customer-related provisions®® - - 47 6) 41 - (39) 2
Other provisions™ 22 7 17 a9 37 6 (19) 24
43 16 63 (28) 94 20 (66) 48
Non-current habilites
Other provisions™ 12 2 -1 (6) 14 10 £10) 14

() These provisions sigreficantly relate Lo costs ncurred a3 part of corporate efficency programmes

(0) Theseprovisions arose on tha acqursition of Amstrad which took place dunng the year erded 30 June 2008

(s) These provisions are for those cests incurred inthe one-off upgrada of set-top boxes and the programme ta offer wireless connectors to selected Sky Mowies customers

() Included in other provisicns are amounts presded for legal disputes and warrarty llabilties

) Inctuded within noi-current ether provisions are amounts prowed far onerous contracts for property leases and mantenance The timing of the cash flows are dependent

on the terms of the leases, but are expected to continue up to August 2016
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(continued)

20 Borrowings

2014 2013
£m Em
Current barrowings

Obhgations under finance leasest™ il il

Non-current borrowings
US$750 milion of S 625% Guaranteed Notes repayable in October 20154 434 496
E400 milhon of 5 750% Guaranteed Notes repayable tn October 20179 400 404
US$750 millon of 6100% Guaranteed Notes repayable in February 2018 442 498
US5%$582 B millkon of 9 500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in Novemnber 20189 353 404
U5%$800 million of 3125% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2022 466 520
£300 milion of & 000% Guaranteed Notes repayable in May 20279 296 296
U5$350 mullion of 5 500% Guaranteed Notes repayablen October 2035@ 201 225
Loan Notes repayable in December 2016 1 -
Obligations under finance leases™ 65 66
2,658 2908

(1) Guaranteed Notes

At 30 June 2014 the Group had In i1ssue the following Guaranteed Notes, which were 1ssued by the Company

Interest Rate Hedging Hedged Interest Rates
Hedged
Value* Fixed Floating
£m £m £m Fixed Floating
US$750 million of 6100% Guaranteed Notes repayablain February 2018 387 290 97 6 829% 6m LIBOR +1892%
US$582 B million of 9 500% Guaranteed Motes repayable in November 2018 389 260 129 7091% 6m LIBOR + 5 542%
US$800 million of 3125% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2022 503 503 - 3226% N/A
£ 300 million of 6 000% Guaranteed Notes repayable in May 2027 200 300 - 5000% N/A
1579 1353 226
ALt 30 June 2014, the Group had inissue the following Guaranteed Notes which were issued by BSKyB Finance UK pic
Interest Rate Hedging Hedgedinterest Rates
Hedged
Value* Fixed Flaating
£m Em Em Fived Floating
US$750 million of 5 625% Guaranteed Nates repayable in October 2015 428 ra | 257 CA427% &m LIBOR + 0 698%
E400 millon of 5 750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in October 2017 400 350 50 5750% 6mLIBOR - G 228%
U5$350 mullion of & SO0% Guaranteed Notes repayabtle in October 2035 200 200 ~ 5 826% N/A
1028 721 307
At 30 June 2013 the Group had i issue the following Guaranteed Notes which were 1ssued by the Company
Interest Rate Hedging Hedged Interest Rates
Hedged
Value* Fixed Floating
£Em £Em Em Fixed Floating
US$750 million of 6100% Guaranteed Nores repayable in February 2018 387 280 G7 5 829% 6m LIBOR +1592%
USESE2 B million of 9 S00% Guaranteed Notes repayabie in Novembar 2013 389 260 29 7051% BmMLIBOR + 5542%
US$8Q0 mihion of 3125% Guaranteed Notes repayable in Novernbyer 2022 503 503 - 3 226% NIA
£300 millhion of & 000% Guaranteed Notes repayable in May 2027 300 300 - £ 000% N/A
1579 1353 226

19 Bnush Sky Broadcasting Group pic




Annual Report 2014

Finandal statements - Notes 1o the consobgated finanaal staterments

At 30 June 2013, the Group had in1ssue the following Guaranteed Notes which were issuad by BSkyB Finance UK plc.

Interest Rate Hedging Hedged Interest Rates
Hedged

Value® Fixed Floating
£m £m £m Fixed Floating
US$750 milhion of 5 625% Guaranteed Notes repayable in October 2015 428 1M 257 5 427% 6m LIBOR + 0 695%
£400 muthon of 5 750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in Octaber 2017 400 350 50 5750% 6mLIBOR-0229%
U53350 mithon of 6 500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in Octobar 2035 200 200 - 5826% N/A

1028 2 307

*Note Hedged value is the Final redemption value including any hedging.

The Group has a Global Medium Term Note Programme (the "Programme”} which provides the Group with a standardised documentatron
platform for senior debt issuance of up to £2 5 kllion in the mator global bond markets The £300 milhion of 6 000% Guaranteed Notes
maturing in May 2027 have been issued under the ‘predecessor EMTN® Programme

{i) Finance leases

The minimum lease payments under finance leases fall due as follows

2014 2013
Em £m
Within one year n n
Between one and two years i2 1
Between twe and three years 9 n
Between three and four years 9 g
Between four and five years 9 8
After five years 136 144
186 193
Future finance charges on finance lease habilities (o) (116)
Present value of finance lease habilities 76 77

The main obligations under finance leases arenrelation to

(&) finance arrangements in connection wath the broadband network infrastructure Dunng the year, repayments of £7 millon (2013 £7 malion)
were made against the lease A proportion of these payments have been aliocated against the capital outstanding The lease bears interest
at a rate of 11 1% and expres in November 2039

() finance arrangements it connection with the contact centre in Dunfermiine Dunng the year repayments of £1 million (2013 €1 million)
were made aganst thelease A proportion of these payments have been allocated against the capital amount outstanding The lease
bears interest at a rate of 8 5% and expires in September 2020

{c) finance arrangements In ¢cornection with datacentre equipment Dunng the year repayments of E3milhon (2013 less than £1 million)
were made against the lease A proportion of these payments have been aflocated against the capital amount outstanding The lease
bears interest at a rate of 3 6% and expires in June 2016

(i) Revelving Credit Facility

The Group has a £ 743 millon RCF with a maturity date of 31 October 2018 syndicated across 10 counterparty banks each with a msintmum
credit rating of “Baal” or equivalent from Standard & Poor s At 30 June 2014 the RCF was undrawn (2013 undrawn)

The Group 15 subject to two finanaal covenants under the RCF a maximum leverage ratio and a minumum interest cover ratio which are tested
at the end of each six monthly period The key finanoal covenants are the ratio of Net Debt ta EBITDA (as defined in the loan agreements)
and EBITDA to Net Interest Payable (as defined in the lcan agreements) Net Debt to EBITDA must be no more than 3001 and EBITDA

to Net Interest Payable must be at least 3 50 1 The Group was in compliance with these covenants for all periods presented

(W) Guarantees

The folloming guarantees are In place relating to the Groups borrowings (a) British Sky Broadcasting Lmited Sky Subsertbers Services Limmited,
85kyB Finance UK pl¢ and Sky In-Home Service Limited have given joint and severa) guarantees in relation to the Company's £743 mitlion RCF
and the eutstanding Guaranteed Notes issued by the Company and (b) the Company, British Sky Broadeasting Limited Sky Subseribers
Services Limited and Sky In-Home Service Limited have given joint and several guarantees in refation to the outstanding Guaranteed Notes
ssued by BSkyB Finance UK ple
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Financial statements - Notes o the corsokdated finangal staterments

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
{continued)

21 Denvatives and other financial instruments

5et out below are the denvative finanwal instruments entered into by the Group to manage Its interest rate and foreign exchange nsks

2014 2013
Asset Lability Assat Liability
Fair Value Notional Fair Value Notional Fair Value Notional FarrValue Notional
Em £m £m £m Em £m Em £m
Fair value hedges
Interest rate swaps 77 767 - - 108 851 - -
Cash flow hedges
Cross-currency swaps 72 661 (36) 503 166 m? - 47
Forward foreign exchange contracts 33 764 (76} 1464 37 1146 {26) 973
Derivatives not in a formal hedge relationstup
Cross-currency swaps 21 353 (59) 380 67 353 (15) 350
Forward foreign exchange contracts 2 27 ) 262 1 14 U] 49
Interest rate swaps 5 260 - - 1 260 = -
Total 210 3022 (175) 2619 380 3 841 {42) 1,459
The matunty of the dervative financial instruments s as follows
2014 2013
Asset Liabulity Asset Lability
Em £m £m €m
In one year or less 15 (39) 15 (13)
Between one and two years 43 (25) 15 &)
Between two and five years 132 (75) 251 (8)
Inmore than five years 20 (36) 89 (15)
Total 210 (175) 380 @2)

The fair value of the Group s debt-related denvative portfolio at 30 June 2074 was a E80 millon net asset (2013 net asset of £327 million) with net
noticnal principal amounts totaling £1957 million (2013 E1957 million} This comprised net assets of £36 milion designated as cash flow hedges
(2013 net assets of E166 million) net assets of E77 million designated as far value hedges (2013 net assets of £108 millan) and net liabilities of
E33 million not designated i a formal hedge refationshup (2013 net assets of £53 mullion)

At 30 June 2014 the carrying value of financial assets that were, upon initiat recognition, designated as finanaial assets at fair value through prefit
orloss was nil (2013 nil)

The Group has entered nto a collar arrangement to manage its exposure to movements in thevalue of certan avarlable-for-sale investments over
a pened of up to 18 months and with a notiona! value of £22 million The collar instrument has net been designated for hedge accounting purposes
with movements in the Fair value of the collar being taken to the tncome statement.

Hedge accounting classification and impact

The Group has designated certain interest rate swaps as fair value hedges of interest rate nisk representing 30% (2013 30%) of the Group s debt
portfolio Movements in the fair valug of the hedged items are taken to the Income statement and are offset by mavements in the fair value of the
hedging instruments to the extent that hedge accounting 1s achieved

The Group has designated certain fixed rate cross-currency swaps as cash flow hedges of 45% (2013 47%) of the Group s debt portfolio As such the
effective portion of the gain or loss on these contracts isreported as a separate companent of the hedging reserve and is then reclassified to the Income
statement in the same peniods that the forecast transactions affect the income statement Cash flows on the swaps occur semi-annually up to and
nclusive of the relevant bond maturity disclosed in note 20 Dunng the current year losses of £140 million were removed from the hedging reserve and
charged to finance costs in the income statement to offset the currency translation movements in the underying hedged debt (2013 gains of £40 million)

The Group designates certain forward foreign exchange contracts and the intrinsic element of options (collars) as cash flow hedges of forecast foreign
currency sales and purchases Gains or [usses are released from the hedging reserve and recyded to the income statement in the same penod as the
hedged item s recognised If forecast transactions are nolonger expected to occur any amounts included in the hedging reserve related to that forecast
transaction would be recognised directly in the income statement Duning the currentyear gans of E7 milion were removed from the hedging reserve
and credited to operating expense in the ncome statement (2013 gains of E2 million) Losses of £2 million were removed from the hedging reserve

and debited to revenue in the income statement (2013 gans of £8 million)

Hedge effectiveness testing s performed quarterly using the dollar-of fset approach The actual meverment in the hedging items 1s compared with
the movement in the valuation of the hypothetically perfect hedge of the underlying risk at inception and any iIneffectiveness 1s recogrised directly
In the income statement Ineffectiveness of £1 million was recognised in the income statement during the current year (2013 £2 milon)

A hedge relabonship ts deemed to be effective if the ratio of changes in valuation of the underlyng hedged item and the hedging instrument 1s withun
the range of 80% to 125% Any relationship which has a ratio outsrde this range 1s deemed to beineffective at which point hedge accounting 1s suspended
Curing the year ended 30 June 2014 there were no instances in which the hedge relationship was not highly effective (2013 no instances)
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Financial instruments

(a) Carrying vatue and fair value
The accounting classification of each class of the Group s financial assets and finanaal habiliies together with thes fair values 1s as follows

Held to Dertvatives  Derrvativesm Total
maturnty Avallable-  deemed held hedging Laans and Other carrying Total far
Investments for-sale fortrading  relationships recenables hatwhties value value
Em Em Em £m £m £m £m Em
At 30 June 2014
Quoted bond debt - - - - - (2592) (2592) (2896)
Dervative financial instruments - - (35) 70 - - 35 35
Trade and other payables - - - - - (1788) (1788) (1788)
Provisions - - - - - 45) 45) {45)
Obligations under finance leases
and other borrowings - - - - - 77 a7 an
Avallable-for-sale investments - 533 - - - - 533 533
Trade and other recevables - - - - 349 - 349 349
Short-term deposits 295 - - - - - 295 295
Cash and cash equivalents 300 - - - 782 - 1082 1082
At 30 June 2013
Quoted bond debt - - - - - (2843) {2843) (3185)
Dervatve financial nstruments - - 53 285 - - 338 338
Trade and other payables - - - - - (1567) (1567) (1.567)
Frovisiens - - - - - (74) (74) (74
Obligations under finance leases
and other borrowings - - - - - 77 an on
Avallable-for-sale Investments - 422 - - - - 422 422
Trade and other recevables - - - - 278 - 278 278
Short-term deposits 595 - - - - - 595 585
Cash and cash equivalents 65 - - - 750 - 815 815

The farr values of financial assets and financial iabilities are determined as follows

« The far value of inancal assets and financal liabiities with standard terms and conditions and which are traded on active Iiquid markets
1s deterrined with reference to guoted market prices

The farr value of ather financial assets and financial labilities (excluding derivative Instruments) is deternined in accordance with generally
accepted priang models based on discounted cash flow analysis using prices from observable current market, transactions and dealer quotes
for similar instrumernts

Foraign currency forward contracts are measured using quoted forward exchange rates and yield curves denved from quoted interest rates
matching maturities of the contracts

Interest rate and cross-currency swaps are measured at the present value of future cash flows estimated and discounted based on the
applicable yield curves denved from quoted interest rates and

The farr value of obligations under finance leases and other borrowings 1s estimated by discounting the future cash flows to net present value
The far value of short-term deposits and cash and cash equivalents 1s equivalent to carrying value due to the short-term nature of these instruments

The differences between carrying values and fair values reflect unrealised gains or losses inherent in the financial instruments based on valuations
as at 30 tune 2014 and 30 June 2013 The volatile nature of the markets means that values at any subsequent date could be significantly different
from the values reported above

Cash and eash equivalents classified as held to matunty Investments comprise money market deposits which have maturity dates of tess than
three months from inception Money market deposits enhanced return nvestments and tri-party repurchase agreements which have maturity
greater than three months from inception are classified as short-term deposits

Cash and cash equivalents classified as loans and recevables mainly compnse investments in AAAm rated money market funds which can
be wathdrawn without notsice
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

(continued)

21 Denvatives and other financial instruments (continued)

(b) Fair value hierarchy
The following table categorises the Group s financial instruments which are held at fair value Into one of three levels to reflect the degree to which
observable inputs are used in determininig their far values

Fair value Levell Lewel2 Lewel 3
Em £Em Em £m

At 30 June 2014
Financial assets
Avallable-for-sale financial instruments
ITVinvestment 514 514 - -
Other investments 19 4 - 15
Finangial assets at fatr value through profit or loss
Interest rate swaps a2 - 82 -
Cross-cuirency swaps a3 - 94 -
Forward foreign exchange contracts 35 - 34 -
Total 743 518 210 15
Financial habiitles
Financial habiiities at fair value through profit or loss
Cross-currency swaps (95) - {93) -
Forward foreign exchange contracts (80) - (80) -
Total (175) - (175) -
At 30 June 2013
Financial assets
Avallable-for-sale financialinstruments
(TV investment 409 409 - -
Otherinvestments 13 - - 13
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Interest rate swaps 109 - 109 -
Cross-currency swaps 233 - 233 -
Forward foreign exchange contracts 38 - 38 -
Total 802 409 380 13
Financial habilities
Financial habilities at far value through profit orioss
Cross-currency swaps (i5) - {15) -
Forward foreign exchange contracts an - @ -
Total (a2) - 42) -

Level1
Fair values measured using quoted prices (unadjusted)in active markets for identical assets or llabihities

Level 2

Fair values measured usinginputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or habibty either
directly orindirectly Derivative financial instrument fair values are present values deterrmned from Future cash flows discounted

at rates derived from market source data

Level 3
Fair values measured using inputs for the asset or lability that are not based on observable market data Certain of the Groups
avallable-for-sale financial assets are held at fair vaiue and are categonsed as Level 3in the farrvalue hierarchy
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22 Financial nsk management
Group Treasury actity

The Group s Treasury function Is responsible for raising finance for the
Group s operations together with assoaated liquidity management
and management of fareign exchange interest rate and credit nsks
Treasury operations are conducted within a framework of policies
and guidelines authonsed and reviewed annually by both the Audit
Committee and the Board which receve regular updates of Treasury
actmty Dervative instruments are transacted for nsk management
purposes only It s the Group s policy that all hedging 1s to cover
known risks and no speculative trading 1s undertaken Regular and
frequent reporting to management 1s required for all transactions
and exposures, and the internal control environment is subject to
periodicreview by the Group s internal audit team

The Group s prinaipal market nsks are exposures to changes in interest
rates and foreign exchange rates, which anse both from the Groups
sources of finance and its operations Following evaluation of those
market nsks the Group selectively enters into derwvative finanaal
instruments to manage these exposures The principal instruments
currently used are Interest rate swaps to hedge interest rate nsks

and cross-currency swaps and forward foresgn exchange contracts

to hedge transactional and translational currency exposures

Interest rate risk

The Group has financal exposures to both UK and US interest

rates arising pnimarily from the Group s long-term bonds and other
borrowings The Group s hedging policy requires that between S0%
and 85% of borrowings are held at fixed rates Thisis achueved by
1ssuing fixed rate bonds and then using interest rate swaps to adjust
the balance between fixed and floating rate dabt The Groups bank
debt s at floating rates and when drawn means that the mix of fixed
and floating rate debt fluctuates and 1s therefore managed to ensure
comphance with the Group s hedging policy At 30 June 2014 80%

of borrowings wera held at fed rates after hedging (2013 80%)

The Group uses denvatives to convert all of its US dollar-dencminated
debt and associated interest rate obligations to pounds sterling

(see section on foreign exchange nisk for further detail) At 30 June
2034 the Group had no net US dollar denominated interest rate
exposure on Its borrowngs

The Group designates Its interest rate swaps as far value hedges
of interest rate nsk. Movements in the fair value of the hedged
exposure are taken to the ncome statement and are offset by
movements in the far value of the hedging instruments which

are also taken to the Income statement. Any hedge ineffectiveness
1S recogimised directly in the Income statement. In the year ended
30 June 2014 this amounted te £1million (2013 £2 million)

At 30 June 2014 and 30 June 2013 the Group s annual finance
costs would be unaffected by any change to the Group s credit.
rating in either direction

Interest rate sensitivity

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the
exposure to interest rates for both dervatives and non-derivative
financial nstruments at the balance sheet date For floating rate
habilities the anatysis s prepared assuming the amount of hability
outstanding at the balance sheet date s outstanding for the
whole year

Financial statements - Netes to the consalrdated financal statements

For each one hundred basis point nise or fall in interest rates
at 30 June 2014 and if all other vanables were held constant

The Group s profit for the year ended 30 tune 2014 would increase
ar decrease by £8 million (2013 profit for the year would increase
or decrease by £9 nullion) The year-on-year movermnent s dnven
by adecrease in the cash balance held

Other equity reserves would decrease or Increase by £6 millon
(2013 decrease or ncrease by £15 million) ansing from movements
in cash flow hedges

Aone hundred basis point nse or fallininterest rates represents
a large but realistic movement which can easily be multiphed ta
give sensitivities at different interest rates

The sensitivity analyses provided are hypothetical only and should
be used with caution as the )mpacts provided are not necessarily
indicative of the actual impacts that would be experienced because
the Group s actual exposure to market rates changes as the Groups
portfolio of debt cash and foresgn currency contracts changes

In addition the effact of a change in a particular market vanable

an fair values or cash Flows i1s calculated without considenng
interrelationships between the vanous market rates of mitigating
actions that would be taken by the Group The changes in valuations
are estimates of the impact of changes in market varables and are
not a prediction of future events or anticipated gains or losses

Foreign exchange nsk

A combination of cross-cumency and interast rate swap arrangements
1S used to convert the Group s US dollar denominated debt and
associated interest rata obligations to pounds stering at fixed
exchange rates At 30 June 2014 the split of the Group s aggregate
borrowings into ther core currencies was WS dollar 1% and pounds
sterling 29% (2013 US dollar 73% and pounds sterling 27%) At 30 June
2014 100% of the Groups long-term borrowings, after the impact of
derwatives are denominated in pounds steriing

The Group s revenues and cperating expenses are substantialty
denominated in pounds sterling A small proportion of operating
expenses 15 denominated In US dollars wh:le a small proportion of
revenues is denominated in euros In the current year, approximately
16% of operating expenses (£1 043 million) was denominated in US
dollars (2013 approximately 10% (£614 million)) and 5% of revenues
(£393 miiton) was denominated in eures (2013 5% (£392 million))

The US dollar expense relates mainly to the Group s programming
contracts with US supphers, togetherwith US dollar-denominated
set-top box cests The euro revenues primanly refate to subscribers
located in Irefand The Group s exposure to euro-denominated revenue
15 offset to a certain extent by euro-denominated costs related mainly
to certain transponder costs, the net position being a euro surplus
(2013 surplus)

The Group hedges currency exposures on US dollar and eurg-
denominated highly probable cash flows by using forward foreign
exchange contracts purchased up to five years ahead of the cash flow
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

(continued)

22. Finanaal risk management (continued)

It rs the Group s palicy that all anticipated foreign currency exposures
are substantially hedged in advance of the year in which they occur

At 30 June 2014 the Group had purchased forward forergn exchange
contracts representing up to

+ Approximately 95% of US dollar-denominated costs faling
due within ane year (2013 90%) and approximately B0%
of US dollar-denonunated casts falling due within five years
(2013 approximately 80%) which are hedged via

= Qutstanding comnmitments to purchase in aggregate
US$2.358 million (2013 US$1,926 million) at an average
rate of US$1 60 to £1 00 (2013 US$I1 5610 £100)

+ Approxmately 95% of net euro-denominated revenues falling
due within one year (2013 approximately 95%) and approximately
80% of net euwro-denominated revenues falling due within four
years (2013 approximately 80%) which are hedged via

« Qutstanding commitments to sell, in aggregate, €1,078 million
(2013 €1039 mullion) at an average rate of €118 to £100
(2013 €119 to £100)

« Qutstanding commitments to purchase in aggregate €111 millan
(2013 €119 million) at an average rate of €118 to E100 (2013 €116
to E100)

Two forward foreign exchange contracts fall due beyond five years
(2013 none)

The Group designates the following as cash flow hedges for hedge
accounting purposes

+ Forward foreign exchange contracts

» Cross-currency swaps where interest on both legs is at a fixed
interestrate

As such the effective portion of the gain or loss on these contracts
1s reparted as a compenent of the hedging reserve outside the
income statement and I1s then reclassified to the income statement
ih the same penods that the forecast transactions affect the ncome
statement Ineffectiveness of less than £1 million was recognised

in the income statement durning the year (2013 £1 million)

A combination of US dollar denominated interest rate and US doflar/
pound stering cross-currency swaps Is used to convert fixed dollar
denominated debt to floating sterhng denominated debt The interest
rate swaps are designated as farr value hedges The associated
Cross-currency swaps are not designated as hedging instruments

for hedge accountng purposes and as such, movements in their
value are recorded directly in the Income statement

Foreign exchange sensitivity

The followeng analyses details the Group s sensitivity to movements
i pounds sterling against those currencies in which it has sigmficant
transactions The sensitivity analysis includes foreign currency
denominated assets and habiities at the balance sheet date and
outstanding foreign currency denominated finanaal instruments
and adjusts therr transiation at the penod end for a 25% change

n foreign currency rates

A 25% strengthening in pounds sterling aganst the US dollar would
have the effect of reducing profit by £15 milhon (2013 reducing profit
by £21 mition) of which losses of £16 miflian relate to non-cash
movements i the valuation of dervatives (2013 losses of £23 million)
The same strengtherung would have an adverse unpact on other
equity of £288 millon (2013 adverse impact of £237 milkon)

A 25% weakening in pounds sterling against the US dollar would
have the effect of increasing profit by £25 million (2013 increasing
profit by £34 milhon) of which gains of E27 million relate to non-cash
movemnents in the valuation of dervatives (2013 gains of £38 milhion)
The same weakening would have a bengficral impact on other equity
of E479 millien {2013 benefizial impact of £395 miliion)

A 25% strengthening in pounds sterling against the euro would have
the effect of increastng profit by £2 million (2013 decreasing profit
ty £1 milhlon) Nene of this amount relates o non-cash movements
in the valuation of denivatives The same strengthening would have
a benefiaal impact on other equity of £155 milkion (2013 beneficial
impact of £157mithon)

A 25% weakening in pounds sterling against the euro would have

the effect of decreasing profit by £3milhon (2013 increasing profit

by £1 mullror) None of this amount relates to non-cash movements

n the valuation of derivatives The same weakening would have t
an adverse impact on other equity of £259 millon (2013 adverse

impact of E262 mithon)

The sensitivity analyses provided are hypothetical only and should
be used with caution as the impacts provided are not necessanty
indicative of the actual impacts that would be expenenced because
the Group s actual exposure to market rates s constantly changing
as the Group s portfoho of debt, cash and foreign currency contracts
changes Inaddition the effect of a change in a particular market
variable on farr values or cash flows Is calculated without considering
interrelabionships between the vanous market rates or mibigatng
actions that would be taken by the Group The changes invaluations
are estimates of the impact of changes in market varniables and

are not a prediction of future events or antrcipated gains or losses

Hedge accounting

The interest rate and foreign exchange rate risk sections above
outline the Group s polioes regarding use of dervative products
Further detar on valuatiens and the impact of hedge accounting
during the year are provided in nate 21

Credit nsk

The Group Is exposed to counterparty default risk amounting
to invested cash and cash eguivalents and short-term deposits
and the positive fasr value of derrvatve financial assets held

This rnisk 1s deemed to be low Counterparty risk forms a central part
of the Group s Treasury policy which 1s monitored and reported on
regularly The Group manages credit nsk by diversifying its exposures
across a wide number of counterparties such that the maximum
exposure to anyindividuzal counterparty was 7% of the total asset
value of iInstruments at the end of the year Treasury polices ensure
that all denvative transactions are only effected wath strong
relationship banks and at the date of signing each carried a minimum
credit rating of Baal” or equivalent from Standard & Poors To mitigate
remaintng nsks counterparty credit and soveraign raungs are closely
monitored and no more than 10% of cash deposits are heldwith a
single bank counterparty {with the exception of overrught deposits
which are invested in a spread of AAAf rated hquidity funds).

The amount recogmsed in the Income statement in respect of
credit risk for denivatives deemed held for trading 1s mil 2013 nul)

Credit risk in our residential customer base 1s mitigated by bilbng
and collecting inadvance for digital telewsion subseriptions for
over 99% of our residential customer base The Groups maximum
expasure to credit nsk on trade recewables is the carrying amounts
asdiscdosed innote 17
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Cur prinaipal source of hgquidity is cash generated from operations combined with access to a £743 midlion RCF which expires in October 2018

At 30 june 2014 thes facihity was undrawn (30 June 2013 undrawn)

Te ensure contmuity of funding, the Group $ policy 1s to ensure that avatlable funding matures over a penod of years At 30 Juna 2014, 29%

(2013 40%) of the Group s total available funding (including avatlable undrawn amounts on our RCF) was due to mature in mora than five years

Full details of the Group s borrowings and undrawn facilities are shown in note 20 other than trade and other payables shown in note 18

and provisions, shown in note 19

The following tabie analyses the Group's non-dervative financial labilibes net settled derivative finanaal instruments and gross settled financial
nstruments into relevant matunty groupings based on the remaining pencd at the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date The amounts
disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows and may therefore not reconcile to the amounts disclosed on the balance sheet

for borrowings denvative financial instruments prowisions and trade and other payables

Between Between
Less than one and tweand  Morethan
12months twoyears frveyears frveyears
Em Em £m £m
At 30 June 2014
Non denvative financial llabilities
Bonds - USD 2 541 1002 947
Bonds - GBP 4] 41 S00 444
Obhgauons under finance leases and other borrowings n 12 27 139
Trade and other payables 1686 99 3 -
Provisions 35 8 - 2
Net settled dervatives
Financial assets (30} (24) (41) -
Gross settled denvatives
Outflow 1356 129 1867 960
Inflow (1327 {1121 (1865) (855)
Between Between
Less than eneand twoand  Morethan
R months  twoyears fiveyears  fiveyears
£m £m £m £m

At 30 June 2013
Non dervative financial labihties
Bonds - USD 125 125 129 1490
Bonds - GBP 4 M 500 462
Obltgations under finance leases and other borrowings n n 27 144
Trade and other payables 1,457 107 3 -
Provisions 66 4 1 3
Net settled denvatives
Financal assets {32) (32) (65) )
Gross settled dervatives
Outflow 1020 760 1687 1,381
tnflow (1028} 775 {1876) a7

Capital Risk Management

The Group s abjectives when managing capital are to endeavour to ensure that the Graup has the ability to access capital markets when nacessary and
to optimise hquidity and operating flexibility through the arrangement of new debt while seeking to minimise the cost of capital The Group monitors
its liquichity requirements regularly and is satisfied that it has access to sufficent iqudity and operating flexibility to meet its capital requirements

The Group manages its short and long-term capital structure by seeking to rnantan leverage ratios consistent with a long-term investment grade
credit rating (BBB- or better from Standard & Poar 5 and Baa3 or better from Moody s) The Group $ current, ratings are BBB+ (Standard & Poor s)

and Baal (Moody's) The leverage ratios assessed by these rabing agenties are those of Net Debt EBITDA and Gross Debt EBITDA Net Debtis defined
as total borrowings including the cash flows arising under cperating leases and transponder prepayments less cash and cash equivalents excluding
dervatives Gross Debt does not reduce total borrowings by the inclusion of cash and cash equivalents

The Group 1S also required to maintam a Net Debt EBITDA ratio below 3001 and an EBITDA to Net Interest Payable ratio at above 3 501 under the

terms of its RCF The RCF definitzon of Net Debt does not require the inclusion of future operating lease or transponder cash flows

At 30 June 2014 the Net Debt. EBITDA ratio as defined by the terms of the RCF was 07 1(2013 071) and the EBITDA to Net Interest Payable ratio

was1331(2013 1341)
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(continued)
23 Share capital

204 2013
£m Em
Aflotted called-up and fully paid shares of 50p 1562 835,017 (2013 1553 905182) 781 797
2014 2M3
Number of Number of
ordinary ordmnary
shares shares
Allotted and fully paid duning the year
Beginning of year 1593905182 1674454881
Shares repurchased and subsequently cancelled {3020165)  (BOS49699)
End of year 1,562 885,017  1,593905182
The Company has one dass of erdinary shares which carry equal voting nghts and ne contractual right to recerve payment Full details of the
Company’s share buy-back programme are provided in note 24
Share option and contingent share award schemes
The Company operates various equity-settled share option schemes (the “Schemes”) for certan employees
The number of newly Issued shares which may be allocated under the Schemes on any day shall not, when aggregated with the number of
newly 1ssued shares which have been allacated in the previous ten years under the Schemes and any other employee share scheme adopted
by the Company, exceed such number as represents five per cent of the ordinary share capital of the Company inissue immediately prior to
that day In determining this imit no account shall be taken of any newty iIssued shares where the nght to acquire the newly issued shares was
released fapsed cancelled or otherwise became mcapable of exerase Options and awards which will be satisfied by ESOP shares do not fall
wathin these headroom limits
The share awards outstanding can be summansed as foliows
2014 2003
Number of Number of
ordinary crdinary
shares shares
Executive Share Option Scheme optionst 147020 93 247
Sharesave Scheme options® 7976924 71595954
Management |.TIP awards® 16056 961 24365112
LTIP awards™ 5575000 8844132
Management Co-Investment LTIP awards® 20658719 1975705
Co-Investment LTIP awards™ 2235172 2.068175

34056796 45,344,325

(1) Executive Share Option Scheme options
All Executive Share Option Scheme aptions outstanding at 30 June 2014 and 30 June 2013 have vested No options have been granted under
the scheme since 2004

Grants under the Executive Share Option Scheme were made on an annual basis to selected employees with the exerase price of options being
equal to the Company s share price on the date of grant For thase options with performance conditions, growth (n £PS had to exceed growth

In the Retail Pnces Index plus 3% per annum in order for awards to vest Options vested on an accelerated basts over a penicd of up te fowr years
from the date of grant The contractual hife of all Executive Share Option Scheme options s ten years

(1) Sharesave Schema options

Al Sharesave Scheme options outstanding at 30 June 2014 and 30 June 20i3 have no perfarmance critena attached other than the requirement
that the employee remans in employment with the Group Options granted under the Sharesave Scheme must be exerased within six months

of the relevant award vesting date

The Sharesave Scheme is open to all employees Options are normally exercisable after either three or five years from the date of grant The price
at which options are offered 1s not less than 80% of the middle-market price on the dealing daymmediately preceding the date of Invitation
It 15 the policy of the Group to make an imatation to employees to partiapate in the scheme following the announcement of the end of year results

(iir) Management LTiP awards
All Management LTIP awards outstanding at 30 June 2014 and 30 June 2013 vest only If performance condiions are met Awards granted under
the Management LTIP must be exercised withuin Five years of the relevant award vestng date

The Company grants awards to selected employees under the Management LTIP Awards under this scheme murror the LTIP with the same
performance conditions Awards exercised under the Management LTIP can only be satisfied by the issue of market-purchased shares

(V) LTIP awards
All LTIP awards outstanding at 30 June 2014 and 30 June 2013 vest only If performance conditions are met Awards granted under the LTIP must
be exeraised within five years of the relevant award vesting date
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The Company operates the LTIP for Executive Directors and Senior Executives Awards under the scheme are granted in the form of a nil-pniced

option and are satsfied using market-purchased shares The awards vest in full or in part dependent on the satisfaction of speaified performance

targets For awards made in 2008 and 2609 (1e awards that vested in 2011) 30% of the award vested dependent on TSR performance over
athree year performance period relative to the constituents of the FTSE 100 at the time of grant, and the rematming 70% vested dependent
on performance aganst operational targets The TSR performance targets were not applicable to awards made between July 2010 and
March 2012 but have been re-introduced for awards granted from Jjuly 2012 onwards

(v) Management Co-investment LTIP awards
All Management Co-lnvestment LTIP awards cutstanding at 30 June 2014 and 30 June 2013 vest only if perfarmance concliions are met
Awards granted under the Management Co-Investment LTIP must be exerased withuin five years of the relevant award vesting date

The Company grants awards to selected employees under the Management Co-Investment LTIP Awards under this scheme mirror the
Co-lhwestimnent LTIP vath the same perfarmance conditions

{vi) Co-Investment LTIP awards
All Co-Investment LTIP awards outstanding at 30 June 2014 and 30 June 2013 vest only if performance condiions are met Awards granted
under the Co-lrvestment LTIP must be exercised within five years of the relevant award vesung date

The Company operates the Co-Investment LTIP award for Executive Directors and Senior Executives Employees who partiipate in the plan
are granted a conditional award of shares based on the amourit they hawve invested in the Company s shares The imvestment will be matched
up to a maximum of 15 shares for every share invested subject te a three-year EPS performance condition

For the purposes of the disclosure below the Management LTIF, LTIP Management Co-Investment LTIP and Co-Investment LTIP awards
("Senior Management, Schemes™) have been aggregated

The movemnent in share awards outstanding Is summarised in the following table

Seror management

Executive 5cheme Sharesave Scheme Schames Total

Werghted Werghted Wesghted Weighted

average average average average

exercise exercise exercise exercise

price price price price

Number £ Number [4 Number [ Number E

Cutstanding at 1 Juby 2012 2630 435 584 7238348 494 25303300 000 35172083 145
Granted dunng the year - - 2059022 608 15012591 000 17071613 073
Exercised dunng the year (1595,820) 588 (1341667) 440  (1824435) Q00  (4765922) 32
Forfeited during the year {54 334) 604 (795749 519 (1238332 000 (2098 415) 218
Expired dunng the year {35034) 530 - - - - (35 034) 530
Qutstanding at 30 June 2013 934 247 579 7155954 534 37253124 Q00 45344 325 Q096
Granted duning the year - - 302221 682 10068805 000 13091016 157
Exerased duning the year {7N806) 595 {1,217397) 496 (20763738) 000 (22752935) o047
Forfeited during the year {10516 503 (961166} 589 (625 339) [o]as] {1557021} 358
Expired dunng the year (1,905) 662 (26684) 447 - - (28 589) 461
Qutstanding at 30 June 2014 147,020 503 7,976,924 590 25932 852 000 34,056 796 140

The weighted average market price of the Group s shares at the date of exeruse for share opions exerased dunngthe year was £8 42(2013 £783)
For those exercised under the Executive Scheme it was E8 48 (2013 E779) for those exeraised under the Sharesave Scheme it was EB 82 (2013 £819)

and for those exercised under the Senior Management Schemes It was £8 40 (2013 £760)
The middle-market closing price of the Company’s shares at 27 June 2014 was £8 93 {28 June 2013 £792)

The following table summarises information about share awards outstanding at 30 June 2014

Sentor management

Exacutive Scheme Sharesave Scheme Schemes Total

Waighted weghted Weighted Weighted

average average average average

remaining remaining remaming remairmng

contractual contractual contractual contractual

Iife Iife Iife ufe

Range of exercise prices Number Years Number Years Number Years Number Years
EQQO-£1Q0 - - - - 25932852 60 25932852 G0
E300-£400 - - 28381 o1 - - 28381 e}
E400-£500 - - 339644 1 - - 338644 1
ES00-£600 147020 01 31239353 20 - - 3386373 19
E6 00D - £700 - - 4369546 31 - - 4369546 N
147,020 01 7976924 25 25932852 60 34056796 52
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

(continued)
23 Share capital (continued)

‘The following table summanses information about share awards outstanding at 30 June 2013

Senior management.

Executivg Scheme Sharesave Scheme Schemes Tatal

Weighted Weghted Weighted Waeighted

average average average average

remaining remaining remaning remaining

contractual contractual contractual contractual

Iife life ife hfe

Range of exerase prices Number Years Number Years Number Years Number Years
£EQO0-E100 - - - - 37253124 59 37253124 59
£300-~-£400 - - 410643 1 - - 410643 H
£400 - E500 - - 440,34 17 - - 440134 17
£500-£600 485586 R 4387409 6 - - 4872995 25
£600~£700 444163 02 1921768 35 - - 2365931 29
£700~£8G0 1498 o7 - - - - 1498 Q7
931247 Q7 7159554 27 37253124 59 45344325 53

The range of exercise prices of the awards outstanding at 30 June 2014 was between nil and £6 82 (2013 niland £716) For those awards outstanding
under the Executive Scheme it was between £5 03 and £5 39 (2013 £5 03 and £716) for those outstanding under the Sharesave Scheme it was between
£372and £6 82 (2013 £3 72 and £608) and for alt awards cutstanding under the Senior Management Schemes the exercise price was nil (2013 ml)

The following table summanses additional infarmation about the awards exercisable at 30 June 2014 and 30 June 2013

2014 2013

Average Average
remaning  Weighted remaining  Weighted
contractual average contractual average
Options hfe of exerase OCptions Ife of exercise
exerasable exercsable price  exercisable exercsable price
at 3¢ June options £ at 30 June ophons £
Executive Scheme 147020 o1 503 931247 07 579
Sharesave Scheme 78668 o 495 97457 o1 449
Senior Management Schemes 872229 35 000 663972 37 000
1,097,917 28 103 1692.676 18 345

Information for awards granted during the year

The weighted average far value of equity-settled share options granted duning the year as esumated at the date of grant, was £5 53 (2013 £516)
This was calculated using the Black-Scholes share option pncing model except for awards which have market-based performance conditions
where a Monte-Carlo simulation model was used and for grants of nil-priced options which were treated as the award of a free share The farr
value of nil-priced options granted duning the year was measured on the basis of the market-price of the Company’s shares on the date of grant,

discounted for expected dividends which would not be received over the vestung period of the options

The Maonte-Carlo simulation model reflected the histoncal volauliues of the Company s share price and those of al!l ather companies to which
the Company s performance would be compared over a penod equal to the vestng period of the awards

Expected volatility was determined by caleulating the historical volatiity of the Company s share price over a penod equal to the expected life
of the options Expected life was based on the contractual ife of the awards and adjusted based on management s best estimate, for the
effects of exercise restrictions and behavioural considerations

(i} Sharesave Scheme

The weighted average far value of equity-settled share awards granted during the year under the Sharesave Scheme, as estimated at the
date of grant was £189 (2013 £151) This was calculated using the Black-Scholes share option priang model

The following weighted average assumptions were used in calculating these farr values

2014 213
Share price £870 £751
Exergise price £6 82 £608
Expected volatiity 22% 24 0%
Expected life 40years 40years
Expected didends 33% 34%
Risk-free interest rate 12% 04%
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(i) Semor management Schemes

The weighted average fair value of equity-settled share awards granted dunng the year under the Semor Management Schemes as estimated
at the date of grant was £662 (2013 £566) The fair value of awards with market-based performance conditions was calculated using
aMonte-Carlo simulation model Awards granted as nil-priced options were treated as the award of a free share Forallether awards

fair value was calculated using the Black-Schotes share option pricing model

The following weighted average assumptions were used 1n calculating these fair values

2014 2013
Share price £828 £716
Exercise price EOQQ EQ00
Expected volatibty 191% 63%
Expectediife 2lyears 3 0vyears
Expected dividends 33% 36%
Risk-free interest rate 04% 00%
24 Shareholders’ equity
2014 2013
Em £m
Share capital 781 797
Share premium 1437 1437
ESOP reserve (145) 147y
Hedging reserve (20} n
Avallable-for-sale reserve 455 351
Other reserves 455 439
Retained earnings {891) (1876)
1072 1012

Purchase of own equity shares for cancellation

On 1 November 2012 at the Company's AGM, the Company was granted the authonity to return £500 mithon of capital to shareholders via a share
buy-back programme (the “November 2012 Autherity”) This authonty was subject to an agreement between the Company and Twenty-first
Century Fox Inc (formerly known as News Corperation) (and others) dated 28 July 2012 whereby following any market purchases of shares by
the Company, Twenty-First Century Fox In¢ would sell to the Company sufficient shares to mantam its percentage shareholding at the same
level as applied prior to those market purchases The price payable to Twenty-First Century Fox, Ing would be the pnce payable by the Company
inrespect of the refevant market purchases (the "2012 Share Buy-back Agreement”)

At the Company's AGM on 22 November 2013 the Company was granted the authonity to return a Further £500 million of capital to shareholders
wia a share buy-back programme (the “Novemnber 2013 Aauthority”) This authornity was subject to an agreement between the Company and
Twenty-First Century Fox Inc.{and others) dated 25 July 2013 on substantially the same terms as the 2012 Share Buy-back Agreement.

Duning the year the Company purchased and subsequently cancelled 31,020165 ordinary shares at an average prce of £8 53 per share with a
nomsnal vatue of £16 million, for a consideration of £266 million Consideration included stamp duty and commission of E1 million This represents
2% of called-up share capital at the beginning of the penod Of these purchases the Company purchased and subsequently cancelled 12,140 586
ordinary shares from Twenty-First Century Fox, Inc at an average price of £8 53 per share with a nominal value of £& million, for a consideration

of E104 milien Consideration included stamp duty of £1 millon

Dunng the prior year the Company purchased and subsequently cancelled 80 549 699 ordinary shares at an average price of £775 per share
with a nominal value of £40 millton for a consideration of E627 million Consideratton nduded stamp duty and commission of £3 million

This represents 5% of called-up share capital at the beginning of the peniod Of these purchases the Company purchased and subsequently
cancelled, 31 525,314 ordinary shares from Twenty-First Century Fox, Inc at an average price of £775 per share with a nominal value of £16 miflion
for a consideration of £245 milion Consideration included stamp duty of £1million
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
(continued)

24 Shareholders’ equity (continued)

The followang table prowides information about purchases of eguity shares by the campany induding purchases by the Group s ESOP
dunng the fiscal year

Captal Capital
Total capital  Totalcapital authonisedto autherised to
returned returned  beretumed  bereturned
under the under the under the under the
Total Average November November November November
number of prce paid 2012 203 2012 2013
shares pershare Authonty Authonty Authonty Authonty

purchased®* £ Em®? Em® Emie Emi
Juty - - - - 61 -
August 20824829 838 17 - 44 -
September 815530 854 - - 44 -
October - - - - 44 -
November 5464285 g3 EE] 12 - 488
December 6,45898% 803 - 52 - 436
January 196152 825 - 2 - 434
February 425070 8BO - 37 - 397
March 1694 462 917 - 16 - 381
Aprit 3560001 893 - 32 - 349
May 5482357 B72 - 48 - am
June 1807361 87 - 16 - 285
TJotal for the year ended 30 June 2014 50554 676 848 50 215 - 285

¢y Allshare purchases are included in the month of settlement
{1} The Navember 2012 Authority expirad on 22 November 2013 Accordingly no more repurchases can take place under this authonty

Share premium and special reserve

On 13 December 2003 the High Court approved a reduction in the Company’s share premium account of £1120 million as approved by the
Company's shareholders at the AGM held on 14 November 2003 This amount was equal to the Company-only profit and loss account reserve

deficit at 30 June 2003 As part of the application the Company's balance sheet at 30 September 2003 was required to be presented At that date
the deficit on the Company-enly profit and loss account reserve had reduced by E14 million since 30 June 2003 to £1106 million As a condition of
the reduction the reduction in the share premium account of £1120 mifion was permitted to be offset against the profit and loss account reserve
by the amount of the deficit at 30 September 2003 The excess of £14 millton was credited to a special reserve which s incduded in other reserves
and, under the terms of the reduction will remain undistnbutable unti all the creditors of the Company and its guarantors (as at 10 December 2003)
are pad

ESQP reserve

The cost of the Company’s ordinary shares held by the Group s ESOP Is treated as a deduction in arrving at total shareholders equty The movement
in the ESOP reserva was as foliows

Number of Average
ordinary price paid
shares per share £m
At1July 2012 16293345 £685 n2
Share options exercised during the year (4765922 £ENn4 (34)
Shares purchased by the ESOP dunng the year 9000000 E£765 69
At 30 June 2013 20527423 £715 147
Share opticns exercised during the year {22.752935) £727 (166)
Shares purchased by the ESOP duning the year 18834351 £840 64
At 30 June 2014 17,308 999 £8 40 145

Hedging reserve

Changes in the fair values of denvatives that are designated as cash flow hedges are initially recognised in the hedging reserve and subsequently
recogrised in the income statement when the related hedged items are recognised rn the income statement In addition deferred taxation relating
to these derwvatives 1s also initially recogniised in the hedging reserve pnor to transfer to the income statement

Available-for-sale reserve

Available-for-sale iInvestments are carrited at fair value where this can be reliably measured with mevements in the fair value recognised directly
In the availlable-for-sale reserve At 30 jJune 2014 the Groups avalable-for-sale reserve was £455million (2013 £ 351 million)
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Other reserves

The Group s other reserves include a capital redemption reserve a merger reserve a foreign currency translation reserve and a special reserve
The capital redemption reserve was E190 rmiilion as at 30 June 2014 (2013 £i74 milhon) The merger reserve was £222 millon as at 30 June 2014

Finandal staternents - Notes to the consalidated finanoal statements

(2013 £222 milion) The speaial reserve was £14 million as at 30 June 2014 (2013 £14 mullion) The fareign currency translation reserve was

£29 million as at 30 June 2014 (2013 £29 millon)

Merger resarve

The merger reserve was created in accordance with the merger relief provisions under section 131 of the Companies Act 1985 (as amended)
and section 612 of the Companies Act 2006 relabing to the accounting for business combinations involng the 1ssue of shares at a premum
Merger relief provided relief from the requirement to ereate a share premium account tn a parent company’s balance sheet In prepanng
consohdated financal statements, the amount by which the faw value of the sharesissued exceeded thair nominal value was recorded
within a merger reserve on consolidation rather thanin a share premium account This merger reserve was retained upen transition to

IFRS as allowed under UK law

The merger reserve whichis included In other reserves was created as aresult of the purchase by the Group of interests in two entities
SIG was purchased on 12 July 2000 where consideration was paid by the issue of equity sharesin the Company BB was purchased between

28 June 2001 and 11 November 2002, where consideration was paid by the issue of equity shares in the Company At 30 June 2014, the Groups

merger reserve was £222 milion (2013 £222 million)

25 Notes to the consolidated cash flow statement

Recondillation of profit before tax to cash generated from operations

2014 2013
Em £m
Profit before tax 1,082 1,257
Depreciation and rrmpairment of praperty plant and equipment 208 176
Amortisation and imparment of intangible assets 228 202
Share-based payment expense 60 80
Net finance costs na 80
Share of results of joint ventures and associates (35) (46)
1,657 1,749
(Increase) decrease m trade and other recewables 28 E5]
Increase ininventones - 93
Increase in trade and other payables 183 136
(Decrease) increase In Provisions “n 52
Increase (decrease) 1n derivative finanoal instruments 4 @
Cash generated from operations 3,769 1,877
26 Contracted commitments, contingencles and guarantees
a) Future mimmum expenditure contracted for but not recognised in the financial statements
Year Year Year Year Year
ending ending ending ending ending Tatal at Total at
30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June Afters 30 June 30 June
205 2016 2017 2018 2019 years 2014 2013
Em £m £m Em Em £m £m Em
Telewsion programme nghts 1482 1374 569 40 187 368 4401 4763
Set-top boxes and related equipment 180 - - - - - 180 202
Third party payments® 65 58 28 4 - - 155 189
Transponder capacity™® 78 75 N 64 64 167 519 634
Property plant and equipment 36 - - - - - 36 17
intangible assets™ 31 26 24 18 5 - 104 w2
Smarteards™ 4] 42 42 a3 10 - 178 232
Cther 236 121 949 53 5 7 521 574
2149 1696 833 592 281 543 6,094 6723

Foregn currency commitiments are translated to pounds sterling at the rate prevailing on the balance sheet date

(0 Thetherd party payment commitments are in respect of disthbution agreements for the television channe!s owned and broadcast by third parties retailed by the

Grouwp 1o retall and commergial subscribers {“Sky Distnbuted Channels”™).

() Transponder capadty camimitments are Inrespect of the SES satellites that the Group uses for digital ransmussions (o bath retall subscnbers and cable operatars
(i) Comrmitments mrelation to the prowsion of smartcards Smartcards under development are iIncluded within intangble assets The amounts ncluded above are the

expected ongoing Smartcard costs based on forecast customer levels
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
(continued)

b) Contingencies and guarantees

Certain subsichanes of the Company have agreed to provide additionat funding to several of their investments in imited and unlirmited companies
and partnerships in accordance with Funding agreements Payment of this additronal funding would be required if requested by the investees in
accordance with the funding agreements The maximum potential amount of future paytrients which may be required to be made by the subsidianes
of the Company to ther investments in both hmited and unlimited compan:es and partnerships under the undertakings and additional funding
agreements 15 £17 milion (2013 £25 million)

The Group has guarantees In place relaung to the Group s borrowings, see note 20

Ofcem determination

Inctuded within direct networks costs for the year ended 30 June 2013 s a credit of £32 millien 1n relation to a credit note received from BT
following an Ofcom determination in 2012 which requared BT to repay monies to Sky for avercharged-for Ethernet services (backhaul) between
2006/07 and 200810 {2013 £32 milhen) Sky BT and others have appealed Ofcom's determination 1n the CAT

27 Operating lease commitments

The mirumum lease rentals to be paid under non-cancellable operating leases at 30 June are as follows

2014 2013

Em £m

Within one year 47 49
Between one and twe years a1 42
Between two and three years 41 35
Between three and four years 2 37
Between four and five years 14 18
After five years 13 45
197 226

The majonty of operating leases relate to property The rents payable under these leases are subject to renegotiation at the vanous intervals
specified inthe leases

The minimum sub-lease rentals to te received under non-cancellable operating sub-leases at 30 June are as follows

2014 2013

£m £m

Within one year 1 2
Between one and two years - 2
Between two and three years - 2
Between three and four years - 2
Between four and five years - 1
After five years - 5
1 14

Sub-lease rentals pnmarly relate to property leases

28 Transactions with related parties and major shareholders
a) Enutles with jotnt contrel or sigmficant influence

During the year the Group conducted business transactions with companies that form part of the Twenty First Century Fox Inc group, a major
shareholder in the Company

Transactions with related parties and amounts cutstanding in refation to those transactions and with related parties at 30 June are as follows

2014 2013

Em £m

Supply of goods or services by the Group 82 89
Purchases of goods or services by the Group (127) (156)
Amounts owed to the Group s 7
Amounts owed by the Group (134) (102

At 30 tune 2014 the Group had expenditure commitments of E99 milion In relation to transactions with related parties 2013 £97 million)
all of which related to minimum telewsion programming nghts commitments

Goods and services supphed
During the year the Greup supplied set-top boxes programming, artime transmission marketng consuitancy services customer relatranship
management services and a licence to use the Sky brand to Twenty-First Century Fox Inc companies
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28 Transactions with related partres and major shareholders (continued)

Purchases of gaods and services and certain other relationships
During the year the Group purchased programming and technical and marketing senvices from Twenty-First Century Fox, Inc. companies

There s an agreement between Twenty-First Century Fox, In¢ and the Group pursuant to which it was agreed that, for 50 lang as Twenty-First
Century Fox, Inc directly or indirectly holds an interest of 30% or more in the Group Twenty-First Century Fox, Inc. will not engage in the business
of satellite broadcasting in the UK or Ireland

Share buy-back programme

During the year the Company purchased and subsequently cancelled 12140 586 ordinary shares held by Twenty-First Century Fox Inc as part
of 1ts share buy-back programme For further details, see note 24

b} toint ventures and associates

Transactions between the Company and its subsidianes which are related parties have been eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed
In this note Transacuons between the Groupn and its joint ventures and associates are disclosed below

Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, jeint ventures and associates are disclosed in the Company’s separate finanaal statements

204 203

£m £m

Supply of services by the Group 19 22
Purchases of goods or services by the Group (66) (66)

Amounts owed by joint ventures and asscaates to the Group 8 9
Amounts owed to joint ventures and associates by the Group (1 @

Services supphed are primarily the prowision of transponder capaaty marketing, arime sales and support services Purchases represent fees payable
for channel carnage Asnounts owed by joint ventures and associates include £1 milion (2013 £1 million) relating to loan Funding

These loans bear interest at arate of one month LIBOR plus 1% The maximum amount of loan funding outstanding in totat from joint ventures and
assowates during the year was E1millon (2013 £7 million)

The Group took out a number of forward exchange contracts with counterparty banks during the year on behalf of the joint venture AETN UK
On the same dates as these forward contracts were entered inta the Group entered into equal and opposite contracts with AETN UK 1n respect
of these forward contracts

Consequently the Group was not exposed to any of the net gamns orlosses on these forward contracts The face value of forward exchanga contracts
with AETN UK that had not matured as at 30 June 2014 was £4 milhen (2013 £8 millon)

Duning the year US$4 million (2013 US$4 million) was paid to the joint venture upon maturity of Forward exchange contracts and less than
US$1 million (2013 USEn) was receved from the Joint venture upon maturity of forward exchange contracts

During the year £3 mithon (2013 £2 million) was received from the joint venture upon maturity of forward exchange contracts and £5 million
(2013 £3 million) was paid to the joint venture upon matunty of forward exchange contracts

Ounng the year €5 million (2013 €4 million) was received from the joint venture upon maturity of forward exchange contracts and less than
€1 million (2013 €nil) was paid to the joint venture upon matunty of forward exchange contracts

At 30 June 2014 the Group had minimum expenditure commitments of £3 million (2013 £4 millon) with its joint ventures and assocates

¢) Other transactions with related parties

Aclose family member of one Director of the Company runs Freud Comenunications Limited ("Freud™ which has prowided external support
to the press and publiaity actuvities of the Greup Dunng the year the Group incurred expenditure amounting to E1 million (2013 £3 million)
with Freud At 30 June 2014 there was E1 milion (2013 less than £1 rullion) due ta Freud

{n additrion to the foregoing, the Group has engaged m a number of transactions with companies of which some of the Company's Directors
are also directors These do not meet the definition of related party transactions
d) Key management

The Group has a related party relatienship with the Dwectors of the Company At 30 June 2014 there were 15 (2013 14) members of key
management all of whom were Directors of the Company Key management compensation s disclosed in note 6b
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
(continued)
29 EBvents after the reporting period

On 17 July 2004, the Group sold a shareholding of approxmately 6 4% in TV plc consisting of 259,820 QS TV shares for an aggregate consideration
of approximately E4B1 melion

The Company announced on 25 July 2014 that 1t has conditicnatly entered into share purchase agreements (the "Acquisition Agreements”)

with Twenty-First Century Fox Inc (and its relevant subsidianes) to acquire its 100% stake in Sky [taha S and 1ts 57 4% stake in Sky Deutschland AG
The Company further announced its Intentton to make a voluntary cash offer (the “Offer*) to the minonty shareholders of Sky Deutschland AG
The Acquisition Agreements and the Offer (together the "Transactions™) are conditional on amongst other things their approval by the Company s
independent shareholders and regulatory clearances

The total constderation for the acquisition of Sky [talia s £2 45 billion wath approximately £2 07 billion to be paid in cash and the balance tobe
satisfied through the transfer of the Group s 21% stake In Nationa! Geographic Channe! to Twenty-First Century Fox Inc, {*21CF") The acquisition
of 2iCF's shareholding in Sky Deutschland A G s for a consideration of £29 billion in cash valuing Sky Deutschland at €6 75 ashare Subject to
the number of Sky Deutschland A G minanty shareholders that accept the Offer, the total consideration for the transaction wilt range from
£29 billion to £5 billion

The total consideration payable for the Transactions will be funded in part by the proceeds of a ptacing of 156 132,213 new Ordinary Shares
representing approximately 9 99% of the existing 1ssued share capital of the Company to both existing and new nstaitutional investors which
was alse announced on 26 July 2014 21CF which has a 39 14% shareholding in the Company has undertaken to subscribe for 61106 496 of the
shares being placed so as to mantain its existing percentage shareholding in the Company following completion of the placing, The remaining
consideration will come from a combination of new debt faciliues (as descnbed below) and cash resources

©On 25 July 2014 the Company entered into a faclities agreement (the “Factities Agreement”) documenting a committed bridge loan facility
€200 billion (*Term Lean A™) a term loan faciity of £450 milbon and €2 6 billion {"Term Loan B”) and a revolving loan faclity of £§ billien
(the "RCF7) The Facilitiles Agreement s unsecured but 1s guaranteed by vanous of the Company's subsidianies

Term Loan A matures 12 months after the date of the Facilities Agreement subject to an option at the Company s discretion to extend for a
further one-year penod Term Loan B matures 36 months after the date of the Faciliies Agreement with a one-year extension period available
at the discretion of the lenders The RCF matures on 30 November 2019 subject to two one-year extension options at the discretion of the lenders

The Group 1s subject to twe finanoat covenants under the Faciliies Agreement a maximum leverage ratio and a minemum interest cover ratio
which are tested at the end of each six monthly period beginning on 30 June 2015 The key financial covenants are the ratio of Net Debt to
EBITDA (each as defined in the Faclives Agreement) and EBITDA to Consclidated Interest Charges (as defined in the Faclities Agreement)
Net Debt to EBITDA must be no mare than 4,00 1until 30 June 2016 and thereafter ne mere than 3 50 1 EBITDA to Consolidated Interest
Charges must be at teast 3501

Terrn Loan A and Term Loan B are available to be used to fund among other things the consideration payable under the Acquisition Agreements
and the consideration payable Lo the minority shareholders of Sky Deutschland AG pursuant to the Offer
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30 Group investments

The significant investments of the Company which principally affect the consclidated results and total assets of the Group are as follows

Country of Description and properuon
Name Incarparation of shares held (%) Prinapal actvty
Subsidianies
Direct holdings of the Company
Brush Sky Broadcasting Lumited United Kingdom 10 002,002 ordinary shares of £1 each {100%) Operation of pay television broadeasting
and home communications services in the
UK and Ireland
BSkyS Finance UK ple United Kingdom 50000 ordinary shares of £1each {(100%) Finance company
Subsidianes.
Indirect holdings of the Company
Sky Subscnbers Services Limited United Kingdom 3ardinary shares of £1each (100%) Prowision of anaillary functions supporting
the pay telewsion broadeasting, residential
broadband and telephone operations of
the Group
Sky Holdings bynited Urited Kingdom ©00 ordinary shares of £1each (W00%) Holthng company
Skyln Home Service Limited Uruted Kingdem 1576 000 ordinary shares of E1 each (100%) Supply. installation and mantenance of satellite
television receming equipment, broadband and
wareless connector equipment
BSkyB Telecommunications United Kingdom 5 821,764 ordinary shares of £1each (100%) Management of the network assets in the UK
Services Limited
Sky Ventures Limited United Kingdom N2 ordinary shares of £1 each (100%) Holding company
The Cloud Networks Limited United Kingdom 301583 988 shares of £0 00025 per share (100%) Provision of telecommunications
Hestview Limited United Kingdom 108 ordinary shares of £1each (100%) Provision of sports betting activities
Benne Terre Limited Alderney 2504 aordinary shares of £1 each (100%) Prowiston of gamung actmties
Sky Home Communications Limited  United ungdom 9528124 ordinary shares of £1 each (100%) Prowision of residential broadband and telephone
operations
Joint ventures and associates
Nickelodeon UK Limited™ Urited Kingdom 104 8 Shares of £0 01 each (40%) Transmissron of children s television channels
AETN UK United Kingdom 50000 A Shares of £1each (50%) Transmission of histery cnme and investigation
television programming and the Lifetime Channe!
Paramount UK Partnershipxs United Kingdem Partnership interest (25%) Transmission of general entertanment comedy
channels
Australian News Channel Pty Australia 1ordinary shara of AUD$1(33 33%) Transmission of news and business channels
Lmited
NGC Network International LLC United States of Partnership interest (21%) Transmission of natural history and adventure
America channels
NGC Network Latin America LLC United States of Partnership interest (21%) Transmission of naturat istory and adventure
America channeis
Attheraces Holdings Limited® United Kingdom 1502 ordinary shares of £1each (45 9%} Transmission of a horse racng channel and
20 Recoupment Shares of £0 55 each refated online actviies
Sky News Aratwa FZ-LLC Uruted Arab Emirates 26 666 666 shares of 1531 each (50%) Transmussion of Arabic News in the MENA regwon
(Muddie East and North Africa)
Investments
ITV plc®* United Kingdom 291684 730 ordinary shares of £010 each (723%) Transmission of free-to-ar channels

() These entiLes hive an accounting reference date of 31 December

(4} Theseentities have an accounting reference date of 30 September

() The regrstered address of Paramount UK Partrerstyp 1s 180 Oxford Street, London WID #DS The Paramount UK Partnershig s ajont venture of the Group and
1s iIncluded withen the consolidated accounts in accofdance with Note c)w) Consequently the Paramount UX Partnership has takenadvantage of the exemption
withun the Partnerships (Accounts) Regulations 2008 (regutation 7) from filing annual financial statements

(v} ONn17 July 2074 the Group sold a shareholding of approximately b 4% in TV consisting of 259 820 065 [TV shares For further details refer to note 29

() This note Sets out an abbrewated kst of the subsidiaries of the Cempany A full kst will be fled with Comparses House 10 accord ance with section 410
of the Comparugs Act 2006

The Follawing companies ace exempt From the requirements relating 1o the audit of individual accounts for the yearipenod ended 30 June 2014 by virtue of section

4794 of the Companies Act 2006 BSkyS Finance Limited (02906994} Kidsprog Lirmited (02767224) Parthenon Med a Group Limited (06944197), SATV Publisheng

umited (1085975} Sky IP international Limited ((7245844) and Sky Television Lirnited (01518707),
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

{(continued)
31 Bnitish Sky Broadcasting Group ple company only financial statements

Company Income Statement
for the year ended 30 June 20714

2014 2013
Notes £fm £m
Revenue 235 214
Operating expense 44) (403
Operating profit 181 174
Dividend income from subsidianes o} 822 947
Investment income B 64 o8
Finance costs 8 [¢:1)] en
Profit before tax C 786 ina
Taxation D {36) 30
Profit for the year attributable to equity shareholders 750 1088
The accompanying notes are an integral part of this ncome statement,
Company Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 30 June 2014
2014 2013
£m Em
Profit for the year attributable to equity shareholders 750 1088
Other comprehensive income
Amounts recognised directly in equity that may subsequently be recycled to the income statement
(Loss) gatr on cash flow hedges (€] 3
Tax on cash flow hedges 18 m
{61) 2
Amounts reclassified and reported in the income statement
Gain (less) on cash flow hedges 97 (28)
Tax on cash flow hedges 22) 7
75 20
Other comprehensive income (loss) for the year (net of tax) 14 (%)
Total comprehensive iIncome for the year attnbutable to equity shareholders 764 1,069

All results relate to continuing operations
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Company Balance Sheet
as at 30 lune 2014
N4 2013
Notes £m Em
Non-current assets
Investments in subssdiaries E 8146 8143
Other receivables G 2 3
Denvative financial assets J 75 34
8323 8 487
Current assets
Otherrecevables G 3008 2967
Cash and cash equnalents 1 -
3009 2967
TJotal assets 11332 11454
Current habiites
Other payables | 3613 3434
Non-current labilities
Borrowings H 1557 1,718
Dervative financial labibties J 156 176
Deferred tax rabilities F 4 1
17 1895
Total habilities 5330 5 329
Share capital L 81 797
Share premium L 1437 1437
Reserves 3784 383
Total equity attnbutable to equity shareholders 6,002 6125
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 1,332 11454

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this balance sheet
These finanoal statements of British Sky Broadcasting Group plc registered number 02247735 have been approved by the Board of Directors
on 25 July 2014 and were signed on1ts behalf by

Jeremy Darroch Andrew Gniffith
ief Executive Officer Chief Fina

]

Company Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended 30 June 2014

2014 2013
MNotes Em £m
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations M - -
Net cash from operating activities - -
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds fram the exerase of share aptians 1 15
Loan to subsidiarias 10y (16)
Net cash from (used in) nancing actvities 1 0
Net increase {decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 1 [
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year - 1
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 1 -

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this cash flow statement,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
(continued)
31 British Sky Breadcasting Group plc company only financial statements {continued)

Company Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 30 June 2074

Capital Total
Share Share Special redempuon  Capital ESOP Hedging Retaned Sharehoiders
capttal premium reserve feserve  reserve reserve reserve  eamings equity
£m £m Em £m £m Em £m £m £m
At1July 2012 837 1437 " 134 844 (mz) 6 2,944 6104
Profit for the year - - - - - - - 1088 1088
Recognition and transfer of cash flow hedges - - - - - - (25) - (25)
Tax on items taken directly to equity - - - - - - 6 - 6
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - - - (1% 1088 1,069
Share-based payment - - - - - {35) - 61 26
Share buy-back programme (see note 24)
- Purchase of own shares for cancellation (40) - - 40 - - - (E17) ©17)
~ Financial lability for cose pernod
purchases - - - - - - - 6) (16}
Dwvidends - - - - - - - {441y {441)
At 30 June 2013 797 1,437 14 174 844 47 (3 3019 6125
Profit for the year - - - - - - - 750 750
Recognition and transfer of cash flow hedges - - - - - - 18 - 18
Tax onitems taken directly to equity - - - - - - (4) - [C)]
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - - - 14 750 764
Share-based payment - - - - - 2 - (95) (93)
Share buy-back programme (see note 24)
~ Purchase of awn shares for cancellation (i5) - - 16 - - - (250) {250)
- Financal hability for close pericd
purchases - - - - - - - 59 {59)
Dividends - - - - - - - (485) (485)
AL 30 June 2014 781 1,437 14 190 8a4 (145) 1 2,880 6,002

For a description of the nature and purpose of each equity reserve seenotel

The accompanying notes are an \ntegral part of this statement of changes In equity

A Accounting poliges

British Sky Broadcasting Group pic {the "Company”) 1s a public kmited company incorporated in the United Kingdom and registered
in England and Wales

i} Basis of preparation
The Company financial staterents have been prepared in accordance with IFRS consistent with the accounting policies set out
i note 1of the Group s consolidated finanoal statements

i} Revenua

Revenue which excludes value added tax represents the gross inflow of economic benefit fromthe Company s operating activities

Revenue 1s measured at the fair value of the consideratian recesved or recervable The Companys matn source of revenue 1s from heensing

the Company’s brand name asset ta subsidianes This revenue s recogrused on an accruals basis under the terms of relevant licensing agreements

) Investment in subsidianes

An investment In a subsidiary 1s recogrised at cost less any prowision for impairment. As permitied by section 133 of the Companies Act 2006
where the relief afforded under section 131 of the Companies Act 2006 applies cost (s the aggregate of the nominal value of the relevant number
of the Company s shares and the farr value of any other consideration given to acquire the share capita! of the subsidiary undertakings
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B Investment income and finance costs

2014 2013
Em £m
Investmeéntincome
Investment income from subsidianes 64 58
201 M3
Em £m
Finance costs
- Interest payable and similar charges
Revolving Credit Facility ("RCF™) 2 @)
Guaranteed Notes (see note H) (80) 76)
(82) ey
- Other finance income (expense)
Remeasurement of borrowings and borrowings-related dervauve finanaial instruments (not qualifying for hedge accounting) - 16
Less ansing on derivatives in a designated fair value hedge accounting relationship {14} (22)
Gain ansing on adjustment for hedged item In a designated fair value hedge accounting relationship 15 23
1 17
(81 {61}
C Profit before taxation
Employee benefits
The Company had nil employees (2013 ml) dunng the year
Key management compensation
Amounts pad to the Directors of the Company are disdesed in the Report on Directors remuneration on pages 59to 76
D Taxation
i) Taxation recognised in the income statement
2014 2013
£m £m
Current tax expense
Current year 37 37
Adjustmant in respect of prior years ! - ()
Total current tax charge 37 26
Deferred tax expense
Ongination and reversal of temporary differences m 4
Totat deferred tax (credit) charge 1) 4
Taxation 36 30
u) Deferred tax recognsed directly in equity
2014 203
£m £m
Deferred tax charge (credht) on hedging actvities 4 ()
1li) Reconciliation of effective tax rate
The tax expense for the year 1s lower {2013 lower) than the expense that would have been charged using the blended rate of corporation
tax (n the UK (225%) appled to profit before tax The applicable enacted or substantively enacted effective rate of UK corporation tax
for the year was 22 5% (2013 23 75%) The differences are explained below
2014 2013
Em £m
Profit before tax 786 ms
Prefit hefore tax multiphed by blended rate of corporation tax in the UK of 22 5% (2013 23 75%) 177 266
Effects of
MNon-taxable income (140) (225)
Tax rate change ) -
Cver prowision in sespect of pror years - {m
Taxation 36 30

All taxation relates to UK corporation tax
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

(continued)

31 British Sky Broadcasting Group plc company only financial statements {continued)

E Investmentsin subsidianes

Em
Cost
At July 2012 9277
Additions 573
Disposal (702}
At 30 June 2073 9148
Additions 3
At 30 June 2014 9,151
Prowision
AL July 2012 30 June 2013 and 30 June 2014 1005
carrying amounts
At 1 July 2072 g272
At 30 Juna 2013 8143
At 30 June 2014 8,146
During the prior year the Company purchased 100% of the share capital of BSky8 LLU Assets Limited from its direct subsichary BSkyB Finance UK plc
The Company subsequently transferred its nvestment in BSkyB LLU Assets Limited to its direct subsidiary Bnitish Sky Broadcasting Limited
See note 30 for a kst of sigruificant investments of the Company
F Deferred tax
Recognised deferred tax habilities
Finanoa!
nstruments
temparary
differences
Em
At 1 Juty 2012 )
Charge to income 4
Credit to equity 6
AL 30 June 2013 {1
Credit to income 1
Charge to equity (4)
At 30 June 2014 [G2]
AL 30 June 2014 a deferred tax asset of £244 milion (2013 E£278 millon) has not been recogrised in respect of capital losses related to the
Groups holding in KirchPayTV on the basis that utiisation of these temporary differences is not prebable At 30 June 2014 the Cempany
has also not recogrused a deferred tax asset of £5 million (2013 £7 million) relating to capitallosses and prowisions in respect of football
clubinvestments on the basis that itis not probable that they will be utiised
G Other recewvables
2014 2013
Em £m
Amounts recevable from subsidiaries 3008 2966
Prepayments and other recevables - 1
Current other receivables 3,008 2967
Non-current prepayment 2 3
Total other receivables 3010 2970

On 26 November 2012, the Company 1ssued US$800 million Guaranteed Notes with a coupon rate of 3125% and loaned proceeds to
British Sky Broadcastng Limited British Sky Broadcasting Limited pays the same annual effective interest rate to the Company

On 5 March 2009 the Company made a loan of £624 million £o Bntish Sky Broadcasting Limited which 1s repayable on demand and bears

interest at arate of 6 month LIBOR plus 075% In October 2009 the Company assigned £604 million of this loan to settle payables
with BSkyB Finance Limited
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On 13 January 2009 the Company made a loan of £252 million to British Sky Broadcasting Limited This loan bears interest at a rate
of 6 month LIBOR plus 100% and 1s repayable on demand

On 13 January 2009 the Company made a loan of £91 million to Sky In-Home Service Limited This loan s repayable on demand and
bears interest at arate of Gmonth LIBOR plus 1C0%

On 24 Novemnber 2008 the Company issued US$600 milhon Guaranteed Notes with a coupon rate of 9 5% and loaned the proceeds
to BSkyB Finance Limited BSkyB Finance Limited pays the same annual effective interest rate to the Company

©On 29 tune 2008, the Company entered into loan agreements with British Sky Broadcasting Limited for £143 million and £109 milion,
bath bearing interest at a rate of | month LIBOR plus 0 75% These loans are repayable on demand

On 29 June 2008 Sky Ventures Limited transferred its £11 milhon loan recevable from BSkyE Finance Limited to the Cornpany
Thes loan bears interest at a rate of 1 month LIBOR plus O 75% and Is repayable on demand

On 29 June 2008 the Company entered into a RCF with BSkyB Finance Limited worth E4Q milkon Amcunts [oaned under this facility
bear interest at a rate of 1 month LIBOR plus O 75% and are repayable on demand

On 15 February 2008 the Company issued US$750 milion Guaranteed Notes with a coupon rate of §100% and loaned the proceeds
to Briush Sky Broadcasting Limited Bnitish Sky Breadcasting Limited pays the same annual effective interest rate to the Company

All other amounts recevable from subsidianes are non-interest bearing and are also repayable on demand
The Directors consider that the ¢arrying ameunt of other recevables approximates their fair values

The Company’s credit nsk 1s primanly attnbutable to its other recevables The majonty of its other recenvables balance ts due from
British Sky Broadcasting Limited The nsk of this entity defaulting on amounts owed 1s considered low due to 1ts successful operation
of pay telswision broadcasting and home communications services in the UK and Ireland

H Borrowings

204 2013
Em £m
Nen-current borrowings
US$750 million of 6100% Guaranteed Notes repayable in February 2018 442 498
US$582.8 mithon of 5 500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in Novernber 2018 353 404
US$B00 miflion of 3125% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2022 466 520
E300Q millon of § 000% Guaranteed Notes repayable in May 2027 296 296
1557 1718
\ See note 20 for detalts of the Company s Guaranteed Notes and RCF and note 22 for detauls of Capital Risk Management
| | Other payables
|
‘ 2004 203
Em £m
Other payables
Amounts owed to subsihary undertakings 3536 3398
Amounts owed to other related parties 23 6
Other 36 10
Accruals 18 20
e . _ 3613 3,434

Amounts payable to subsidianes are non-interest beaning and repayable on demand The balance compnses £2164 milion of non-interest bearing

loans (2013 £1,898 million) and E1372 million of other payables (2013 £1,500 milien) The Directors consider that the carrymg amount of ather payables

approximates therr far values

Bntish Sky Broadcasting Group plc 133

yodasi8ajeig

SIUBLLIBAOS)Y

SIS [eURUL

UOTIRULIOJ JSPIOAIEYS




Annual Report 2014

Financlal statements - Notes to the consoldated financal statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

(continued)

31 Bntish Sky Broadcasting Group plc company only financial statements (continued)

J Denvatives and other financial instruments

Fair values

Set out belowis a compansan of the carmyng values and the estimated fair vatues of the Company s financiat assets and financial labilities

at 30 June 2014 and 30 June 2013

20014 2014 2013 203

Carrying Fair Carrying Fatr

value value valus value

£m Em £m £m

Financial assets and llabilities held orissued to finance the Company’s operations

Quoted bond debt (1557) {1,740) {(1718) (1915)
Denvative financial nstrurnents 19 19 155 185
Other payables and recewables (605 (605) @467y (467)

The fair values of financial assets and financial habilities are determined as detalled in note 21 and all iterms held at fair value are classified

as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy

Set out below are the denvative financial Instruments entered into by the Company to manage its interest rate and foreign exchange risk

2014 2013
Asset Liability Asset Liability
Fair Value Nouanal Fair Value Notional Farr Value Notonal Faw Value Notional
£m £m £m £m £m £m Em £m
Fair vatue hedges
Interast rate swaps 51 452 - - 65 505 - -
Cash flowhedges
ross-currency swaps 45 290 (36} 503 86 746 - 47
Denvatives notin a formal hedge relationship
Interest rate swaps 3 574 {26} EES 43 605 “2) 345
Cross-currency swaps 48 725 {94) 1018 147 725 (134) 1048
Total 175 2041 (156) 1835 34 2581 (176) 1410
Note 21 prowides further details of the Graup s derivative and other finanaat instruments
The maturity of the derivative financial instruments 1s shown below
2014 2013
Asset bability Asset Lability
£Em Em £m Em
Between one and two years 33 (33 - -
Between two and five years 122 67 242 m2)
In more than five years 20 (56) 99 {64)
Total 175 (156) 341 (176)

K Financial nsk management

Interest rate and foreign exchange risk management

The Company manages Its exposire to interest rates and foreign exchange movements which anse from the Company's sources of finance
by selecuvely entering into denvative financial nstruments to manage its exposure The Company has also entered nto denvative contracts

on behalf of its subsidiary BSkyB Finance UK plc, and has back-to-back intercompany contracts

Forergn exchange nsk

The following analysis detalls the Company’s sensitivity to movements in pounds sterling against all currencies in which it has significant
transactions The sensitivity analysis incfudes only outstanding foreign currency denominated finanaial iInstruments and adjusts thewr

translation at the penod end for a 25% change in foreign currency rates

A 25% strengthening i pounds sterling against the US dollar would have an adverse impact on profit of £16 million (2013 adverse impact
of £22 milion) relating to non-cash movements in the valuation of denvatives The same strengthening would have an adverseimpact

on other equity of £21 million (2013 adverse impact of £25 million}

A 25% weakening In pounds sterling against the US dollar would have a benefictal impact on profit of £26 million (2003 beneficial impact
of £36 milion) relating to non-cash movements in the valuation of denvatives The same weakening wouldhave a benefical impact

on cther equity of £36 million (2013 beneficial impact of £42 million)
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Interestrate nsk

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for both denvatives and non-denvative finanaal
instruments at the balance sheet date For floating rate labiliues the analys:s 15 prepared assuming the amount of liability outstanding at the

batance sheet date was outstanding for the whole year

For each one hundred basis point nise or fall in interest rates at 30 June 2014 andf ali sther variables were held constant the Companys profit
for the year ended 30 June 2014 would decrease orincrease by £3 milion (2013 decrease or increase by £3 millkon) and other equity reserves

would decrease or increase by £1 million (2013 decrease or increase by £4 million)

Aone hundred basis point rise or fallin interest rates represents a large but realistic movement which can easily be mutipled to give sensitivities

atdifferent interest rates

The sensitivity analyses provided are hypothetical only and should be used with caution as the impacts provided are not necessanly indicative
of the actual impacts that would be expenenced because the effect of a change i a partrcular market vanable on fair values or cash flows s
calculated wiathout considenng interrelationships between the various market rates or mitigaling actions that would be taken by the Company

In addition the Company s actual exposure to market rates changes as the Company s portfolio of debt changes

The changes In valuations are estimates of the mpact of changes in market vanables and are not a prediction of future events or anticipated

gains or losses

Liquidity nisk
See rote 22 for the Company s policy on hquidity management.

The followtng table anatyses the Company s non-dernvative financiat labiities, net settled interest rate swaps and gross settled currency
swaps and collars into retevant matunty groupings based on the remaining penod at the balance sheet date to the contractual matunty date

The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows and may therefore nat reconcile to the amounts disdosed

on the balance sheet for borrowings denvative inancial instruments and other payables

Between Between

Lass than one and twoand  Morethan
12months twoyears fiveyears  fiveyears
£m Em £m £m
At 30 June 2014
Non-derwvative financial labihities
Bonds -~ USD 74 74 962 521
Bonds - GBP 18 18 54 444
Other payables 3613 - - -
Net settled denvatives
Financial assets (15) {15) (36) -
Gross settled dervatives
Outflow 63 82 930 560
Inflow (56) {56) (920} {521)
Between Between
Less than oneand twoand Morethan
12months  twoyears fiveyears  fiveyears
£Em €m £m £im
At 30 June 2013
Non-dervative financial habihtues
Bonds-USD _ _  _ _ _ ___ _ . __ . __ __ __ B3 83 740 999
Bonds - GBP T T T TT T TTT Tt T T T TBaT—— —ag— —
Other payables 3434 - - -
Net settled dervatives
Financial assets (17 an (51 &)
Gross settled denvatives
Qutflow 62 62 574 978
Inflow (63) (63) (682) (926)

At 30 June 2074 the Company had an undrawn £743 million RCF wath a matunty date of 31 October 2018 See note 20 for further information
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
(continued)

31 Bntish Sky Broadcasting Group plc company only financial statements (continued)

L Notesto the Company statement of changes in equity

For details of share capital share premium the specialreserve the capital redemption reserve and the hedging reserve see notes 23 and 24
For details of the Company s share buy-back programmes see note 24

For details of dwdends seée note 9

Capital reserve

This reserve arose from the surplus on the transfer of trade and assets to a subsichary undertaking

M Reconciliation of profit before tax to cash generated from operations

2014 2013

£m £m

Profit before tax 786 me
Dividend income (622) (847)

Net finance costs i7 3
Increase in other receivables (181) 749

Cash generated from cperations - -

N Contingent hab:lities and guarantees

The Company and certarn of its subsidianes have undertaren in the normal course of business to provide support to several of the Groups
investments in both hmited and unlimited compantes and partnerships to meet thetr hiabilives as they fall due Several of these undertakings
contain maximum financial imits These undertakings have been given for at least one year from the date of the signing of the UK statutory
accaunts of the refated entity A payment under these undertakings would be required in the event of an investment being unable te pay its habilites

The Company has provided parent company guaranteges in respect of the vanous contracts entered into with the Premuer League by Bnatish Sky
Broadcasting Limited covenng the 2013/14 to 201516 football seasons In each case the guarantee covers alt payment obligations now or in the
future due owing or incurred by British Sky Broadeasting Limited under the contracts and all labibties now o7 in the future ansing or incurred
under the indemnity given to the Premier League by Bnitish Sky Broadcasting Limited under the contracts

The Company has provided a parent company guarantee in respect of the contract entered into with British Sky Broadcasting Lmited and
Stanhope plc i relation to the construction of a new corporate headquarters at the Osterley Campus The guarantee covers all performance
obligations and payment obligations imposed on Briush Sky Broadcasting Limited under that contract

The Company has guarantees in place relating to the Groups borrowings see note 20 and in relation to audit exemptions, see note 30

O Transactions with related parties and major shareholders

24 203

£m £m

Supply of services to subsiciaries 225 214

Interest received from funding to subsidiaries 64 58

Amounts cwed by subsidiaries 3008 2566
Amounts owed to subsidianes {3536) (3399)
Amounts owed to other related parties 23 &)

The Company has related party transactions with its subsicianes by virtue of its status as parent company of the Group In partcular it 1s normal
treasury practice for the Company to lend and borrow cash to and from its subsidiaries as required Under this pehey Baitish Sky Broadeasting
Limited settled habilities of £83 millon (2013 £74 milhion) on behalf of the Company during the year interestis earned on certain loans to subsidiaries

The Company recogrised £22% milhon (2013 £214 million) for icensing the Sky brand name to subsidianes
The Company recognised dnadends dunng the year from subsidianes totaling £622 milion (2013 £947 milion)

Share buy-back programme
Dunng the year the Company purchased and subseqguently cancelled 12140586 ordinary shares held by Twenty-First Century Fox Inc as part
of its share buy-back programme For further detalls seencte 24

The Group s related party transactions are disclosed innote 28

P Events after the reporting peniod

For detalls see note 29 to the consolidated financial statements
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Group financial record
Unaudited supplemental nformation

Consalidated results

Below s selected financtal information for the Group under IFRS as at and for each of the five years ended 30 June 2014

Year Year Year Year Year
ended ended ended ended ended
30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June
2014 2013 2012 201 2010
LConsohdated Income Statement £m Em Em Em €m
Continuing operations
Retarl subscription 6255 5951 5593 5471 4778
Wholesale subscription 422 356 351 323 238 g
Advertising 472 440 440 458 340 é
Installation hardware and service 85 87 98 2 174 H
Other 398 361 309 233 179 L
Revenue™ 71632 7235 67N 6,597 5709
Cperating expense™ &471) (5944) (5548) (5,524) {4 865)
Litigation settlement income - - - - 269
Operating profit 1161 1291 1243 1073 113
Share of results of joint ventures and associates 35 46 39 34 32
Investment incame on iigation settlement - - - - 49
Investrnent incame 26 28 18 9 3
Finance costs {14Q) (108) ny om (122)
Profit on disposal of available-for-sale investment - - - 9 15
Profit before tax 1082 1257 1189 1034 1190 |
Taxation {217 {278y (283) (256) (294)
Profit for the year from continuing operations 865 879 906 758 896
Discontinued operations
Profit {loss) For the year from discontinued operations - - - 52 18)
Profit for the year 865 979 906 810 878 o
Net profit {loss) recognised directly in equity 732 129 64 (8) 61 § |
Total comprehensrve income for the year 938 1108 970 802 839 8
Earnings per share frem profit for the year (in pence) 4 I
Basic 55 4p 607 526p 46 5p 50 4p =
Diluted 549p 597p 522p 459p 501p E _
Dmdends per share (in pence) 320p 300p 254p 233p 194p z !
30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June [
2014 2013 2012 20M 2010 X
Consolidated Balance Sheet Em £m Em Em £m |
Non-current assets 3876 3776 3234 3025 2818 l
Current assets 2573 2569 2275 2329 1986 |
Total assets 6449 6 345 5509 5354 4804
Current labdites (2519} (2317) (2,098) (0.9 Q720n )
Non-current habihties (2.858) (3,016) (2,467) (2407) (2537) I
Net assats 1072 1012 944 1035 560 '
Humber of shares in issue {in millions) 1,563 1594 1674 1753 1753
— e e T T T e T o e T T ,..-L.__I.‘
w '
-
g .
-3 |
s
:
g
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FRinandal statements - Group financal record

Group financial record ontinued
Unaudited supplemental information

Consolidated results

Year Year Year Year Year
ended ended ended ended ended
30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June
20m 2013 2002 20m 2010
Statistics (000} (000} (000} (000) (000)
Products
™ 10,686 10422 10,288 10187 9860
Sky+HD 5242 4785 4,343 3822 2939
Multiroom 2558 2489 2402 2250 212
Sky Go Extra 1177 166 - - -
Broadband 5247 4506 4001 3335 2624
Telephony 4982 450 3768 ER(]] 2367
Line rental 4882 4 364 3,563 2680 1686
Total patd-for subscription products 34775 31634 28 365 25375 21597
Customers {
Retail custemers 11495 nis3 10606 10284 9868
Wholesale customers®™? 404 3677 3672 3522 32N
Tetal customers 15,536 14 830 14,278 13 816 13139
Average number of full-tme equivatent employees 20841 19413 17537 16006 16439

@ Included withinwholesale subscription revenue for the year ended 30 June 201415 a £15 milon credit receved following the termination of an eswrow agreement with
acurrent whotesale operator

() Included within operating expense for the year ended 30 June 2014 are costs of E72 million relaung to the acquisition and integration of the 02 consumer broadband and
fixed-line telephoay business costs of £40 milkon relating to a corporate restructunng and effiaency programme and £2 milkon as aresutt of the termanation of anescrow 1
Agresment with a current wholesale operator
Included within operating expense for the year ended 30 June 2013 1s a credit of E32 mettion in relation to a aredit note receved following an Ofcom determination. a credit of £33
rrullion relaung to the final settiement of disputes with a farmer manufacturar of set-top boxes {net of assocated costs).costs of E31 million relating to one-off upgrade of set-top
baxes costs of E33 million relating to a corporate efficiency programeme and costs of E15 millioncelating to the acquisition and integration of the ©2 consumer broadband and fixed ine
telephony business Alsa incfuded are costs of £25 milkon refating ta the programme to offer wirgless connectors to selected Sky Movies customers
Incluced within aperating expense for the year ended 30 June 2012 1s a credit of £31 millkion i relation to the News Corperation (subsequently renamed Twenty-First Century Fox inc)
proposalin 2011 consisting of costs incurred offset by the receipt of the break fee Also included are restructunnig costs of £11 milienwhich comprise severance payments inrelation
to approximately 35 senior roles as part of a restructunng wut:ative to iImprove operating efficiency
Included within eperating expense for the year ended 30 June 20T 15 £26 milkon of restructuring costs ansing on the acquisition of bmng TV which comprese prinaipally redundancy
payments and the early termination of a pré-acquisition eontract, £15 millon of costs mnrelation to the News (orporation (subsequently renamed Twenty First Century Fox Inc}
propasal and a credit of E43 mitlhion in relation to the refund of Import duty on set-top baxes paid out i pnor years This duty was recovered due to the judgment gven by the ECJ
on 14 Aprid 2011
Included within operating expense for the year ended 30 June 2010 is £32 million of expense relating to a restructuring esercise of which £22 milhon related to the impairment
of assets assoaatad with Picric (the patential launch of a subscription television service an DT1) and £10 millor related to rearganisation 0osts and redundancy payments
Alsoincluded withun operating expense for the year ended 30 June 2010 15 £1 milion of expense relating to legal costs inaured on the Group s clam against EDS which provsded
serwices to the Group as part of the Group s Investment in customer management systems software and infrastructure and a £5 million credit relateds Lo the cangallatien of
accounts payable on settlement of the claum aganst EDS

(ui) Wholesale customers are customers vho take a package from one of Sky s Wholesale Partners in whuch theyrecerse at least one pad for Sky channel

Factors which matenally affect the comparability of the selected finanaal data

Discontinued operations
Duning fiscal 2011 the Group seold its business-to-business telecommunications operation Easynet to LDC

£05 Litigation settlement
Dunng fiscal 2010 EDS and the Group fully and finally settled the htgation between them and all related daims (including for damages costs and interest)
for a total amount of £318 million

Avallable-for-sale investment
During fiscal 2011 the Group disposed of its equity investment in Shine and recogrused a profit of £9 million

Duning fiscal 2010 the Group disposed of part of its equity Investment n ITV and recogrised a profit on disposal of £115 million For further details see
note 14 to the consolidated financial statements

Business combinations

During fiscal 2013 the Group completed the acguisition of the O2 consumer broadband and fixed-line telephony business from Teleféruca UK compnising
100% of the share capital of Be Un Limited The results of this acquisition were consohidated from the date on which control passed to the Group

(30 Apnl203)

Dunng fiscal 2011 the Group completed the acquisitions of Living TV and The Cloud The resultsof these acquisitions were consolidated from the date
on which control passed to the Group {12 July 2010 and 23 February 2011 respectively)

Exchange rates

Asignificant portion of the Group s labiliies and expenses assoaated with the cost of programming acquired from US film licensars together wath
set-top box costs are denominated n US dollars For a discussion of the tmpact of exchange rate movements on the Group s financial cendition
and results of operations see note 22 to the consolidated financial statements
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Non-GAAP measures

Unaudited supplemental information

Consolidated Income Statement - reconciliation of statutory and adjusted numbers

2014 2013
Adusting Adjusting
Statutory Items Adjusted Statutory tems  Adjusted
Notes Em Em Em Em Em £m
Revenue
Retall subscnption 6255 - 6,255 5451 - 5951
Wholesale subscription A 422 (15) 407 396 - 396
Advertising 472 - 472 440 - 440
Installaton hardware and service B85 - 85 87 - 87
Other 368 - 398 361 - 361
7632 (15) 7617 7235 - 7235
QOperating expense
Programming B (2662) - (2,662) (2487) 1 (2486)
Direct networks C (850) 3 (819) (686) (29) {715)
Marketing ] (1,215) 16 1199) (117 1 (1116}
Subscriber management and supply chain E (B94) [ (688) 673) 26 (647
Transmission, technology and fixed networks F (460) 13 (447 (405) 4 (407}
Adrinistration G (590) 48 (542) (576) 36 {540)
(6471) 14 (6,357) (59449) 39 (5905}
[EBITDA 1597 70 1,667 1669 23 1652 |
Qperating profit 1161 95 1260 1251 39 1330
Share of resuits of joint ventures
and associates H 35 - 35 48 ()] 37
Investment income 26 - 26 28 - 28
Finance costs i (140} 5 (135) {108} (23) {3y
Profit before tax 1082 104 1186 1257 7 1264
Taxation J (217) (32) (249) (278) n (295)
Profit for the year 865 72 $37 979 [{e)] 969
Emlngs per share (basic)} 554p 4 6p 60 0p 607p 07 600p |

Notes explanationof adjusting etems for the year ended 30 June 2014

A Revarue of £15 milkon relating to sredit recewed follovang termmation of an escrow agreement wath a current wholesals operator

€ Costsof £31 milon relatng to the acques:uon and integration of the 02 consumer broadband and fixed-ine telephony business.

B Costscf £15 millon inrelation to a corporate restructuning and efficency programme and costs of £1 million refating to the acquisitionand integrationof the
02 consumer broadband and fixed-lne telephony business

E  Costscl£3mdlion relating to the acquisitien and wntegration of the 02 consumer broadband and fixed-ine telephony business and costs of £3 mufion in refatron
o & corporaterestructuring and efficiency programme (principally an impatrment of £2 mullion in relation to associated intangible and tangible assets)

F  Costsof £13 mlton relatng to the acquisition and mtegration of the 02 eonsumer breadband and fixed-ine telephony business (iIncuding amortisation of £4 million
inrelation to associated intangible assets)

G Costs of £24 millonrelating ta the acquisibon and integration of the 02 consumer broadband and fixed ne telephony business (induding amor tisation of £23 rrllian:
nrelation to associated intangible assets), costs of £22 millenrelating Lo a corporata restructunng and efficiency prograrmime and costs of £2 milion relating toan

_—— ———— —  expenseasaresult of the terminauen of an escrow agreermnent with a current wholesale operator

I Remeasurgment of all dervatve Frianaslinstrument s mot quatfying for hedge accounting and hedge Tnelettvengss — ~—~ =~ — —— =
J Taxadjusting wems and the tax effact of abova items

Notes explanation of adjusting stems for the year ended 30 June 2013

B.  Costs<fE1 mikon re'ating to a corporate effinency programme

C  Creditof E32 million relauing Lo a credit note receved fallowing an Ofcom determunation and costs of £3medlion relating to the acqusiton and integratian of the
02 consumer broadband and fixed-lne telephony business.

0 Costs of Elmilion relating 1o a corporate effioency programme.

E  Creditof £33 million relating to the final settlement of disputes with a former manufacturer of sat top boxes (et of associated costs and including an Imparment
of E6 millon inrelation to assooated ntangible assets) costs of £31 milkon relating to one-cff upgrade of set, Lop boxes costs of £25millonrelatng to a programme
to offer wireless connectors to selected Sky Movies custonmers, costs of E2 millon relating to the acquisiuon and integration of the 02 consumer broadband and
fixed kne telephony business and costs of £1 miionrelating to a corporate efficiency prograrmme

F  Cosisof £1 milkon relating to a cerporate effioency programme, significantly an impairment of associated ntangible and tangible assets and £3 milkonrelating
Lo the acquisition and integration of the O consumer broadband and fixed Iine telephony business

G Costs of £29 mlion relaung te a ¢orporate effirency programme primanly redundancy costs and including animparrment of €5 milion n relation to assacated
intangble and tangible agsets and E7 mdlon relating to the acquisition and ntegration of the O2 consumer broadbanc and fixed-ine telephony business
indudng amartisation of E4 rmilion in ralation to assodated intangible assets

H  Profit ondisposal of the Groups nterest in MUTY Limited

Remeasurement of ali derivauve financial instruments not quatifymg for hedge accounting and hedge meffectrreness

4 Taxadustng tems and the tax effect of above wtems
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Non-GAAP measures eontinued)
Unaudited supplemental information

Reconcilation of cash generated from operations to adjusted free cash flow

for the year ended 30 June 2014

2014 2013
Note Em Em
Cash generated from operations 25 1,769 1877
interest received 27 29
Taxation paid (240) (300)
Dividends recerved from joint ventures and associates 32 43
Net Funding to joint ventures and associates (&) @
Purchase of property plant and equipment {241} (203)
Purchase of intangible assets (302) (251)
interest paid {137) (128)
Free cash flow 902 1063
Receipt following termination of an escrow agreement with a current wholesale operator (19) -
Receipt follewing final settlement of disputes with a former manufacturer of set-top boxes® ()] a0
Cash paid relating to a corperate efficiency programmet? 2 4
Cash paid (recerpt) following an Ofcom determinationt? 4 (28)
Cash pad relating to one-off upgrade of set-top boxes® 16 7
Cash paid relaung to programme to offer wireless connectors to selected Sky Mowes customers® 16 1
Cash paid relating to the acquisition and integration of the O2 consumer broadband and fixed-lne
telephony business® 2 4
Receipt on disposal of joint ventures? - (13)
Adjusted free cash flow 944 1028

) Netofapplicabla corporation tax
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Shareholder information

Shareholder information

Annual General Meeting

The venue and timing of the Company s 2014 AGM s detailed m the
notice convening the AGM which wall be available for downtaad fram
the Company’s corporate website at sky com/fcorporate

Financial calendar
Results for the financial year ending 30 June 2015 will be puklished in

Qctober 2014+
February 2015*
May 2015+
August 2015*

* Provisional dates

The Sky website

Shareholders are encouraged to visit the Sky website sky com which
has a wealth of information about the Company There i1s a section

designed specifically for investors at skycom/corporate where investor

and medha Information can be accessed This year s Annual Report and
Notrce of AGM together with prior year documents can be wewed
there along with information on dividends share price and avoiding
shareho'der fraud

Managing your shares and shareholder
communications

The Company s shareholder register is maintained by its Registrar
Equnits Information on how to manage your shareholdings can be
found at help shareview ¢o uk

Shareholders can contact Equinitl in relation to all administrative
enquiries relating to thewr shares such as a change of personal detaiis
the loss of a share certificate out-of-date dividend cheques change
of dividend payment methods and how to apply for the Dividend
Reinvestment Plan

Shareholders who have not yet elected to recerve shareholder
documentation in electronic form can sign up by regstening at
shareviewca uk Should Shareholders who have elected for electronic
communications require a paper copy of any of the Company s
shareholder documentation, or wish te change theirinstructions
they should contact Equinit

Shareholder Contact Centre
Equirntt Limited

AspectHouse™ ~— T T T e e e e . .

Spencer Road

Lancing

Yasy Sussex

BNS9 6DA

Telephone 0871384 2091°

Telephone number from cutside the UK +44 121 415 7567

Lines are open Menday to Friday 8 30am to 5.30pm exduding UK Bank Hobdays
Calls to 0871 numbers cost 8p per minute plus network extras

Dividend tax vouchers

A consolidated tax voucher service 1s available for sharehelders who
have chasen torecewe dendends diractly into thew bank aceount.

A single conschidated tax weucher will be malled by the end of
Novemnber each year to coincade with the final dvidend payment

Dividend Reinvestment Plan

The Company operates a Dvdend Remvestment Plan ("DRIPT) which
enables shareholders to buy the Company’s shares on the London
stock market with thetr cagh dwndend Further infermaucn about
the DRIP s avaitable from Equinits

ShareGift

Shareholders who only have a small number of shares whose value
makes it uneconomic to sell them maywish to consider donating them
to chanty through ShareGift, the independent charity share denation
scheme (registered chanty no 1052686) Further nformation caay

be obtained from ShareGift on 020 7930 3737 or at sharegift org

Shareholder fraud

Fraud s on the Increase and many shareholders are targeted every
year If you have any reason to believe that you may have been the
target of a fraud or attempted fraud in relation to your sharehelding
please contact Equiniti immediately

American Depositary Receipts ("ADRs™)

The Company’s ADR programme trades on the over-the-counter
("OTC"y market in the US More information can be obtained from
the Company's corporate website at sky com/corporate

All enguines relating to the Company’s ADRs should be addregsed to

BNY Mellon

POBox 43006 Providence RI 02940-3006 USA
US resdents. (B88) 269 2377

If resident outside the US +1 201 6806825

email shrrefatrons@bnymellon com

Company’s registered office

Grant Way

Isteworth

Middlesex

TW7 5Q0

Telephone 0333100 0333

Oversaas ¥44 33330003337~ ~ = — — = — —- - —

Company registration number
2247735

Auditor

Deloitte LLP

2 New Street Square
London

EC4A 3BZ
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Glossary ofterms

Glossary of terms

Useful Definitions.

Descnption

Churn

The number of total custormers over a given period that terminate thewr subsenption in its entiraty net of former customers
who reinstated their subscription tn that pericd {where such reinstatement I1s within a i2-month pened of the termination
of their onginal subscnption) expressed as an annualised percentage of total average customers for the penod

DTH Direct-to-Home the transmission of satelite servces and functionality with reception through a satellite dish
"DTH customer” means a subsariber to one or more of our retalled packages of television channels made available via DTH

orT Digital Terrestnal Television digital signals delivered to homes through a conventienal aenal converted through a set-top
box or integrated digital television set

EPG Electronic Programme Guide

P Internet Protocal a mechamsm by which data packets may be routed between computers on a network

IPTV nternet Protoco! Television

Multiscreen Installation of an additional set-top box in the household of an existing DTH customer Sky Go Extra is included at no extra
cost for Multiscreen customers an an opt-in basis

NOW TV The Group s over the top streaming service available on a variety of devices including NOW TV Box, of fenng monthly
subyscniptions for Sky Movies or Entertaitnment and transactional Sky Sports Day Passes

On Demand Sky s On Demand serwice offering a selection of content from across the Sky platform available for customers to watch
whenever they want The Full On Demand service 1s avalable to customers that have an active broadband connection

PVR Personal Video Recorder satellite decoder which utilises a bult-in hard disk dnve to enable viewers to record wathout
wvideotapes pause live television and record one programme while watching another

Set-top box Digital satellite equipment respansible for receiving converting and sending the picture and sound of a broadcast
to the associated television set

Skyt+ Sky s fully-integrated PVR and satellite decoder

Sky+HD High Definition set-top box with PVR functionality

Sky Bet Sky's berting services provided through set-top boxes, the internet and via phone

Sky Broadband Home broadband service

Sky Go Sky’s retailed packages of telewision channels and on dernand content made avaitable via a broadband connection
including the version made avatlable to mobile dewices wa a wireless or 3G connection

Sky Go Extra Selected content ncluded within Sky's retailled packages of telewision channels and on demand content made avallable
to download enabling customers to watch the content when and wherever they want without the need for a broadband,
wireless or 3G/4G connection

Sky Store Our pay-per-view on demand movies rental service available via Sky On Demand and Sky Go

Sky Talk Home telephony service

Sky WiFt Sky 5 seamless wireless internet access provided at over 20000 The Coud hotspots in the UK

Standalone home Sky s retaled packages of broadband talk and line rental when taken without a telewision subscnpuon package

commuications
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Accessibility

If you would like advice regarding accessibility of this document,
please contact the Accessible Customer Service team on 03442 410333
or Textphone on 0844 241 0535

Customers Ih ROl should use telephene number D818 7198 0% and
Textphone number 0818 7198 49

We can alse be contacted by email accessiblecustomerservice@bskyb com
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